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Robert L. Freeman.
A. Yes, sir, they equaled to the amount of the shortage at
that point.
Q. To the penny Y
A. To the penny as reconciled as I have just gone over and
reeonciled, yes, sir.
Q. Suppose these cheeks, 1\f.i·. Freeman, had
page 529 ~ a.ctua.Uy been listed as having been received in the
cash receipts journal and properly credited to
the various accounts. '''ha.t would that do to the cash on
handY
A. It would show the cash on band was three thousand
odd dollars higher. Approximately six thousand at that point
rather than this three.
1\{r. Garnett: You n1ay answer these gentlemen .
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CROSS EX,A.:MINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, do you have any factual way of determining when-thnewise or datewise you first went into the
Bowen Company books with regard to this matter in controversy?
A. Yes, sir, in February, 1960.
Q. Do you know w·hat part of February that was?
A. I don't recall exac.tly, l\ir. Baker.
Q. Do you kno'v or could you tell by th.e examination of the
books when you first exan1.ined them whether tbey had had a
previous auditf
A. No, I could not tell from the records.
Q. Could you tell from an examination of the boolr.s whether
there were any of the recognizable marks of an auditor in
the-by the various entries at the thne that you first saw
the books such as, '' 0. K." of items or reconciliations orA. No, sir, not that I could pin-point the fact
page 531 } that books had been audited. There are ma.rks
throughout the books, true, but I could not say.
Q. You did :find, did you not sir, that scattered throughout
these books there were entries or notations or the recorda-
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tion of figures in the handwriting recognizable by you to
be that of Mr. 'Vhiteside, did you not?
A. I saw in numerous occasions, I think primarily in red
pencil, items that had been marked throughout the books,
yes, sir.
Q. ~ou saw some inCourt: 1\farked throughout the book by who?

A. Well, I assume it to be Mr. Whiteside, to answer his
question.
Court: l-Ie asked you did you lmow?

A. No, sir, I don't know.
By 1\fr. Baker:
Q. You saw son1e in other than red pencil, recognizable to
be the writing of someone other than the person who kept the
bulk of these books, did you not, sir?
A. As I said earlier, I saw some handwriting in there,
primarily in red pencil. If there's any in there other than
red pen-cil, it could have been some in other pencil that I believed to be that of ~Ir. "\Vhiteside but I do not know that
factually.
page 532 ~ Q. Let n1e refresh your memory and bring you
up to a particular date, Mr. Freeman. Do you
recall the afternoon of 1\{arch the 9th, of 1961 when you and
1\fr. 'Villiams from your office and ~{r. Whiteside and Mr.
Garnett, the Attorney for the Comn1onwealtb and Mr. Ferguson and I met in the library of this Court House just across
the hall¥
A. I recall the meeting in fhe library across the hall, yes,
·
sir.
1\fr. Garnett: Speak up a little louder, please.
A. I recall the meeting in the library ae.ross the ha.U.
By 1\fr. Baker:
Q. Do you recall on that occasion 1\fr. Freeman, yon, ptimarily with the assistance of 1\{r. Williams fron1 your office
and Mr. Whiteside, were going over some of tl1ese book·s
page by page and ~ointing out to Mr. Ferguson and to me,
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subject to the instructions and approval of the Attorney for
the Commonwealth, various items of-and entries Y
A. Yes, sir, I do.
Q. Including the footing of some columns f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And do you recall, Mr. Freeman, when you were going
over these books looking at a certain entry and turning over
your shoulder and saying, ''Whitie, this appears
page 533 ~ to be in your writing. You wrote this, didn't you,
Whitie, '' referring to Mr. Whiteside. Do you
remember that Y
A. I do, sir.
Q. And do you recall that 1\fr. "\Vhiteside looked over your
shoulder and said, "yes, that's my writing."
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And do you recall that I then observed this is one of the
entries you're trying to hang my client with and then do you
recall that Mr. Whiteside said, "I don't believe I did write
that entry." Is that 'vl1at happened?
A. Do you wish me to enumerate upon that or just answer
it?
Q. :I wish you to answer my question.
A. Yes, sir.
Court: After you answered it, you can explain it.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. All that I have said occurred, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
:Mr. Garnett: Let him explain it now.
(At this time further discussion ensued between counsel
for both sides).
Cour-t: Go ahead.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. If you have any explanation, you may like
to make, you may do so.
A. Yes, sir. 1\fay I see the journal you have reference to,
1\fr. Baker?
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, 've 're now con1ing to questions and answers between the witness and the counsel. I
page 534

~
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don't know the book. I expect the expert can find it easier
than I can.
Mr. Garnett: It's page 132 of the journal.
A. Now if I -do I continue 1
Mr. Baker: Yes.
Mr. Garnett: Would his Honor-would you like the book
up on the Bench or would his Honor come down here 1
Court : I '11 come down by him.
A. As I recall and as you have stated about the pointing
out of the handwriting and this is the figure that I pointed
to and asked Mr. Whiteside if that was his handwriting. Tha.t
is the $1,667.99 that appears here in red pencil below the ink
copy. The ink figure which represents the total across. When
the finger 'vas put below the ink figure, then of course that
was not indicated as being Mr. Whiteside's handpage 535 ~ writing. It was the $1,667.99 figure appearing at
both-below the ink copies that was-pointed out
as being, and I asked Mr. Whiteside a.s you said, "is thisisn't this your handwriting.''
Court : You're speaking of the red letters here?
A. Yes, sir, that's my understanding.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. The fact of the matter is, Mr. V\Thiteside first identified
an entry in this book as being in his handwriting and then
denied it. That's true, isn't it?
A. That's not my understanding of it, Mr. Baker.
Q. That's the testimony you gave, sir.
A. I rlid not, !sir.
Q. I'L.pass on.
Court: You 'vant the testimony read baek again?
1\tir. Baker: No, sir. The testimony speaks for itself.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now Mr. Freeman, yon just leave this book open. This
is page 132 of what book?
A. This is page 132 of the journal of Bowen Company from
November 1st, 1951 to December 31, 1952. It's labeled on the
fr.ont of the book.
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page 536

~

Q. Now is that-and what Exhibit is that?
A. "\\There is it marked, sir? I do not know.

Mr. Baker: I expect it's n1arked on the front.
Court: Right on the label I think you '11 find it.
A. Exhibit Number 15.
Court: Exhibit Number 15 for the Commonwealth?
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett.: Your Honor, the Commonwealth would request a recess. :Nir. Langley whom I subpoenaed I understand
is in my office.
Court: You want to interrupt this to go get him?
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir, because we did bring him down here
without notice, your Honor, and I would like toCourt: You have any objection?
Mr. Baker: Who is this?
Court: The witness.
~Ir. Garnett: ~Ir. Langley is the husband of Millie W.
Cobb.
~fr. Baker: You want to go get him for a few minutes?
J\!Ir. Garnett: I want to show him this receipt,
page 537 ~ yes.
Court: Do you have any objection to a short
recess?
~fr. Baker: If the Court please, I don't have any objection
to a short recess but this has now been used as a reference of
testimony. I do object to it being sho"·"D. to ~fr. Cobb for any
purpose other than an identifieation.
Court: I reckon that's what 'he is trying to do. I'm not
going to rule on it at this time.
Mr. Baker: I want this understood. If Mr. Cobb is expected to give any testimony in here other than the production of the original, then I object to this being shown to him.
If it's-if 1\fr. CobbCourt: I don't know what 'he will attempt to do 'vith it.
~~r. Baker: I want to make it clear now so there won't be
any question about having waived it.
Mr. Garnett: I don't know the man can testify whether or
not he has the original of this or ever had it unpage 538 ~ less I show it to him.
Mr. Baker: I 'n1 not concerned about whether
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he had the original. I'm concerned about the production of
the original.
Court: Go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: The record shows it's m.a.rked with an ''F"
or ''X'' on the corner on the back.

(At this time Mr. Garnett then left the Courtroom).
Cour.t: We'll be at ease for five minutes.
(At this time the Court then declared a recess after which
the Court reconvened).
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, there is present in the hall the
husband of ::Millie ""\V. Cobb whom I would e.all as a witness at
this time relative to .this receipt or alleged receipt that we
have been discussing.
Court: Well, do you object to that being at this time orMr. Baker: As the Court well knows, the Defendant by
counsel objected to this witness being shown the alleged photostat of a receipt.
page 539 ~ Cour.t : Yes, sir.
1\fr. Baker: Unless this witness would be interrogated solely with regard to identification of the produced original. Now if that's the purpose for which this witness is to be calledCourt: I don't know. I'll hear what the witness says and
I '11 rule on it.
(At this time Mr. Langley then took his seat in the witness
chair).
Court: What is your name, please Y
:hfr. Langley: S. B. Langley.
Court: : L-A-N-G-L-E-Y?
1\fr. Langley: Yes, sir.
S. B. LANGLEY,
called as a witness by the Commonwealth, being duly sworn,
testified as follows :
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett :
Q. Mr. Langley, will you state your address please, sir?
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A. 226-46th Street, Newport News.

page 540

~

Q. Is that in the City of Newport News f
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you married 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Mr. Langley, who was your wife before you married

her?
A. Millie ,V. Cobb.
Q. Millie W. Cobb 7
A. Yes, sir.

Q. 'Vho owns the premises, if you know, at 226-46th Street?
A. "\Vho owns it?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. She does or we do, whichever you want to say.

~{y

wife.

Q. Millie vV. Cobb?
A. Yes.
Q. Millie ,V. Cobb now is ~Irs. Langley, is that right Y
A. ·Yes.
Q. The year 1958, '59 and '60, did you and your wife have
any insurance coverage by W. C. Bowen Company on that
home!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Direc.ting your attention, sir, to smne.tim.e in the early
part of 1959, did you receive a bill from
C.
page 541 ~ Bo,ven Company for a pren1ium due on that insurance?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 'Vhen you received that pren1iun1, that hill, had you or
not paid that premium T
A. No, I don't think so.
Q. Did you subsequently receive another hill or someone
come by your home relative to the payn1ent of that premium 1
A. Yes.

'V.

Mr. Baker: If the Gourt plea.se, I think that this is probably .the proper time to interpose the Defendant's objection.
Counsel objected to the exhibit or the document being taken
from the Courtroom for the purpose of being shown to the
witness who l1ad not yet been sworn in this case, hut who, if
he had been, would have been excluded fr01n .the Courtroom
during the giving of the testimony. Now counsel objected
unless the limited reason for taking that from the Courtroom
was for the purpose of identifying the original to be produced
and also the testimony of this witness would l>e limited to
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identification of the original of which this document or photostat is an alleged copy. It's obvious that is not
page 542 ~ the course of exanlina.tion or testimony by this
witness and counsel for the Defendant obje0ts to
further examination of this witness with regard to the docuInent which was taken from the Conrtromu and shown to hin1
other than for the limited purpose on whieh agremuent was
had.
Court : \Yell, I 'In not going to pass on it at this time. I
want to know where the original is.
ilfr. Baker: I think, if the Court please, that would be a
very shuple queartion that n1ight precede all the rest of the
questions. \Yh~re is the original. If it is here, it can be
identified.
l\Ir. Garnett: I 'n1 trying to establish the fact that he got a
receipt.
Court: Let's find out first.
By I\Ir. Garnett:
Q. Now when you received the notification then that this
bill had not been pa.id, did you look through your papers to
find out wl1etlwr or not you had a receipt showing it had been
paid?
A. Yes.
l\Ir. Baker: ,Just a n1inute, if the Court please. I understood-nta.yhe I nlisuuderstood tlie Court to sav
page 543 ~ let's find out wl1ethe1· he has the original.
thought that was the hnport of the Court's
language.
Court: I thiuk l'tn finding out right now. Go ahead.

r

Bv 1\{r. Garnett:
·Q. Did you look through your papers at hmne or else\\ihere
to detern1ine whether or not yon in fart had a receipt showing
it had been paid 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And did you find ~uch a. reeeipt?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. 1\fr. Lang·ley?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 'Vhen you found the receipt, what, if anything, did you
do with it?
A. I called the office first and told them that I paid it.
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Court: Called the office of who t

A. Bowen and Company and they asked me if I would bring
it down. They ·wanted to see it. I told them I would be glad
to. I didn't see where it was necessary. I had already paid
my bill. They said they knew it would put me to an inconvenience to take it down but I carried it down anypage 544 ~ way and they made a copy and .they put it under a
machine-whether it's photostat or duplicating
n1achine or anyhow, they put it under a machine and gave 1ne
n1y original back. He said," that's all there is, 1\{r. Langley."
I didn't ask him any questions becaus-e I had my reeeipt showing I had paid it.
By Mr. Garne.tt:
Q. "''rit.h whom did you talk to at Bowen Company, if you
recall?
A. There was a gentleman. I don't know· him. I don't remember seeing him before and I couldn't identify him.
Q. Do you know Mr. l{eith McJ\IIurran'
A. No, I don't.
Q. You don't know him?
A. No.
Q. So you talked with a g·entleman there whom you cannot

iden~tify?

A.
Q.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.
A.

That's right.
Is that correct?
Yes.
Now they gave you-your original back?
Yes, sir.
And do you know where your original is, 1\fr. Langley?
Not right off-hand, I don't.

Court : How much off-hand would it take to find out?
page 545 ~

A. Well, that's a right good question. It's
heen how nutny years, two or three years. I
know normally the receipts should be kept. You receive quite
a few receipts during two or three years' time. The wife has
been looking for it today. To know whether sl1e can find it or
not, that's a good question.
Q. She was unable to produce it at the tin1e you left home,
is that correc.t?
A. That's right.
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Court: · At this time, you don't know where it is!
A. That's right.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now do you recall~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I object to further
interrogation of this witness. He's obviously not here for
the purpose of identifying the original.
Mr. Garnett: He's here for the purpose of telling us
he doesn't know where the original is.
Court: He can't find the original. That's what he told
me.
Mr. Baker: I understand that. I understand that, sir.
Court: All right. I don't know what else he
page 546 ~ knows either. Go ahead.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now !'lr. Langley, do you have a receipt for the year
19607
A. Yes sir. I g'Uess this is it here. I can't rmnetnber the
da.te.
]\.fr. Baker: If the Court please, I object to-any interrog·ation with reg-ard to a receipt for the year 1960. The
indictment does not cover any part of 1960 and the evidence
discloses that the Defendant was not even employed by the
Bowen Company at any time during 1960. I object to this as
being immaterial and irrelevant and not bearing on the
issues in this case.
Court: "\Vhat is the materiality of this 7
?vir. Garnett: I'm merely going to ask hin1 how much the
premium was for 1960.
?vir. Baker: If the Court. please, I object to that also because what the pretnium was in 1960 is no indication what tlw
premium may have been in another yel)_r.
Court: I don't know. 1\fa.ybe he can tell us whether it's
the same premium or not. Go ahead.
page 547 ~ Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I think this
is obviously inadmissible evidence a.nd going
around to tl1e back door doesn't make it legitimate evidence.
Court: No sir, it certainly doesn't.
Mr. Baker: None of this could come in .the front door and
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going around the back door doesn't improve the quality of it
one iota.
Court: You may go a·head.
Mr. Baker: Will you note the exception of the Defendant
to the ruling of the Court in permitting the examination
along this line.
Court: Let the record show the exception.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. How much does the receipt show the pren1ium was in
19607

A. Twelve ninety.
Q. Would that be $12.907
A. $12.90.

Mr. Garnett: Let the rec.ord show that the Commonwealth
is handing the witness the alleged receipt previously identified
by Mr. Ferguson.
page 548

~

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now I take it, Mr. Langley, that you cannot

say that that is the-a copy of the original because do you remember what the original actually looked
like?
A. No, I don't. Not off-hand, no.
Q. You do recall, however, I believe you testified that you
had a receipt f
A. That's right.
Court: And someone in the office took a photostatic copy
of it.

Mr. Garnett: Yes sir. Now Mr. Langley, if you will,
answer this g·entleman 's questions.
CROSS EXAJ\IINATION.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Did I understand you to sa.y, ~fr. Langley, that you
are in a position to say that this is a eopy or an exact copy
of any piec.e of paper you might have had Y
A. I wouldn't know.
Q. You wouldn '.t know Y
A. I wouldn't know.
Mr. Baker: I have no questions.
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Court: You may stand down. You want him any further
J\IIr. Baker?
Mr. Baker: No sir.
Court: You n1ay be excused.
lVIr. Garnett: You may leave, Mr. Langley.
pag-e 549 ~ Thank you. Now your Honor, the Commonwealth
would now offer this document in evidence as
Commonwealth's Exhibit Number 18, under ~the secondary
evidence rule. It has been testified here by Mr. lVIc1\furran
that an amountCourt: Let's see what be did say. '\7ait just a. minute.
All 1dght, go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: That a statement was sent to 1\lillie W.
Cobb, wh01n, it develops, her real name is lVIillie Langley
and n1arried Mr. Langley, for $12.90 which 'vas an insurance
premium reflected by the books of Bowen Company as being
due and unpaid. That the receipt was brought in a.nd a photograph was made of the receipt and the original was handed
back to the customer.
Court: According to lVIr. Keith 1\icMurran.
}Ir. Garnett: Yes sir. Yes sir, he testified to that. ~{r.
Lang·ley says that he did rec.eive a bill showing that this
premium had not been paid; that he had paid it. He looked
through his papers at home. He found a receipt. He carried
it to Bo·wen Company. That Bowen Company-he handed it
to a man there who he could not identify.
Court : A g·en tleman, he said.
page 550 ~
Mr. Garnett: That they took .a, picture of it and
they gav~ him the original receipt back. Now 1\{r. McMurran
says this is a copy or the picture that be took of that receipt.
Now your Honor, I can cite the law. The cases are replete
with the definitions and adn1issibility of secondary evidence
and I offer it on that basis because the original cannot be
produced. Now if, during the course of this trial, your
I-Ionor, we can find the original no one would be more delighted to bring it in and present it to the Court than I.
I offer it in evidence.
Mr. Balrer: Now if the Court please, the Defendant
by counsel objects to the reception in evidence of this alleged
document, this supposed photog-raph or Thermofax copy of
an unidentified piece of orig·inal paper. }fr. McMurran, according to my recollection of his testimony, testified that this
-that the piece of paper he copied was brought to his office
by a Miss ~fillie W. Cobb whom be believed was employed
by the Citir.ens l\{arine Jefferson Bank. l\{r. McMurran didn't
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say any man brought in a piece of paper in 'his
office to be copied. If I am incorrect in recollection
of his testimony, the Court Reporter's reading
of his testimony can correct nw. ~fy recollection is that he
said that Miss Millie Cobb brought that into the office and
he photographed it on a Thermofax mMhine and he believe
1\tiiss Cobb 'vas employed at the Citizens Marine Jefferson
Bank. Upon cross examination he admitted his familiarity
with the lhnitations upon the reproductive ability of the
Thermofax maehine; admitted it does not copy many types
of ink. He testified that he believed that this was au accurate
copy but he wasn't willing to say under oath that there 'vas
not some notation that mighi explain this out of existence
on ~the original which did not show up in the copy. IIe did
agree and admit, if the Court please, that print which was
clearly and legibly printed upon the original did not copy
legibly on this copy.
Court: Left out the "E'' of Bowen Company.
Mr. Baker: No sir, he admitted the entire itemization
of the column was illegible although it was clearly printed
on the original. His testimony was, if the Court please,
that the middle colu1nn a.nd the Court can see it
page 552 r here which is clearly imprinted on the original
in printing not in handwriting failed to photograph 'vith this machine. Now if the Court please, what we
have is this. We have inadmissible evidence in the forn1 of
hearsay evidence sought to be buttressed and fortified by inadmissible evidence in the forn1 of a. supposed copy when the
original was in the possession of the witness for the prosecution in l\{arch of 1958 in his possession by his own testimony for the sole purpose of ascertaining the name of the
custo1ner and the amount paid a.nd he admitted he made no
detailed examination or comparison of the photograph and
the original other than to ascertain that information was on
the photograph. Now to say that what is inadmissible can
be made admissible by reference to something that is inadmissible is to compound the error. I suggest, in all
sincerity if the Court please, this would not be received;
no testimony should be permitted to go into the record based
based upon this and I move to reject it.
Court: Anything you want to say?

page 551

~

(At this time Mr. Garnett then presented his
page 553 ~ argument in reference to the motion, after which
Mr. Baker replied which included the following).

334

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

R. L. Freeman.
Mr. Baker: There is not one scintilla of evidence in this
record that any witness has said that the books of record
of Bowen Company indicate that Millie Cobb was sent a
bill for $12.90 or any other amount. What is in evidence in
thi·s .record, as of this moment and mostly over the objec.tion
of counsel for the Defendant is that the accountant, Mr.
Freeman, went beyond the books themselves and made reference to what somebody else "gave me and told me."
Court: I thought he said the books disclosed that she
did ow-e some money though.
Mr. Baker: AndCourt: Am I right or wrong about that?
Mr. Baker: I think that the witness testified tha.t the
books did not disclose that $12.90 had ever credited to the
account of Millie W. Cobb. I don't think there was any
testimony as to whether there was a charge item.
page 554 ~ Court: The inference was she had an account
there owing and had not been credited, that's
right.
1\tfr. Baker: I don't believe that's in the testimony. It ma.y
be but I didn't hear it.
Court: That's what I understood it to be.
Mr. Baker: Well, I want to confess very frankly I can
be mistaken about ·what the testimony was and I think that
anyone in this Courtroom, all of us .are human. I think
anyon-e, including the Court can be nlistaken what the testimony wa.s. I say I don't recall that testimony. Of course
I 'n1 not asking him to go back and read all the testimony
to see if it's in there.
Court: The purport of it, to me, Mr. Baker, was that
she had an account there ; that it did no~t show a credit of
$12.90 having been paid. The ace.ount was on the books. If I
am wrong, I want to be corrected about it right ·now.
Mr. Baker: I don't believe that's in the evidence. "\Ve
can ask the witness if the Court \Va.nts, to see if he so
tes.tified. I don't believe he did.
page 555 ~ Court: What is it'

R. L. FREEMAN,
called as a witness by the Commonwealth, having been previously sworn, testified as follows :
A. I believe my statement was substantially this. That
the $12.90 bad not been credited to the account of Millie W.
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Cobb. I believe I answered the question or made that type
of statement. ·
Court: And did she have an account there?

A. Obviously if I may go a step furtherMr. Baker: Don't talk about obviously. Let's talk about
what he testified to.
Court: She is bound to have had one-there must have
been one in her name there certainly.
Mr. Baker: I don't know that necessarily follows.
Court: She has an account .there andMr. Baker: I must make this observation. I'm having
all I can do to defend what is in evidence without
page 556 ~ defending what is assumed to be in evidenceCourt: All right, sir.
Mr. Baker: May I ask the witness whether-whether be
tcstified-ho'v he testified on this pointY
Court: Yes sir, I'll let you do it again.
CROSS EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freen1an, did you in your testimony say there was
an account charged against Millie Cobb?
Court: I didn 't say he said charged against. I said there
was an account of Millie "\V. Cobb had not been charged with
$12.90.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Did you say the books reflected she had been billed
for .this amount?
A. I did not express it quite like you're asking me, sir. I
n1ade the statement earlier that substantially what I said, if
I recall, was that the account of Millie W. Cobb had not
been credited with the $12.90.
Mr. Baker: And except-! don't want to go into any
furiher examination of him. If the Oour.t please, here is
"rhere we are. "\Ve 're at. this point. That the
page 557 ~ the witness for the Commonwealth ha.s given
testimony c~ncerning a long list of checks. The
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attorney-the witness for the CommonweaLth has given testimony concerning certain unrecorded receipts as shown by the
cash receipts journal, not posted to customers' accounts and
the witness for the Comn1onweaJ.th has given testimony with
regard to delays in posting and tl1e deposits of checks and has
attempted to put it together into a package. Based upon his
qualifications as a CPA and an expert and based upon his
detailed analysis of the books of record of Bowen Company
involving some 400 man hours I believe the testinwny was,
when we e()me to the end of the road in his testimony and we
got a lot of loose ends which it is sought to tie into a package,
the piece of string sought to be used is inadmissible evidence.
The piece of string sought to be used is what is first admitted
by the attorney for the Commonwealth to be hearsay evidence
and then sought to be buttressed and made admissible by
another piece of document objected to by the a.ttorney for the
Defense and the best evidence rule invoked a.nd
page 558 ~ then the attempt is made by the Co1nmonwealth
through other witnesses to get around the best
evidence rule by having first, ].{r. 1\tlc].{urran testify and
then ~Ir. Langley, neither of whon1 was willing to say that
this thermofax photograph is an exact copy of the piece of
paper with regard to which they had reference. Now if the
Court please, that's inadmissible evidence. It's the piece of
string with which the Commonwealth seeks to tie this whole
packag·e. It's important and it's not adn1issible and no matter
how difficult the job may be on the part of the Commonwealth
to to tie this package together, I submit in all sincerity tl1at
he should not be permitted to tie it with a piece of inadnlissible evidence sought to be but.tressed by another piece of
inadmissible evidence and a piece of evidence not identified
by any witness, not vouched for under oath by any witness
to be a copy of the piec.e of paper in question. 'Ve 're at a
very important cross road in this trial. The rules of evidence,
I think are clear and this is the piece of string and it's not
admissible and I move to rejec.t it.
page 559 ~ Court: 'Veil, the Court is going· to allow it in
this case to corroborate what ~{r. Freeman said.
Note your exception.
Mr. Baker: 'Vill the Court note ·the exception of the
attorney-the Defendant by counsel to the ruling of t1w
Court.
Court: Yes sir.
Mr. Baker: In admitting-·
Court: Let the record show that.
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1\Ir. Baker: In ad1nitting in evidence the itmn which, for
convenience sake, we can call the $12.90 item and all the
testimony with regard to it and all testimony predicated upon
it and upon its assun1ed authenticity.
Court: .All right, sir.
1\fr. Baker: If I could have the Court Reporter read
back to me just the last question or hvo and unless they're
long, in which event the la.st question and answer put to
1\fr. Freeman before the cross examination was interrupted,
n1ight. help me som.e in getting bacl{ together.
page 560

~

(The photostatic copy of the doc1unent w·as then
received and marked Coimnonwealth 's Exhibit
Number 18).
(The last question and answer were then read to the Court
and to counsel.
By 1\Ir. Baker:
Q. Now l\Ir. Freeman, this san1c page 132 of Commonwealth's Exhibit 15 contains the colun1n or -columns .that vou
said were-I believe you used the terrn, "false footing":
A. No sir I used the expression over footed, sir.
Q. Over footed. Now which two colnn1ns were they1
A. They were the cohunns-accounts receivable insurance
credit column which was over foot~d and--the accounts receivalhe in~urance debit colun1n. The aceounts receivable
insurance debit colun1n yes.
Q. Now, the fact of the matter is that the balance carried
forward-the llnlance carried forward fro1n the preceding
page of each of those colun1ns together with the entries on the
page adds up correctly, docsn 't it 1
pag·e 561 ~ A. I ha.ve not added it in that m.anner, sir, and
eannot answer unless I would do so.
Q. It wouldn't t.ake you but a 1ninute or two to do that?
A. "\Vhat figure shall I use as being- the beginning figure¥
I see two at the top.
Q. Would you as an expert accountant, Mr. Freeman, indicate to me what those two at the top n1ea.n?
A. Frankly, l-as an expert accountant ":-ould not take
either one. I'd sta.rt fron1 t11e beginning of the month and add
them down to arrive at tl1e correct to·tal, sir.
Q. Is there not at the top of each of the columns to which
you referred a fignre which, by reference t~ tlw preceding
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page is identical with ·the total arrived at on the preceding
page for the same columns?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. May I ask you as a.n expert, Mr. Freeman, whether or
not you recognize those two figures, one at the top of ea:ch
one of those columns to be a balance carried forward from
the preceding pag·e?
A. Yes sir, but ·they're two figures up there. One in red
pencil and one in black pencil.
Q. Now 1\fr. Freeman, you know 'vha.t I'm talking- about.
I'm talking about the-the figures across the top of each one
of these colmnns aud the ones-the figures which
pag-e 562 ~ are identical with the totals as shown on the preceding page for tlw same colurruts.
A. Mr. Baker, there are two totals. If you 'II turn back
here and look on page 131, there are two totals.
Court:

One in pencil and one in red penciH

A. "'Which one you wish me to e.on11nent on.
Bv Mr. Baker:
·Q. Tell me whieh ones are the entries made by the bookkeeper, if you know 'f
A. I can tell you 'vba.t I believe but I don't know.
Q. You don't know which was Ina de by the bookkeeper?
A. That is correct.
Q. Do you tnean, sir, 1\{r. Freen1an, that you 111ade a cOinplete audit without knowing· which set of figures to use~
A. Mr. Baker, if you refer back to my testhnony, I did
not say that I n1ade a con1plete audit. on this year 1952.
Q. I understand that, sir but I did understand that you had
made a complete audit of those colun1ns and for that nwnth.
A. I nu1de the statement, if I rec.all, that I a.ddetl tl1e itetns
appearing in these columns down and arrived a.t. what was
the correct total of the items appearing in the
page 563 ~ column and that only, sir.
Q. \Viii you tell me which figures you used in
arriving at a total?
A. I used the ink figures in the colun1n.
Q. \Yell now, then I will nsk you with regard to the same
fig11res sir, is there not an indication at the t.op of the colunu1
in both instances, both of the two columns of a figure which
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is identical ·with the footed figure at the bottom of the same
columns on the preceding page Y Is .that true or not, sir Y
A. Yes sir, there are two items at the top of this page
that correspond to the two items listed at the bottom of page
131, sir.
Q. Do you mean to tell us, Mr. Freeman, you don't recognize that to he ·c.onsistent \vith bookkeeping practice of
a balance carried forward from the preceding page for purposes. of addition Y
A. I didn't say that.
Q. Do you recognize it as such?
A. It is quite common practice to bring a sub-total in
pencil above the ink figures as you're continuing from page
to page.
Q. I'm not talking about common practice. I'm asking you
if you recognize this to b~ such a case.
A. Mr. Baker, there are two figures appearing
page 564 r on top of page 132 as I repe81tedly said and I've
asked you \vhich one you wish me to comment on.
Q. I want you to say.
A. There are two figures appearing on the bottom of page
131. I did not use sub-totals because I started at •the beginning of the n1onth and added them down to the end of the
month on the actual ink figures a.ppea.ring in the column to
arrive 8Jt the correct totals.
Q. Will you take the total as shown on the preceding page f
A. vVhich total, sir? There are· two.
Q. Of each of the hvo columns in question.
A. There are two totals at the bot•tom of the preceding
page.
Q. I U!iderstand that.
A. Of both colun1ns.
Q. I understand that. I understand one is in red pencil
and one is in pen and ink at the top of the next page. It is
in lead pencil, is that right?
A. There's one in-indicates lead pencil and one which
indicates to be in red pencil. That is correct, sir.
Q. Well, that set of books obviously ran a total on each
page, didn't i·t?
A. Yes sir, that is correct.
Q. And you you didn't do it by the page?
page 565 ~ A. No sir, \Ve did it from the beginning of the
month to the end of the month, sir.
Q. So then-
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Court: The ink figures in ·the page I understand.
A. That is correct.
By Mr. Baker:
Q.. Then do I understand from you, you made no attempt
to ascertain on what page there was an error, if anyY
A. That is correct.
Q. It's obvious to you that the person ·who did this totalling
did it by the pages and carried the balance forward, isn't it f
A. Yes sir.
Q. So you're not in a position to say where in that whole
month there was an error or whether 1t 's accumulative error
or whether the total figure is represented by four or five mistakes or a single one, is that correct 7
A. Let me state it this way, if I may answer you. I added
the figures appearing in these columns, the ink figures and
I'm saying that the ink figures totalled this amount of money
that we previously discussed.
Q. But based upon your exanlinat.ion of these books, you're
not in a position to sa.y whether there were muny errors
which offset against each other 'vound up with
page 566 ~ the net figure that you specified or whether it was
a single error, are you 1
A. Oh, I have no idea, sir. They "·ere just thut amount
was notQ. Can't you answer my question yes or no.
A. If vou can ask it in a. n1anner that. I can gtve a yes
or no answer to it.
Mr. Baker: I'll ask for the Reporter to read the last
question.
(At this time the last question was read to t.he witness).

Q. Can you answer that question yes or no and when you
finish, give any explanation yon desire.
A. No.
Q. By "no'' you mean you're not in a position to sa.y
whether it was a number of errors on both sides balancing
out to this net figure or a. single error. Is that what you mean
by the answer, ''no'' Y
A. I answered it "no" and I would like to answer it what
I did do so it would be clear. 1Ve added the total of the ink
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figures appearing in the columns, both the acBounts receivable,
insurance credit colunm and the accounts receivable insurance debit column.
Q. And you came up with a different total for the month
than t'he total at the foot of those two columns
page 567 ~ for the month, is that right?
A. The total of the ink figures at the month,
that is correct, and the difference being the $1,667 .99.
Q. But you 1nade no BJttempt to aseerta.in where during
the course of the month the error or mistake was made, did
you¥
A. 'VeQ. Let n1e withdraw the question. You made no attempt
to identify pag·e by page or month or item by item the
item which accounted for the mistakes, did you?
A. We reviewed it for this entire month as I said previously from the beginning of November and there we1·e no
amounts of this-of this in the columns that would give us
this total.
Q. But have you just ag-reed, }Ir. Freeman, that this total
is not necessarily represented by a single item? That it
could be the net difference after offsetting several mistakes
against each other. Haven't you just admitted that, sir?
A. I stated-! stated earlier, I'll state again sir, that 've
added the figures appearing in the column, arrived at the
correct total, arrived at a difference in the ink totals at the
bottom of the page and the difference was $1,667.99.
Q. I understand that. Now we '11 pass on to
page 568 r something else. It was items in connec.t.ion with
this tabulation, entries in connection with this
tabulation that Mr. 'Vhiteside first acknowledged be had
made and then denied, wasn't it?
A. I don't understand your question, sir.
Q. It \vas entries in connection with this tabulation that 1\fr.
Whiteside first admitted were in his writing and then denied,
was it not?
A. You're referring to the $1,667.99?
Q. I'm asking you whether or not it was entries in the
books that effect the tabulation for the month in question
which you have just testified about which Mr. Whiteside first
identified and agreed, ''yes it is my writing'' and then
said, "no, it is not."
(At this time there wa.s objection by counsel for the Con1monwealth and further discussion bet"Teen counsel).
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A. I haven't answered him, sir.
Mr. Baker: We had an affirmative answer before the
interruption.
Court: Have you answered him, sirY

A. No sir, not on the last one. I'm trying to get him to
state it. I didn't understand 'his question.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Let me ask you rthis. Do you recall there was conversation back and forth with regard to the identi:fieapage 569 ~ tion of the writer or the writing of certain entries in our conference in the library in March
of this year Y
A. Yes sir.
Q. .And that conversation was with regard to whether or
not Mr. Whiteside had made certain entries or whether someone else had Y
A. Ye-s sir.
Q. And the entries in question are in the month in this
book from which you are testfying which went into your
monthly total with the ascertainment of a discrepancy, were
they not?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. That's all I want to ask you on that one. Now Mr.
Freeman, in connection with your audit of the Bowen books,
did you include a ~check of internal control as a part of that
audit¥
A. We reviewed as we normally do on any engagement
what aspects of internal control are prevalent. Of course
I 'vas· dealing with it on an historical basis as to what happened in two or three years. l\{y conferences of course \vas
with Mr. l\1cMurran. I also consulted with Mr. E. D. Whiteside w'ho had been business consultant for them for a number of years and ~consulted with Mr. Bowen.
Q. Then the answer is that you---lthe answer is yes, you
did check into the internal control of the Bowen
page 570 ~ Company Y
A. I inquired a.s to whether or not there was
any internal control, sir.
Q. Isn't that normally the way in which the internal
eontrol is checked by the auditor, by inquiring?
A. That's only the beginning, sir.
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Q. Is internal control-adequacy of internal control any
in1portant factor in the use .of hooks and the validity of books
to prove what comes and what goes and where it goes?
A. As to the books themselves, no.
Q. I understand that, sir. Internal control is .something
over and above the books to make the books really mean something, isn't it f
·
A. This is correct. As a safeguarding factor.
Q. And to the degree that internal control be lacking,
in a given office or business, ·to that very deg·ree the books
can be expected to be impaired as far as telling the whole
picture, isn't that right 1
A. As-will you repeat that~ As to the absence, I didn't
get the-your phrase ·there.
Court: You want him to read it baek?
A. If you will please, sir. I didn't get his first word.
page 571

~

(At this time the last question was read to
the wi-tness).

A. I can't say that, no. Not-to be expected to be impaired, that is not true.
Q. Let n1e ask you this. 'Vhat do you, as an expert, mean
by the ter1u, "internal control"?
A. 'Veil, internal control as we employ it, the term, is
whereby you have one person performing duties which by its
nature can be checked by another person's performance of
their duties independent of each other.
Q. Is it the function of the auditor or the accountant, is
it the proper or a necessary or a necessarily proper function
of the accountant in conne~c.tion 'vith this audit to analyze
internal control and make recommendations concerning any
deficiencies he finds?
A. Oh yes, on a general audit when we undertake an audit,
it is part of our auditing procedure to review the existence
or non-existence of internal control.
Q. Did y<>u make recommendations to the Bowen Company
concerning deficienc.es in internal cont~ol as a result of the
audits you did Y
·
A. I had-no sir, ·that was not part of my engagement, sir.
Q. I understand you to say you made no recommendations
because that was not part of what you were employed for?
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A. That is correct, sir.
Q. vVell now Mr. Freeman, speaking as an
expert, if there be a cash drawer in a given
business or office in which four or five employees are employed
and if all four or five employee.s have access to the same cash
dra·wer and as part of the procedure, approved procedure
all go in and out of that same cash drawer as distinguished
from separate drawers of their own, is that consistent with
proper internal control'?
A. No sir, it is not.
Q. And if receipts for checks or cash are issued by each
of these four or five employees without distinction and the
proceeds deposited in the same drawer or change n1ade fr01n
the same drawer, is that consistent with proper internal control1
A. This quite often is the case, sir.
Q. Is that consistent with good internal control f
A. You haven't gotten into internal control. It has nothing
to do with internal control at that particular motnent, sir,
and this is quite comn1on proc.edure.
Q. Do I understand you tl1en for four ·Or five people to have
access to the same drawer is not eonsistent with good internal
control?
A. You didn't ask that, sir.
Q. I thought I did. "\Veil, I will now ask you. If there be
an office or a stuall business with f.our or five
page 573 ~ entployees in it and one cash drawer and it be
part of the general approved procedure that the
four or five etnployees without distinction or discrimination
all have access to the same cash drawer and all g·o in it daily
for the purpose of either receiving funds or paying out funds
or whatever tnight be the use of that cash drawer, is tha,t
consistent with the requirements of good internal control Y
A. 'Ve11, as I said earlier that is a common situation. Now
.the control element is who tallies it up and what do y<>u
do from that point on the record. That particular phase
in your question does not tie in yet to internal control.
Q. Now suppose that one pers·on does the tallying at the
close of the day and the funds are short. Is there any way
with that kind of internal control that responsibility for
the shor·tage of funds could be :fixed'
A. Well, in your example the answer would be y~s. If you
i1ad these people issuing the receipts going in and out to find
out how tnuch they put in or how much they took out.
page 572

~
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Q. You mean if each person exacted a receipt from the one
person responsible for what ~they put in when they put it in
then you would have good c.ontrol, is that w·hat you mean Y
A. I didn't say that, no.
Q. Suppose-maybe we're not talking the same language.
A. I don't think we are.
page 574 r Q. Let's suppose there are four or five people
in the same offi-ce including you and me.
A. All right.
Q. And during the course of the day you and I both
received funds for our employer and signed receipts for it
and put it into the common pot and two or three other employees do the same thing and at the end of -the day the
per.son responsible counts up the money and it's short. Is
there any way with that system of internal control that the
responsibility for the shortage can be fixed?
A. You know there would be two parties involved in it in
your exa_TILple, sir, you and I.
Q. I included the other three or four employees.

Court: Wait a minute. He sa.id you and Mr. Baker and
two or three others.
A. Well, of course you would have then the five people
involved.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. So jnternal control, as far as fixing responsibility at the
first level ·would be lacking, is that co.rrect Y
A. That is correct.
Q. Under the example I gave you.
A. This is corerct.
page 575 ~ Q. And if in addition, ~ir. Freeman, it was the
policy in this office to issue receipts for cash and
to issue receipts for son1e checks and not for others, is that
consistent with the requirements of internal control as by
your standards, sir?
A. No, sir.
Q. Would the example that I gave you be to that extent
destructive of internal control 1
A. This last example Y
Q. Yes sir. I don't mean completely destructive but would
it add to the invalidity of the internal control Y
A. In absence of receipts for all funds coming in, yes,
you would have a weakness at that point.
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Court: You would have a weakness at that point?
A. Yes sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now Mr. Freeman, if the receipts in this office that I
have described to you are in both checks and cash and the four
or five employees that I have just described to you have the
privilege of putting into the cash drawer a check, their personal check, pay check or any other check and eas·hing it and
exchanging it for cash, then does the designation on the manifold receipts as to whether it was checks or receipts or
checks or cash received, do you have any internal control
under the exa1nple I gave you that would maJ{e
page 576 ~ that a valid proof of how much cash and how much
cllecks should still be on hand 1
A. No, you would not. As to the individual items of identity
between cash and or check in your example. You would,
as to total.
Q. I understand that, sir, but I mean as far as talking
about cash is concerned, you nught just as well have written
it down on last 'veek's newspaper and thro'vn it away as to
determine cash as distinguished from checks if a ftcr it is
receipted for, somebody is cashing checks out :of the cash.
That's true?
A. Yes, you lose identity from the original form.
Q. If on the other hand, 1\{r. Freeman, a cnston1er of thiR
office that I have described to you comes in and brings a
check in payment of the account and a receipt is issued for
the check in that amount and that check is subsequently eonverted to cash by cashing it at the bank instead of depositing
it, ~then even if I-even if the proceeds of tha.t checks is put
back into the cash drawer, the internal control is destroyed
by that to that extent~
A. The identity of the funds from-its original inception
t? the amount of later accountability would be impaired, yes
Sir.

Q. Under the example tha.t I have given you, the identity
of the fund is what is destroyed, that's right!
page 577 ~ A. The difference between cash or check; not
the total.

Court: Identity of the form, ca.sb or checks is destroyed?
A. Yes sir.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. And if the identity of the funds is. destroyed, what does
that do to the ability of someone going back a few years later
and trying to reconstruct by tracing a check in the exac1t
amount through the company books and through the deposit
slips 7
A. It doesn't destroy it in its entirety, sir.
Q. You might-if a check has been cashed that was receipted for as a check and the proceeds of the check as
cashed put back in the cash drawer, then you would look
yourself until you're blind trying to find it on the deposit slip,
trying to find it?
A. If the check was not deposited, the answer is obviously
yes.
Q. And being able to prove it came in in the form of a
check and never was deposited, what-wha.t suspicious would
that raise, Mr. Freeman, if you didn't know it had been
cashed instead of being deposited 1
A. I didn't get your first phrase.
Q. In going back and auditing these books and
page 578 ~ trying to trace funds in identical amounts through
the books and through deposit slips and into the
bank, the example that I have given you if the check were in
fact converted to cash and the cash put back in the drawer,
replacing the check, I believe you agree that you would look
until you're blind trying to find it on the deposit slip and never
find it?
A. To the extent of the exchanges in your example, that
is correct, sir.
·
Q. Anyone examining the receipt books and knowing that
this was the practice, to covert checks to cash and ea.sh to
checks, would not be surprised at being unable to trace identical items through the books and to the deposit slips, would
they?
A. No sir, to ~the extent of the changes of course, you
could not tell.
Q. If you didn't know to what extent the exchanges had
occurred, you wouldn't know to wha.t extent apparent defi·eiencies were accounted for by that practice, would you?
A. Thnt-I can't even answer that question because you
added something that doesn't even tie into the previous
example.
Q. Let's change the 'vord, "deficiencies". To the extent you were unaware of how many instances .of this example
have occurred, you would be equally unable to reach any
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conclusions on your ability to trace those same
identical funds through deposit slipt~, \vould you
notY
A. Those same identical funds, yes, but the total, no sir.
Q. I understand.
A. The total ac.countability would not be impaired.
Q. We're talking about tracing particular funds, particular pay1nents through the funds and through the book
now. If that practice did exist, it would be impossible to
reach any valid conclusion to concerning the ability or inability to trace theA. To the exent of those who lost their original identity.
Q. If you knew it was done and then it would be impossible to reach any firm logical conclusion concerning your
inability to trade them through 1
A. Those particular ones but not to your total accountability.
Q. \Ve 're talking about trying· to .trace a · particular item
into the books and out ·of the books and into the deposit slip
and into the bank. That's what 've're talking about and
in reconstructing a set of books and finding yourself unable
to trace a particular chec.k in a specified -amount into the
deposit slip and into the bank, that naturally creates some
suspicion about what happened to the proceeds of -this
check, doesn't it 1
page 580 ~ A. Not if you have your total aaccountability
of what came in for that day regardless of whether it lost its identity or not.
Q. Let's assume you don't haye your total accountability.
Let's assume yQu wind up with less money you think should
be there and you find a check in a specified an1ount came in
and was receipted for as a check but never wound up on the
deposit cslip. Tha~t's a red flag to you, isn't it1
A. In a. case with a good set of books with adequate internal controls, the answer is yQs.
Q. And a set of books and a system of internal control
wl1ich did not prevent the example I have given you is deficient to that degree, is it not?
A. It's weak to that extent, yes sir. Your definition of
defiiciency may be different than mine. I don't want to
cha.ng·e your \vord. If you wish me to go in to that, I will.
Q. N·o-you've answered it adequately, Mr. Freeman. Now
you 'have made reference from time to time to cash on hand
and cash on hand as of the conclusion of certain accounting
period. Will you tell us what you mean by cash on hand?

page 579

~
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A. I'm talking about the amount that was called for by
the accounting records in my previous items. Cash of course
could be cash and or checks. The books, the
page 581 ~ general term used, cash on ·hand of course can
be a deposit item of cash and or ehecks.
Q. That's what I am driving at. As far as you accountants
are concerned, you say cash you mean cash or check. You
don't mean what us laymen mean hy cash 7
.A. Generally ·this is true unless we pin-point and say
this is cash and does not include check. The common usag·e
is cash and cheeks.
Q. Frequently during the course of your testimony on
Saturday and today you have used the term, ''cash'' when you
in fact meant cash as defined in accounting terms whic:h includes checks as well as cash Y
A. Unless I have erred, I believe I said cash and checks
when I indicated that to avoid the confusion.
Q. I believe you made reference several times to cash
on hand at the end of the accounting period. This is not a
trick question but to make sure we are all talking about the
same item.
A. I believe I have used the reference, "cash on hand",
I have used the expression per the books which would be
a composite referenc.e to cash and checks. Other than that,
I be.Jieve I spelled it out, sir.
Q. For the years that you did your audit, 1955-'56, '57,
and '58 did you check the cash on ha.ud item in the hooks
month by month during those-that period?
page 582 ~ A. Of eourse we did, Inonth by month. You
recallQ. In what book do you check that, lVIr. Freeman "1
A. Well of course it's-we worked it from both the journals
'vhieh are· the cash receipt j·ournal and through to your
posting media which is the general ledger.
Q. 'Vill you take the cash rec.eipts journal and the general ledger and put them on the desk before you, sir, and
when you have done that will you identify each by their
Exl1ibit number for the record f
(The witness complied w1th the request of counsel).
A. The-the cash, pardon me, the general ledger, there
are. two records of the general ledger. The transfer one
and the current one. The transfer one is referred to as
Common,vealth's Exhibit Number 7.
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Q. Just a minute, and what period does the transfer
one cover ·as distinguished fro1n the current one¥
A. I'll have to look at the dates.
Q. Will you do that also¥

Court: The general ledg·er you mean two general ledgers
I believe you stated?

A. Yes sir, one is a ·transfer and the other is a current
one.
By Mr. Baker:

Q. Does that mean-Mr. Freeman, that they

page 583

r cover different periods or are they supplementary

to each other?
A. I'll have to cheek to see exactly what date the beg·inning
-this one is and rthe ending of the other. The first date I
observed in the general ledger referred to as Comn1on,vealth
Exhibit Number 7, which is the general ledger transfer is
August 31,. 1948.
Q. Now I wish you to-examine you particularly only
with regard to the years which you did your audit. That's
'56, '57 and '58. Now are those years covered in the general
ledg·er you have rthere.'
A. 1956, 1957 and 1958 are covered in the transfer journal
andCourt: Is that Exhibit 7?
A. That is Exhibit 7, sir, and Exhibit 8, is the period of
January through February the 6th, 1959. Starting with
January, '59 and of course it's on up through the current
date. The cash receipt books before me is Commonwealth's
Exhibit Number 9, which covers the cash receipts for the
years that I have testified to.
1\{r. Ferguson: What years is that¥
Court : The years you have ·testified.
1\{r. Ferguson: \Vhat years?
A. That is Con1monwealt.h 's Exhibit Number 9, sir.
Court: That's right.
1\tfr. Ferguson: "What year?
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page 584

t

A. Involved in this book is '54, cash receipts
for '54, '55, '56, '57, '58 and '59.

Court: Starting with '54 you say Y
A. Yes sir, they're in the same binder.
Q. Now will you turn to the cash receipts journal to most
any page at random during the peri'Od for which you did an
audit where the cash on hand at the close of a.ny accounting
period is set forth f
A. Yes sir, here's whole pages of it here (indicating),
if you want the rec.ord here.
Q. This isn't private between you and me. Talk loud
enoughA. Ifere is the summary of the cash on hand for the
periods involved, sir. This is commencing J anuary~this is
the, pardon n1e, over here, January 1, 1956 balance of six
thirty nine sixty seven carrying on forward with the total
receipts and the bank depos1ts right on down, giving you the
ending of the. year balance. That gives you the monthly balance appearing in the right-hand column.
Q. Just a minute. 1\{r. Freeman, I asked you to open a
book and I get. about three or four minutes of testhnony from
you.

1\fr. Garnett:

That wasn't your question.

By Mr. Baker: Q. "\Viii you open the book-will you tell me
page 585 ~ this, whether the books are set up by the month
and whether the closing of the books by the
tnonth reflects bv the books the cash on hand as of the close
of tl1at n1onth 1 · What set of books does that f
A. No set of books, sir, results in closing on the monthly
basis.
Q. The cash-where in the books would there be shown
cash on hand as of the termination of business in the given
nwnthf
A. In the general ledger as I just referred to. At cash on
hand, end of J anua.ry 31, 1956 would be $1,921.10.
Q. \\There do these figures eome from, fr01u other set of
books?
A. Of course they come from the journal.
Q. Will you look in the journal? Is it. set forth in the
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journal monthly at the termination of eac.h month
as a tabulation such as you have shown m.e'
A. I didn't understand your question, sir. '\Vhen
tabulationQ. I take it this is a tabulation. You got three
years on one page. I want to look at the books that
by the month.

and not
you say
or four
are kept

Court: Let me follow you. Three or four years on one
page. I don't see that.

A. That's one year.
page 586

~

Court: That's one year I see on that page
you put your hand on. Started fron1 January
and went through December.
l\1:r. Baker: ''Thole year on one page ?
Court: That's right.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. I want the books where the records are kept by the
month.
A. Of course this is the total of cash received during the
month of January, 1956. This is the-the total at the end
of the period which is $18,000.00 and this exan1ple, $284.11
posted to the general ledger; $18,284.11.
Q. Is that an indication of $18,284.11 on hand and undeposited as of the close of business as of that month?
A. No sir, it is not.
Q. Is the item I'm talking about reflected in the books
anywhere?
A. Yes sir, the item in your exan1ple, $1,921.10.
Q. I'm saying in the monthly records, Mr. Freen1an. Isn't
this figure transposed from some place else and records kept
currently f
Court:

Go back again to that book I think

A. This is your journal, your cash receipts journal. "Here
is your $18,284.11. The entry of these items.
page 587 }

Court:

That's total cash receipts now.

A. That's the receipt of the cash and checks received
tha.t 's been recorded in the journal from the beginning of
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the period starting over here January 4, conung down in
columnar forms andMr. Baker: If the Court please, may I interrupt at this
moment.
(At this time conversation ensued between Court and
counsel).
By ~Ir. Baker:
Q. Without putting your hands on this book, will you answer a question or two for me¥
A. If I can.
Q. Properly kept, certain entries are made I would assume
daily in a set of books suc.h as the Bowen books, is that right 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And if 've assun1e for a 1noment that the books are prope-rly kept and they're n1ade daily and the entries are made, the
rec.eipts are recorded and the disbursements are recorded and
the deposits to the banks are recorded and we come to the end
of the month and as of the close of business at the end of any
month there is in the cash drawer or in the sa.fe undeposited
checks and cash or both or either, would the.re be any entry
in these books in the monthly summaries, any
page 588 ~ entries made in the books kept currently showing
how 1nuch money was-and checks was on hand at
the end of the month and carried over into the next month 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you find that for me, sir?
A. I have just pointed those very items to you, sir. You
have to ta.ke the amount here and at the beginning of the
month. If JiOU please let me finish, because this is the way
you asked. The balance at the beg·inning; the monthly example
here was $639.67. You have to take plus the amount received
during the month less the amount deposited to the bank during
the month and that is what the records will show you as being
cash on hand.
Q. What does this show was on hand as of the-as of Jannary 31, 1956?
A. $1,921.10.
Q. Does that figure, $1,921.10 derive by computations on

that page or is it transferred from some other book?
Mr. Garnett: Why not let the witness look at the books.
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Somebody else is .turning the pages on hiln. They're asking
him one question at a time.
A. As I have pointed out, sir, the original information is
takenpage 589

~

By }Ir. Baker :
Q. Mr. Freeman, I asked you ·a very simple
question. I asked you whether this figure of $1,-

900Court : $21.10.
By ~!r. Baker:
Q. $21.10 was the derived by co1nputaions on this page or
whether jt wa.s picked up as a transfer from another book.
Can you tell me which it was~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 1'lhicb was itf
A. It was taken fro1n the balance that a.t the beginning of
the month plus after posting the $18,284.11 you add that to it
and when you post the total amount taken out of cash representing g·oing into deposits of $17,000.68, you arrive at your
total of $1,921.10.
Q. Let me ask you the question in a different way, Mr.
Freeman. If the set of books is complete and if they are
properly kept, will the figure $1,921.10 appear anywhere else
in the records of Bowen Co1npany than the place you pointed
to?
Court: vVill that fig·ure appear anywhere else, anywhere
in any other books f
}fr. Baker: Yes, sir.
A. It eould but not necessarily so.
Bv ~Ir. Baker:
·
Q. Is it any place where it properly should appage 590 ~ pear'
A. No, not necessarily, sir. This is where you
normally refer to your end of tl1e nwnth balances.
Q. If the record-if the ·c.ash and checks on hand at tl1e
end of any month were verified and counted, should there appear anywhere else than here in veri.fic.ation of that?
A. Counted by ·who·?
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Q. By anyone whose responsibility it might be to verify the
cash on hand at the end of the given month to compare it
with the figures in this book.
A. If they wrote down their accounting.
Q. We!l, is there anything in the records that you have
examined to indicate whether or not the cash on hand was
ever counted prior to February 7, or 6, of 1959?
A. No, sir, I did not see anything pertaining to the cash
count other than the item of cash count by Mr. Whiteside.
Q. And so far as youA. Which was in February of '59, sir.
Q. And as far as you kno,v, from your examination and
audit of these books and the records of Bowen Company, as of
the end of any month during this period, there could have
been $15.00, $1,500.00, $15,000.00, $150,000.00 in the safe in the
cash drawer. Is that right, sir?
A. As far as I ha:ve knowledge, yes, sir.
Q. And none of your testimony given here depage 591 ~ nies the possibility that--that all of these sums I
may have said n1a.y have been in the safe at the
time with regard to which you are testifying?
A. I have no knowledge, that's correct.
Q. And nothing that you have testified to has established
any taking awa.y of any funds of Bowen Company, is that
right, sir?
A. No, that's not right, sir. l\1:y testimony covered the items
that had not been recorded on the books and with the proper
recording on the books, they 'vould definitely show that there
would ha.ve been more cash on hand as called for by the
books.
Q. How do you know how much cash was on hand 7
A. I have only testified and I've just previously stated to
you the amount as called for by the books. I have no knowledge beyond that.
Q. You. don't lmow 'vhether the amount called for by the
books was actually on hand or not, do you Y
A. As of a given date, no, sir.
Q. As of any date?
A. No, sir.
Q. That is true, isn't it?
A. That's correct.
Court: That's true, yes.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, is the daily or monthly or annual verification of cash on hand or any of those
verifications a.n essential part of any-of any degree of proper
internal control in your opinion as an expert~
A. Oh, yes, sir they should be balanced at the end of every
day, sir.
Q. And if it be not the practice in this in1aginary office that
we have de~cribed sometime ago ever to balance the cash daily,
what does that do to the internal control Y
A. It 'veakens it.
Q. Sir?
A. It weakens it.
Q. What does it do to the ability or anyone to say what
happened to any money that might be short?
A. It weakens the -the total amount there too, sir.
Q. 'Veil, does it weaken to the point that nothing can be said
beyond reasonable doubt with regard to itf
A. No.
page 592

~

Mr. Garnett: Just a moment. Just a n1on1ent, I don't know
what this reasonable doubt deal is.
(At this time further argument was had between counsel).
page 593
~fr.

~

Mr. Baker: I withdrawCourt: I don't think he said legal.
Baker: I withdraw the question, if the Court please.

By Mr. Raker:
Q. M.r. Freeman, all of the ·checks from CRT that you went
over one by one over a period ·of Saturday, most of the morning and today that you have identified as Commonwealth 'sCommonwealth's Exhibits for Identification Numbered one
through 98 and I hand them now to you, sir, so you may know
without mistake to which I ha.ve reference, every one of those
checks and every dime of the proceeds represented by those
checks went into the Bowen account at the Citizens Marine
Jefferson Bank and Bowen Company received 'Credit of it on
their account with the bank?
A. Without checking, I won't say they all went to CMJ.
I think some went to both the OMJ and First National Bank.
Q. In any event, you have confirmed every one of those
checks and every dime represented-the proceeds represented
by those checks went into the Bowen account and the Bowen
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Company received credit for the proceeds of those ·checks, is
that right, sir Y
A. Yes, sir, that's correet.
Q. 1\{r. Freeman, in your testimony and for
page 594 ~ your infol'luation I'm reading from a eopy of your
men10randurn which covers the period from July
1, 1958 through February 6, 1959. I think it's the last page of
your memorandum. Your testimony pretty well followed your
memorandum I believe. A.s a matter of fact, were you not
in fact reading the first paragraph when you gave your testimony from this memorandum Y
A. Originally I think I was, yes, sir.
Q. And the first paragraph reads then as follows. ''Cash
and checks from customers received and recorded in the cash
receipts journal amounted to $217,416.85. Deposited in banks
amounted to $213,462.96 or a difference of $3,953.89.
A. That is correct.
Q. ''Purporting to be cash on hand as of J a.nuary 31, 1959. ''
By this you assumed that there should have been on hand as
of January 31, 1959, $3,953.89. Is that right, sir?
A. The books called for that to be on hand.
Q. And so far as you know, it was on hand~ You don't
know anything to the contrary, do you f
A. This is correct.
Q. All right, sir. Now you go down to the second parag-raph and say the deposit to each bank on February 6, 1959
there was prepared deposit slips and you identified those as
Commonwealth's Exhibits one and two 1
A. I don't recall Exhibit numbers.
Q. I'll show them to you again so there can't
page 595 ~ be any mistake about what we're talking about.
(At this time the doeuments were handed to the witness).
By 1\fr. Baker:
Q. Thnt there was deposit slips indicating cash and curreney of $3,953.89?
A. $3,384.25.
Q. Three thousand-three thousand nine hundred :fiftythree eighty nine.
A. Oh, the sum of the two.
Q. Yes, sir. But each deposit contained checks received
from customers for which no entry had been made in the cash
receipts journal as follows. Now I hand you, Mr. Freeman,
Commonwealth's Exhibits three and four and ask you if they
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are not deposit slips for the .same dates in question and
covering the same total amounts in question as ·covered by
Exhibits one and two, namely totalling $3,953.89¥
A. That is correct., sir.
Q. And are both the original of-are both of the deposit
slips there, number one and two on the one hand and three
and four on the other, do all four of those Exhibits bear the
bank's imprinted stamp from its validating machine or whatever machine you call itT
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Sirf
page 596 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. All four of them do 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. N o'v you have-you have made up a list of checks in
your o'vn notes, in your n1emorandum there from the list subsequently supplied to you I believe you said by Mr. McMorran?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Do you recognize the handwriting on that list to coincide with the hand,vriting of the person who made the majority of the entries in the books¥
A. Sir, that list was a typed list.
Q. It was a typed list?
A. Yes.
Q. I'm sorry sir. You don't know the source of Mr. Mc1\furren of that list except by hearsay I suppose?
A. No, I verified I believe I stated this, I verified this with
the bank when we were in on the audit, substantiating these
amounts.
Q. But it does ~correctly set forth and list the checks which
'vere on the two deposit slips marked Exhibit three and four
and in addition lists the Dunton Fuel Oil Company check of
$145.83, is that right T
A. Tha.t is correct.
Q. Well now, why do you say that tl1ese checks
page 597 ~ were not on hand as of January 31, 1959 but were
rather put in to cover a shortage of alleged cash
on hand ns of that period or did you say that?
A. I said that these checks had not been recorded in the
books and the customer credit given as of this date. Therefore, by the non-recording of these checks the cash w·as understated to this extent.. I-Iere was a deposit of these checks a.s
indicated by the bank records and not of cash as indicated by
here, and ha.cl this been recorded, the cash would have called
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for some six odd thousand dollars on hand as vers-us three.
Q. How do you know what part of these checks, if any, were
accounted for by the cash on hand as of the end of January
31, 1959 in the sum of $3,953.89?
A. These amounts, sir, from my examination had not been
recorded in the books of account, Bowen .Company. These
particular ones could not be the same ones t.ha.t had been
recorded son1e previous date.
Q. Haven't we experienced other difficulty tracing the exact
amount of checks into these books 1
A. You were referring to t:he exact amount of the check.
Not necessarily to the amount of credit given to a customer.
Q. Except as that 1nemorandum that you have there furnished to you by Mr. Mc~1:urran indicates $58.00 some change
was brought baek in change, you wouldn't be able
page 598 ~ to trace the $145.83 cheek, would you 1 Isn't that
the only way you identified the $145.83 check'!
A. That is the way I did identify it but that wasn't your
first question.
Q. You couldn't trace this-you couldn't trace where this
$145.83 eheck went except for that notation, $58.00 son1e cents
was returned in change, could you?
A. I do not know the disposition of the change, sir, that is
~.orrect.

Q. But except, Mr. Freeman, that what that men1orandum
shows to have been returned in change, togethm~ ·with what
the deposit slip shows to have been deposited in eash, totals
$145.83, you couldn't even conjecture about what happened
to the $145.83 check, could you 1
A. If you take it fron1 an independent point. of view, you
have the date of the check, the date the rheek was drawn by
the Dm1ton Fuel Oil to the date it was paid by the hank and
there's no record of credit of that tin1e, you would come up
with it and establish the fact this eherk did con1e in and was
paid and had not been put in and had not been recorded on
this duplicate deposit slip.
Q. W11at about this $1,841.43 check fron1. Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company. Did you exa1nine that
check?
A. No, .sir, l\fax Garrett of the Cl\·LJ Bank gaYe
page 599 ~ me-the $1,841.43 is represented on this deposit
slip as identification 68-90 was the check of the
Newport News Shipbuilding .and Dry Dock Con1.pauy.
Q. Then your testimony with regard to t.hat was l1ea rsay
and based upon what ~fr. Garrett told yon, is that right·?

360

·supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

R. L. Pt·eeman.
~~. It wa.~ based upon the information received from ~ir.
Garrett of the Cl\I.J Bank.
Q. By telephone f
A. No, sir, we were personally sitting- down. He took and
reviewed the records of the c:M.J Bank and extracted this information and presented it to us.
Q. How much of the other testilnony that you have given
during· the course of this trial is sin1ila.rly based on what
somebod~v told you and not your own examination of records,
~Ir. Freeman 7
A. None to my knowledg-e, sir.
Q. This is the only tin1e that you have testified based on
hearsay without verifie.ation?
A. I don't know what you call lwarsay.

J\Ir. Garnett: I object to that because it wasn't hearsay.
(At this time counsel for both sides continued their argunwnt).

A. l-Ie showed his sheet with these amounts on there.

page 600

~

"\Yhen you said told me, he told 1ne but he had
traced his records through the bank.

Court: He showed you the record?
A. Yes, sir, he bad a piece of paper, I don't recall the type
of paper, w]ICreby he had g·oue up and had one of his persons
I presun1e go through the fihns anrl reviewed these to find out
what the name of the people were beside these checks tlmt
cleared the hank on this particnlat· day.

By l\Ir. Baker:
Q. And he never showed you the check and you've never
seen it to this date, isn't. tha.t. true 1
A. I have not seen the rheck.
Q. All of your testimony ''rith regard to what this check is
and whose it i~ is based on hearsay evidence~
1\fr. Garnett: Objection.

(At this thne further argument ensued behv-een counsel).
Court: He said he had not seen the check. He saw the
r~ord.
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By 1\Ir. Baker :
Q. But the record was a record prepared by somebody else
how, typewritten or handwritten or how1
A. It was handwritten.
Q. In whose handwriting was it, do you know¥
A. I don't know, sir.
Q. And that is the basis of your testimony with
page 601 ~ regard to the Shipyard check, is that right, sir?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. And you have 1nade no other verification of ·w·bether
what you were told was true or notf
A. As to this particular item, sir, I have not seen the cheek
from Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company.
Q. Now 1\tlr. Freeman, did you examine the check of Doctor
"'\V. R. Payne in the sum of $155.11 ~
A. ·No, sir, I did not examine the check of Doctor W. R.
Payne.
Q. Ifave you ever seen that ·check?
A. No, sir, I have not seen that check.
Q. Do you, except for what so1nebody else told you, know
there was a check of Doctor ,V. R-. Payne~
A. Other than the information received fron1 Cl\fJ Bank,
I don't k!low.
Q. Then the Shipyard check is not the only item you testified to without having exmnined the original or verified the
existence of t1w item you testified to, is that right f
A. 1v[r. Baker, these checks listed on these deposit slips I
have not se~n the checks, sir. Other than one check which has
been presented to n1e here which is the Bo,ven
page 602 ~ Company check of Dunton Fuel of $145.83. The
other checks listed here, eig·ht. checks came from
the records of tl1e bank and I have not seen the checks, sir.
Q. Let n1e ask you this then. The rest of the testimony that
you gave as set forth in this memorandum concerning when receipts were had, 'vhen deposits were made and reconciling the
fig·ures and totals of these checks into this page, was all predicated upon an assumption that the information you g-ot
fron1 so1nebody else was correct, is that rightf
A. Well, as to the identification by name.
Q. And as to the amount Y
A. No, the amount is ·dearly on this deposit slip, sir.
Q. But you don't know whether tha.t 'vas somebody else's
check?
A. $1,841.43 appearing on this deposit slip bas been iden-
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tified by the CMJ Bank as being that of the Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company.
Q. Has been identified by the CMJ Bank in a handwritten
memorandum written by somebody. You don't know who
wrote it?
A. Mr. Max Garrett of the C~IJ ~ank presented that to me.
1\Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I'd like at
fhis time to move to strike all of this witness' testimony with regard to the checks itemized as having been deposited by the two deposit slips of February 6,

page 603

~

1959.

(Mr. Baker continued his argt1n1ent in support of his motion).
By

M~r.

Baker:

~£r. Fremnan, that you
have never seen any of these checks and that your testimony
with reg·ard to them is based upon a n1emora.ndum written
by somebody else and shown to you in the Citizens l\iarine
Jefferson Bank, is that right 1
A. That is where I got the nan1es.

Q. Do I understand correctly,

Court: And he said the deposit slips.
A. The amounts.

l~

(Counsel then continued their argument in reference to the
motion).
Court: Your motion is overruled at this tin1e.
1\fr. Baker: \Viii the record show the Defendant by counsel excepts to the ruling of the Court in refusing to strike
the evidence just alluded to and for the reasons stated.
Oourt : "\Ve '11 take a. two or three minute recess.
page 604

~

(The Court then declared a short rec.ess a.fter
which the Court reconvened).

Court : Go ahead. "\Ve '11 see how we get along.
Baker: All right, sir.

~Ir.

By Mr. Baker :

Q. Now 1\fr. Freeman, in your audit of the books of the
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Bowen Company for the years 1956, '57 and '58 did that audit
include a verificatiQn of any of the accounts of the customers
of Bo"·en Oom.pany 1
A. In dependent verification 1
Q. Yes sir.
A. No, sir.
Q. Is independent verification an important. phase in an
audit?
A. According to the type of audit, yes sir.
Court: According to the type of auditY
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, in an audit which has as its primary purpose the
ascertainment of shortage, if any, is that not one of the
types of audit in which verification of accounts is most
important¥
A. Not necessarily, sir.
Q. Well, even though not necessarily, it is one of the types,
isn't it, in 'vhich an independent verification is
page 605 ~ indicated T
·
A. You can ascertain an independent verification by <'Onfirma.tion program.
Q. Will you tell us what other purpose there might be for
independent verification other than to ascertain whether or
not there is a shortage?
A. Go over that once a.gain, please sirY
Q. Can you tell us any other function to be served by
a verification of accounts other than to make findings with
regard to shortage f
A. Generally that is not the case. Generally the confirmation program by independent confirmation with tl1ird
parties is in connection 'vith the general audit of the accounts
and not normally associated with it in this particular case,
in this particular type of case that you used in your example.
Q. Is not the function and the office of the verification to
ascertain that what's put in the books is really true with
regard to that particular account f
A. No sir, the confirmation of the accounts is that the
account balance as of a given date is correct, sir.
Q. Well, it's easy to ascertain what the books showed the
accounts showed as of a given date?
A. Yes.
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Q. Is not the function of a verification to
ascertain whether or not it had been properly
.stated in the books 1
A. That the account balance is properly stated on the books.
Q. It is a means that accountants use for the purpose of
determining whether the entries as recorded are-----are accurately recorded, is that not right?
A. No sir, it is a means tha.t accountants use to ascertain
the amount of a given account as of a given date, sir.
Q. Well, we're just n1incing· words here, aren't we, Mr.
Freeman? Obviously the account balance as of a g·iven date
but as reflected by the books would not be correct if it had
been hnproperly stated in the books, isn't that right?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. And the purpose of the verification by custo1ner is to
check on whether or not it has been properly recorded in
the books, isn't that right f
A. That the account balance is properly reflected on the
books, that is correct, sir.
Q. "\V ell, the account balance is nothing but the total of
the charg-es less the credits, isn't that right f
A. That is correct, sir; the difference between the two.
Q. And if the cash balances out as well, there's
page 607 ~ no reason to suspect that there's anything wrong
with the books to require customer verification
except to check whether the books have been posted properly
or fudged, isn't that right Y
A. Th~re again the purpose of the confirmation program
that you have reference to, if I am understanding your
question correctly, is to verify the amount a given customer
owes as of a given date.
Q. Well, customer balances would of necessityA. vVhat?
Q..Customer balances, the balances of custOiners' accounts,
let's put it this way. The balance due by custo1ner by customer is reflected in a total sum designated as a accounts
receivable, isn't it?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. And the accounts receivable of necessity is one of the
elements in the formula in determining whether the books
are really in balance, is that rightt
A. Thnt is correct, sir.
Q. And if the books are suspected to be wrong, custon1er
verification is one of the first methods used by an auditor
in determ.ining whether they are in fact wrong. Is that not
page 606

~
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right, sir, as far as customer account balances are concerned 1
.A. There again it's according to the nature of
page 608 ~ what you are looking for in the record, sir.
Q. Will you answer whether or not that is
one of the first things that you use in the accounting field if
there is reason to believe that accounts receivable from customers has been improperly stated in the books?
A. Yes sir, if youQ. That is true T
A. Yes, sir, if you ask it in that manner.
Q. And there 'vas no independent customer verification
done in connection with the audit, is that right¥
A. Not by us, that's correct, sir.
Q. Now in your audit of these books, Mr. Freeman, did
you start or your office start fr01n scratch or did your office
start from a memorandum prepared by Mr. Whiteside?
A. "What do you n1ean from scratch, sir Y
Q. Did you take the books cold or did you take the books
along with a memorandum prepared by Mr. vVhiteside as to
his findings T
A. We had a memorandum prepared by Mr. Whiteside as to
his findings at the time we undertook the engagmnent.
Q. And your audit consisted primarily of going into the
books and proving or disproving 1\ir. "\Vhiteside 's memorandum, isn't that right, sir?
.A. No, that is not correct, sir.
page 609 ~ Q. Well, you did do that as part of your work,
did you not?
A. We obviously reviewed what the result of our findings
were with 'vhat Mr. Whiteside had had.
Q. .As a result of your findings, they suggested certain
corrections to Mr. Whiteside with regard to his findings and
he revised his findings, is that right T
A. I don't know that he revised his findings, sir.
Q. \VeH, you've gone over this thing 'vith Mr. Whiteside,
haven't vou f
.A. yes, sir.
Q. Extensively?
.A. Rather extensively, sir.
Q. .And don't you know that Mr. Whiteside has prepared
two itemizations particularly with regard I believe to the
CRT account?
A. Yes sir, he had some schedules pertaining to tl1e CRT
accounts.
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Q. And clidn 't you point out to Mr. Whiteside some nlistakes that he had made in first itemizations Y
A. I don't think that we pointed out anything that were
mistakes that he made. We-went into that in compelete
detail and I'm speaking from memory now because I don't
recall but I don't believe there was-a few pennies difference in the end result on the-on tha.t particular
page 610 ~ item that you have reference to, sir. I don't recall.
Q. I don't have reference to any particular
item.
A. You made reference in your question to the list of
CRT, sir, and that's what I am answering to. If I'm not
answering to that, I would like to know.
Q. Didn't his initial n1emorandu1n go beyond the CRT account?
A. Yes, he had other i ten1s, yes.
Q. As a result of the many conferences that you had with
Mr. Whiteside, do you know whether or not he prepared a
new memorandum or a new itemization, whatever you want
to call it, different from the first one in any degreet
A. Mr. Baker, I don't know of ~fr. \Yhiteside changing
the list that you have refe.rence to. I know the list, I agree
with that, but I don't kno'v that he's changed it.
Q. You found some of the items on his memorandun1 not
to be I '111 sure it was honest error, but you found some of
them not to be consistent with what the books showed?
A. Yes, 've had dates and a few things like that.
Court: What, you had dates?
A. Dates.
By Mr. Baker:
Q·. And amounts?
page 611 ~ A. I don't re~all in the final ,analysis that the
amounts differed even to a penny or a few pennies.
Q. Differed as to total, didn't it 7
A. I don't believe so, sir. My memory doesn't serve me
that it did.
Q. As a mat.ter of fact, Mr. Freeman, during a substantial
period of your work on the records of Bowen Company, you
'vere working not from original books but from sheets
pulled from the original books by Mr. Whiteside's office, isn't
that trueY
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A. No sir, that is not true.
Q. Don't you recall-don't you recall making the point
when detailed information was sought with regard to these
books, don't you recall making the point .that Mr. Whiteside
was not as high paid an accountant or a person as you and
that if Mr. Whiteside's office would pull ·all of these .sheets,
that you would be glad to work from then1 and it would save
money. Don't you reme·mber that?
A. No sir, that is not correct.
Q. vVhat was the point that you made about your coming
higher by the hour than Mr. Whiteside?
A. All right, I did make the point that I came higher
than Mr. Whiteside and I think that is true and that point
ca1ue about when you and Mr. Ferguson and I don't recall
the exact date, in a meeting with Mr. Garnett and
page 612 ~ yourself and Mr. Ferguson and 1\{r. ""\Vhiteside
and myself and Mr. vVilliams of my office, the
question c.a1ue up about of-of giving you people, you, when
I sa.y you people I mean 1\fr. Ferguson and your.self the
itmnization of the areas that we were relying upon. It was
my suggestion that~so that you could see that information
that these sheets be pulled from the books with the duplicate
deposit slip gem clipped to it and put in one binder so you
could see each individual sheet. Our examination had been
made of the record prior to that time, sir.
Q. Could you not have given us that itemization from the
Ranw memorundun1 from which you testified today~ That
memorandum has-the book by title, the page number and
tl1e book and the date of the entry, doesn't it?
J.\.fr. Garnett: I'm going to interpose· an objection here
because this is-a terrible thing to be doing.
(At this time c.ounsel for both sides continued to argue
in reference to the objection).
Court: Go ahead and cross examine.
1\{r. Baker: Let's see "rhere we were.
qourt: Read his last question back and the answer too.
page 613

~

(At this time the last question was read to
the G>urt).

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freen1an, did your audit of the books of Bo,ven
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Company for the years 1956, '57 and '58 include an audit of
the accounts payable¥
A. A detailed audit of the accounts payable, no sir.
Q. So that nowhere in your sununary is there reflected
anything that would be derived from the total of the accounts
payable as verified or audited by you, is that correct.1
A. Please repeat that because I think it's a very important
question. I want to make sure I answer it correctly, sir.
Q. I understood you to say that you had not InadeCourt: "\Vait a minute. I've asked him to read it hack.
(At this tirne the last question was read to the witness).
A. Yes sir, as to the total accounts payable, we did do
it as to the insurance companies.
Q. That's correct, and so far as you know it is entirely
possible whethelf by scheme and plan or by mistake that accounts payable properly-properly to be recorded ag·ainst
one account has been recorded against another,
page 614 ~ you knowf
A. You understand we did balance the records
and the records would not indicate that were so.

Court:

'Vould

not

what~

A. Vl ould not indicate that was so.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. The records do not deny the possibility that is so 1
Do .they, M,r. Freeman·¥
A. To my know ledge they don't reflect it is so.
Q. They don't affirmatively establish it but they do not
deny it, isn't that true, sir¥
Court : The records deny that¥ I don't follow that.
A. I don't know that the records can tell me that, sir.
Bv 1\{r. Baker:
-Q.
ell, I'll be glad to restate the question as I understood
it or ha.ve the Court Reporter with the Court's instruction,
read the question over. I think it's clear to me but after all
I put the question so I should understand it.
Court: Read it back. Read it back.

'V
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(The last question was read to the witness.)

A. As I said, the records do not reflect that is so.
~Ir. Baker: The question, if the Court please,
is whether or not is it possible that an account
payable either by intention or by n1istake has been erroneously recorded in the books into the wrong aecount.
Court: I think I understand you now. Can you answer
thatt

page 615

~

A. To 1ny knowledge they do not state that.

By 1\.'Ir. Baker:
Q. Now my question is the records, according to your
knowledg·e do not atlirtuatively show that but isn't it also
true that they do not deny it as a possibility?
A. I don't know of anything wrong 'vith that, sir. I assume the answer would be yes.
Q. All right, sir. Now ·1\Ir. Freen1an, did your audit include ·an audit of disbursen1ents of Bowen Con1pany during
the years in question 1
A. Not in detail with examination of each cheek, sir. \Ve
did tie in completely the cash as called for by the book,
the reconciliation witl1 the book account and tied it in with
the ending of the period.
Q. vVill you state whether or not it is true that if either
by purpose or hy 1nistake n sum he disbursed in excess
of the payable as shown by the book, would that create an
apparent shortage, sir'~
page 616 ~
A. If your question is would a dishurscn1ent
in excess of an amount clue someone, third party
receiving- a check?
Q. That '.s right.
A. If it was an hnproper mnount?
Q. Yes, would that m·eate an apparent shortag·e.
A. That would be a disbut·scnlent without proper support.
Q. And would create an apparent shortage, would it not Y
A. Without the proper support for it, yes.
Q. They a.re items that. you did not verify in these books?
A. "\Vhen you say we did not verify, yes, we did exmnine
then1 not. in detail. "\Vhen you use that expression did not
examine, 've went through and reconciled every disburscn1ent
out of the hank a?count. The only thing t11at could he wrong
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with .the bank account, we did not go into independent third
party detail was whether or not the amount of the disbursement and as to the endorsen1ent. appearing on each and every
check throughout the period involved. That we did not do, sir.
That's the aspect of it we did not do.
Q. vVell, you didn't verify every account payable and verify
every disbursement and verify that into the account payable
to see whether it properly reflected the payment
page 617 ~ on tl1a.t aceount, isn't that a truthful statement?
That's true, isn't it f
A. Everv item?
Q. Yes s"ir.
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. That'~ true and any mistake in the payment of disbursements or cash or disbursements by check not-and
determined by detailed analysis would reflect an apparent
shortage in the books, isn't that true, sir?
A. If there was s01nething wrong with it, this could be
true; sir but our exan1ination did uot reveal anything· that
was wrong in that aspect.
Q. Your examination was not in detailed account by account. Ifa.ven 't you said that~
A. ·Yes.
Q. You cannot deny the possibility that there is something
wrong that your exrunination did not disclose, can you, sir~
A. No, to the extent of our exmnination we did not find
anything else wrong with that.
Q. All right, sir. Now 'vhich did you do of these hooks for
'56, '57, '58. Did you examine or audit?
A. I audited the cash receipts for tlte years 1956, 1957,
1958 anrl the period January 1, 1959 through Fehrna ry 6,
1959.
page 618 ~ Q. Now I didn't ask you what you did with
reg·ard to cash reeei pts. I asked you what did you
do with regard to the slnn total of all of the books of the
Bowen Company for those y~ars. Did you examine or did
you audit.1
A. I audited the cash receipts of the years that I bave
just said and we-exanuned n1any otlwr aS})ects of the
records.
Q. Well, would you characterize what you did witl1 reg-ard
to the sum total of Bowen's hooks for the years in question
an examination or audit?
A. I've just answered that, sir.
Q. I don't believe that you have, sir.
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A.

~Iaybe

the answer-

Q. Let's ask it this way. Did you audit the· books, all of

the books of Bowen Company for the years in question?
A. We made a detailed audit of the eash receipts for the
years 19-for the years that I have mentioned for the period
involved and we n1ade an examination of other aspects of
the records, sir.
Q. An examination is not an audit, is itT
A. An examination is a limited audit, sir.
Q. An examination is something very substantially less
than an audit, isn't it?
A. Anything that's not detailed would be less.
Q. As a matter of fact, an examination by
page 619 ~ your term is a testing on a sampling basis
instead of in detail. Is that a correct definition?
A. I have not stated that when you say on my terms. That's
not correct because I have not made that staten1ent to my
knowledge, sir.
Q. "\Veil, perhaps I have it wrong in n1y notes. Will you
tell us what an examination is then 1
A. An examination as I did state earlier is a limited audit
-is a limited audit.
Q. Can the word, "audit" properly be ascribed to any
treatment of a set of books 'vhich does not g·o into the accounts payable in detail; does not·go into cash disbursements
into detail, does not verify cash on hand in detail. Can the
term, "audit" be used in proper treatment of books?
A. The tern1, ''audit'' also has to be described, an adjective preceding it to the point of the audit.
Q. Will you describe such an audit as you gave of the
Bowen books as being a limited audit for the years in question?
A. As I said earlier, for clarification so there is no misunderstanding on the extent ·of our audit, I explained in detail
what we did. That we audited the cash receipts of Bowen
Company for the years 1956, 1957, 1958, for the period January through February 6, 1959 and made various
page 620} other examinations of the records, sir.
Q. Audited the cash receipts t
A. That is correct.
Q. Is that all you audited of all the books'
A. No, there were other areas we did audit.
Q. Tell us what else you audited, Mr. Freeman 1
A. Well, 've audited the accountsQ. Perhaps if I may interrupt you. Perhaps for the bene-

372

Supreme .Court of Appeals of Virginia

R. L. Freeman.
fit of all of us you can define audit so we can all understand ·
what you mean by audit f
A. There again, as I stated earlier, the term audit should
have an-some sort of desc.riptive term before it so that
for clarification we know what we are talking about.
Q. Tell us what is an audit? What does an audit mean f
A. Just the word, "audit'' without any other description,
the word, ''audit''~
Q. If I were to ask you by telephone to audit n1y books,
would you know what I was talking about f
..A.. Not unless I sit you down and talked to you, sir, because
I don't think you would know what you were asking for.
Q. Yon 're so right. 'Vbat would you tell me when you sat
down and talked to me about auditing 1ny books f
A. I would find out what you were trying to
page 621 ~ accomplish, what you were desiring, what your
problem was, to what extent and what detail you
wished your books examined in that line of reasoning.
Q. Let's put it on a different basis. If I 'vere operating
a small business employing four or five people and receiving
and disbur£.ing a third of a n1illion of dollars a year, what
'vould you reeon1n1end to me as an auditf
A. "\Vhat we commonly refer to as a general balance sheet
type audit.
Q. V{hgt does a general balance sheet audit n1ean?
A. General balance sheet audit is whereby the-a test
and sampling of the receipts and disbursements throughout
the period, the underlying· review of internal control. Then
the verification of the assets and liability account balances
as of the given date of the engagement verified where possible
by independent third parties. "Then not possible from that
source, from the records themselves, crisscrossing, examining
documents against checks and receipts against deposits and
et cetera and et cetera.
Q. All those things you say you would recomn1end as au
audit for n1y business with four or five employees handling
a third of a million dollars a year. The only ones you did,
as I understand in detail was an audit of the cash receipts
in the Bowen audit, is that right 7
A. I gave you, Mr. Baker, the general items
page 622 ~ pertaining· to a balance sheet audit.
Q. I'm trying to establishA. 'Vhen you're bringing in Bowen Company, you're bringing in another thing.
Q. Mr. Freeman, what we're trying to do is to get into the

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

373

R. L. Freeman.
record-this is a question of semantics I suppose but we use
the term audit, I think it is highly important we all know
what we're talking about. The term audit, as you have used
it to describe what you did for the Bowen books consisted
of a detailed analysis of the cash receipts only and an examination of the rest of the records. Is that a fair statement Y
A. No sir, it is not fair. Detailed audit of the cash receipts.
You .said analysis.
Q. You didn't even do a detailed audit of the cash receipts?
A. No, sir, you are playing on your own words. You asked
me the question, did we do a detailed analysis. My answer
to you 'vas no sir, 've did a detailed audit.
Q. "That is the difference, a detailed analysis and detailed audit 1
A. Analysis is purely making up the composition of what
is in the account without any further verification of it.
Q. Well, you did not do any verification of acpage 623 ~ counts payable, did you, except some selected
few?
.A. Well, now you've added that, the answer is yes.
Q. Ts that right, and you did not do any verification of accounts receivable with the possible exception of some selected
fe,v, is that right 1
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. You made no independent verification or analysis or detailed audit of disbusements ,vith the possible exception of
selected few, is that right?
A. Well, more than selected few. I think that term-it's
right voluminous examination made of the bank accounts and
they were reconciled and tied in for this entire beginning and
ending period that I have previously discussed.
Q. The main thing you checked in disbursements was to
check the endorsements on the check and check the payees
on the check, wasn't that right 1
A. No, we did not do that in detail.
Q. You were looking at that time for something specific.
You were looking for some checks payable to this Defendant,
were you not?
A. Not neces·sarily.
Q. That's one of the things t'hat you were looking for?
A. I was looking for that but not necessarily
page 624 r for that. There were other things we were looking
for.
Q. ·You d.idn 't find any checks payable to her order except
those properly accounted for as her pay check, did you?
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A. That is correct, sir.
Q. And you were looking for some checks that might have
been payable to some creditor of Mrs. Webb's rather than
the creditor of Bowen Company, were you not·¥
.A. Not necessarily.
Q. That is one of the .things that you were looking for Y
A. We were looking for that also, sir.
Q. You didn't find any such checks, did you?
A. No, sir.
Q. As a matter of fact, Mr. Freeman, you went into this
audit in the first place not to make an impartial finding of
what you found. I'm not suggesting that you did anything improper now if that is implied. What I 'vant to say before it
gets any further, I don't suggest that but actually 'vhen you
went into the examination of these books in the first place,
you went in there at the request of somebody knowing what
you were looking for, isn't that right~
.A. Oh, ~Ir. Bowen as I think I testified earlier, contacted
our office and said at that time he had been informed that he
had a shortage so the answer to that is yes ·or no.
page 625 ~ Q. And you knew a.t the time that you n1ade
your first examination of these books that this
Defendant had already been accused of creating a s·hortage,
did you not, sir?
A. That she had been accused?
Q. Yes sir.
A. I-now I don't know tlre legal definition of accused.
Q. Suppose I just saidA. There had been noQ. Suppose I say suspected .
.A. I was informed she was the boo]d{eeper and was the
suspected party, yes.
Q. Weren't you told she had been actually confronted with
the ·charge, not legal charge but I mean confronted and accused individually of being responsible forMr. Garnett: How far are we going to go into this hearsay.
(At this time both attorneys continued their argument before the Court).
By Mr. Baker:
Q. In any event, you went into these books aware of the
fact that among otheT things you were looking for evidence
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against this Defendant, Catherine 'Vebb, did you not sir 1
A. Not-exactly like t'hat, sir, no.
page 626 ~ Q. Well, how did it differ from that, }Ir. Freeman¥
A. No, I was told-we went in here. These books were
short. vVe were told the books were short. Mr. Bowen, when
he contacted our office he said this 'vas so. He wanted us to
find out this was so. For our examination to go into these
records to find out if this shortag·e was so.
Q. And you were advised that Catherine "\Vebb was suspected?
A. Well, I was .advised others n1ay have been too so that's
not quite correct.
Q. "'\Vho else was suspect?
1\{r. Garnett: Now your lion or I object to that.
(At this tiine the attorneys for both sides then continued
their argum.ent before the Court).
By Mr. Baker :
Q. Now Mr. Freeruau, I believe you testified on direct exanunation that it's not unusual in a small business to dispense
with an audit, is that right 1
A. I don't recall-to dispense with an-ho'v was that?
Dispense¥
Q. It is not unusual in small businesses to dispense with
an audit.
A. You n1ean-yes, yes sir, I think that's corpage 627 ~ rect.
Q. You made tl1at statement, did you not f
A. Yes, I'm sorry.
Q. What-determines whether a business is sma.U or not?
The number of en1ployees or the volume of money they
handle~ Is a third of a nrilliou dollars -a year your definition of a small business?
A. Yes~ that's a sn1all b:usiness.
Q. And is four or five employees a small business f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Weil, isn't the reason that a sn1all business ma.y be
justified in dispensing with an audit tied in with the knowledge and the day to day control of that business by the
o"1Jlership of it!
A. In some cases, yes, but unfortunately in many cases no,
Mr. Baker.
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Q. Point out the justifications, if there can he a justification for dispensing with an audit? 'Vouldn't it be .that
ownership and managmnent is day to day awrare of what is
happening- to their n1oney and they don't need to hire a CPA
at the end of the year to tell them where it is, is that correct 1
A. If that be the fact, it's absolutely right.
Q. If there's any justifica.tion, that is one of the prime
justifications for dispensing with an annual audit 1
A. Yes.
page 628 ~ Q. Is there any other good real reason for dispensing with an audit in a business handling a
third of a million dollars a year except kno,vledge on the
part of ownership wl1a.t is happening with their money 1
A. They usually come back with economics.
Q. I'm asking you if there's any other justification.
A. I say economics. I'n1 not saying justification in my
1nind. I don't. have that same thought.
Q. You 1nean if they can't afford an audit?
A. If they think they ean 't afford it.
Q. Speaking as an expert, can anyone handle a third of
a Inillion dollars afford not to 'have an audit unless thev know
day to day what is happening to the money?
·
Mr. Garnett: I suppose that one depends on whether
they're making any money or not. I don't believe that's
a proper question, whether he ca.n afford or not.
(At this time counsel for both sides discussed that further).
Court: He would ha.ve answered it and be gone l.VIr.
Garnett. Let him answer it.
A. State the question again, 1\{r. Baker, please sir.
~

By 1\Ir. Baker :
Q. In your opinion can anyone owning a business doing a third of a million dollars a year afford not to
have an audit unless they do kno'v day by day wha.t is happening- to the money~
page 629

Mr. Garnett: What's the materiality of it. I object to it.
(At this time counsel for both sides then continued to argue
the objection).
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now Mr. Free1nan, the tertu, ''close the bo9ks'' does
that have any n1ean:ing special to accountants that would not
be implied by the very words to a. layman's understanding of
the English language f
·
1\tir. Garnett: I don't understand that question myself.
Court: I didn't hear it all either.
~1r. Baker: I'll withdraw the question and put it differently.
Bv Mr. Baker:
•Q. 'Vha.t does the ter1n, ''closing the books'' n1ean f

Court: "\Vhat?
By

~lr.

Baker:

Q. 'Vhat does the books-''closing the books", what does
tha.t n1ean 7

page 630

~

A. Mr. Baker, I think I answered that question on direct. I'll be glad if you wish to go into
it, aU the detail I did then. Ho"T far do you want me to go?
That was that technical definition you got me to go into in its
entirety a.nd you wish me to go through the entire elementary
fundamental concept of closing the books~
Q. Let me-let me withdraw that question and I'll ask you
some specific questions about closing the books. Does the
term, ''closing the books'' include checking the general ledger¥ Mr. Freeman, does the term, ''closing the book'' or
books inc.lude checking the general ledger and determining
the balances reflected in the various accounts in the general
ledger?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does it include the verification of any of those balances?
A. No. By verification may I qualify and find out what
you are driving at by verification? You mean by independent
sources or verification to what, sir? Possibly IQ. Well, does it include the proof item by item and colunm,
page by page and continuing balances to an end or what 1
A. No, it's usually the balances remaining· in the account
as of the closing date.
Q. Is the general ledger a book of original entry?
A. No, sir, not in my opinion.
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page 631 } Court: The general ledger is not a book of
. original entry t
A. No sir, it is not generally referred to as a book of original entry in accounting terminology.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Is that distinguished in language as we would understand it by the fact that itetns in there are based upon entries
in other books 1
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. vVhat arc the other books called 1 The other books are
the books of original entry¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is the general ledger a subsidiary set of books or what
-how would you describe then1?
A. Th~Jt 's generally a sununary rec.ord of the other general books of accounting.
Q. And is dependent for its accuracy upon the accuracy
on the books from 'vhich the infonnation going into it can1c,
is that rig-ht'
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Well then, a book of original entry, would that be
defined as a book in which the particular iten1 is first entered
before it is reconciled to another set of hooks 1
A. Yes sir, from the record keeping point of
page 632 ~ view that is absolutely correct.
Q. Then do I understand that the books of original entry are books in ·which the original transaction is recorded and books from which transfer is had frmn that-in
cases where there's a transfer from books of original entry
to another book. The book to which it is transferred is not
a book of original entry, is that right?
A. Let's go over that to make sure now. The book of-you
covered quite a bit of territory there.
Q. Well, the book of original entry as I understand your
definition is a book in which transac.tion would be first recorded?
A. From some underlying source, tha.t is correct, like if it's
a check, the first recording of the check into the books,
that's your book of original entry, your journal, your cash
clisbursmn.ent. It would be a receipt; it would be a recording
of rthe receipt in the cash receipt hook. That would be the
book of original entry.
Q. If the information from the book of original entry eitlwr
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as an individual item or accumulative matter is transferred
to some other book, the book to which it is transferred is
distinguished from the book of original entry by the fact
it does contain items transferred from other books, is that
right?
A. That is correct.
page 633 ~ Q. Now in the case of landlord and tenant accounts with Bowen Company, where .are the
books of original entry with regard to those accounts, 1\{r.
Freeman?
A. Books of original entry?
Q. Yes sir.
Court: Landlord and tenant¥
Mr. Baker: Yes sir.
A. I think the books of original entry would be your
cash receipts and your cash disbursement journals referred
to before.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Is it not true that the items in that cash receipts and
cash disbursement journals are transferred fron1 other books
in Bowen's office. Isn't that a fact, sir 1
A. Now you're talking about a book that is not a book
of original entry, sir.
Q. It is the book in which the original entry is made, isn't
it7
A. I don't know-! don't know which book it's put into
first.
Q. You know, do you not Mr. Fremna.n, that what you find
with regard to landlord and tenant accounts in these books
that you refer to, cash receipts journal and cash disbursements
journal, you lmow they are transferred from other books in
which the-the rent receipts are first recorded,
page 634 ~ don't you, sir?
A. Sir, I do not know they are transferred from
books of original entry. This is the book of original entry
for both the receipts and disbursements for landlord accounts.
Q. Now we're coming into the question of language again.
You also know that before it's rooorded in here, it has previously been recorded in another book, don't you?
A. I don't know.
Q. Or another set of loose leaf papers, whatever it is?
A. Now you have underlying information to this journal
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in reference to tenant and landlord accounts just like you
have underlying information pertaining to the receipts and
disbursetnents such as the checks and receipts and so forth.
Yes sir, there is underlying information.
Q. You know, if you were working in Bowen Con1pany
under the procedure as you have detennined it to be and I
were a tenant in Saint James apartments and came in to pa.y
my rent, you know that the first record of my payment of rent
would not go into this book that you have on the desk, don't
you1
A. The first record of that would go into a receipt, sir,
if the cu~domer was given a receipt.
Q. And you know the records that you have before you here
are con1piled in part at least by transfers fron1
page 635 ~ the receipt book, don't you?
A. Oh, yes sir.
Q. And in that instance the receipt book is the book of original entry with regard to that transaction, is that right, sirf
A.. That's up to you. I ga.ve you my definition of book
of -original entry being this and the receipts and checks in
definition being the underlying factors for which this book
of original entry was made, so my answer to your question
is no sir.
Q. Aren't there two sets of records in the Bowen Company,
one with regard to the n1anifold receipt books and the other
'vith reg·ard to landlord and tenant accounts from which
entries are transferred to these books that you have on the
desk before you today?
A. Two sets of books~ They're underlying subsidiary
accounts on the 1nanagem.ent accounts, the landlord tenant
accounts.
Q. Isn't it a fact, J\~Ir. Freen1an, that a. receipt might be
properly receipted for in the manifold receipt book and an
error made in transposing from that book to this book here.
Isn't that a possibility Y
A. Oh, yes sir.
Q. And if that should actually occur, the manifold receipt
book which is the original entry of that transacpage 636 ~ tion in a.ny books of records of the Bowen Company would be correct but what you have before
you here would not be correct 1
A.. What are you referring to as manifold receipt book?
Is that the customer receipt book?
Q. What I refer to as manifold receipt book I believe is
a receipt book with a carbon in it. I got that term from
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an accountant. It might ·be referred to as a multicopy receipt
book, a receipt book with a carbon in it so when fhe customer
receives the original receipt, there is a carbon copy of the
receipt book left in the company's record.
A. I want to make sure I was answering you correctly.
Q. Does the Bowen Company have such an accumla.tion or
set of books such as I have just. described as the 1nanifold
ree.ei pt books 1
A. Copy of customer's receipts, yes sir, they do.
Q. And did your audit include a detailed audit of the 1naifold receipt books as 've have defined them '1
A. Yes sir, it did.
Q. Anrl did you find from the carbons in the manifold
receipt books that receipts were signed by more than one
person?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How many people signed receipts during the peiiod of
your audit for the period covered by your audit?
page 637 ~ A. I don't recall, sir. .
Q. ~fore than twof
A. Yes, sir.
Q. ~fore than three?
A. I'd have to guess above three.
Court: You'd have to guess alJove three.
know?

You don't

A. I don't know.
Court : You know there are as many as two 1
A. There were at least three. It could be a.s many as four.

By l\fr. Baker:
Q. Could be as many as five?
A. I don't recall.
Q. Do you recall whether seeing any receipts signed not
by initials but by lVIr. Bowen himself in his full name 1
A. I think I do recall over that period of time, yes sir.
Q. Do you recall seeing receipts sig11ed either by the
full name or the initials identifiable as :h:fr. lVfcMurran 's
initials?
A. Yes, sir.
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Court: By
page 638

~

~Ir.

lVIcMurran ~

A. l{eith McMurran, yes, sir.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Do you remember seeing- receipts signed either by
name or initials identified by the name of Mrs. Kinlock?
A. Yes sir, I think that's correct. I cannot say for sure
as to name. I think there were some initials but I think
that 'vould be correct.
Q. Do you recall seeing during the period in question receipts signed by either name or initials identifiable as those of
Mr. OowlingY
. A. I don't recall from memory seeing his particular name,
s1r.
Q. Do you recall during the period in question seeing receipts by either name or initials identifiable as those of Mr.
Garrett?
A. I don't recall.
Q. Ben Garrett?
A. I don't recall that by-by the particular na.n1e. There
"~ere numerous initials and signatures on that. There "rere
several people that did sign it. I don't recall either the
name or each initial.
·
Q. Do you recall whether or not all of the n1anifold rec.eipts books for the period in question were exa1nined by
you?
A. Those that were available, sir. There was
page 639 ~ a period of time in 1958 that they were not
available.
Q. Some were not available to you Y
A. Yes: sir, they were purported as having been misplaced or lost and not available for exmnination, sir. I don't
recall tlH~ exact date. It seemed to be-to be in '58 at this
particular tin1e.
Court : Vlha t. part of '58 did you say T
A. I believe from 1nemory it 'vas November of '58. It was
a couple of months period of time in there that these receipts were not available. I believe it wasCourt : Tha.t 's duplicate receipt bookY
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A. Yes, sir, this is this 1nanifold receipt that
referred to.

~Ir.

Baker has

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, Mr. Freen1an, to make the statement correctly that
all of the books of record of Bowen Company, Incorporated,
particularly with regard to the years 1956, '57 and '58 are on
hand in this Courtro01n of necessity, the n1anifold receipt
hooks would have to be in this Courtroom. Isn't tba t true, sir?
A. They're part of the records, sir.
Q. Are they in this Courtroom f
A. I don't know, sir.
Q. Will you look at all the books that are on this table
and on your table and see if they're in this
page 640 ~ Courtroom?
A. They're not on .top these tables. They're
very voluminous things.
Q. Ifow big a pile would all of the 1nanifold receipt books
for the period in question Inake, 1\Ir. Freeman!
A. I don't recall from memory but a right substantial pile.
Q. Are you den1onstrating a pile approxhnately three
feet in height 1
A. I don't recall.
Court:

Tw·o and a half feet?

A. Two and a half feet. R.ight substantial.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Is that single stack or double stack?
A. Possibly double and possibly maybe three. It's a right
substantial a1nount. I don't recall.
Q. In other words, it could be a pile single stacked as high
as six feet, is that right?
A. Putting two and two together, that would be correct.
Q. Yon are certaivy certain they are not in this Courtroom?
A. I haven't seen them on the top of this desk.
Q. You haven't testified fron1 them, have you?
A. No sir. Well-well, now w·hen you say
pa.gc 641 ~ testified from them, n1y figures here in many
cases are from many cash receipts records. I'd
have to g-o back to see if I hit on that particular point. I
don't think so, sir.
Q. Now Mr. Freeman, during the course of your direct
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testimony you were testifying from and reading fron1 this
file that you still had before you. Are they your work sheets 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Approximately how 1nany pages of work sheets are in
that file or if you know the exact number, tell us the nutnber
of pages in that file, Mr. Freen1an 1
li. I don't know the exact number and give you an answer,
I'd rather count them.
Q. I meanA. And I have underlying papers also but these are n1y
summaries.
Q. Are there 15 or 20 sheets in there?
A. lVIuch more than that. Not less than 40 or 50 would be
my guess.
Q. And-can you tell us were all of these prepared at essentially the same timc1 I realize not the san1e day because it
couldn't have but were they prepared as-n1ore or less continuous thing or were they prepared fron1 time to time 1
A. Continuous. This ispage 642 ~ Q. And approximately when were they prepared~

A. \Ve1l, I don't-can't tell you which page and which
thing was started. The audit started in February of '60 and
-andQ. 1Vas all of these n1emorandum, were all of them, the
preparation of thmn completed by you prior to the end of
1960?
A. Oh, yes, sir, unless I've just restated something in
sun1mary form but n1y underlying sununary of, for example,
the records you just have reference to, the manifold receipts,
I have those; the suminary of those, and what those reflected
and so for1h for the years involved here.
Q. Is there anything to which you can refer that will indicate when you con1pleted your examination of the books and
the audit of the cash receipts journal date-wise 'f
A. I don't have a thing· here that would tell me that, 1\{r.
Baker.
Q. Did I understand you to say that this started by your
reeollection in February of 1960'1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. February of 1960 or February of 1959¥
A. 1960, sir.
Q. A year after the-the tern1ination of the employment
of Mrs. Webb?
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page 643

~

A. That is substantially a year after termination, that is correct.

Court: That's the first question you asked him ·on cross
examination as I have here. February, 1960.
Mr. Baker: I guess I overlooked it and thought he said
'59, if the Court please.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Will you tell the Court whether or not there are erasures scattered throughout these books and if so, with what
degree of frequency? I know you can't say three on a page
but whether it's a lot of erasures or none or how many erasures you find in the set of books 1
A. There are erasures on these records.
Q. Would you say there are many?
A. ·Yes.
Q. Is there evidence of use of ink eradicator in these books?
A. Yes, there have been ink eradicator have been used on
these records.
Q. Is there evidence of ink eraser, of the dry type, in these
books?
A. I think I recall one case. I think that's correct, sir.
Q. You know nothing of the custody of these books between
February of 1959 and February, 1960, do you?
page 644 ~ A. Oh, no sir.
Court: 1959 a.nd 1960 ~
Mr. Baker: Yes sir, there was-he lmows nothing regarding the custody of these books during that period.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now Mr. Freeman, you have used fr01n time to time the
term, "lapping." Does the term lapping· properly apply to
a delay in the posting of receipts innocently done and for no
improper purpose?
A. ND.
Q. Does the term "lapping" as you use it then necessarily
include guilt of improper purpose?
A. Yes. Now lapping is a different thing. LappingQ. I'm just asking you what you mean by the term, "lapping''?
A. I was getting ready to explain to you what I meant by
lapping.
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Q. "\Veil, I have asked you does the term lapping· as used by
you necessarily include guilt or guilty purpose Y
A. Yes sir, any tin1e the-yes sir.
Mr. Baker: Now if the Court please, at this time I move
to strike all testimony of this witness with regard to lapping
for the reason tl1at the witness has said that he uses it only
with regard to guilt or guilty purpose which is the function
of the trier of the facts in this case and not a
page 645 ~ proper expression of opinion even by an expert.
(Both counsel then argued the motion).
Court: I'll deny it at tlus 1noment.
:Mr. Baker: The defendant by counsel excepts to the ruling of the Court for reasons already stated.
Court : All right.
Bv ~Ir. Baker :
·Q. No\v Mr. Freernan, the starting date of your audit on
these books I believe you have said was January 1, 1956?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that rig·ht f
A. Yes 1 sir.
Q. You made no analysis with t:he exception of this 1952
itezn we all know about. You tnade no analysis of the books
for the period preceding 1956 ~
Court: 19 what?
1vfr. Baker: 1956 that you could call an audit, is that right'?
A. An analysis that I can call an audit with the exception
of one phase. "'\V e did c.heck in detail the CRT transaction
for the year 1955. Beyond that, my answer would be no.
Q. And you found nothing wrong?
A. No, sir. All of the checks received front CRT in 1955
had been recorded a.nd was accounted for.

Court:

Had been recorded and "rhat f

A. And accounted for.

page 646

~

·Court: They had been recorded and accounted
for.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. So the starting point of your audit was ·the condition of
the books as of the close of books of Dooember 31, of the
preceding year, 1955, is that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that rig·ht, sir~~
A. Yes, sir.
.
Q. And you have come forward in your testimony year by
year accumulative until you reach February of 1959, is that
right, sir?
A. That's correct, sir.
Q. Ho,v accurately did the books reflect the true condition
as of December 31, 1955 if you know, or let me withdraw
that question. Do you know whether or not the books correctly reflected the status of all accounts of Bowen Company
as they \vere stated at the close of business of December 31,
19551
A. No sir, we took a trial balance of course as of December
31, 1955 which was the beginning point of-and used for the
beginning point of 1956 and in connection with 1955, as I
stated earlier, the only aspects of that we did was check out
the .CRT transactions and found them to be in order.
Q. But if you had taken a. trial balance for
page 647 ~ 1956, would that have been found in orderl
A. A trial balance Y
Q. A trial balance only, yes .
. A. We did take a trial balance as of December 31, 1956,
Sir.

Q. And the trial balance-showed everything to be in
order?
A. The books balanced. The books balanced.
Q. So the books-a trial balance showed nothing more
wrong with the books in 1956 than the trial balance you took
showed wrong with the books in 19551
A. No, we proved the trial balance in 1956 to be wrong.
Q. But the trial balance itself came out and-the trial
balance itself didn't show itself to be wrong, did it?
A. That's correct, sir.
Q. In other words, the same trial balance, the same procedures that you followed in striking a trial balance of the
books as of the close of business in December 31, 1955 'vould
have disclosed nothing wrong with regard to the close of books
for December 31, 1956. Isn't that. right, using the same procedure?
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A. Sum of the debits equalled the credits as of
the given date, sir.
Q. Now do you know whether or not the books
as of the close of business of December 31, 1955 correctly
stated the accounts that they purported to state!
A. No, sir.
Q. Now if they were in error, would that error not be
cumulative and found in the end of the road, what you testified happened in February, 1959!
.A. It's very possible you could have had some lapping
in 1955.

page 648

~

Court: 1955!
A. Yes, sir.

Court: I thought you said '59.
A. I thought he said the beginning of the period.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. My question was t'his and if the Court please, I would
move that the word, ''lapping'' be stricken from .this witness'
last answer if for no other reason because it's not responsive
to the question. May we have the Court Reporter read the
last question?
Court: He said 1955 and I thought you said '59.
Mr. Baker: No, the question was this. If the books as ·of
the close of business of December the 31st, 1955 improperly
stated the accounts or any of them as of that
page 649 ~ time, would it not be true that the amount of
that improper statement would be reflected in the
conclusions he reached as ·of February, 1959. That's the
question.

A. .And I answered that it would.
By Mr. Raker:
Q. It 'vould be included?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Any errors in the books as of December 31, 1955 would
be included in the conclusions you reached in regard to the
books in February, '59, is that right?
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A. That's a right broad statement.
Q. Any improper statement of accounts as of December
31, 1955 would be reflected in the conclusions you reached
as of the status of improper statement of accounts Y
A. Over and above what we have reflected, sir Y
Q. No sir, I 'n1 asking· you-I'm asking you if it would not
be included?
A. Be included in the amount of the shortage Y
Q. Yes sir, yes sir.
A. Oh, yes sir, if there was any discrepancy at that point,
it would be included in there.
Q. How far back does a continuation of these books go
taking the result of the preceding year as the
page 650 ~ starting place for the next year?
A. I have no idea.
Court: '\Yhat 1

M.r. Baker: He has no idea.
A. I have no idea, sir. \Ve did not audit that period of time
so I don't know. I'm not going to say on a year I don't
know about.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. The question I asked you with regard to 1955 and any
improper statement of accounts by the books as of the close
of business that year 'vould apply with equal application to
any improper statement as of any preceding year upon which
there's a continuous basis of taking the preceding books, books
of the preceding years as the starting point for the next year
even going back 20 years, isn't that right f
A. You mean to say if you have-I don't understand it.
Go over it again. That's a right weighted question and
covers a lot of territory. Repeat that question.
Q. You have agreed, have you not, Mr. Freeman, that any
improper statement of the status of the accounts by the books
as of December 31, 1955 would be reflected in the total that
you arrive at in February of 1959, is that right, sir?
A. That is correct, sir.
page 651 ~ Q. I now ask you:h£r. Garnett: May I ask you whether you are referring
to the total or the total shortage he has referred to. I don't
quite understand what he is driving at.
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Mr. Baker : Well, I think the witness understands. He
has had no trouble answering, if the Court please.
Court: Yes, he said would be reflec.ted in '59.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now-you have ascertained in the limited checking,
examination that you ·have done on these books that i~ was
the practice of taking the figures of the preceding year as the
starting place for the next year, haven't you 1
A. Oh, yes sir, that's the general way of carrying on a
set of records.
Q. If that practice has continued for 20 years, then any
improper statement of the status of the accounts 20 years
ago would still be reflected in the figures that you c.ome up
with in February of 1959, isn't that right f
A. Yes, if there was an error.
Court: If there was what?
A. Yes sir, I said if there was an error in a particular account, it 'vould be involved.
page 652

~

Court: In 1959?

A. He's saying assuming it was a continuous type thing
right on throug·h.
Court: I thought he said '55 and continued frmn '55 and
it would be reflected in '59.
·
A. T·hat's correct, it would be involved in this overall
shortage.
By Mr. Baker :
Q. Let's put it a little differently so nobody n1isunderstands
it. Any improper statement of the status of the accounts or
accounts of the Bowen Company as of the first year this
long series of this taking, year after year started would still
be reflected in the books as of the close of the books and the
examination you made in February of-as of February 9,
1959, isn't that right?
A. Yes sir, if there was such a thing, that would be true.
Q. Mr. Freeman, you have pointed out in your testimony
that certain checks, particularly in the CRT account are disclosed by your examination to have been written on a cer-
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tain date as shown on the face of the check and to have
cleared through the bank upon which they were drawn on
another date as shown by the perforations in the check 1
A. That is correct, sir.
page 653 ~ Q. And in many cases to have been posted to
the books of Bowen Company on still a· third date,
frequently subsequently to both of the first two dates I 'have
mentioned, is that right?
A. There was an example or so of that, that's correct ..
Q. IIave you not also testified that there are some checks
written on a certain date as shown on their face as not
deposited in the bank as shown by the perforation until in
son1e instances as much as two months delay, two and a
half months 7
A. I recall more than a n1onth. I don't recall one exceeding
two. It was 1nore than a monh.
Q. vVasn't there one written in the early part of MayY
A. Yon wish me to refer toQ. Let m.e sec the one I'n1 asking you about. 1\:lr. Freeman, in your Citizen Rapid Transit Company cheek nutnber
3057A. What year is thatt
Q. 1956.
A. 1950 what 1
Q. Six.
A. Three thousand fifty-seven?
Q. Yes sir. Does not your records-do not
page 654 ~ your records indicateCourt:

Three thousand fifty-seven.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. That that check was drawn by CRT on the 25th of :\fay,
sir?
A. Yes sir, that's correct.
Q. And it was not deposited in tl1e bank until the 21st of
July?
A. Yes, sir, I testified to that. That is correct as evidenced
by the check.
Q. N o·w there are others in here perhaps not delayed as
long in depositing but there arc others in which there is
noticeable delay between the date of the check and the date
it was actually put in the bank for credit, isn't fhat right'
A. There a.re a few that way in 1956, sir. I don't reeall
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any in '57 and '58 but it's a matter of record. It's just a
question of checking it back.
Q. Well, let's look in 1957, Mr. Freeman, at check number
3952. Don't your records indicate that that check was written
on February 11, 1957 and not deposited in the bank for
credit until March 1, '57 f
A. No sir, my records do not reflect that. :Niy records
reflect it was not paid by the bank until March 1,
page 655 ~ 1957.
Q. "\Veil, do your records indicate the bankwhen I said deposited in the bank, perhaps I was mistaken.
All of the testimony you g·a.ve was the date it 'vas paid by the
bank, isn't that right, sir?
A. That's c.orrect.
Q. That is true with reg·ard to your testimony on Saturday
and-and this morning?
A. I was trying· to show the earliest date be could have
l1ad it and the latest date it could have been handled from
both ends.
Q. Let's put it this way. It was not paid by the bank
and credited until March 1st, 1957?
A. That is check number 3952 you have reference to?
Q. Yes.
A. I think that's correct.
Q. Now the very next check, nu1nber 3972 on your itemization, does not your records show that was written on
the 16th of February, 1957 ~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And do the records not also show it was not paid by
the bank into the Bowen account until March 4, 1957?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. And check nun1ber 3966, shows the delay from February the 13th until March 1st, does it not~
page 656 ~ A. That is correct, sir.
Q. T·his is delay in presenting-this is delay
between the elate of the check and the date that it was actually
credited by the bank to the Bowen account?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. This is not a delay in posting· we're talking about l1ere?
A. Well, this-this span between those dates, the posting.
~ir. Garnett: To clear this up, 'va.sn 't this whole thing,
your IIonor predicated on the question about a two month's
span?
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(At this time further argument was had between counsel).
Court: There are about three weeks or something like
that. There are around three weeks Y
Mr. Baker: Yes sir.
A. Two weeks.
Court: I see one about three 'veeks.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Let's go down. I'm spot checking here, 1\Ir. Freeman.
Let's look at 4535 in 1957. Don't vour records indicate that
check was dated August 14, 1957i
.A. Yes sir.
page 657 ~ Q. And not actually pa.id by the bank until
September 17, 1957 ¥
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. So there are a number of checks scattered throughout
'57 that were not presented to the bank or that-do not
appear to have been presented to the bank until some substantia:! time after they were written, is that right, sirY
A. Yes, you have just gone over the various items. You have
the whole list. This is correct.
Q. As a matter of fact, the very first check in 1958, will you
refer to that. list~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Number 5,031.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Don't your records indicate that was drawn on the
16th of Janua.ry and not paid by the bank into the Bowen
account until February 3, 1958?
A. That's correct and that's what I testified to, sir.
Q. And let's go down-not trying to cat.Ch them all. Let's
go down to the bottom of the page, 6115.
1\fr. Garnett: What's the number?
1\{r. Baker : 6115.
Court : Next to the bottom of the page. 58.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Do not your records indicate tl1at that
check was drawn on December 9, 1958 and not
paid into the Bowen account by the bank until Decen1ber 31,
page 658
'58?

~
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A. Yes, it does, sir.
Q. So it is true that there are checks scattered throughout both '57 and '58 that were not rushed to the bank and
presented for payments immediately upon receipt, is that
correct!
A. That is correct, sir.
Court : How much more time do you think you 'II need?
(At this time a1l counsel discussed the matter before the
Court).
(The Court then adjourned at 6:05p.m.) .
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ROBERT L. FREEMAN,
recalled as a witness by the Commonwealth, having been
previously sworn, testified as follows:
CROSS E,XA1viiNATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freen1an, it has already been established you are a
Certified Public Accountant. Are the procedures
page 665 ~ of a Certified Public Accountant in auditing reports, preparing statements, certifying statements-are they subject to reg'Ula.tion by any regulatory
authorityY
A. By regulatory authority?
Q. Yes, sir¥
A. None other than is accountable before the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
Q. Does the Security and Exchange Commission have regulations specifyingi or make certain requirements that you
as a Certified Pub ic Accountant follow in order to comply
with their requirements 1
A. There are certain items which they request for a S.E.C.
filing that is not requested in any other form of accountability.

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

395

Robert L. Freeman.
Q. Now, if this small business, doing a third of a million
dollars a year, with five employees, be a corporation and
have a corporate investment account through various brokerage fi·rms in listed and unlisted securities-would the requirements of the Security and Exchange Con1mission impose
any duties upon you as accountant for that firm Y
1\.fr. Garnett: I think we are going far afield. One thing,
I don't think this is proper cross examination of this witness
because I don't recall any direct exanlination, and furthermore, ~Ir. Baker talks about a fictitious corporation, but
yesterday he 'vent into that. He went into it on
page 666 ~ cross examination. I didn't say anything about
it. It is my understanding, if you are going to
put a hypothetical question to a witness, it must be based
on truth. If he is speaking of Bowen and Company, that is
a different matter. If he wants to go into the structure of
Bowen and Company and ask questions, although I don't
think it is proper cross examination, I don't object.
Mr. Baker : I promise, if the ·Court please, to tie it in
and show Bowen Oompany operated exactly as in the question
put to that witness. ·
Mr. Garnett: You should put it like that rather than put
the hypothetical question to the witness.
Mr. Baker: I don't fhink I can be required to follow the
course of questioning that the Attorney for the Commonwealth
believes I should follow.
Court: I will let you proceed right now, sir.
}tfr. Baker: Thank you, Sir.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. If in fact this corporation would maintain in its own
name an investn1ent account with various brokerpage 667 ~ age houses, investing corporate funds in listed
and unlisted securities, would the regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission have any applieation to the accounting procedures that the accountant of that
firm woulrl be required to follow in doing that work¥
Mr. Garnett: I object to that as it calls for a conclusion.
1 think "re ought to have the regulation of the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
Court: I think it is up to them to show that too.

Q. Are you familiar with the regulation of the Securities
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and Exchange Commission in that they do require a duty on
the accountantA. Not in that partieular reference of question.
Q. What are the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission to 'vhich you made reference¥
A. I could not tell you all the regulations. I have only'
participated in three S.E.C. filings in my career, and it is
a field ent.irely foreign to general accounting procedures, and
I am not that well versed in S.E.C. rules and regulations.
Q. A substantial part of this work as a Certified Public
Accountant for firms such as Bowen Con1pany,
page 668 ~ is the tax reporting of such firn1, is that not
right, sir?
A. In my particular practice 1
Q. Yes, sir1
A. Oh, yes.
Q. As a matter of fact a very large bulk of this work is
the examination of the books for the purpose of filing tax
returns, or preparing and filing tax returns 1
A. Yes, sir, considerable bulk.
Q. Are there not regulations in the internal revenue code,
and regulations of the Treasury Department, which impose
certain duties upon you as Certified Public Accountant in preparation of such returns?
A. No, sir.
Q. If you prepare the return, you are required to show
that fact on the face of the return, are you not?
A. Yes, if we prepare the return, we sign the return.
Q. That is prescribed and required by the Tax Departnwnt
or the Internal Revenue Code, is it not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So there are regulations 1
A. You said as to procedure. You are now referring to
signature. The signature is required.
Q. Mr. Freen1an, perhaps procedure was the
page 669 ~ wrong term. How ·would you, so that 've speak
the same language, how would you describe the
requirenHmt of affixing the signature and verifying· the fact
that you prepared the return?
~fr.

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
pared

Garnett: You are talkng about tax returns?
Baker: Yes, sir.
Garnett: I don't recall anything about tax returnsBaker: There is evidence that Mr. Whiteside pretax returns.
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Court: That is true.

Q. If you wouldn't call that procedure, so that we speak
the same language, what would you call it?
A. It is a practice to sign the tax return stipulating the
person preparing the tax return prepared it, and he signs it.
Q. Are there any other regulations that apply of similar
nature that you would not call procedure, but would still
apply?
Q. That they obligate us to do a particular examination or
express something in a particular manner?
Q. No, sir, that having done the examination, impose certain duties upon you in connection with the examination you
have done f I take it you are not required to
page 670 ~ examine anybody 's books unless you want to?
A. That is correct.
Q. But having examined those books and computed the
taxes from those books, are there any other requirements on
you?
A. I don't know what you are driving a.t. There is nothing
in the code that tells me,-sofar as rules and regulations
telling what is taxable income, etc.-but I as preparer 1nay
take the information from a taxpayer as he submits it, and
put it on the tax form, and put my signature to it, and we qualify it that we have prepared it without audit. "\Ve have a
regular stamp.
Q. If you are preparing a return and sig-ning it with your
signature and without audit, then you make that qualification
that it is done without audit f
A. 'Ve do in our office, sir.
Q. .And if it is done with limited audit, is there any qualification to show that audit 'vas done but 'vas limited?
A. No, sir. "\Ve have just two statements, 've either stipulate it was prepared from the books without audit or verification, or if we wish, if we were satisfied to the extent
of our exa.nunation and do not wish to qualify it for our
own personal protection, we sign it.
Q. Your personal protection from what?
page 671 ~ A. If we have any fear or notiee that anything there is not correct, or even if we don't know
of anything incorrect, if we didn't do a sufficient exan1ination
to inform us as to what is underlying in the figures.
Q. How do you arrive at a fear as to something incorrect
-something in the records, or divining rod, or what?
A. By examination of the records.
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Q. If you examine the records and it appears from that
record there appears to be something wrong, and you still
don't audit, then you put the qualification Y
A. Or refuse to prepare the tax return, according to the
materiality of what we ·are working with, sir.
Q. But you do say, Mr. Freeman, that you would put your
signature on a tax return on which you had not done an
audit, without qualifying or pointing· out that it was done
without audit t
A. Quite the contrary, I certainly would not, sir.
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, you have testified with regard to
the Bowen books for the years 1956, 1957, and 1958, and I
believe you included the months of January and part of February 1959, I am not sure.
A. Yes, I did, sir.
Q. In any event, your testimony covered the
page 672 ~ three calendar years referred. Then what you
performed was a limited audit in examination
of the books, is that right Y
A. No, sir, the type of examination performed was a detailed audit of the cash receipts, 1956, 1957, 1958, and the
period of January through February, 1959.
Q. Detailed audit of the cash receipts?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I believe that you testified that is the only account of
Bowen Company that received a detailed audit by you?
A. That is correct.
Q. That fhe rest of the account, and some of the other
accounts received what you called an examination.
A. That is correct.
Q. You defined an examination as testing or sampling
basis instead of in detail¥
A. No, sir, I have not made that statement.

Mr. Garnett: He told you that yesterday, he did not make
that statement.
Q. Is it a fact that your examination of the other accounts, consisted of-

Court : Other than cash Y
Q. Other than Cash Receipts, consisted only of a detailed
examination of son1e of the accounts within those accounts!
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I don't know whether I make myself clear or not,
page 673 } but in regards to cash disbursements, or disbursements, the examination consisted of an
analysis of only a part of that figure?
A. I would rather state exactly what I did. I covered this
point yesterday. We took and traced out the cash disbursements from the beginning of 1956 throug·h the period of
February 9, 1959, but we did not examine each signature on
each check and examine to the extent that I would call that
a detailed examination of the cash disbursements.
Q. In l}onnection with that examination of disbursements,
you have indicated that you looked specifically for any
checks that 1night be payable to the defendant, Catherine
\Vebb, and found none that were not properly accountable fot·
as salary?
Mr. Garnett: I think we went over that.
Mr. Baker: But a certain amount of overlapping is necessary to tie in.
Q. Did you make an exanrination of checks payable to any
of the other personnel of the Bowen Office. to ascertain the
amount of such checks, and to attempt to verify the validity,
based on sales or commissions or other provable items in the
businessf
A. Yes, sir.
page 674 } Q. Would you tell us what checks you found
payable to 1\fr. Bowen, himself?
A. I couldn't recall over the three years period of time.
Q. You may have made a detailed analysis on many of the
checks. You Ina de no detailed analysis of payees of the checks 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So far as personnel of the Bowen Com.pany is concerned?
A. That is correct.
Q. I '\vonder if you would look at the record, 12/21/56, at
Check No. 2573, and when you take the appropriate book,
would you identify it for the record, the page number from
the book you are reading~
A. Do you 'vant n1e to get the book?
Q. Yes, sir, I would be glad.
A. You mentioned 12/21/56, Check 25731
Q. Yes, sir?
A. That would be the Cash Disbursements Journal.
Q. Would you tell us first the exhibit number?
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A. This is Commonwealth's Exhibit 13, sir.
Q. What page are you reading from?
A. This is from the Cash Disbursen1ents Jourpage 675 ~ nal, Page 48, under date of 12/21/56.
Q. Would you tell us the payee of that check
and its amount?
A. ,V. C. Bowen, the amount is One Thousand Dollars,
Check number is 2573.
Court: W. C. Bowen¥
A. Vv. C. Bowen, yes, sir.
Q. "\\Th.ile you have the srune book, would you look under
date of 12/21/57.
Court: I would like to follow what you n1ean by this
check?
1\{r. Baker: I have several and I will examine him with
regard to all as a group together unless the Court wants me
to repeat the examination on each check. They all fall in
the same category.
Q.
A.
Q·.
A.
Q.

12/21/57, Check No. 431.
·Check #431?
Yes, sir?
12/21-Check 431. Is that correct, sir?
Yes, sir1

Court : What year?
A. That is 12/21/57, the payee of the check is 'Villiam C.
Bowen, the number of the cheek is 431, and the amount of
the check is Two Thousand Dollars.
Q. Now, 1\f.r. Freeman, 'vould you look under
page 676 ~ date of 12/19/58.
Q. December what, sir?
A. Dec.ember 19, 1958.
Court: December 19, 1958?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And Check No. 1175?
A. Yes, .sir. Under Cash Disbursements, under date
12/19/58, Check No. 1175, the payee is listed as W. C. Bowen,
the amount is Twenty-five Hundred Dollars.
Q. Now would you look under the same date.
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Garnett : I-I ow much was the check 1
Court: Twenty-five Hundred was the amount.

A. The payee is listed as W. C. Bowen, and check number
was 1175.
Q. Would you look under the same date for Check No.
1173, 12/19/58?

Court: December 19, 1958!
A. 12/19/58, check payable to ,Y. C. Bowen for Twelve
Thousand Dollars.
Q. All right, you may sit down, 1\Ir. Freeman. Did 1\ir.
Bowen 'have an account with the corporation, either salary
account, commission aceount, \vag-e account, loan account,
or any other account with the Corporation as sl1own by the
books?
page 677 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. "\Vhat accounts did l1e have with the corporation 1
A. He had an advance account, but that last itmn, if I recall-may I have the General Ledger?
Q. Yes, sir, you n1ay refer to any books if they can be
produced.
A. Your identification has fallen off.
Mr. Garnett: I would suggest yon 1nark that on the
inside of the flyleaf also.
Court: Let's go ahead. l-Ie said Bowen l1ad an advance
account.
A. I don't reeall the exact phrasing of the topic of this
account, that is why I want to refer to the General Ledg-er.
Q. You were about to say the Twelve Thousand Dollar
cheeks 'vere covered by Mr. Bowen's advance account, and
you wanted to refer to the General Ledger?
A. Yes, sir, my memory from viewing this disbursmnent,
this Twelve Thousand Dollars was charged to an account entitled as n.n advance account, hut. I would rather refer to it
in the General Ledger if I can, sir. (Checks Ledger}-Tbe
Twelve Thousand Dollars that I ha.d refere.nce to is listed
under th(' Accounts Receiva.ble-1v[iscellaneous, and the
Twelve. Thousand Dollars I referred to is posted
page 678 ~ under this account and clearly marked
C.
Bowen, $12,000. ''

' ' T·
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Q. You say the Twelve Thousand Dollars 1s shown as
listed as Accounts Receivable-Miscellaneous?
A. That is the heading of the account in the General
Ledger.
Q. Is the Accounts-Receivable-Miscellaneous Account-is
Mr. B.owen 's aecount on the books under a g·eneral Iniscellaneous account as its heading f
.l\.. It is General Accounts Receivable-:~tfiscellaneous in the
heading.
Q. Then do I understand that it is not charged in the
books as being accounts of Mr. Bowen, but charged against
Accounts Receivable-}liscellaneous 1
A. I don't think that is a.n exact-it is-this accounts
Receiva.ble-:~Hscellanous clearly spells out W . .C. Bowen.
Q. Is there a balancing account anywhere else to balance
out this Twelve Thousand Dollar Aceounts-Receivable?
A. Balancing account, sir 1
Q·. Yes, sir?
A. Not to my knowledge. 1\riayhe I don't understand your
question.
Q. How are these accounts set up~ Do you ever customarily have a separate account or are they
page 679 ~ inter-mingling?
·
A. You have several different accounts in here.
You have an accountQ. 'Vhat I am driving a.t, is this. I don't know whether
that would be journal entries or ledg·er entries, but isn't
there a. sheet somewhere is which the record of the transactions of Mr. Bowen with his ow11 c01npa.ny is set forth on a
page with his own name on it any where in the book~
A. I don't recall the title. You have an Accounts-Receivable-Insurance Premiums, including the entire mnount of
customers overall insurance policies. You have Officers and
mnployees. I don't recall one uppearing a.t the top that has
!vir. Bowen's name at the top, but this one clearly states,
Accounts Receivable-1\Iiscelluneous, with the notation in the
account, $12,000.00 and $10.58. $12,000.00 was owed by W. C.
Bowen. At this point, I don't ln1ow what the $10.58 was.
Q. Under proper or standard accounting procedures, even
though one person owned all of the stock of a corporation,
should not the books carry au account of the dealings of that
person with his own corporation so that the c.orporation can
know how much the corporation owes the person?
A. It is clearly spelled out as Accounts Receivable and that
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is common practice to set out and spell out who owes what.
Q. But in a miscellaneous receipts, isn't it 7
page 680

~

Court: Accounts Receivable-1\Hscellaneous.

Q. Under the books as you have them there, if anyone were
interested in determining the exact status of the account of
Mr. Bowen, trading with his own company, you tell us it
would be necessary to go all the way through the miscellaneous accounts looking· for items~
A. No, sir, I didn't say that.
Q. How would you put it?
A. Accounts Receivable-:~fiscellaneous, it is clearly spelled
out.
Q. But I brought that to your attention. Can you look
through the book and s'how me any other transaction of Mr.
Bowen with his own company¥ Without my calling any specific item to your attention, can you look at the books and tell
me another transaction, exchange of cash back and forth
between !fr. Bowen and his company?
A. Only one case I recall of exchange of cash back and
forth, and that is the item transferred into an account for
administrative purposes, and Five Hundred Dollars was
transferred back into the bank account.
Q. You are depending on your men1ory and not certain
whether your memory serves you correctly or not.
A. I can refer to these records.
page 681 ~ Q. Point out to me and to the Court where the
records of l\fr. Bowen's transaction with the company are recorded, and 'vhat the status was as of the close
of business in 1958, as to the close of business December 31,
1958. Point out to me where there is any reconciliation anywhere to indicate the status of Mr. Bo,,:ren's account with his
own company.
A. The only thing I can refer to at this time is the
Twelve Thousand Dollars owed by W. C. Bowen to the Corporation.
Q. But there is nowhere in these books that anyone could
go and find it other than starting at time-one and running
through the miscellaneous account, isn't that correct?
A. I don't think that is correct. It is clearly spelled out,
Accounts Receivable, $12,000.00.
Q. That is an item I called your attention to and told you
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where to look for it. I ask you for items tha.t were not called
to your attention.
A. I question that. I told you where the $12,000.00 was.
Q. I asked you to trace that into the books on a given
date, did I not 1
A. That is correct.
Q. If you wanted to find out and show the
page 682 ~ Judge today the status of Mr. Bowen's account
from these books, what page or pages of these
books would you have to point to~
A. Todayf
Q. ·Yes, sir?
A. 1\fay I have the current General Ledger?
Court: I think he 'had the General Ledger yesterday.
A. This is Comn1onwealth 's Exhibit No. 8.
Court : Is tha.t marked General Ledger?
A. Yes, sir, General Ledger, Exhibit No.8. When you say
''today,'' the day we are in Court¥
A. No, sir, I corrected that. Can you go to the books and
show the status of Mr. Bowen's Account with his own company as of the close of business, 1958, December 31, 1.958 1
Court: Let n1e see them.
A. As far as I recall, the $12,000.00 in this accountQ. I am not asking ''as far as you reca.U,'' I am asking
you to go to the books and show. Is that the only account
Mr. Bowen has with the company?-What about the three
checks I asked you about, 1956, for $1,000.00; in 1957, $2,000.00; and in 1958, $2,500.00¥ You say that is
page 683 ~ the only item. Where are those checks?
A. If my memory serves me correctlyQ. I am not talking about your memory. You say you can
show it in the books. I am asking you to sho'v it in the books.
A. December 21, 1956, I did.
Mr. Garnett: I thought he had already pointed them out.
A. December 21, 1956, Check No. 2573, payable to Mr.
Bowen, $1,000.00.
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Q. Check drawn payable to Mr. Bowen for $1,000.00 under
date of December, 1956.-I ask where that is charged against
Mr. Bowen.
A. That is not ·charged to Mr. Bowen. That is charged
to Commission expense.
Q. Wouldn't Mr. Bowen's commissions be a proper account
with his own company?
A. This $1,000.00, I did examination on, so I know the
disposition of this. This check made payable to W. C.
Bowen was deposited in the Bank of Warwick in the account
of "\V. C. BowenQ. Just a minute-

Mr. Garnett: Let him follow it through.
page 684

~

Q. I didn't ask where it was deposited. I
asked to show in the books the status of Mr.
Bowen's account in the company.

Mr. Garnett: He asked what happened to that check.
Court: "\Vhich do you want first?
Mr. Baker: I haven't asked for hearsay testimony. I
'haven't opened the door for that.
Court : Can you show him in the books the $1,000.00?
Come over here and look at it.
1\!Ir. Baker: "\"\Then he finds it, I wiU come and look at it.
A. Here it is in the books, Mr. Baker.
Court:

Come here, I want you to see it.

A. December 21, 1956, W. C. Bowen-for bonuses to employees, $1,000.00.
Q. Under what date?
A. December 21, 1956.
Q. Is there any record in the. books that you have examined
to show that any part of that $1,000.00 was paid to the employees?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Show it to us in the books, Mr. Freeman.
page 685 ~ A. I can't show it in the books. I can show
you by cancelled checks.
Q. Y-ou have the cancelled checks?
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A. No, sir, I do not have it with me.
Q. So far as these books disclose, there is no part of that
that was ever paid to any employee, was theret
A. It shows for bonuses to employees, so it says that it was
paid to the employees.
Q. Is there any record in the books of this company to show
that the amounts of that bonus, if any, was included in the
W-2 report of funds paid to that employee in question?
A. No, sir, I don't think they were included on the vV-2
reports. I stand to be corrected.
Q. Would you tell whether or not the company is required
to show it by law to include it on the w-2 form¥
A. I think it is improperly reported.
Q. I ask if you do not know as a fact that it is properly
required by law?
A. All compensation paid to employees, that is correct,
when an employer-employee relationship exists.
Q. Yon are not a reluctant witness under my examination Y
A. Not to my know ledge.
Q. I realize in accounting terms we might not
pag·e 686 ~ understand. When I use the term, required, and
you say, properA. Can you tell me the distinction of proper or required Y
I just interchanged the word.
Q. You don't understand that wha.t is proper to be done
and what is required by law to be done, you don't understand
the difference between that, sir?
A. As long as it is properly done, I cannot see the distinction in the category I answered your questions.
Q. You need n1e to tell you the difference between proper
and required by law Y
A. No.
Q. Aren't there many things that are proper to be done
and not required by law in the accounting field and tax reporting? Isn't that true Y
A. That are properly to be done Y
Q. Aren't there many things that are proper to be done,
but not required?
A. I can't recall an example at this time, sir.
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, I wonder if you will trace the check
of December 21, 1957, Check 431, into the books and see if
you can tell where that was charg·ed to Mr. Bowen in his
own company Y
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page 687

~

Court: $2,000.00 check, you mean 7
Mr. Baker: There was only one on that date.
December 21, 1957, Check 431.

A. That 'vas likewise charged to account 104-A. Commission Paid, Insurance General, under date of December 21,
W. C. Bowen, for employee bonuses, $2,000.00, coming from
Journal 46, I think it was.
Q. The check was payable to 1\fr. Bowen, but not charged
to any account of Mr. Bowen in his own Company?
A. The check-(pause)
Q. T'hat is right, isn't it?
A. 1\fr. Baker, it was charged as I said, Commissions paid,
Insurance General, and it 'had \Y. C. Bowen, employee
bonuses.
Q. I like to ask the questions n1y way. I would like you
to answer then1. The fact was the eheck was paid to the
order of 1\fr. Bowen personally, and not eharged to the
books of this account to any account of 1fr. Bowen with his
own company f
A. 1Vhcu you say account of his with his own company-

lVIr. Baker: I am g·ett.ing- tired of parrying with the
witness. His reluctance is obvious to everyone. If the question is improper, I suppose you would.Court: I think he ans,vered the question, when
page 688 ~ he said it was charged to the san1e accountmiscellaneous.
Q. But the check is not charged to any aceount of lVIr.
Bowen with his own company ·y
A. Wbat do you mean?
Q. Did he have any accounts with his companyl
A. Yes, of course he did. When the check was drawn to
which we clearly spell out, it is a part of his account.
Q. I am not asking part of an account in 1\tfiscellaneous
account. I am. asking if there is any record or account with
his own company. I don't know whether· it would be charged
debit or credit, I do know that there l1as to be another account
to balance. I know that much. I am asking if there wa.s any
corresponding account of Mr. Bowen's?
A. This check payable to Mr. Bowen was charged to Commissions from Insurance-General, 'vith W. C. Bo"ren-for
employee l1onuses.
Q. And it was not charged to any account of his 7
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A.
Q.
A.
Q.

His 1•ame is clearly spelled out.
It is charged to 1\fiscellaneous Com1nissiou Account Y
Commission Paid, Insurance General.
It is eharged then to-

page 689

~

Mr. Garnett: He has told this gentleman four
times where this $2,000.00 check is charged. What
he is trying to do is get him to say is that this went toW. C.
Bowen. We concede that to be a fact, and he is telling where it
'vent, and that is the account it went in according to the
books. We are wasting time.
Mr. Baker: I think the Attorney for the Commonwealth
is not expert-! am trying to find where it wentMr. Garnett: He told you.
Mr. Baker: I am wondering if it went in such manner to
avoid payment of taxes, or if it didn't, and if it was consistant to avoid payment of taxes.
Mr. Garnett: He undertook to tell where the 1noney went
and how it was disbursed, and Mr. Baker said he didn't
want to hear anything about itl\£r. Baker: If the Court please, I am not the nwst seasoned la,vyer at the Bar, but I have more sense than open
up the door of hearsay. I am going to limit my examination
to the books.
Court: Let's go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: If you don't s'how where it
page 690 ~ went, we will.
Bv Mr. Baker:
~Q. It is a fact then, that the check in question that we
are talking· about so long, the check dated December 21,
1957, Check 431, in the principal sum of $2,000.00, payable
to W. 0. Bowen personally, was charged to a Commission
Account-Miscellaneous, bonuses for employees, and not
charged to Mr. Bowen's own name, or account in his name?
Mr. Garnett: He has answered that question, this makes
the fifth time.
Mr. Baker: If it is charged to ~{r. Bowen's account, I
want it in the record.
Mr. Garnett: The records shows the account and the record speaks for itself.
Court: You asked him to show it to you and he has done
that.
Mr. Baker: These records may speak for themselves, but
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I am talking about the record of the proceeding by this court
reporter. I want that correct, and want it to speak for itself.
Court: Just answer the question one more time, Mr.
Freeman.
A. The $2,000.00 check referred to as number 431, December 21, 1957,-that check was charged in the
page 691 ~ account Commissions Paid-Insurance General,
under the name of "\¥". C. Bowen-for employee
bonuses.
Q . .And that was a miscellaneous commissions account?
A. No, sir.
Q. What was the title of the account?
A. Commissions paid-Insurance General.
Q. What book is this you are testifying from f
A. The first I had that you referred to was the Cash Disbursements Journal and I traced that to the General Ledger.
Q. Is the General Ledger a book of original entry Y
A. No, sir.
Q. And the General Ledger consists of transfers of accounts from other books that are books of original entry?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Would you show me the book of original entry on this
account that you say this was taken from?
A. That was the Cash Disbursement Journal that is a
book of original entry.
Q. When you cl1arge an item against the general account
in the general ledger-debit or credit.
A. A charge is a debit in accounting terminopage 692 ~ Joey.
Q. Can you show me the books where the account has been credited with a balancing. entry for this $2,000.00Y
A. Which account, sir?
Q. Whatever account is shown in the book of original
entry.
A. The bank account was credited for $2,000.00 when the
account was charged for $2,000.00.
Q. Mr. Freeman, perhaps my ignorance of the accounting
field explains part of the difficulty we are having. If I understand, the general ledger is not a book of original entry,
but is rat'her a compilation from books of original entry. Is
that essentially correct?
A. That is correct, sir.
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Q. Now, are bank statements books of original entry?
A. Not as we normally apply the definition, sir. They are
the underlying facts to the books of orig·inal entry, which
iE? referred to as your journals.
Q. Is it proper bookkeeping procedure in posting· to the
general ledger, to take a c.ode signal or some type of entry
to the book of original entry?
A. Is it proper-! missed one point.
Q. Is it proper in making entries in the genpage 693 ~ eralleclgerCourt: To show where it came from?
Q. To show by code number or signal, make reference to
the books of original entry?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What code signal is posted by this entry of $2,000.00 ?
A. J-46, which would indicate Journal 46.
Q. Is that .Cash Receipts Journal or Cash Disbursen1ents
J ourna1 ~ Tell us first wha.t J -46 means.
A. Journal 46.
Q. Cash Disbursements or Cash Rooeipts?
A. I don't think they have labels.
Q. I am asking what J -46 for these books arc. If you
don't know, you are permitted to say so.
A. So far as I know, it is just Journal 46.
Q. Does that mean Cash Receipts Journal or Disbur~c
ments?
A. Disbursements Journal. I assume it means the diRbursements journal.
Q. "Tell: J-46 is that a record of debits and credits to t1JC
account to which it is charged 1
A. J-46 is a Cash Disbursement Journal for 1957, in which
the disbursement reflected by Check 431, for $2,page 694 ~ 000.00, reflects a credit to the Citzens 1\fa rine
Jefferson Bank, and charge for the commission.
Q. Is that a record of the debits and credits of the account
where you post the Miscellaneous Commission Account, or
whatever you call it, is that an end of the debits and credits
to the account to which this was charged?
A. The debit to the payments paid to Insurance-General,
would come from the Cash Disbursements Journal.
Q. If you enter in any set of books a debit without somewhere in some account entering an equalizing credit, you put
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your books out of balance for the amount of that debit entry,
do you not!
A. Yes.
Q. Where is the balancing entry in the book or original
record?
A. May I point it out to you? Here is the balancing entries, the debit and credit here. Debit $2,000.00 and credit
$2,000.00.
Court: I think he did that before.
Q. That balances the bank account¥
A. That balances the journal.
Q. Insofar as that reflects the bank account,
page 695 ~ that doesn't balance any internal account, does it·¥
A. That is not correct, what you are saying.
Q. What is incorrect about it?
A. This cash disbursement reflects the cash disbursement
and the classification of the appropriate charges, sir.
Q. Mr. Freeman, let's back off a little bit. Receipts and
disbursements in a landlord-tenant account would show
credits to the account-would it be credits or debits when the
tenant came to pay itf
A. Debit to the cash and credit to the tenant's account.
Q. If that rent accumulated, it would continue to show.
A. Credits to the tenant's account and debits to the landlord account.
Q. Then anybody going to the books would. know how n1uch
was owe.d to the landlord by Bowen Company by checking
debits to the landlord's account, wouldn't they¥
A. No, sir, credits to the landlord's account.

Court: Credit to the landlord account 1

A. Correct.
Q. And that is how you would know how much was owed
to a particular landlord, based on the rental inpage 696 ~ come~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Less the amounts for plumbing· bills and commissions to
Bowen Company f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Then when you paid the Landlord a check-I am still
confused about debits and credits-
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Mr. Garnett: I suggest if he doesn't know, he ought to get
off the subject.
Mr. Baker: I object, you chime in ·even before I finish,
Mr. Garnett, and I would like to ask this, if the Court please,
it is with great difficulty, I am trying to get throughCourt : I am letting you proceed, go ahead.
Mr. Baker: What I am asking the Court is this. I feel the
Court would want to hear what I have to say. I ask that I
not be interrupted further by the Attorney for the Commonwealth unless he has an objectionCourt: Don't interrupt him until you make an objection.
Mr. ·Baker: Because quite honestly, if the Court please, I
don't know where I am, and when I think I have found a
trend, it is disconcerting to have observations
page 697 ~ from the Commonwealth's Attorney pushing it
from my mind.
1\fr. Garnett: I didn't mean to push it from his 1nind.
Court : Let's go ahead.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, under this case we have given, the landlord-tenant account, and rent has accrued, which is it, debit
or credit. that inforn1s us how muc:h money Bowen Company
owes to the landlord 1
A. The amount that Bowen has collected from a tenant, that
would represent a credit balance.
Q. On the landlord account?
A. Yes.
Q. When Bowen Company wrote the landlord a check for
his part of the funds on hand for the credit of the landlord,
what type of entry 'vould be made¥
A. The charge would appear in the account.
Q. As what, as a debit?
A. As a debit, the charge is a debit.
Q. So when payment is made against a certain account, that
account is debited with the amount of fha.t. payment, is that
right, sir?
A. Yes.
Q. And unle~s the account is previously credited by other
entttrespage 698 ~ A. By what, sir?
Q. By other credits. Unless the account has
been previously credited by other entries aggregating a total
at least equal to the amount paid and debited, the account
would be out of balance, would it not?
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A. The account would not necessarily be out of balance.
Q. There would be an overage created, would there not 1
A. No, sir, there would be a charge ag·ainst that particular ac.count which may exceed the credits, and would
normally make an advance, and this is not uncommon.
Q. An advance would be in the book, itself?
A. It would be a debit.
Q. That would be a balancing entry 1
A. No, sir, not in that sense. I just explained, when you
write the disbursement, you create the credit to the bank
account, and the balancing entry to the landlord-tenant account.
Q. When you come to the end of a period, unless the debits
are equal to the credits, the account is out of balance 1
A. No, sir.
Q. Why not1
A. The debits or credits in this 1andlord-acpage 699 ~ count1 No, sir. That would only represent the
account balance, and whether you had funds that
you had not renlitted, or if you remitted in excess of collection,
there would be a debit balance ·of the amount owed to it from
the tenant.
Q. When you come to the end of a. given accounting period,
unless the debits to that account and the credits to that account differ from each other only in the exact amount of the
balance, and I use plus or minus balance, as shown by the
books, it would be out of balance would it not~
A. I didn't follow you, plus or minus-I couldn't tell you
if that would be in balance or out of balance.
Q. Talring t'his same account we are talking about, my
question is this: If at the end of any given accounting· period,
the credits to that account and debits to that account might
not be identicalA. That could be true, sir.
Q. To tlu~ extent that they are not identical, the differences
between the total·of the debits and credits, would have to be
crdited in a plus or minus balance for that account to balance 1
A. The plus or minus, yes, sir.
Q·. Is~'t that a question that can be answered
page 700 ~ yes, or no, sir?
A. I said, yes, sir, did I not, sir?
Q. So that if payments are made and charged to an account,
and there are no compensating funds credited to that account, would that account be in balance or out of balance,
and if in balance, would it be short f
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A. First, the charges to the account and no credits to the
account would have nothing to do with the particular account being in balance-and second, it would not indicate a
shortage, it would indicate that disbursements were madeQ. Wouldn't that be entered as a debit for that account?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I am talking now about a case that was not debitedA. Your question to 1ne was that it was not debited-

Court : Don't let's argue.

Q. Mr. Freeman, would you go through the original records, books of original entry, source records, of the landlordtenant account of Bowen Company.
A.. We went through the books of original entry.
Q. Are the books of original entry source documents and
records?
page 701 ~ A. I am referring to the journals, cash receipts
journal or cash disbursements journal-did you
wish me to continue?
Q. No. When you refer to the Cash Receipts Journal,
Books of original entry-you use the books of original entry
in accounting sense f
A. Yes.
Q. They are in layman's language not books of original
entry?
A. From the layman's point of view, they are not the first
placeCourt : Didn't originate there 1
A. No, if you are writing a. check, it is the check stub.
Q. The books of original entry, particularly the Cash Receipts Journal, is compiled almost in its entirety is it not, of
entries transferred from other books, which in accounting
field are called source books or doctunents. Is that not right,
sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So in layman's language, wl1en we say books of orig·inal
entry, we do not say the book in which the first entry was
made?
A. If you refer to cheek stubs being a book,
page 702 ~ the answer is no.
Q. And your audit did not include an audit
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of this source documents from which the entries in the cash
receipts journal were taken?
·
A. That is not correct, sir, because I consider source documents to be the cash receipts. I retain the copies of the
manifold receipt books, if I can use the same term. It would
be the absolute initial source. There are n1any documents
pertaining to theBe records.
Q. You didn't examine all the written copy receipts book
for the period of your audit. 1
A. I certainly did.
Q. Aren't there some missing?
A. With the exception of those missing during the period.
Q. Sonw were m.issingY
A. About a. month and a half in 1958, yes, sir.
Q. Now you certainly, 1\{r. Freeman, won't tell anyone here
today that you are in a position to verify an audit of books
that are 1nissing, or a set of books, part of which a.re missing,
'vould you, sir~
A. No, sir.
Q. So it is a fair statement, you did not, in accountant's
language, audit the source documents or books, on the basis
of which entries were made in the cash receipts
page 703 } journal Y
·
A. I don't ag-ree. 'Ve did to the extent that
they wer~ available. I cannot audit somefhing not. in existence.
Q. You audit only so 1nany that are available?
A. Yes.
Q. And yon know they are not available to audit~
A. Yes, sir, one or two missing.
Q. You also kno'v not all entries in the Cash Receipts ,Tournal are derived from the source material or source documents
of tlie duplicate receipt book. There are other sources Y
A. Arc you referring to a hypothetieal set of books, or
particular set of books?
Q. Bowen's books.
A. There are items recorded in the Cash Receipts tl1at a.re
not returnable in the manifo]d receipts'
Q. No'v the landlord and tenant books in the Bowen Com.pany offire, do you happen to know wha.t the technical titles
are¥
A. Subsidiary Ledger containing the names and addresses
of the landlord.
Q. Are they in the courtroom?
A. I don't kno,v.
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page 704 }

Court: 'V ould you look?
short recess.

'Ve will take a

(At 10:20 a.m., a ten n1inute recess was called).
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now~ Mr. Freeman, at the time that Court recessed, it
was for tl1e purpose of giving you an opportunity to locate
the source books or documents that have been referred to as
landlord and tenant books. Vvere you able to locate those in
the courtroom¥
A. No, sir, I have not found the subsidiary ledger or landlord and tenant account in these records.
Q. For the partieular years in question, 1956, 1957, and
1958, how many such books are there in the Bowen Company
records, if you knov,r 7
A. How many such books 1
Q. Yes, sir. Source Books?
Court: Landlord and tenant books.
A. Yon are referring to ledger sheets like tl1is?
Q. I am asking you. You have indicated that there are
source books or books of source entries, receipts dealing with
the landlord and tenant accounts.
A. No, sir, I did not indicate they were receipts.
page 705 ~ Q. Subsidiary records 1
A. Subsidiary records, not souree records for
posting.
Q. Jiow n1any such books are there in the Bowen Company
total colle(ltion of records in their dealings, and I refer only
now to landlord and tenant subsidiary records covering the
years 1956, 1957, and 1958, and January of 1959 and February
of 1959 through the 6th of February.
A. As well a.s I can recall, it is in a binder similar to this,
and maybe twice as thick.
Q. A single voh1n1e? The landlord and tenant only?
A. It may have been a transfer-it may have been in two
binders at the time, but twice the thickness as this.
Q. How many binders? Two¥
A. As I recall, a transfer binder, as we have here, a transfer general ledger, and a current one. If my memory serves
me correctly, transfer binder containing older accounts, and
current binder.
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Q. What is the difference between a transfer binder and
current binder 1
A. When you fill a book up and have so many pages to flip
through, you put the balances on new sheets and
page 706 ~ put them in a new folder until that fills up.
Q. What audit or examination did you make of
those books 1 Did you make any¥
A. The only examination we n1ade of the subsidiary is running adding machine tapes on those.
Q. Did you ma.ke any analysis or exanuna tion of those books
to ascertain who the landlords were that did business with
Bowen Company 1
A. No, sir.
Q. In connection with that examination and in order to ascertain just what the books showed with regard to shortage,
and what they nlight show as to who was responsible for
shortage, did you look in the landlord accounts-any of the accounts I refer to, to specific time in years-into the account of
certain property owned by l\Ir. Bowen personally and handled
by the corporation¥
A. No more than any of the accounts, by running the total
of the account balance shown into the aooolmt sho'vn in the
ge11eral ledger.
Q. When you say no more than others-running the adding
machine tapes does not constitute an analysis of any sort of
the account?
' · •
A. All it entailed was the running of tapes.
Q. It doesn't involve investigating those books to ascertain
what payments were made to landlords and
page 707 ~ whether those payn1ent.s were justified by receipts,
does it?
A. vV'hether the payments to landlords were justified by
receipts?
Q. Yes?
A. From whom, sir?

Court: By people paying the rent f
Q. By any sort, by receipts payable to the landlord account?
A. No, sir.
Q. So you didn't analyze that to detern1ine whether payments made to that account were proportionate to receipts?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you know from examination, did you run across any-
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thing to indicate whether Bowen and C01npany does manage
property owned by 1\{r. Bowen?
A. I don't recall any particular i ten1s.
Q. From the records!
A. I don't recall any from memory.
Q. May I refresh your memory with reg·ards to a specific
item. Did it come to your attention from the books that there
had been an overpayment to Mr. Bowen as landlord, overpayment by Bowen Company, Incorporated, of his landlord
account with Bowen Company? Did that come to
page 708 ~ your attention from the examination?
A. That account could have had a debit balance
in it, but I don't recall it, sir.
Q. Then you do recall that there was such an account?
A. No, I can't recall that particular account.
Q. "!bat did you intend to in1ply when you say that account could have had a debit balance?
A.. Just answering your question. You asked whether t11at
account ha.cl. been overpaid.
Q. No, sir, I think that was not correct. I will rephrase the
question.
Court: I understood that ~fr. Bowen, dealing with his
own corporation, had been overpaid. Yon wanted to know
what that account reflected.
1\ir. Baker: No, sir. \Yould the reporter read back the
question.
Reporter: '' ::1\Iay I refresh your 1nemory wth reg·ards to a
specific iten1. Did it c:on1e to your attention fron1 the books
that there had been an overpayment to Mr. Bowen as landlord, overpayn1ent by Bowen Company, Incorporated, of his
landlord account with Bowen Company? Did that con1e to
your attention from the examination?''
page 709

~

Q. Did it come to your attention, or not, sir?
A. I said, no, sir.
Q. Did it come to your attention from such perusal of this
landlord and tenant. accounts that you did make, that. Bowen
Company, Incorporated, was managing as rental agerit, a
large block of property for the ~fcMurran estate?
A. Yes, I recall that.
Q. Did you go into any analysis to ascertain that the payments to the Mcl\1:urran Estate by Bowen Con1pany were
justified by receipts of funds properly to be credited to tliC
McMurran Estate by Bowen T
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A. On the subsidiary records that you still have reference
to1

Q. Yes, -sir Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Now, the record of disbursements of Bowen Company
that you examined, but did not audit, to the extent that you
did examine them, can you tell us whether or not disbursements in connection with insuranee accounts, disbursements in
connection with rental accounts, payments to plumbers or
electricians or for repairs ·on property-were all of those disbursements co-mingled in the same set of disbursements, or
were there separate records of disbursements on each property?
A. "\Vhat do you mean by co-mingled Y
Q. Is there a separate set of records for dispage 710 ~ bursement.s by Bowen Company, Inc.orporated, to
tradespeople, such as plumbers, electricians, etc.,
for repairs on client's property, or are such disbursements
co~mingled withA. They have one cash disbursements journal. Of course
each check is listed separately. "\Vhen it pertains to a landlord-tenant account, it is Accounts Payable, Landlord, and disbursements made on their behalf, for example, are charged
to that nccount. That is a single account for all the landlords and t.enants.
Q. There is a single landlord disbursement journal, is that
right?
A. No, sir, a column in the journal for landlord's disbursements.
Q. Do the records in these subsidiary records that you
speak of, reflect the same disbursements account by account,
that are set forth in the cash disbursements journal?
A. I cannot answer that, sir, because I don't kno\v.
Q. Under the system of the set of books that you saw,
should it show it?
A. Yes, it should.
Q. But you don't know whether it does or not?
A. We only added the account balances at the end of the
period.
Q. You made no attempt, 1\fr. Freeman, to ascertain
whether or not. the entries in the subsidiary recpage 711 ~ ords of the landlord accounts actually coincided?
A. No, sir.
Q. So far as certifying this as a Certified Public Account-
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ant, would you say, ''I have compared them and they are
right"?
A. No, sir, not item by item, detail by detail.
Q. Did you compare any item by ite1n? Did you compare
any?
A. We may have traced a few in to see that they were substantially so -on a test basis.
Q. With the exception of a possibility of a few, would it be
a fair statement to say you made no comparison f
A. I would even go one step further. I said what we did
was add the account balances.
Q. Yon did make no comparison of the cash disbursements
journal against the landlord-tenant books in that they are
supposed to reflect the same disbursements f
A. In detail? That is ·right.
Q. And if there be disbursement to landlord, as reflected by
the land-lord tenant subsidiary records, in excess of the disbursements for the same item as shown in the cash disbursements journal, that would create a shortage, would it not?
Or apparent shortage in the Cash Disbursements
page 712 ~ Journal?
·
A. Where did you start off your question as to
where the item ·would appear?
Q. If the landlord-tenant subsidiary records reflected disbursements to landlords in excess of what the Gash Disbursements Journal reflects was disbursed on the same items, that
'vould create an apparent shortage?
A. If the disbursements from the landlord accountsChecks from the Bowen Company 7
Q. I take it disbursements can be made in some other form
than check, could it not?
A. You can disburse by cash.
Q. You don't know that Bowen Company didn't disburse
by cash¥
A. On what particular occasion f
Q. On any occasion Y
A. Make a check payable to cash 1
Q. No, I mean pay out in currency?
A. Of course it could be paid out of currency through the
petty cash fund.
Q. It could be paid out of currency not out of petty cash
fund, it could be paid -out of currency on hand?
A. I have no knowledge of that.
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Q. Yon don't have any knowledge of it not happening
either?
page 713 ~ A. No.
Q. If it did happen and a record of it was set
forth in the subsidiary tenant accounts, you wouldn't know it,
would you!
A. Yes, that would be out of balance from the controlling
account, sir.
Q. VVhat controlling account, sir?
A. General Ledger.
Q. You didn't compare with the general ledger?
A. You are wrong, sir.
Q. That would be out of balance if the balances were correctly totaled in the subsidiary landlord and tenant books?
A. If the balances were correctly stated.
Q. You don't know wl1ether the balances were so correctlv stated or not?
A.- To the extent that the items of the subsidiary landlordtenant account would tie into the controlling account into the
general ledger, that is the only extent.
Q. You say it is only correct because the two figures compare?
A. That is correct. T'hat is the extent.
Q. But if in fact the total in the subsidiary landpage 714 ~ lord-tenant books which compares favorably with
the controlling general ledger, is actually misstated in the landlord-tenant book, you wouldn't kno'v that
from your examination of the book, would you 1
A. lHsstated as between-! would onlv kno'v as to the adding of those items. Anything beyond that, I would not know.
Q. The way you say you know, or think you know, is the
totals in the subsidiary records compare favorably ·or exactly
with the check of the controlling entries in the journal, is that
right?
A. That is right.
·
Q. But you don't know whether the figures correctly reflect the true picture?-W11ether there were errors, or there
'vere fals2 footings, you d9n 't know whether any of that occurred?
A. No, sir. Only the total.
Court: You limited that to landlord and tenants?
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.

0
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Q. So that when you say they are right because they check
out with the general ledger, that is a.n assumption and not
something you have proven 7
A. It is a mathematical fact that if five equals five, they
balance. That is all I have sta.ted.
page 715 ~ Q. Y'Ou don't know whether all the entries are
properly recorded in there or not? You don't
know whether it is a forced balance Y
A. No.
Q. You can't tell that!
A. No.
Q. When you say that, that is something that exists, the
possibility of forced balancing?
A. It is correct, that is a matter of fac.t.
Q. Isn't this a fair statement of what has been covered so
far, that the only basis ·on which you are in a position to say
that the totals in the subsidiary landlord and tenant book are
correctly stated is because they compare exactly with the
appropriate control entries in the general ledger in total?
A. That is correct.
Q. And you make that staten1ent fully aware of the fact
that you have not ascertained the internal accuracy of the
subsidiary landlord and tenant books by audit of those books.
Isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir, I said further the extent of what we did on the
landlord subsidiary books.
Q. So that the fact that totals in one compare favorably or
properly with the entries in one, would appear to
page 716 ~ indicate that the figures in both are correct, unless
•
the balances in one has been forced to balance with
the other¥
A. That could be a possibility, sir.
Q. You don't know whether that happened or not?
A. No.
Q. vVhat I said with regard to forced balance would apply
equally to error or omission, would it not 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is meant by con1pensating error?
A. It is s·omething I don't believe could happen, sir, but
c.mnpensating error is when, and I have been quoted on this
point that it can never happenQ. I didn't ask what you thought, I asked what it is.
Court: Just give the definition.
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Q. Do you know what it is 1
A. Yes.
Q. Is it a \veil known term in accounting-¥
A. Yes.
·
Q. What does it mean when one acc.ountant speaks to
another, is there any difference between the two understanding what is being talked about?
A. Not to n1y knowledge. Compensating error is when one
account is out of balance equal to the other account out of
balance to the same extent.
page 717 ~ Q. Is the term quite com1nonly used in accounting?
A. In a joking sense, yes, sir.
Court: In a joking sense?

Q. It has no serious sense to it, :L\Ir. Freen1an?
A. No, sir. I have never found a compensating error that
I would classify a co1npensating error since I have been an
accountant, ~fr. Baker.
Q. But you are aware of the fact that other accountants
have given this name?
A. Oh, yes.
Q. To sontething- they call compensating errors 1
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. You are aware of the fact that in the field of accounting,
it occurs to such degree of frequency that it is given a name
of its own?
A. I an1 not aware of that, it. has a natne, but n very infrequent thing.
Q. But it has a name all of its own?
A. I don't know what the n1athmnatical odds of it occurring
is, but it is very, veryQ. But it is a mathmnatical probability that it n1ig-l1t occur.
A. Yes, it could he one in a million.
page 718 ~ Q. Could anyone look at the outside of a book
and without audit or actual exanunation, determine the mathematical probability that it has occurred in that
particular set of books? They cannot do tl1at, can they¥
A. No.
Q. Whether or not it has actually occurred in a set of hooks
can be established only by con1plete audit of all accounts of
the books, is that correct?
A. T·hat is correct.
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Q. And you did not do a complete audit of all the accounts
in the book?
.A. No, sir.
Court: Is your answer, no, sir?

.A. That is correct, sir.
Q. 'Vhile you doubt the Yalidity of con1pensating errors, you
will admit there is a Inathetnatical probability of one in these
books~

A. No, sir-you are asking if that was found in that book~
Q. I a.m asking· if it is not true that there is a mathematical
probability of s·ome degree that there were son1e in here
that was not found. Isn't that true here?
A. I don't know, sir.
Q. Are these books different fron1 books
page 719 ~ generally with which there is a 1nathen1atical degree of probability?
A. No.
Q. Then why won't you say there is a mathmnatical degree
of probability that there is a. cmnpensa.ting error in these?
1\ir. Garnett: That is long· enough-that calls for a conclusion.
Court: He said he didn't find anv.
l\ir. Baker: I asked if it is probable.
Court: I understood and he answered twice.
l\ir. Garnett: He can't say whether there is or is not, and
said so.
1\fr. Baker: I have n1ore purpose in pursuing son1e of these
pointsCourt: I will let you go ahead.
~Ir. Baker: Only by pursuing all of these questions a little
further at times is it possible for the record to show the
obvious antagonism and reluctance of this witness.
Court: I can't sav it is obvious.
page 720 ~ ~Ir. Baker: That is one of Couns(\1 's reasons
for pursuing it.
Court: I can't say that.
1\fr. Baker: I understand, sir.
By 1\{r. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, from your exan1ination-first, I believe
you indicated that the $12,000.00 check under date of December 19, 1958, drawn to the order of ,V. C. Bowen, Check 1173,
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didn't you testify that 'vas put in the books as an advance Y
A. No, that was before we turned to the record. I said if
my memory serves me correctly, I thought that was an advance to "\V. C. Bowen.
Q. From your memory, you said it was an advance. From
an examination of the records, would you teU the Court
whether it served you ~correctly1
A. I think it did. It was under the accounts rec.eivablemiscellaneous. An advance is accounts receivable.
Q. I direct your attention to the exhibit-is that the
General Ledger there f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is that entry, Mr. Freeman"?
A. Salary, Officers, \V. C. Bowen, 1958, December 19, W. C.
Bowen, check C-1173, J-42, $12,000.00.
page 721 ~ Q. "\Vould you say whether or not J -42 refers
to the item that you found in the Journal under
date ·of Decen1ber 19, 1958, specifically Check ·No. 1173?
A. Your question was what, sir 1 I have now turned to it.
Q. You looked at the-first, let's identify this for the record. What book is this?
A. This is Commonwealth's Exhibit 7, General Ledger
Tra.nsfe!'.
Q. Fr01n what page and date are you reading in that book?
A. I have no page number here. It is under date of December 19, 1958.
Q. Read what the journal reference is.
iL J-42.
Q. The check is $12,000.00~ The amount of it?
A. Yes.
Q. Paid to \V. C. Bowen·v
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How is that account headed?
A. Salaries-Officers.
Q. Is au officer's salary properly called in accounting, advances?
A. No, sir.
Q. "\Vill you look at J-42-I take it. that is
page 722 ~ journal, and will you identify that for the record,
the Conunonwealth Exhibit what?
A. Con1n1onwealth Exhibit No. 13.
Court: What was 77
A. General Ledger and transfer.

And this is Cash Dis-
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bursements Journal referred to as Commonwealth's Exhibit
13.
Q. \\T ould you tell us for the record and for the Court's
benefit, whether the J-42 which you just read out of the
General Ledger 'vould direct you to any plae.e in this ·Cash
Disbursements Journal t
A. I am in. the Cash Disbursements Journal.
Q. Are you able to know where to g·o by reason of the notation, J-427
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Actually you are on page 42 of the Cash R-eceipts Journal for the account in question, are you not!
A. No, sir.
Q. \Vhere are you?
A. I am J -42 in the Cash Disbursem.ents Journal.
Q. What did I say?
A. Cash Receipts.
Q. I am sorry. \"''f·l ould you read what ,J -42 of tbe Cash Disbursements Journal discloses 1
page 723 ~ A. Under December 19, 1958, payee indicated,
,Y. C. Bowen, C-117 :-I think tha.t is check number-and the an1ount of disbursement from the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank, $12,000.00. The classification of the
entry is under Expenses, Debit, and under explanation column, it has ''see stub," I would assume that meant check
stub.
Q. By referring to the General Ledger entry and finding
that you are wrong when you say it was an advance-you do
find you are wrong when you say it was an advance T
A. No, sir, I am not wrong.
Q. It is under Offi.cer's Salaries?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Didn't you say officers' salaries and advances are not
the san1e thing?
A. That is absolutely correct.
Q. Yon said it was an advanee, and the book shows officers'
salaries.
·
A. The books at first post officers' salaries. There is
another journal reference here where the Officers' Salaries
has been recreditecl and the $12,000.00 has been treated as an
advance. You have got to complete the entry to come hack to
agree with my staten1ent. I think my statement ·was correct.
Q. "'There does that show.
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A. From the Journal-I assume General
Journal, No. 12.
Q. What you say is that it went into the books
as an officer's salary first, and then for some reason Officer's
salary was credited back, and it was charged out again as an
advance. Is that correct f
A. T'hat is correct.
Q. Do the books indicate whether or not any withholding
of taxes-when I say withholding, you know what I am talking· about?
A. I do, sir.
Q. Do the books indicate whether any sums were withheld
from the. $12,000.00 for the payment of Internal Revenue
Taxes that might be chargeable to the $12,000.00 officer's
salary or advance Y
A. No, sir, none whatsoever.
Q. So far as the records disclose, there was none, is that
right, sir¥
.A. That is right., sir.
Q. Would it affect the apparent tax liability of the recipient of those funds to change it on the books from officer's
salary to advance Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. By ro.hanging it from officer's salary to advance, so far
as the books were c·oncerned, would that provide
page 725 ~ an escape route for the recipient not to pay taxes
on that fund 1 Let's put it differently-if it was
on the book as officer's salary, there is a tax liability on the
recipient. to pa.y taxes 1
A. If it is for services rendered, yes, sir.
Q. Unless it is offset by other loss, it should go into the
report of taxable income received Y
A. Yes.
Q. But when treated as an advance, does it go into the
same tax payer's return a.s· taxable inco1ne received Y
.A. No.
Q. Is there any explanation in those books, that you can
understand as an accountant, to justify the change of that
item from officer's salary to advance, other than for tax purposes?
A. I can't say it was done for that reason or not for that
reason.
Q. I am asking you if you can find any other justification in
the books, and if you don't know of any, tell me so, sir.
A. I just don't kno,v.

page 724

~
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Q. Well, now, how did you say it was finally treated?
A. Under the accounting, Accounts Receivable-MiscellaneC. Bowen, $12,000.00.
ous, under
Q. How did it go out? How was it reported
page 726 ~ out of the funds of Bowen Company finallyY As
a payment to whatf
A. Payment to 'V. C. Bowen and retained as an advance
from him.
Q. Would tha.t manner of treatment have the effect of making this an item deductible from the receipts of Bowen for its
tax return?
A. No, sir.
Q. Do you know w·ha.t the tax rate of W. C. Bowen was,
Federal Taxes for the year 1958 Y
A. I don't recall. I think it was thirty per cent, but I
wouldn't be sure.

,V.

Court : Corporate tax?

A. I think the corporate rate was thirty per cent. Five
Per Cent for State, and I think they are subject to the five
per cent state and thirty per cent Federal.
Mr. Garnett: I object to this. I don't see the materiality of
this.
Mr. Baker: We are putting in a few bricks of the foundation.
Court: Only thing, he made inferences. lVIr. Baker indicated someone may not have paid taxes, as fact.
Mr. Garnett: On some of this money.
Court : "\Yasn 't anything to indicate he has
page 727 ~ paid tax on it.

Q. To sum up on the four checks I have asked you about1\{r. Garnett: Nothing to indicate the ·Corporation has not
paid taxes on it.
e are talking about corporation books.

""r

Q. To sum up on the four checks, December 31, 1956, Dec.ember 21, 1957, December 19, 1958, in the sum of $2,500.00,
and December 19, 1958, in the sum of $12,000.00, in regard to
all of those checks, the first threeCourt: I got $1,000.00, $2,000.00, and $2,500.001
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Q. The first check was December 21, 1956, $1,000.00, payable
to Mr. Bowen; the second check, December 21, 1957, $2,000.00 payable to 1\{r. Bowen; the third check, December 19,
1958,'$2,500.00 payable to Mr. Bowen, and the fourth check,
December, 1958, for the sum of $12,000.00 payable to Mr.
Bowen. They are the four checks in regard to which I will talk
to you a few minutes. You have indicated the last of the four
checks, namely the $12,000.00 check, was not handled in such a
manner as to constitute a tax deduction for Bowen Company,
Incorporation 1
A. Yes, sir, it was treated as advance to W. C. Bowen.
Q. Have we established 'vhether or not the first
page 728 ~ three of those checks, the one for $1,000.00, $2,. ' 000.00 and $2,500.00, respectively-they were
treated on the books so as to constitute a tax deduction for
Bowen and Company, were they not?
A. Yes, sir.
Court: $2,000.00-$1,000.00 and $2,500.001

,

A. Total of $5,500.00.
Q. So that taxes on those funds were never paid by Bowen
Companyf
A. Which funds 7
Q. First three checks. They never paid any taxes 1
A. You don't pay taxes on disbursen1ents.
Q. I understand, but the funds came in before they were
disbursed, didn't they 7
X. That is correct.
Q. I-Iaving been disbursed in this manner, Bowen ·Company
was permitted under their tax return to exclude this sum
from taxable income~
A. These were compensations to employees.
Q. But the books do also show that the corporation did not
make any deductions from the employees' accounts, and did
not report the payment of t:hese accounts on the
page 729 ~ W-2 forms?
A. That is my understanding.
Q. The net effect is .that nobody loses by this treatment
except Uncle Sam?
A. I don't know. This does not show whether it was picked
up as taxable income by the recipients.
Q. The manner of the handling of the bonuses was violative
of the regulations regarding handling of payments to employees, was it not f
.

430

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

Robert L. Freeman.
A. Yes, sir, I think they are subject to the Social Security
Act.
Q. Mr. Freeman, what did your examination of the books
of Bowen Company disclose, if anything, with regard to the
Corporation's investment account with various and sundry
brokerage houses in listed and unlisted securities?
A. There is a considerable transaction of assets in and out
of the record.
Q. Did you analyze the account?
A. Yes, we reviewed the account.
Q. Will you tell us, if you can, whether or not dividends on
securities owned by Bowen Con1pany, Incorporated, can be
traced into the books as dividends on those securities f
A. I don't recall that without checking it and seeing if that
was so, sir.
Q. Would you mind checling it?
page 730 ~ A. Yes, sir.-Here is an account, number 66, in
the General Ledger, reflecting Dividends Earned.
Q. Would you point that out for me?
A. Yes, sir, right here. (indicating Ledger)
Court:
ledger.

He says there is an Account 66 in the General

Q. Did you make an audit of that account to ascertain its
accuracy?
A. Of ~he income, no, sir.
Q. Is there anything reflected in the books of Bowen Company to reflect management fees for these funds or any of the
management services?
A. By brokerag·e houses Y
Q. By anyone, by brokerage houses, or investment counsellor, or whatever it might be~
A. I don't recall that, sir. I am not sure that I understood
your question.
Q. Are there records of purchases and sales of individual
stocks shown in this book?
A. Yes.
Q. Where?
A. By individual sales?
Q. Yes, sir?
A. Yes, sir, commencing with the Cash Receipts Journal
and c.oming on through.
page 731 ~ Q. Where Y
.
A. (Indicating Journal) I was pointing out
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the transfer ·of the account as reflected in the General Ledger
referred to as Commonwealth's Exhibit 7, which reflects the
summarization of the invested accounts ·of Abbott, Proctor,
and Paine, referred to as Account No. 18, reflecting the
status of the account for the years 1954, 1955, 1956, and 1957,
through December 31, 1958. The balance on that point was
forwarded to the current General Ledger.
Q. Mr. Freeman, did you audit or did you not involve a
detailed analysis of the various items of profit and loss and
expense i.n the stock purchases and sa.Ies of those investment
accounts?
A. No, sir, we traced the account, the net :figures on the
sales and gross fig-ures on the purchases, and did not go in
there further.
Q. Did you ascertain whether or not Bowen and Company
experienced profits or losses or both, or do you know 1
A. As I referred to earlier, they have a dividend accountQ. I am asking now what you had done with regard to the
accounts as of the time you gave your direct testimony f Had
you or had you not made a detailed analysis of these accounts to ascertain whether or not they were
page 732 ~ profits or losses, or both, in the financial trading
of these stocks, not wha.t you can do now?
A. I couldn't. tell you by looking at the book. I don't recall
that information. We traced the detail of this account from
the net figures in and out of this account.
Q. The testimony you gave under direct examination was
without benefit of an audit of the investment accounts that
would permit you to answer that question?
A. You say I have stated that, sir?
Q. I didn't say you stated it. The testimony that you gave
in direct testimony, when you were being examined by Mr.
Garnett, was given without the benefit of a prior audit of the
investment accounts. Isn't that right?
A. I did not refer to any audit of the inveshnent account.
1vfr. Baker: If the Court please.
Court: Can you answer the question? VVhat is the answer
to tl1e question, if you relnember it, sir~

A. I don't remember it.
Mr. Baker: Read it back, please.
Reporter: "I didn't say you stated it. The testhnony that
you gave in direct testimony, when you were being examined
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by Mr. Garnett, was given without the benefit of a
prior audit of the investment accounts. Isn't that
right¥
.A. Yes, sir.
Q. It was given without the benefit of any errors that might
or might not be disclosed by any audit Y
A. To the extent-

page 733

~

Mr. Baker: If the ·Court please, I ask that he be required
by the Court to answer my questions.
Court: You ca.n answer the question, and if you want to
explain, you may.

.A. That is correct, although I do not know of any errors
appearing in that account, because we did trace the receipts
and disbursements out of that account for the period also.
Q. But you wouldn't certify a statement of that account
based on such audit as you did, would you, :Mr. Freen1an 1
A. Certify!
Q. You would not give an unqualified certification of that
accountf
A. I don't render a certification.
Q. Don't you certify statements of account?
A. No, sir.
Q. What is the certification you give as a Certified Public
Accountant?
A. I assum.e you have reference to an opinion.
page 734 ~ Q. What do you certify?
.A. 'Ve do not use the term, certify. We will
not certify to anything. We render a professional opinion
as to the accuracy of whether or not a particular account
presents generally the checks, etc.
Q. You would not as a Certified Public Accountant g·ive an
unqualified opinion concerning the accuracy of the account
with such a limited examination that you did of it, would
you?
A. In the absenc.e of the third party verification with the
brokerage house, no.
Q. A.nd in the absence of other details concerning tracing of
funds, isn't that right?
A. No, sir, that is not correct, sir.
Q. Did you ever see a single stock certificate Y Did you
ever examine a single one?
A. No, sir.
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Q. You wouldn't give an unqualified op1n1on concerning
the accuracy of that account without examining the stock
certificates?
A. If my memory serves me correctly, these were held
under a street name.
Q. But would you not qualify your opinion!
A. I would not qualify it, but state the facts.
page 735 ~ Q. That would be a. qualified opinion then, would
it not?
A. No, sir.
Q. Would you tell us in accountant's terminology, what is
the difference between an unqualified opinion and a. qualified
opinion?
A. One is where I would qualify it by making some restriction to it, and the other, I ·would not. If I make a statement
of fact in preparing the opinion, I don't think that would be
the same as a qualified opinion.
Q. If you make a statmnent of the ·findings, expressly as
regards to the accuracy of this account tha.t was made without
access to the stock certificates in this account, isn't that a
qualified opinion!
A. That would be a qualified opinion in this example.
Q. That is the kind of qualified opinion you 'vould give if
asked to give an opinion of this account?
A. No, sir. If this account was in a street name?
Q. Street name? What is a street name~
A. 'Vhere the brokerage l1olds it to the credit of your account, and you do not receive the actual certificate.
Q. What would you do then to verify it~ Would you n1ake
an individual investigation from the investn1ent
page 736 ~ house itself?
A. No.
Q. You didn't do that, did you?
A. No, sir.
Q. So you would qualify any opinion that you gave concerning the accuracy of these books, would you not ?-The books
insofar as they deal with the investment account 1
A. If I was making an opinionQ. It 'vould be a qualified opinion 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And the qualification would he that "~Iy findings are
subject to any discrepancies that mig·ht be disclosed by Inntters not inspected and verified by n1e. '' That would be the
effect of it?
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A. To that effect.
Q. And your testimony in this case tnust be qualified by the
same qualification to be fairly accepted, would it not Y
A. To the extent of this account, it is.
Q. Your testimony in this case is subject to such errors or
discrepancies as might be disclosed by itents not audited by
you or not independently verified by you 1
A. That is right.
Q. That is true about all of your testimony about all of
the books of the Bowen Company?
page 737 ~ A. Not all of my testimony.
Q. I am talking a bout conclusions. If you read
page 132, I don't mean you need to qualify it, but insofar as
your sun1maries are concerned~
A. No, sir.
Q. So far as your sumn1aries are concerned, it is subject to
the qualification~
Court: His answer was no, sir, as I understood it.
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. V\7Jlere your testimony concerns balance on hand, Jannary 1, 1956, could you verify it from some source that it was
actually on hand f
A. Tha.t was testified to as being on the books of account.
Q. But your sutnmary starts with fha.t, and if that is wrong,
your summary is wrong.
A. If that is wrong, it would throw the summary off.
Q. And it wasn't verified by you because it was physically
ilnpossible to verify what was on hand on January 1, 1956?
A. That is right.
Q. And the whole sumtuary is predicated on the assutnption that the books were correctly stated Decetnpage 738 ~ ber, 1955, is that not correct f
A. No, sir.
Q. But any errors that there were in tl1e proper status of
them at that time, would be reflected in the figure vou arrived
at in 1959, would it not f
•
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You don't know what en·ors there were in Decetnber 31,
1958, do you 7
A. 1958?
Q. 1955, tl1ank you for correcting me. You don't know
'vhat errors there were?
A. No, there could have been en·ors at tl1at point, sir.
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Q. So that testimony that you have given concerning shortages in 1959, would of necessity include any shortages in
existance in 1955, would it not'
A. That is true, but that wouldn't take away from the
shortages appearing· in 1958 and 1959. True there could be an
error in this beginning figure, but that would not take away
from the amount short in the years 1957, 1958, and 1959.
Q. We are coming to that, Mr. Freeman. If the checks
'have continued each year to assume the correctness ·of the
previous year for twenty years, any error going into the
books twenty years ago, would still be re:fleeted in
page 739 ~ the totals you came up with in February, 1959,
isn't that right, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. With regard to the question of whether or not there
be a shortage of money in 1956, to assume that it would be
necessary to count the. cash on hand in the cash drawer or in
the safe, would it not?
A. Yes.
Q. That is right, isn't. it?
A. Yes.
Q. Under proper bookkeeping procedilngs, we understand
the best thing to do is put the money in the bank and credit it
as soon as it comes in. We do agree on thatY
A. Yes, sir, very definitely.
Q. If for any reason the check does not come in and is not
posted to the books and is still on hand and undeposited, it
would be error to include those funds in the report of cash on
hand, would it not Y
A. Money a.nd checks not posted?
Q. Not posted to the books and not credited to the various
accounts. To show that on hand would show the books out of
balance, wouldn't it f
A. Without giving the appropriate entry-if receipts have
been issued, it is cash on hand. The mere fact it hasn't been
posted on hand-if you have issued receipts to a
page 740 ~ customer a.nd they paid you $50.00 or $100.00, you
have got cash on hand. The mere fact that it has
not been r..arried forward to the records in your exa.mpleQ. If those funds have never been posted to the Cash Receipts Journal, it would be improper to show in the same
Cash Receipts Journal, to show cash on hand f
A. Yon wouldn't do it. I c.annot answer your question.
'What you are saying, would not happen.
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Q. Let's take it step by step and see where it won't happen. If on December 29,1957, I went into Bowen Company, and
paid $1,000.00 on my account by my personal check, and if as
.of the close of business of December 31st of the same year,
the fact of that payment had not been posted to the Cash Receipts Journal, that $1,000.00 could not properly be includable
in the cash on hand as shown by the Cash Receipts Journal
as of December 31, 1958, aceording to proper bookkeeping,
could it?
A. That is correct, because you stated it had not been
recorded.
Q. So what is shown by the books from time to time as cash
on hand does not indicate that that is all the money belonging
to Bowen Company, Incorporated, which is in the Bowen Company drawer or safe Y
A. No, that only accounts for funds recorded in the Cash
R.eceipts Journal
_
Q. Not too far off when we say "posted"¥
page 741 ~ A. I am giving proper terminology.
Q. Posted to the Journal in1proper terminology?
A. I believe so, sir.
Q. I will try to use recorded.
A. Posted in the General Ledger and recorded in the
Journal would be proper terms.
Q. So then, if we go back and establish that I 'have paid
this $1,000.00 check, but it had not been recorded in the
Journal, and if we add that $1,000.00 to the casl1 on hand,
that we say should be on band, and compare it with what the
cash receipts journal shows to be on band, 've would ha.ve
specious reasoning?
A. What is that~
Q. Erroneous or false reasoning-! will withdraw the
question and restate it. The example we have given is this:
I have gone into Bowen Company near the end of December
of 1957, we said.
A. That was your first example.
Q. And I have paid on my account the sum of $1,000.00 by
personal ~heck, and as of the close of business of December
31, 1957, the fact of such payment has not been recorded
in the Cash Receipts Journal Do we understand the hypothesis so fa.r Y
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, if by going back at a
later date and determining that that check was
actually delivered and paid to Bowen Company
in December, 1957, if we add that $1,000.00 to the rest of the
money proven to be needed on hand for the books to balance,
and we hold somebody accountable for this extra $1,000.00 because the books don't show it to be on hand, that would be
erroneous reasoning? It should not even show to be on hand
in the cash receipts?
A. Was it deposited in the example?
Q. Give it to us either way.

page 742

~

Mr. Garnett: It makes a difference.
A. Number one in your first example-correct me if I
don't give your hypothesis correctly-you walk in and pay
$1,000.00 by check on the 29th and two days later the year
closed, the $1,000.00 has not been recorded in the Cash Recepits Journal; and assuming it has not been deposited, then
what has happened there, in that particular instance without
recording of that receipt correctly, you would have an overstatement of your cash on hand, overstatement of your accounts receivable from customers.-1\fay I complete the question you asked? Secondly, the other example you use the
assumption if the funds had been deposited. In that particular case, if you came in December 29th, and paid $1,000.00, and
the bookkeeper prepared a deposit slip and put the $1,000.00
in that bank .account and failed to report it in the cash receipts journal, it 'vould go into the bank, the bank
page 743 ~ account would be overstated from the books. If
everything else was in order, the bank would call
for $1,000.00 more than the books. So it would be cash either
on hand or in the bank.
Q. Your last explanation would be true only if all funds
had been deposited in the bank?
A. You only gave me one example and I of course added
that $1,000.00 to it.
Q. In your answer, actually cash on hand as reconciled
by wh.at the hooks show to be cash on hand, would be necessary
to determine whether the bank account was overstated or not?
A. In which example.
Q. You have testified have you not, Mr. Freeman, if any
check had been deposited to the bank before it was posted
to the books, that it would cause $1,000.00 more, to be in the
bank than was called for by the books?
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. But suppose, Mr. Freeman, suppose there is $1,000.00
posted to the books f
A. Which books, sir?
Q. Recorded in the Cash Receipts Journal, still on hand and
undeposited Y
A. That would reflect the cash on hand.
Q. Give the example we a.re talking about, my check for
$1,000.00 has been deposited but not put in the
page 744 ~ Cash Receipts Journal. There is still $1,000.00 in
the cash receipts drawer?
A. You have already given an example of $1,000.00. You
have deposited that $1,000.00 and still have $1,000.00 in the
drawer?
Q. $1,000.00 from another c.ustomer'
A. You are adding something else to it Y
Q. If there 'has been in fact $1,000.00 received from other
customersCourt: What is the purpose of this?
Mr. Baker: I think the purpose-this witness has testified that the example we gave would create nwre money in
the bank than the books called for.
·Court: Yes, sir, hadn't been recorded in the books.
Mr. Baker: But if the books call for $1,000.00 which has
not been deposited in the bankA. What are you adding to the initial premise 7
Q. You go on the same day and pay $1,000.00.
A. We are already dealing with $2,000.00.
Q. And my payment is deposited to the bank, but not recorded in the cash .receipts journal 7
page. 745

~

Court: At that point, it is overstated.

Q. And your $1,000.00 is reeorded in the Cash Receipts
Journal, but not deposited in the Bank. You got that one Y
A. One thousand dollar check was recorded in the cash
• receipts journal and not deposited Of
Q. In the bank?
A. Anti the other check wa.s deposited and not recorded 1
Q. That is ·right Y And the other is still on hand in the
Bowen Company on the 5th of January the following year,
and mine still has not been reco.rded in the books-there
would be no shortage Y
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A. One was still on l1and and the other-Your books
would be improperly stated, that is all.
Q. There would be no shortage?
A. There would be no shortag·e, but would not be properly
stated. You have recorded the $1,000.00 check in the Ca.sh
Receipts, but never been deposited, in your example.
Q. I don't say, never, as of the 5th of J a.nuary, the following month.
A. We have come to the 5th of January?
Q. This took place before the end of 1957, before tho 5th
of January, 1958, this was the situation.
page 746 ~ A. What happens to the $1,000.00 that is on
hand, sir1
Q. It is on hand.
A. Where is it f Never been recorded in the books?
Q. As of January 5th, it is still in the cash drawer of
Bowen Company.

1\fr. Garnett: I think to make your hypothesis complete,
you count the cas'h and it wasn't there.

Q.
hero
A.
Q.
A.
Q.
cash
A.

No one ever counted the cash as far as these records
disclose?
I have a rec.Q.rd hero 1\fr. "\Vhiteside counted the cash.
In 19591
That is correct.
As far as the record shows, there was no count of any
in Bowen Company before 1
I don't know.

1\fr. Garnett: I think you should complete the hypothesis
that the $1,000.00 that Mr. Baker brought in was counted
and you are short of cash.
Mr. Baker: Again I object to tl1e interruption
page 747 r by the Attorney for the Commonwealth. If anything Counsel has done is improper, if the line of
questioning is not proper, the objection should be directed to
the Court. I object to his continuous interruptions.
Court: I have asked him not to interrupt.
Mr. Garnett: I merely said the hypothesis should be
complete.-! am making it to the Court that I think the hypothesis should be completed in accordance with the testimony
in this case, that the cash was c.ounted and it wasn't there.
So the $1,000.00 Mr. Baker says was on hand, when you count
the cash and it isn't the.re, you are $1,000.00 short.
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:Mr. Baker. If the Court please, I would like to make an
observation for the record myself, the evidence was that the
cash was never counted and found to be over or under, until
February 7, 1959.
Court: Mr. Whiteside counted it. He said he counted it
on Februarv 7.
Mr. Baker: To include in a hypothesis account of cash
in 1958, when the record shows it was not done, would be to
improperly state a hypothesis.
page 748 ~ Mr. Garnett: He said still on hand February
5 of the next year. That is what he said. lie was
trying to set up the fac.ts in a disguised way, the facts that
the Commonwealth alleged and testified to in this Court.
If you are going to do it, the hypothetical question should be
complete or not at all. That is the rule of a hypothetical question.
Court: You may continue.

By l\1:r. Baker :
Q. There is no record in the books of account of Bowen
Company that you have been able to find of any counting
of cash prior to February 7, 1959, is that correct?
A. Not that I have knowledge of. The books would not
nor1na.lly reflect that.
Q. Going back to out· example, if your $1,000.00 was still in
the drawer on January 5, 1958, but reported in the Cash
Receipts Journal as having been paid by you, and my check
was deposited there in the bank, but not reported to the
Cash Receipts Journal as having been paid by me, and if
these were the only two transactions we are concerned about,
how much cash should be shown by the Cash Receipts Journal
to be on hand as of that date?
A. In your example the Cash Receipts Journal would not
reflect money ·on hand because it would be erpage 749 ~ roneously stated. It would not have recorded one
$1,000.00 check.
Q. Under the example, although we know there is $1,000.00,
the statenu::nt of the Cash Rec.eipt.s Journal w:ould be zero
cash receipts on hand?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The proper thing for the cash receipts journal to show
would be zero?
A. Yes, it has the 01nission of $1,000.00.
Q. That is true even though we know there is $1,000.00 in
the drawer?
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A. You haven't given the proper customers credit, you
haven't got a proper set of records.
Q. I understand the books have not been posted with dispatch, but that is not something rare. I understand the reporting to the books has not been done with any dispatch Y
A. They have not had daily postings.
Q. That characterizes the books of the entirety, does it
not?
A. Generally speaking, there has been a ge.neral delay.
Q. There are numerous instances where checks were received and recorded in the Cash Receipts Journal and not
deposited until sometime later?

Court: Numerous what Y
page 750 ~

A. Checks received.
Q. And recorded in the Cash Receipts Journal
and not deposited in the bank for some extended time later.
A. Yes, sir-by extended time, you mean c·ouple of weeks 1
Q. Couple of weeks, several weeks, month?
A. Two ·or three weeks.
Q. That practice of reporting. of recording in the Cash
Receipts Journal as received, and delaying the the depositing
of it to the bank, that couldn't possibly help to cover any
alleged shortage, it would in fact create more shortage Y
A. No. If properly recorded when received but not deposited Y
Q. If you look at the books and find that on February
1 of a given year that $1,000.00 is acknowledged to have been
paid in on that date, and recorded in the Cash Receipts
Journal on that date, and it is now the 20th of February and
this $1,000.00 has never gone into the bank, as far as the
books are concerned, in the absence of a cash count, does that
not create an apparent cash shortage?
A. The $1,000.00 has been recorded on the book and the
$1,000.00 was on hand, but just not put in the bank account.
Q. I am saying in the absence of a count or
pag·e 751 ~ verifying the cash on hand, the mere books themselves,-your testimony is based on complete
absence of proof of cash on hand at any time February 6,
1959?

.

A. That is correct.
Q. You have testified to that?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Now, I am trying to get to the meat of that, Mr.
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Freeman. If $1,000.00 is paid to Bowen Company by a customer on February 1, 1958, and the fact of such payment
in the proper account is properly recorded in the Cash Receipts Journal under date of February 1, 1958, and that
check is retained for any purpose, not depositedCourt: Not deposited by Bowen Company?

Q... for any purpose not deposited for the entire month
of February, and if we were to go to the books on February
20th of the same year and try to analyze whether or not
there is a shortage of funds con1ing in by checking what is
deposited, there would be an apparent s·hortage of $1,000.00
unless we found the $1,000.00 by a count of the cash?
A. The books in that example, by recording it, call for the
$1,000.00 to be on hand.
Q. The books, in the a.bsence of counting the cash-the
books would show $1,000.00 received, but never deposited to
the bank, isn't that right f
page 752 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Isn't. that how you have attempted to establish shortage by the very same procedure, by showing income
· not deposited f
Court: You are asking a bout this case we are trying today?

Q. That has been your approach to this t.hing1 You try
to show income coming into Bowen Company, not depositec11
A. Proved collections of customers had never gone into the
bank account of Bowen Company, covered up by many entries.
Q. When I .say incon1e, I mean all the money acknowledged
due Bowen Company, let's call it receipts. Your approach to
this whole thing is the established receipts due Bowen Conlpany, and showing difference of receipts and deposits, is that
correct?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Your approach in your testimony in this case has l)een
identical to the exact point given in the example whichA. You kept giving me an example, which exa.m.ple you
started off with $2,000.00 and come down to $1,000.00, the
$1,000.00 due Bowen Company properly recorded in the Gash
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Receipts Journal, but not deposited-no, sir,
page 753 } that has not been my testimony. My testimony
has been fhe fact that we have unrecorded receipts. We have deposits in the bank account that have not
been recorded in the books of account.
Q. Is it or is it not a fact that you cannot arrive at a
figure based upon fact with regard to shortage or overage
without reconciling the actual cash on hand, not cash on hand
in the technical sense as properly shown in the .cash Receipts
Journal on hand, but actual cash on hand j
A. You have to know whether that account is correct or not.
Q. Whether the account is correct or not has nothing to do
with the fact that there are funds on hand that are not proper
to be shown in the account at that time, yet they were?
A. I 'vas using your question that if it was on hand.
Q. With this type of delay in posting that we find hereif everything were as it should be except the delay in posting
and delay in recording and delay in depositing, if everything
is as it should be, all the money that belonged under the
control of Bowen, was still under the control-(pause)
Court: You want him to answer that?
Mr. Baker: I haven't finished the question yet.
I just paused, I want to finish the question. I was
trying to n1ake sure that I phrased the question as clearly
as possible.
Court : I am going to ·take a short recess.

pa.ge 754 }

(At 12 :00 o'clock noon, a ten n1inute recess was called)
By Mr. Baker (continued)
Q. Mr. Freeman, one of your methods of approach to
analyze what this situation is fr01n the books, has been to
attempt to identify items, particularly item.s paid by check,
and to attempt to trace that item by amount into the books of
record of Bowen Company and into the bank deposit, and
into the bank deposit by checking the deposit records and
examinin_g the cancelled checks. That is correct, is it not, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And in that examination, you ran across niaily, many
checks, particularly the Citizens Rapid Transit Company
checks, which are Commonwealth's Exhibit for identification,
one through ninety-eight, is that right, sir?
A·. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Garnett: The C.R.T. checks are Commonwealth's Exhibits 1 through 98?
page 755 ~ Court: That is right, sir.
Mr. Garnett: But they have also been entered as Commonwealth's Exhibit 16.
Court : They have been introduced in record as Commonwealth's Exhibit 16, that is correc.t.

Q. We know what checks we are talkking about, don't we,
Mr. Freeman Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you examine each of those checks to ascertain
whether they are endorsed for deposit only, or in some other
manner¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And did you find they were all endorsed for deposit
only?
A. That is correct.
Q. Based upon ·that, would you assume they were actually
deposited,
A. We traced those into the bank account of Bowen Company.
Q. By amount Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You couldn't identify them except by identification of
amount, could you f
A. Tha.t is correct.
page 756 ~ Q. But you did assume because they were
marked for deposit and were paid by the bank
that they were in fact deposited to the account of Bowen
Company?
A. Yes, sir, and these an1ounts appeared on the bank statements, and these checks were included on the duplicate deposit
slips.
Q. If in fact any of these checks, ·endorsed for deposit only,
were actually cashed by the bank and not deposited to the
account of Bowen and Company, then your assumption would
be er.roneous to the extent that occurred f
A. Yes, fhat is correct. None in fact were, as indicated by
the marks on the front of the checks, and the accounts were
found to be deposited in the bank account of Bowen Company.
Absence of the marks on front of the checks. The teller is
supposed to put it on if he cashes it instead of depositing it.
Q. Your assumption is based on the assumption that the
teller always did what he was supposed to do?
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A. That is correct, plus the fact that these amounts were
deposited in the account of Bowen Company.
Q. We do know as a fact that a teller did in fact cash
one check that was not deposited 1
A. Yes, and that has the correct identification for it.
Q. vVe do know in that instance the teller did
page 757 ~ not do it Y
A. Yes, si.r, but the check did bear the fact
that it had been cashed.
Q. Do you know whether or not the same, or different
teller on some different occasion failed to do what. he was
supposed to do, namely failed to put the stamp on the front
of the check Y
A. No, sir.
Q. We do know the tellers didn't always do what they
were supposed to do with respect to this account 1
A. You have reference to this one accountY
Q. We know the teller cashed at least one check and instead of depositing it, cashed it, although it was plainly endorsed for deposit only?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. We don't know how many other times the same thing
occurredY
A. I have no knowledge.
Q. "'\Ve don't know how many times, as it were, the teller
failed in his duties, namely failing to stamp on the front of
the cheek that it was paid instead of deposited?
A. I have no knowledge.
Q. In fact your identity of these items traced through
the books is dependent upon the identity .of the figures, or
close proximity of the figures, plus an assumption
page 758 }- that the tellers always did what they were supposed to do. Isn't that right.
A. Mine is based on the assumption-you use the word,
assumption-the figures on the duplicate deposit slips and as
recorded in the cash receipts-that is correct sir.
Q. 1\fr. Freeman, this stack of checks w'hicb I believe has
been introduced in evidence as Common,vea.Ith 's Exhibit 16,
consisting of Commonwealth's Exhibits for Identification I
through 98,-I hand you the stack of checks. "'\V ould you remove from the stack the top check and give us the identification number on it 1
A. Top check~
Q. Yes, sir?
A. Identification No.1, sir.
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Q. That check is endorsed for deposit only Y
A. For deposit only, Bowen Company, yes, sir.
Q. But you in fact do not know whether it was actually

deposited or cashed, do you Y
A. T·his check is clearly listed ''for deposit only'' and
paid through the bank, and the same amount, if my memory
serves me, $1138.33 appeared on the duplicate deposit slip.
Q. My question to you is this : Do you know whether that
check was actually deposited or cashed?
page 759 ~ A. There is nothing on the check indicating
that it has been cashed.
Q. It is marked "for deposit only"Y
A. That is right.
Q. That is one reason for assuming it was deposited, isn't
it¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. But we know that at least one ·other check-and how
many others-was also marked for deposit only, but was
cashed?
A. But that had the identification of the teller on the
front.
Q. I will come to that, Mr. Freeman. We do know that
at least one other check was also endorsedCourt: Yes, I know that too, no,v.
Q. Was in fact cashed and not deposited Y
A. Yes, sir, but the difference in that check-

Mr. Baker: If Your Honor pleaseCourt: I will let him explain.
A. I have a right to explain, according to the Judge. That
check was different than this in that it had the identification
on the front that it had been cashed.
Q. That is an identification that a teller is
page 760 ~ supposed to put on a check when he cashes it
instead of depositing it¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. But we don't know whether a teller or tellers-you
don't know whether the teller handling the one check in question, No. 1,-we don't know whether he failed in his duty
and omitted the stan1p on the front, and instead of depositing it, cashed it instead 'F
A. I have nothing· on this check that would tell me that.
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Q. If the teller handled tha.t properly, it would indicate
on the face that it was deposited, that is right, isn't it Y
.A. If the teller handled it properly~
Q. If the teller handled it properly, then it w·ould appear
it was deposited and not cashed, is that right?
A. Yes.
Q. But if he failed to ·handle it properly by failing to stamp
on the front any indication that it was cashed rather than
deposited, then to the extent that the teller could be in error,
your assumption in regard to this check would include that
possibility ·of error?
·
A. No, sir, because in my detailed analysis of going through
and identifying· each check, we identified each check against
an amount recorded, and in your assumption, or
page 761 ~ your example or question, I am not sure how I
should phrase it, this particular item had been
cashed, then we would have recorded deposits and amounts
in excess of what these checks represent.
Q. Have you not suggested by your answers that these
checks 'vere deposited but not recorded to the Cas·h Receipts
Journal as having been received, and that by so doing, it
would cover a shortage of cash in equal amount-that has been
the inference you have implied, isn't it?
A. That is correct.
Q. If in fact this shortage you assume was actually deposited, and this check were cashed and proceeds pocketed
by someone, your assumption would break down, would it not,
sir?
A. The shorta2·e would still be there. It would be in reverse, it would c'Ome by the cash in these checks.
Q. Your assun1ption that the check was deposited to
cover a shortageA. It has to, the overall shortageQ. I am talking about the shortage represeted by this
check. The overall shortage would be represented by the acemuulation of the checks.
A. You lost n1e as to which check you are referring to.
Q. Have you not suggested that this check,
page 762 ~ No. 1 that we are talking about, was received-!
will take that back-I don't kno'v whether there
was any inference· drawn about this check-have you not
suggested that checks in this series of checks were received
by Bowen Company, deposited to their bank account, but not
recorded in the Cash R.eceipts ,Journal until a later date f
A. Yes, sir, in many cases no records made of them.
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Q. Have you not suggested by that procedure a shortage
of cash from ·other sources in the identical muount was
covered' That has been your sugg-estion, has it not ·r
A. Cash from other customers.
Q. If in fact all of these checks, which you assume were
deposited, were not deposited, but the deposit slips in identical amount representing receipts from other sources was
paid, in fact was deposited, then your assumption breaks
down'
A. No, sir. It shifts. You would still 'have the same
amount. If this check was cashed, you come up with the
same results.
Q. I understand that. I say your assumption that this
check was deposited to cover a shortag·e of funds from other
sources would break down?
A. No, sir, the shortage would still be there.
Q. Do you understand the question, Mr. Freen1an 1
A. I think I do.
page 763 ~ Q. Have you not assumed that each and every
one of these checks were deposited in the Citizens
~{arine Bank?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. In view of fhe fact that you assume that all were deposited, but some were never recorded in the cash receipts
journal, isn't it a fact tha.t you have assumed they were
deposited to cover shortage of other funds 1
A. That is correct.
Q. I put to you a very simple question. If your assumption that these checks were deposited is false, if in fact some
were not deposited, then does not your assumption that they
were deposited to cover shortages in other accounts break
down?
A. You are saying that, assuming these were cashed and
not deposited, and what was the last?
Q. Then if we assume that, does not your assumption that
they were deposited to cover shortages in other accounts
break do'vn 1
A. Assuming this was cashed, then it wasn't deposited?
The answer is yes-assun1ing it was cashed and not deposited.
Q. But as a necessary ing·redient of your assumption, you
assume that all were deposited rather tha.n
page 764 ~ cashed¥
A. That is correct.
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Q. If in fact any of them were cashed and not deposited,
then the basis of your assumption breaks down?
A. Not to the end result.
Q. I am talking about the basis of your assumption.

A. If you assume they were cashed rather than depositedQ. That assumption would fall down 1
A. That is correct.

Mr. Garnett: I will concede that if they were cashed
they were not deposited.
Mr. Baker: I object, the Court understands what I am
trying to do. This witness has testified as an expert, and that
based on his analysis of the books, there were cash s'hortages
'vhich were covered by depositing- checks that were not recorded as being received. I think it is an hnportant issue in
this case. I think it is important that we get to the meat of it
and ascertain what fallacy is shown to be .in the conclusions.
and what fallacies are shown to be likely in his conclusions.
Court: Go ahead.
page 765

~

Q. If you do not assume that the tellers were
infallible, and you do not assume that they always did what they were supposed to do, you cannot say
whether all of these checks were deposited, or whether some
were cashed, can you~

Mr. Garnett: I think I have been very patient about assumptions and what-not. If I understood the evidenceYr. Baker: I think if Counsel desires to object, he should
state itMr. Garnett: Mr. Baker, I don't think you can complain
about anybody Inaking a statement. If I understood the evidence, Your Honor, it is this. The checks do not have o.n the
front tbere·of any markings such as the bank has testified appears thereon if the check is cashed. Further it is marked
"For deposit only." Further that amount shows as a cheek
on' a duplicate slip, and for that reason, the witness says this
'vas deposited because of the duplicate receipts showing it.
So we don't come in assuming what a teller did or did not do,
and now we are belaboring the point. I admit if the check were
cashed, it was not deposited. This I admit. So I object to
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the assumption of what the teller may or 1nay not
have done.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, what counsel
is attempting to show, and it may have been shown clearly,
what counsel is attmnpting to show is that this witness has
come into Court and, over objection of defendant by counsel,
has been permitted to testify as regards to opinions as well
as to facts shown by the books. Included in those opinions
or assumptions that this witness has been permitted to give
in testimony, was an assumption that delay in recording
receipts had the effect of covering a shortage of funds from
other accounts in the amount of the checks -or receipts in
'vhich there was a delay or failure to record as income. And
has suggested further that he is able, as a witness or as an
accountant, to trace certain accounts of which the C.R.T.
is one, into and out of the books and into the bank account
of Bowen Company by virtue of the amount on the face of
the checks, and I understand further by virtue of his assumption that if they had been cashed instead of deposited,
there would have been a stamp to show it. I think it is
highly important to establish, as has been done, that tellers
are not infallible and do make mistakes.
Court: They show on the deposit slip, don't
page 767 ~ they¥
l\1r. Baker: No, sir, I don't think any of the
C.R.T. checks sho·w on any deposit slip as being other than
-I don't think any deposit slip sl1ows other than the bank
upon which it is drawn. I think they are lin1ited to 68-721.
~Ir. Garnett: You are at liberty to show that there n1ay
have been another check fron1 smnebody else in that atnount.
Ivir. Baker: Is counsel addressing counsel or the Court~?
Mr. Garnett: I said you are entitled to show something·.
Court: fie says you have the right to show the Court that.
Mr. Baker : I guess if this were a Perry Mason trial, he
'vould be able to convict somebody in the courtroom.-It
doesn't happen that way, it is up to the Comn1onwealth to
proye its case also Perry's cases nrc concluded in an hour. Court: Don't let's go ou that. That doesn't have a¥Ytbing to do with it, ~Ir. Baker.
page 766

~

By l\!fr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, can you, by reference to the
page 768 ~ books in the courtroom, and by examining the
proper books in which these iten1s are shown,
without any substantial difficulty or delay, pick out the
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balances shown by the books to be on deposit in the .several
banks, as of specmed periods if I call those to your attention 1
And before you get that, can you also, by reference to the
books in this courtroom, without substantial delay or difficulty, pick out the amount of accounts payable, or insurance accounts, if I call the specific items to your attention, or dates Y
A. As reflected by the General Ledger!
Q. Yes, sir. If I direct your attention to specific month
ending, can you do it without difficulty?
A. I think so.
Q. Will you look at the books and advise us what the
bank balance was in the two accounts as of January 31,
1956, the date you started your audit 1
Court:

Two accounts?

Q. Citizens Marine Jefferson and First National-there
are no other accounts that you know of?
A. Of Bowen Company Corporationf No, sir.
Q. Will you tell me what the books show to be the balance
on hand in these two accounts as of January 31, 1956-that
is the date you started your audit from, is it not?
A. That is correct.
page 769 ~ Q. Excuse me, not audit, your examination.
A. Are you ready for the answer?
Q. Yesf
A. Cash in bank, Citizens ~Iarine Jefferson, as reflected
in the General Ledger as of January 31, 1956, $1,083.17.
Q. Ifow much on hand in the First National Bank as of
the same day? If you will keep the other figure, I want you
to give me a rough total of the tw<>. Doesn't have to be to
the penny.
A. Same date, J anua1-y 31, 1956, $3,524.53.
Q. Without the exact penny, what is the approximate total
of the two figures?
A. $4,607.
Q. Would you examine Accounts Payable-Insurance for
the same date Y
A. Accounts Payable-Insurance?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. $17,345.92.
Q. How much difficulty would it he to give me total accounts payable to Bowen Company as of that period? This
is the insurance accounts only, isn't it?
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A. That is what you asked for.
Q. Would you tell us, is it correct that the accounts payable exceeds bank deposits as of that date four
page 770 ~ to one·1
A. Yes, sir, approximately, yes, sir. The accounts payable were ·$17 ,345.92, and the cash was approximately, the sum of the two bank accounts was $4,600.00--roughly
four-to-one ratio.
Q. Let's go then, let's take April 19. That included approximately four times as much obligations as they had money
in the bank to pay debts with, as of January 31, 1956?
A. As reflected in the Cash Receipts Book and reflected
by the two bank accounts.
Q. Let's go to April30, 1956, and give me the srune figures.
A. The accounts payable-insurance, as of April 30, 1956,
$36,847.00.
1\fr. Garnett: I am not getting the dates.
A. April 30, 1956.
Q. }low much money is reflected to be on hand to pay
these bills as of the same date, April 30, 1956?
A. In the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank is $16,164.00,
and in First National, $8,047.00, not counting pennies. The
sum ·of those two reflect the approximate cash as being approximately $24,211.00.
Q. Is it true that accounts payable-insurance
page 771 ~ only, exceeds the funds in the bank as of that
date by approximately $12,000.00 Y
A. That is absolutelv correct.
Q. Let's go to June 30~ 1956, and give me the same figures?
Mr. Baker: And if the Court please, I would like to
point out this by quarters. I think we can illustrate the
point by doing it that way, but if the Court has any desire
to have it separated by monthsCourt: Go ahead.
A. Accounts payable-Insurance, $20,333.00, which if I may,
I will droo centsQ. As far as I am· concerned, if you give it to the nearest
thousand.
Court: Let him go on.
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Mr. Baker: I don't intend to interrogate him later with
regard to the p.enny.
Court: He is giving the dollars.
A. Then approxin1ately on deposit in the two banks, $4,500.00.
Q. Accounts payable-Insurance wasA. $20,333.00.
Q. As of J nne 30, the accounts payable exceeded the funds
on hand with which to pay, by between four or
page 772 ~ five to one f
Court: Better than· four to one.
A. Around five to one.
Q. Incidentally, 1\{.r. Freeman, did your analysis disclose
to you whether there was any segregation of funds of the
Bowen Company between the two accounts? The account in
the First National Bank and Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank.
Did that constitute a segregation of funds of the Bowen
Oompany or not1
A. I was told it was supposed to, but as it turned out, it
wasn't.
Q. You don't know except what you were told Y
A. There were various things put in both accounts.
Court : They weren't segregated for anything you know
of?

A. No.
Q. That is true of the entire period of this audit, so far
as you can recall f
A. I would like to state this, because I think it would help.
I think the First National Bank was primarily usedQ. Mr. Freeman, I have no objection to this coming in,
but I don't want you to give me the benefit
page 773 ~ of any hearsay testimony, and open the door.
I l1ave no objection to his doing it, but it is
not responsive.
Court : There is no need to give it.
Q. I am asking with regard to the book.-September 30,
1956, or was that the one we just had? Give us the same

figures on that, 1\{r. Freeman.
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A. I am jotting these down right roughly. Are you going
to ask me to refer back to them f
Q. As I said before, I don't intend to interrogate you with
regard to the specific amount. So that the witness may understand, and the Court may understand, is to demonstrate by
the entire period covered, that the insurance accounts-payable
only, exceeded by a substantial amount the total funds in
both banks, which included rental funds.
Mr. Garnett: Were the a.cc.ounts receivableMr. Baker: May I ask the Court to protect counsel from
this continued interruption f
Court: I have just got through telling him-go ahead.
A. Cash in bank, September 30, First National Bank
$1,983.00; cash in hand, Citizens l\{arine Jefferson, September
30, 1956, $4,434.00. They total a.pproxilna.tely $6,page 774 ~ 300.00. Accounts payable-insurance, September
30, 1956, total approximately $16,500.00.
Q. So insurance accounts payable only exceed the total of
all funds on deposit in the bank by approximately $10,000.00
as of that month?
A.. That is correct, sir.
Court: As of September 30.
Q. For the sake of time, Mr. Freeman, let's skip over to
June, 1957. I would like to say again, if it is the desire on the
part of anyb-ody that I not skip any, I will go through.

Mr. Garnett : I don't know if tha.t includes me or not.
Your Honor, as far as I am concerned, I don't care.
A. June 30, 1957, Accounts payable-insurance, $31,305.31.
Cash in Bank, First National Bank, June 30, 1957, $3,878.00.
Court : First National Bank?
A. Yes, sir. Cash on hand Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank,
$3,023.00. Total of deposit called for by the General Ledger,
$6,900.00. Accounts payable-insurance, $31,300, approximately.
Q..So that the accounts payable-insurance only exceed the
total funds in both banks by approximately $24,000.00?
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page 775

~

A. That is correct.
Q. And being a ratio of approxhnately four
plus to one?

Court : Really five to one.
A. Four plus to one is correct.
Q. Let's move on to J anuat-y 31, 1958.
~fr.

Garnett: January, 1958 ~

A. January, 1958-the Accounts payable-insurance, ,Jannary 31, 1958, is shown by tl1e General Ledger as $29,858.00. Cash on deposit represented in the First National
Bank and Citizens 1\iarine J cfferson Bank, approxin1atcly
$3,308.00.
Q. Accounts payable-insurance only exceeded the total sum
in both banks by approximately $25,000.00 f
A. That is correct.
Q. And the ratio of liability of accounts exceeded botl1
by a ratio of seven to one f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Let's go to December 31, 1958?
A. Accounts payable-insurance as reflected by the General
Ledger, December 31, 1958, is $18,757.15. That l1as been forwarded to the new ledger, and I am using that. First National
Bank, $L535.96, Citizens lVIarine ,Jefferson Bank-(panse)
Q. Did you get those figures yet, 1\Ir. FreCinan?
Court: lie is working on it.
page 776

~

A. Yes, I an1 checking. This is the end of 1958,
and I know son1e closing entries have been n1ade,
and I wanted to be sure I was picking np the rig-ht figures. I
am giving you from the same accounts I had given you previously, n~counts payable-insurance frorn the General Ledger,
which amounts to $18,757.15. Citizens l\farine Jefferson Bank,
$229.08, and First National Bank, $1,535.96. The sum of the
cash is $1,765.00 approxin1ately, and accounts payable under
the same account I l1ave been reading from, $18,757.15.
Q. So that accounts payable-insurance only exceed the
funds on deposit in both in excess of $15,000.00, and by a
ratio of ten to one, or better 1
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is as of December 31, 1958 f
A. As reflected by this General Ledger.
Q. Would you look at whatever books you would look at to
ascertain whether or not the sun1 of $12,646.92 was transferred out of Bowen Company accounts to Abbott, Proctor and
Paine, under date of December 31, 1958 f
A. Transferred out of the account of where, sir f
Q. Bowen Company, Incorporated)?
A. Out of Bowen Company, Incorporated, to Abbott, Proctor and Paine, as of December 31, 1958? There is a debit in
the investment account with Abbott, Proctor and
page 777 ~ Paine of $12,646.92, under date of December 31,
1958. Is that what you have reference to?
A. I am asking if the books disclose that those funds were
transferred from the Bo,ven Cmnpany in the bank to Abbott,
Proctor and Paine on that date f
A. You didn't ask that question. Frmu the Bowen Conlpany bank account?
Q. Yes, sir'
A. From Bowen Company bank account.
Q. And that much was withdrawn fron1 tl1e bank and paid
to Abbott, Proctor and Paine on December 31, 1958. Do your
books show that~
Mr. Garnett: "\Vhat is that mnount!
Court: $12,646.92, that is 'vhat I lwve down here.

Q. Did you find it, Mr. Freeman'
A. Not at this point.
Q. Will you look at Check No. 1, December 31, 1958,
and tell us to· whom that is payable.
A. Check, what date¥
Q. Check No. 1, Decen1ber 31, 1958. I am sorry, it was not a
check number.
~Court:

The question is $12,646.92. You l1aven 't found

that1
A. I haven't finished looking, Sir. I can't put
my hand on it that quick.
Q. Do you find it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does the book show $12,646.92 transfer.red from Bowen

page 778

~
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Company accounts to Abbott, Proctor and Paine on that date,
namely December 31, 1958?
A. I find I am going to have to trace this, the charge of
$12,646.92 to the investment account to Abbott, Proctor and
Paine, that I referred to earlier.
Q. Does the charge to that account, does that indicate the
deposit of additional funds with the account in that amount?
A. I am trying to trace that out now. I will have to trace
the entries out. This appears as an acquisition in the investnlent account.
Acquisition 1

Court:

A. Yes, sir, increase in investments.
Q. Increase by what means? By the payment of money, or
what, if it shows?
A. It will take me awhile to work out debits and credits.
Q. Suppose we come back to that.
Court : The only question was $12,646.92 transferred, I
suppose, by check?
A. That I am not sure until I trace it out.
Q. As I understand so far, Mr. Freenmn, you
have found a record of that much additional credit being created in the investment account, but you have
not been able to ascertain, as of yet, by what means it was
created, by cash or statements or not f
A. Your staten1ent is not correct. I found a charge in the
investment account. The first I found was check from Abbott,
Proctor and Paine, in the Cas·h Receipts Journal, December
10, 1958, $20,554.78, and credit to the account of $20,554.78,
creating the credit to the account. Then there are two, I assume two without adding, items of debits to that account,
whicl1 I have not been able to trace out at this point.
Q. 1Ve will come back to that. Let me ask this question.
'Vith regard to any or all of these C.R.T·. checks which were
introduced in evidence as Commonwealths' Exhibit 16page 779

~

Court : Comtnonwea.Ith 's Exhibit 16?

Q. The only numbers on the checks are identification numbers and that is the reason for difficulty. What I am referring
to now is Commonwealth's, for identifi-cation, Exhibits 1
through 98.
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Mr. Garnett : Why don't we possibly mark Exhibit 16
across the first check there.
page 780 ~ Court: I had it marked the other day.

Q. With regard to any of those checks during the period
covered by any recent examination, of course spot checking
from January, 1956, through December, 1958, if any of those
checks were received and deposited, the proceeds ·of them
would have been reflected in the balance on deposit as of the
dates in question, is that right, sir Y
A. I didn't get you first.
Q. If those checks had been received, all of these checks
as of a given date, had been received and deposited to the
Bowen accounts, the proceeds of the checks would be reflected in the balance on deposit in the bank f
A. If these C.R.T. checks, which are in the bank accountQ. As of any date, June, 1958, all C.R. T checks which, as
of that elate, had already been received by Bowen Company
and deposited in the bank as of that date, would be reflected,
the amount of all those would be reflected in the balance on
deposit as shown by the books of that date, isn't that right,
sir, if properly recorded~
A If recorded, yes, they would be in there.
Q. Now if the bank deposits were properly recorded, they
would reflect the balance on deposit, whether it was reported
to the cash receipts journal, or not?
page 781 ~ A. If the bank deposits were properly recorded where 1
Q. Where do you record bank deposits!
A. If they are properly recorded, in the cash receipts
journal. That is the same question you asked me yesterday.
Q. If they are properly on the cash receipts journal as deposits, they would still reflect themselves in the balance deposited, whether or not they had been recorded in the cash
receipts journal on payments of the particular customers
or notY
A. That would appear in the bank statements, but not on
the books.
Q. I said deposited, not recorded.
A. You said not recorded f 1\{y answer still stands.
Q. Not recorded as having been received and credited to
the particular customers, but recorded as having been deposited.
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A. "\Vheref
Q.. In the cash receipts journal Y
A. In the cash receipts journal as having been received
and deposited f
Q. I did not say received and deposited.
A. What did you say¥
page 782 ~ Q. W a.s the.re no records in the cash receipts
journal that came fron1 the deposit slips? Are
these books so construed that a deposit to the bank 'vould
not show in the books until the creditor, whose funds were
received in payment of his account, were recorded as having
been received by him 7
A. No, you record the receipt from the customer first as
cash on hand show the handling of the deposit, which would be
out of cash on hand into the bank account.
Q. Let me ask this question, Mr. Freeman, you did testify
did you not, that the effect of delaying the .recordation in the
cash receipts journal of checks actually received and deposited, one of the effects at least, was to understate the accounts payable-insurance. Isn't that rig•ht?
A. I don't think so, sir. Let's go that once again?
Q. Did you not state on direct examination that one of
the effects, failure to record in the cash receipts journal,
checks rec.eived in payment of insurance accounts and deposited in the bank, would have the effectA. Slow down a little bit. Failure to record the checks?
Q. If the Court please, I think if I am required to ask the
questions slow enough to write them do\vn, I will.
page 783

~

Court: If he doesn't understand, the question
can be read back.
·
].£r. Baker : I don't think I should phrase my

questionsMr. Garnett: I believe Mr. Baker asked that I slow down
so that he could write it down.
Court: We will adjourn for lunch until 2 :00 p.m.
(At 1 :10 p.m. Court was adjourned for lunc·h, and reconvened at 2 :00 p.m. )

ROBERT L. FREE}tiAN,
recalled as a witness :
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CROSS EXAMINATION.
By M.r. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, as well as I can recall when we adjourned
for lunch, we were exploring the effect, if any, upon the accounts payable by the failure to record to the books funds
actually received and deposited to the bank. Is that what we
were talking about i
Court: Failure to record to the cash receipts journal
funds actually received and deposited.
Q. And we were discussing the effect, if any, that would
have upon the accounts payable?
A. I think that was the gist of your final statement.
Q. I believe I had asked you in a question,
page 784 ~ something like this: Has it not already been your
testim'ony in this case that the failure to record
to the cash receipts journal, receipts received and deposited,
would have the effect of understating the insurance accounts
payable liability? Isn't that what you testified to on direct
examination?
A. Pertaining to the C.R.T. checks'
Q. If they be in fact insurance checks, or whether they are
C.R. T. or any other kind, has it not been your testimony that
the failure to record the receipt of those checks to the cash
receipts journal, would have the effect of understating the
total amount of insurance account payable liability. "\Vasn't
that your testimony?
A. No, .sir. I think my tes.timony was to the effect that the
failure of recording cash receipts from the Citizens Rapid
Transit in accounts, with the n1anner that they handled
those, would understate the liability of the carrier pertaining
to that aecoun t.
Q. And the n1anner of handling to which you had reference
was precisely the ·receipt of the check, the depositing of the
check, and failure to record tl1e fact of its receipt 1
A. The receipt of the check 1
Q. "'hen I say that, physical receipt of it, I don't mean
entry in the book?
page 785 ~ A. The failure to record the receipt from C.R.T.
resulted in the understatement of the account.
Q. That is what we were talking about half hour before
lunch and since we came back. It is true that it would have

.•
~·
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the. effect of understating the insurance account liabilities?
Insurance account payable liabilities¥
A. That is right.
Q. Mr. Freeman, before lunch we went over the years
covered by your audit, spot checking approximately by
quarters, connnencing in January, 1956, and concluding in
December, 1958, a comparison of the insurance accounts payable with the total funds on deposit to the accounts of Bowen
in both of the banks, didn't we 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. We established that not at any time during that entire
period with regard to the items I asked you about, were there
sufficient funds on deposit in both accounts in the bank to
meet the insurance accounts liabilities as of that date, did
we notf
A. That is correct.
Q. We established there were deficiencies, or funds to pay
with, which were less than the amounts to be paid for insurance accounts payable only, as high as $20,000.00 or something in the neighborhood of approximately $20,000.00?
A. Approximately twenty-odd thousand dolla.rs.
Q. Conversely put, if those receipts of C.R. T.
page 786 ~ checks, which were not recorded in the cash receipts journal as of any one of these monthly ending· periods, had been recorded, it would have had the effect
of increasing the excess of insurance accounts liabilities over
cash on deposit, isn't that right?
A. In your example, yes, si·r, because you did not take into
consideration cash on hand, only the amount in the bank, and
if I m1derstood you correctly, this was if the C.R.T. checks
had not been recorded.
Q. None of us know of the cash on hand at any time 1
Court: Did you say the receipt of these checks were recorded in the cash receipts journal or not? Read it back.
Reporter: '' Q. Conversely put, if those receipts of C.R. T.
checks, which 'vere not recorded in the cash receipts journal
as of any one of those monthly ending periods, had been
recorded, it would have had the effect of increasing the
excess of insurance accounts liabilities over cash on deposit,
isn't that right T''
Q. Mr. Freeman, you testified earlier on direct examination that this examination of the books of the Bowen Com-
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pany as 'done by your office involved by your best
recollection approximately four hundred man
hours, is that right, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.

page 787

~

Court: That is what he said approximately.

Q. Of that approximate four hundred man hours, how many
were hours of yours and how many were hours of associates
or assistants in your office, if you know?
A. I don't lmow that, sir.
Q. What percentage of the total four hundred would you
say were your man hours f
A. I would say approxin1ately half, forty o.r fifty percent.
Q. What part ·of your testimony that you have given in this
matter today is based on the two hundred ma.n hours you
spent, and what part is based upon what the people in your
office showed you?
A. I reviewed everything that the personnel of n1y office
was employed to work on. If I instructed any of n1y employees to run an adding machine tape, I set up the work and
reviewed it.
Court : All under your direction?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are you suggesting to us that no service was performed
on this examination other than the running of
page 788 ~ adding machine tapes a.nd such similar nonimportant functions as you 1night have asked
someone to do for you Y
A. The w_ajorit.y of the time spent by the others.
Q. Were any other Certified Public Accountants in your
office working on this examination 1
A. No, sir.
Q. "\\Tere any other-of course the term ''accountant'' is
not permitted to be used for anyone but a Certified Public Accountant. Wbat do you call those in accounting workY
A. Staff accountants, senior accountants.
Q. Was any staff accounting done by employees in your
office on these books~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What did that staff accounting consist of besides running adding machine tapes?
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A. Listing checks, doing routine underlying "\\"ork, all
under my supervision, direction and guidance.
Q. When you say, ''all under my supervision, direction and
g·uidance, '' you don't mean to say every time they examined
an entry in the books, you examined the same entry in a
bookY
A. Of course not, sir.
Q. What you mean is you assign out to some
page 789 ~ of the staff accountants in your office the analysis of one phase of these books?
A. I would set forth a program which would be followed,
and I would verify, check upon bin1, direct it, and find out
the end results-general supervision.
Q. "'\Vhen this person under your general supervision had
done such detailed analysis as you instructed them to do,
they come up with results and answers, and this result they
came up with, you review'
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You dicln 't go back and do the same detailed analysis?
A. I didn't go back and re-add the adding machine tapes.
Q. Yon didn't go back and look book by book, item by
iten1, and page by page, if that be necessary t<> do so?
A. No.
Q. It involved a whole lot more than running adding
1nachines f It involved a whole lot of detailed analysis that
you yourself did not do, but took as a result of other people's
work?
A. No, this whole thing was done under my supervision.
vVhen an account was analyzed, or account "ras added, or
list of checks were made, I reviewed them, consulted them,
revie·wed it, and it was under my general ·superpage 790 ~ vision and followed out through my instructions.
Q. If you send your secretary to the bank to
1nake a deposit, by the same terms, does she do that under
your supervision?
A. No, sir, because I don't treat a secretary like I do a
staff accountant, only a very minor task.
Q. If you tell a staff accountant to take the cash receipts
journal f<>r the year 1956, and to examine with such detail
as you might specify the cash receipts journal for that year,
and report to you what he finds in the various catagories ·
which you instructed him to look for, and he does so, and
reported back to you, is that the kind of examination under
your supervision you are talking about?
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A. After I set up the program for him, it is carried out
and he performs in accordance with my instructions, I sit
down and review with him to see if anything was unusual in
there.
Q'. And he tells you 1
A. That is right.
Q. And you rely on what he tells you in the forming of
your own opinion as to whether there is anything unusual in
there?
A. All accountants do that, sir.
Q. In fact you could not possibly segregate and differentiate in the testin1ony you have given and tell us
page 791 ~ which is based on your own detailed examination
' and what is based on detailed examination of
others that you told us about. Isn't that true¥
A. No, sir. Let me add to that. The items I have testified
to, various items I have pointed out, and items I have said in
detail, have been personally reviewed by me and exanlined
by my personal analysis over and above any work that has
been done under my supervision.
Q. What part of those items were brought to your attention
by staff accountants and what part were discovered by your
0"\\111 analysis f
A. I don'tknow because we generally work together, two or
three in here. I don't recall that.
Q. Certainly some part of what you testified to was brought
to your attention by your staff accountants~
A. That could very well be true.
Q. Having broug·ht it to your attention, you went over it 7
A. Yes.
Q. You are dependent upon the efforts of your staff accountants to satisfy yourself that there are not other items
that should have been brought to your attention, arc you notf
A. In some cases, yes, sir.
Q. When you testify about the detailed analysis
page 792 ~ of the cash receipts, what you are saying is that
you have analyzed either on your own initiative
or upon the initiative of others what has been brought to your
attention, isn't that so?
A. Under my direct supervision and instructions, that is
correct.
Q. You can't say with certainty that some of your staff
accountants did not fail to bring to your attention something
that should have been brought to your attention Y
A. I am not aware of it.
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Q. I understand that, but they are staff accountants, not
Public .Accountants f
A. The ones in reference are not certified.
Q. You don't deny the possibility that some of your staff
accountants failed to bring to your attention something that
very certainly should have been brought~
A. I an1 not aware of it.
Q. Of course you wouldn't be aware of it, but you don't
deny the possibility that it could exist, do you~
A. Possibly.
Q. And so then, l\1r. Freeman, without being able to certify
with certainty what part of it is based upon reports made to
you by others, certainly some part of your testimony is based
upon what others have told you about the books?
page 793 ~ A. As to particular items, I have. gone item
by item, they have all been reviewed by me, generalities and general line of discussion, limited views of it,
yes, sir.
Q. To the extend it is based on what others told youCertifi~d

lVIr. Baker: Excuse me just
Court : You were half way
Mr. Baker: I withdraw the
Court: Let's have another

a n1inute.
through the question.
question.
question please.

Q. Ho1v about the $12,000.00 check payable to l\ir. Bowen
of December 19, I believe it was, 1958? "\Vas that based upon
your own investigation or someone else's?
.A. That was pointed out to me, and I reviewed that particular item, if my memory serves me correctly.
Q. Your testimony, based upon your own review, is that
at :first it was an advance~
A. That is correct. That was my first statement. It is in
the books as an advance.
Q. It is in the books a.s offi.cer 's salaries, and I believe you
said there was a transfer to a different account that ·would
relieve the recipient of liability of taxes?
page 794 ~ A. You said that.
Q. You said it was true.
A. I said it could have happened, I did not say it was so.
Q. I wonder if you could show me the item where it was
changed from Officer's salaries 1

:Mr. Garnett: That 'vas done before lunch. I went and
looked at it, and I thoug·ht everybody else did too.
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Court: He mentioned before when it was changed.
Mr. Baker: I kno,v he testified it had been changed, but
I don't recall that he was asked to show the entry in the
books of the firm.
Court: He showed the account.
A. Here is the account here, Mr. Baker, $12,000.00.
Q. Mr. Bowen, the book you just showed me, so that we
can identify it for the record, is the General Ledger, is it
now?
A. l\Iy name is Freenwn. That is correct, sir.
Q. I am sorry, 1\.fr. Freeman. That is not a book of original entry?
A. No, sir.
Q. Will you show me the original entry on
page 795 ~ this item?
A. I am trying to look that up right no,v. Do
you know wl1ere the General Journal is, sir?
Q. No, sir, I don't know 'vha t the General ,Journal is.
A. I am trying· to find it first. I think this is the journal.
In the General JournalQ. Comm.onwealth's Exhibit what.?
A. Thirteen, appearing in the binder of Con1n1onwealth 's
Exhibit 13, is the entry.
Q. Read what the entry is?
A. Debit to accounts l'eceivable-Offieer-employers, or enlployees, the credit is to salaries of officers, $12,000.00, Cl1eck
1173, dated Decmnber 19, 1958, loan to ,Y. C. Bowen and not
salary.
1\Ir. Baker: I have asked the witness if he would show the
books. l\Iav I l1ave a minute to look at it 1
Court: Yes, sir.

Q. ~Ir. Freeman, the entry you ·have just sho'vn 1ne in the
_,vas that the General Journal?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. In the General Journal whieh states in effect that the
check # 1173 in the sum of $12,000.00, payable to the order
of Mr. Bowen, shown by the General Ledger entry
page 796 ~ to be salaries, officer's salary, was not really
officer's salary at all, but to be treated as a loan
to 1\lfr~ Bowen. That is the effect of it?
A. Not as you stated, no, sir.
Q. First, so that we can tie this together, would you read
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the entry from the General Ledger with regard to the $12,0000.00.
A. Accounts receivable-Miscellaneous, December 31, W. C.
Bowen, J -12, $12,000.00.
Q. That was on officer's salaries accounts?
A. Accounts Receivable-~fiscellaneous.
Q. Is it identified as officer's salary or not in the general
ledger?
A. (Pause)
Q. Tell us, Mr. Freeman.
A. Just a moment, I 'vould like to get the books open so
that I may answer you, if I may.
Q. Tell us what the General Ledger shows first about
this $12,000.00 testified to.
Court : General Journal or General Ledger?
A. There is a general ledger or general journal He
asked for general ledger.
Q. Tell us first what does the general ledger show?
page 797

~

Court : Ledger this time?

Q. I think I asked before the general ledger.
Court: You first asked general journal. I want to know
which one it is.
Mr. Balrer: I think if the Court please, I asked what does
the General Ledger show about this $12,000.00 payment to Mr.
Bowen, and if it contains an entry in more than one place,
tell us about all of them, identifying the date and page by
some me~ns where you are reading from in the General
Ledger.
A~ First iten1, accounts receivable-miscellaneous, under
date of December 31, W. C. Bowen, J -12, $12,000.00.
Q. Let me stop you there. Is accounts receivable-miscellaneous, is that what you would call an account in the accounts
receivable?
A. No, sir.
Q. What 'vould you call it Y
A. General ledger account with the designation.
Q. Accounts receivable-miscellaneous, is that something
that would indicate that it is something different from accounts receivable-rental income?
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A. Yes.

Q. Accounts receivable-rental income, is that

page 798

r an account!

A. Yes.
Q. But accounts receivable-miscellaneous is :not Y
A. I didn't say that.
Q. What is itT
A. It is an account appearing in the general ledger.
Q. Is there a separate account of accounts receivableofficers'
A. There is an accounts receivable in the general ledger
running through December 31, 1956. I do not see one after
that date with the title, accounts receivable-officers and employees.
Q. l\{ay I inquire of you whether the proper bookkeeping
procedure would require that an accounts receivable from
offi.cers be carried in an accounts receivable-officers account,
rather than accounts rec.eivable-miscellaneous 1
A. As long as it is clearly labeled.
Q. If it is labeled officer's salary in one set of books and
loans to officers in another set of books, is that clearly labeled?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. But they are clearly labeled in an inconsistent fashion,
aren't they, sirY
page 799 ~ A. No, sir.
Q. You mean that salary to officers is the same
as loan to officers Y
A. I have in no way said that ·or intplied that.
Q. Is it not a fact that this item is in one set of books as
loan to officers, and in another set of books, officer's salaries Y
Isn't that right y·
A. N·o, sir.
Q. No¥
A. No.
Q. What does the cash disbursements journal classify
this item to be¥
A. ·Cash disbursement journal does show it as being-well,
cash disbursement journal does not spell out. Under December
19, 1958~ the payee of the check, W. C. Bowen, indicating
C-1173, I think that is check number, $12,000.00, that is the
disbursement from the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank, the
offsetting charge is under expenses-debit, with ''see stub''
as to its classification of charge.
Q. So that entry in the cash disbursements journal then
would lead anyone referring to this set of books, to believe
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that was an expense item of Bowen Company, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
page 800 ~ Q. And that is misleading in view of the way
the money was actually handled?
A. No, I don't think so.
Q. It was not an expense item, was it?
A. It was originally charged to an expense item and then
it was revised and charged to miscellaneous.
Q. .And elsewhere in the book-in the books we have established $12,000.00 was treated as an expense to Bowen Company, treated in another place as officer's sala.ry, and treated
in another place as loan to Mr. Bowen. Isn't that right, sir¥
A. I don't recall seeing it three places.
Q. Don't you have it officer's salaries in one place?
A. General Ledger it is under salaries-officers, posted
.
from the journal to the general ledger.
Q. In tl1e cash disbursements journal, it is under expenses,
'' see stub''?
A. That is correct.
Q. Elsewhere in these books, I believe you indicated general
journal, it was not an officer's salary at all, it is loan to Mr.
Bowen. What is that hook?
A. General Journal.
Court: Three places in books? I don't understand.
page 801

~

Q. It is in three places, isn't it?
A. It first appears in the Cash Disbursement
Journal with a credit to the bank and proper balancing entry
as debit, it is Expense debit, ''see stub" for classification.
Q. In accountant's language, under expenses, it means expenses of Bowen Company, Incorporated f
A. All right, sir.
Q. Let's go on.
A. If you will trace that closely through, it has been properly posted to an expense account under date December
1, 1958, reference ,J-44 taking it back in, identifies $12,000.00,
W. C. Bowen, Check 1173.
Q. How is that identified, officer's salary?
A. The heading of that account is Salaries-Officers, W. C. B.
underneath it.
Q. Where does it again appear in the books? General Journal does it not?
A. That is correct.
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Q. It takes it out of officer's salaries and puts it into accounts receivable-miscellaneous 7
A. And treats it loan from Mr. Bowen.
Q. From Mr. Bowen 1
A. .Amount due from him.
Q. Loan from the corporation to Mr. Bowen, is that
correct?
page 802 ~ A. Loan from the corporation to ~{r. Bowen,
that is correct.
Q. Read it, Mr. Freeman, and see if it doesn't actually say
''loan to Mr. Bowen''?
A. The explanation under the entry here, "Loan to ,V. C.
Bowen, and not salary.''
Q. Do you mean loan to or loan from Y
A. I never said loan from Mr. Bowen. I said loa.n from
the company. You misunderstood.
Q. I think perhaps you tnisstated it. You said loan from
1\{r. Bowen.
A. I was in error, sir.
Q. Is that last entry in the General Journal, is that an adjusted entry or is it not?
A. Yes.
Q. In 'vhose handwriting, if you can tell?
A. I think it is Mr. Whiteside's handwriting sir.
.court: He is thinking now, he isn't sure:
Q. It is obviously not in the handwriting of the person
who kept the body of the books, is that correct Y
A. I think that is correct, sir.
Q. Now is this the type of closing entry, adjusting entry,
that an auditor or accountant or business conpage 803 r sultant would normally make in closing a set
of books7
A. Very well could be, sir, and I think it was.
Q. And it differs from what is recorded in the books
by the bookkeeper, does it not Y
A. As to classification of the disbursementY
Q. Yes, sir7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When the books are closed at the end of a given year
by audit, or accountant, or business consultant, and the various accounts adjusted by adjusting entries, what figures does
the bookkeeper start off with for the next year, her own fi-
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gures or the adjusted figures resulting from the adjusted
entries of the auditor or business consultant 1
A. There is a trial balance after closingQ. As a matter of fact, the next year1 the :figures used
are the figures used by the adjusting entries!
A. Wlli-1-t year 1
Q. When the books are .closed at the end of one year, is it
not a fact that the bookkeeper uses the adjusting entry, rather
than original entries made by herself, as the basis on which
to start off?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. So that any error or omission committed by whoever
does the adjusting entries would of necessity
page 804 ~ creep in and become an error, or apparent error
in the books the bookkeeper is keeping for the
ensuing year 1
A. That would be. Generally adjusting entries are made
to correct ac.count balance.
Q. If the person doing the adjusting entries is both infallible and honest, we would have no trouble 1
A. That is true.
Q. Without question as to honesty, we know that most
people are not infallibleCourt: "\Vhat is the use of going into that?

Q. From the examination of these books, did you ascertajn
that adjusting entries were made at the end of every year
by someone other than the bookkeeper f
A. I think that is correct, from my n1emo1-y-( after checking books )-That is correct.
Q. Now, have you made a detailed analysis of the books
themselves and of the adjusting entries made as of the close
of each year of sufficient detail to be in a position to say
whether one discrepancy I have pointed out to you by the
books, and the adjusting item I have just pointed out to
youA. I haven't said that.
Mr. Baker: He has agreed, if the Court please, that the
treatment of that account from the adjusting enpage 805 ~ try is differentYr. Garnett: He didn't say that was a discrepancy. He said it was definitely labeled.
Mr. Baker: The books as kept by the bookkeeper shows
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salaries paid to an officer, $12,000.00, and
shows loans receivable from an officer,
salary paid. I take it that that would
changing the two accounts.
Court: You are not testifying, this
Let's hear what you said!

the adjusting entry
$12,000.00 and no
have the effect of
man is testifying.

Q. What I just said, isn't that true Y
A. I frankly didn't listen to you.
Q. If the bookkeeper sets up a set of books and shows the
payment to an officer of the corporation of $12,000.00 in
salary. Then observe, sofar as the books are concerned, the
books show Officer's salary account with a disbursement to
the officer, $12,000.00. That is rig'ht, isn't it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. If the books as set up by the bookkeeper do not sho"T
any loans to the offi.cers, then there would be no loans receivable from officers in the set of books as kept by the
bookkeeper?
page 806 ~ A. Right.
Q. If somebody else comes behind the bookkeeper and starts making an adjusting entry and cancels this
$12,000.00 in officer salary that wipes out offic.er 's salaries
on the book?
A. Yes.
Q. It was done by someone other than the bookkeeper?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And if in turn they set up an accounts receivable, a
loan liability from an officer, $12,000.00, they 'Yould have
created a new account not put in the books by the bookkeeper Y Isn't that right~-If that be an only loan to an
officer?
A. They have reclassified the disbursement. The disbursement is accounted for.
Q. By adjusting an entry, they have closed one account and
opened a new account 1
A. Closed out one account, and put it in the ac.count that
was existing, but the effect of that is to reclassify the disbursement., and the entry which I read explains that.
~fr.

Baker: May I have a few minutes 7
Court: Court 'vill recess for five minutes.
page 807 } Court: Any further questions?
Mr. Baker: The Defense has no further
questions cf this witness at this time.
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REDIRECT EXAl\1INATION.

u

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. Freeman, this $12,000.00 item that has just been
discussed at great length, which you, I believe, testified was
reclassified-is that a correct explanation f
A. Yes, sir, appeared to be a reclassification of the designation of the disbursement.
Q. Did that item in its handling throughout the books in
anywise affect the alleged shortage which is under inquiry
here?
A. No, sir, that is completely accounted for.
Q. .And I take it, it has nothing whatsoever to do with
the shortage under discussion?
A. That is oorrect.
Q. I take it further that ·whether the taxes were paid or
\vere not paid on it, either by 1\fr. Bowen or by Bowen Corporation, would that have any effect on the alleged shortage
here?
A. No, sir.
Q. Then I take it that the $12,000.00 item, would you classify it as immaterial as regard to the shortage¥
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, this is getting about
as leading as you can get.
page 808 ~ Court: We will see if he can avoid that.
Q. Is the $12,000.00 entry, Mr. Freeman, as handled through
those books, reflected by those books, mateTial in anywise to
the shortage that is under inquiry here?
A. It has no relationship to the shortage, sir.
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, on yesterday, in the cross examination by Mr. Baker, he referred, I believe, to the fact that
throughout the books there appeared to be appa:rently more
than one handwriting in various and sundry places. Do you
recall that?
A. Yes, sir, I recall that.
Q. Do you recall his questioning you about that?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now I am going to refer you to the books of original
entry, the cash receipts journal in particular, in regard to
the handling of the C.R.T. checks, which you set forth in
detail over the past two days, yesterday and day before. Did
the recording in that journal appear to be all in the same
handwriting?
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A. Recording of the C.R. T. items that I testified to in
detail, matching up the size and amountsCourt : Let me interrupt. Are you referring to the 98
checksY
page 809

~

A. Not the checks, but where I pointed them
out in the j{)urnal.

Mr. Baker: ].\fay I be heaTd on an objection a.t t.ltis time.
For counsel to n1ake a statment and then inquire whether or
not it is so, is a leading question, and is violative of the
rule against leading questions. I cannot think of any grosser
form {)f leading question than for counsel to n1ake a statement and ask is it so.
Mr. Gnrnett: I suggest, if the Court please, that it is
not up to counsel for the defendant to instruct counsel on
proper phrasing of questions.
Mr. Baker: My objection is directed to the leading nature
of the question. This witness can be asked how many hand"Tritings he found. It is not proper to say, "did you find then1
all in the same handwriting.'' Counsel is making the statement which includes the same language he wants in the
answer. It is asking for "yes" or ''no.''
Court: I think that was leading myself, but we have been
over it three times earlier.
1\{r. Baker: But I don't want to cumber the record by
objecting each time. I think the Court knows
page 810 ~ and Counsel knows. I object that despite the admonislnnent of the Court, the leading questions
continue.
GouTt: Don't make them leading.
Mr. Garnett: I submit it was not leading, and if it were,
it was not intentional. ·
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Let me phrase it this way. Of the recording in the
cash receipts journal of the-that you pointed out on yesterday and the day before in regard to these 98 checks,-or
as many of them as were recorded in the cash ·receipts journal, did they o-r not appear to be in the same handwriting¥
A. Yes, they did, sir.
Q. Did they, {)r not, appear to be in the same handwriting-
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Mr. Baker: If the Court pleaseMr. Garnett: Let me finish the question .
.Court: Don't answer the question, Mr. Freeman, let him
finish it.
Q. Did they or not appear to be in the same handwriting
as the handwriting 'vhich the books were generally kept Y
Mr. Baker: Is the question finished Y If the Court please,
we are right back where we were. It is a statepage 811 ~ ment with the word, did they or did they notwe know this from Hornbook law. This witness
can be interrogated as to how n1any handwritings, how they
compared to any writings he did, but did they or did they
not, were they or were they not, that is a leading question
and he knows it. He can ans\ver it yes, or he can answer it no.
Court: That doesn't make the leading question.
Mr. Baker: It doesn't suggest the answer?
Mr. Garnett: No suggestion about it. I would just like
to ask one question without being interrupted.
Mr. Baker: Did the Court rule on my objection.
Court: I think that one was leading.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Did you find-! an1 afraid, Your llonor, to mention
handwriting because I am leading to tell it is in handwritingdid you find among those entries regarding the checks, Mr.
Freeman, in the Journal, did you find those entries to be
in any other handwriting other than the handwriting that
is generally throughout these books as the handpage 812 ~ writing of the boold\:eeper 7
A. No, they appeared to be the same, sir.
Q. Now, I believe you did mention under examination by
Mr. Baker, howeveT, that there did appear from time to time
other handwriting in this book?
A. That is correct.
Q. What kind of entries appeared to be in different handwriting from that to which we have just referred 7
A. Adjusting and closing entries appear to be in differentposting too appeared to be in different handwriting.
Court: I think he hns testified that the totalling notations appear to be in other handwriting, some in black and
some in red.
I
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A. The entries you have testified to as being in different
handwriting from the bookkeeper, do those entries in anywise affect the alleged shortage which is under inquiry here
today~

A. No, sir.
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, on yesterday there 'vas much said
about internal control o·r lack of internal control, specifically
in the corporation, Bowen Company. 'Vhere there is an
office such as Bowen Company, and this lack of internal control which they have described as everybody in the office
having access to the cash box, let's assume that
page 813 ~ is true-when the bookkeeper posted from the
cash receipts, or how did 1\!Ir. Baker put it, manifold receipt bookCourt: Duplicate receipt book.

Q. When they posted from the manifold receipt book and
made up the deposit, did the bookkeeper necessarily have to
know whether or not the cash at that particular point 'vas
there~

A. Unquestionably yes.
1\!Ir. Baker: If the Court please, the same objection. With
the Court'~ permission, read the questionCourt: I just heard the question.
Court: The question, ''did the bookkeeper of necessity
know"-if that is not a leading question, I had better go
back to school.
Mr. Garnett: I wish you would.
CouTt: I don't think it is leading in this sense, we have
gone over this thing about four times. The Court is going to
let the question stand.
:hfr. Baker: Note the exception of the defendant by
counsel.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, let us assume that at
a given point throughout the keeping of these
books, it developed that the cash was short, and
was brought to the attention of the bookkeeper. Would
proper bookkeeping procedure require that a notation to that
effect appear in the books?
A. Yes, sir.

page 814

~
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CouTt: If it was hrought to the attention of the bookkeeper-if it wasn't brought to the attention of the bookkeeperQ. I understand thatA. If it 'vas brought to the attention of the bookkeeper, it
would be proper to record the amount of the shortage at that
particular time in the records.
Q. And if there were a shortage, under proper bookkeeping procedure, under a proper set of books which we have
here, when the cash was balanced, would the bookkeeper find
that shortage?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And if the bookkeeper found the s'hortage, would proper
· bookkeepiug procedure necessitate an entry to that effect in
the books?
A. Yes, sir, proper bookkeeping procedure would be to
report the difference between the cash to be accounted for and
that which is on hand, and note the shortage as of that
time.

1\fr. Baker: The Defendant objects to this line
of questioning on two grounds. The first being
that the last series of three questions have all
been leading questions. Secondly, that the questions are based
upon hypothesis which is not true, namely that a count of the
cash was taken, the evidence being there was no count of
cash prior to February 7, 1959. Nothing in the evidence that
the cash 'vas counted.
~Court: I thought Mr. Whiteside counted the cash?
Mr. Baker: The evidence is the cash was counted on
February 7, 1959, and there is no evidence or no testimony
in the -record that the cash was ever counted at any other
time. That was in evidence. Testified to by this witness.
There is no evidence of the counting of cash on any other
occasion besides the one time, February 7, 1959. That has been
the object of rather extensive questioning about the invalidity of this witness's conclusions in the absence of the
counting of cash. There is no evidence of cash count. Objection is made to the question.
Court: l\{y recollection is Mr. Whiteside counted the cash.
l\!r. Baker: Mr. Whiteside was interrogated as
page 816 ~ to cash count February 7, and why the Bill of
Particulars shows $109.00 on hand, when in fact
he testified there was $258.00 and some odd change. on hand.

page 815

~
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That is the only evidence in this case about the count of cash.
Mr. Garnett: That is not the fact. He explained that differential as part of it being petty cash.
Mr. Baker: In any event, the alleged count of cash February 7, 1959, by Mr. Whiteside is the only evidence in this case
that cash was counted at any time, and that question takes as
part of its hypothesis a count of c.ash, and is an improper
question.
Court: I think it is.
Mr. Baker: What is that, sir Y
Court: That you can proceed with the case. I understand
he did count "it in 1959.
Mr. Baker: And that is the only evidence that the cash was
counted, sir, and I believe when the case is over, that will be
the only evidence that the cash was counted. Certainly as o:r
this point. Assuming it is part of the hypothesis, the counting
of cash was not proper unless it has reference to counting of
cash in 1959.
page 817 ~ Court : Go ahead.
Mr. Baker: Does the Court sustain or overrule?
Court: Overrule.
Mr. Baker: May the record show that the Defendant, by
counsel, excepts to the ruling for reasons already stated.
By Mr. ~arnett:
Q. Throughout the books in your examination, did there or
did there not appear any entries to the effect that the cash was
short made by the bookkee.per for that purpose?
Mr. BAker: May I hear that question stated over ag·ain?
Court: Strike the question.
Q. I phrased the question and I was referring, Mr. Baker,
to this-he testifted if the cash were shortMr. Baker: Is that a statement to me?
Q. ·Question to the witness Y
Mr. Baker: I don't care. to have them addressed to me. I
prefer for them to be addressed to the witness.
Court: The Court rules you may address the witness,
right now.
·
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page 818

~

Q. Did you find any bookkeeping entries
throughout these books, Mr. Freeman, entries indicating cash shortages 7
A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I obje.ct to that, it is leading.
Court: Yes, sir, he testified to it and you cross examined
him about the shortages.
Mr. Baker: I cross examined this witness with regard to
the absence of audits, with regard to absence of individual
verificationsCourt: I understand, and you still asked if that audit
would be the same thing.
Mr. Baker: I examined the witness with regard to the
auditing procedures. That certainly doesn't open the door to
the Commonwealth to lead the witness.
Court: We have gone into it three or four times. It is not
leading as that.
Mr. Baker: I wonder if the Court Reporter could read
back the questionCourt: Strike the question and start over.
Mr. Baker: Is the answer to the question also struck?
·Court: Strike the answer too, and start again.
page 819

~

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. You testified, before we were interrupted,
that if a shortage had appeared and had been brought to the
attention of the bookkeeper, that proper bookkeeping procedures would have caused the bookkeeper to note those entries.
Did you find any such notation by the bookkeeper that the casl1
was short from thne to time?
A. No, sir.
Q. Now, 1\fr. Freeman, on yesterday, Mr. Baker examined
you rather extensively relative to third party verification of
the accounts receivable and accounts payable. Assuming that
an independent third party verification had bee.n done by other
than you, a person other than you, and the only discrepancy
reported were the1vfr. Baker: I object to this question. It is a l1ypothetical
question not predicated on any evidence, and ask thatCourt : Go ahead.
Mr. Baker: Do you overrule the objection?
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page 820}

Court: I haven't ruled on it at all.
1\{r. Garnett : The question is, Your HonorCourt: Hypothetical question based on what

facts?
Mr. Garnett: ~fay I ask the question?
Mr. Baker: May we have the Court ReporterMr. Garnett: I haven't finished it.
Court : Let him ask the question.
By 1\Ir. Garnett:
Q. Assuming that an independent third party verification of
the accounts receivable and accounts payable was done, and
the only discrepancies reported were in the Millie Cobb account in the sum of $12.90 in the accounts receivable, and
Globe accounts payable, would the shortage, would t.l1e cash
shortage as reflected by your audit be correct?
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, may I object to the question- before the witness answers. The question assumes as a
hypothesis something which is not in evidence, as of this point
at least. It assumes as a fact something that has not been testified to and no evidence introduced as of this stage of the
proceedings, namely that there 'vas a third party verification
other than ~Ir. Fre.mnan. This is Comn1onwealth 's
page 821 ~ witness, and the Commonwealth is not permitted
to put to the witness a hypothetical question not
based on facts in this case, and not on redirect examination.
1\ir. Garnett: The hypothetical question is based on the
question of 1\ir. Baker, in that he went into much detail about
the fact that Mr. Freeman, in his audit or examination of th~se
books, had not conducted an independent third party verification of the accounts receivable and acco1mts payable. Now I
am asking ~Ir. Freeman that if it developed, assuming that it
had been done, that an independent verification of these accounts had been undertaken, by some other person, and that
the only discrepancies reported were the Millie Cobb Accounts
Receivable and Globe Accounts Payable, would then the cash
shortage as reflected by his audit be correct. There is nothing
wrong with the question. If it developes that, throughout the
trial, that no third party verification was done, nobody has
been hurt by the question. I can't see the damage. As I explained, I have difficulty in a ease like this of chronology, and
I am sure His Honor ·will understand that, and I think Counsel
will understand that I can't block every little thing and every
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little part of testimony in its chronological order
page 822 ~ without putting this witness on the stand, and
asking this, and putting another on and asking
him a question, and taking him off. I assure His Honor that I
will produce before this Court an accountant who made the
third party verification of the accounts receivable and accounts payable. So this question is based on the question of
Mr. Baker, who 1nade much ado about the question Mr. Freeman didn't do it. I am asking if that procedure were done, and
the only discrepancy were the Globe and Milly Cobb accounts,
would the cash shortage as shown by his audit, be correct¥
Court: Except that you have got to show about the 1\Hllie
Cobb account having some third party making the verification.
Mr. Garnett: I understand that. The point I am making,
Your Honor, is this : That was shown by Mr. Langley. He got
a bill and came down and showed his receipt. If I don't show
thisMr. Baker: If the Court pleaseMr. Garnett : Let me finish. If I don't show thisMr. Baker: I don't mind Counsel arguing, but when Counsel starts testifying1\rir. Garnett: He has objected to everything I
page 823 ~ have done, but breathe, and I am looking for him
to object to that.
Mr. Baker: You go on breathing, Henry.
Mr. Garnett: Thank you, Ralph. If I don't show the third
party verification, and this becomes immaterial, nobody has
been hurt, except the Commonwealth. Nobody has been hurt.
I think it is 1·idiculous to run out and get another man and
ask him a question. I am going· to have that man before the
Court.
Court : I will let you ask the question.
Mr. Baker : If the Court pleaseCourt : I am going to let him ask it.
Mr. Baker: Is the Court denying counsel his right to argue
to this approximate ten minute speech by the Attorney for the
Commonwealth t
Court: I would like to, but I don't reckon I can. Go ahead,
s1r.
Mr. Baker: I think there are a couple of very serious gross
errors in this-all that the Attorney for the Commonwealth
has said with regard to the material or items, with
page 824 ~ regard to which Defendant's Counsel interrogated
this witness-or that I can recall that he said-are
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true. But the cross examination of this witness was constituted
along the lines and with an objective in view that must have
been lost upon the attorney for the Commonwealth and I
trust it was not lost upon the Court. This witness came into
this court and qualified himself as an expert to testify, and as
an expert, gave the Court the benefit of his views and opinions
concerning the results of the examination of the books that he
had done of the Bowen Company, and one of the views and
opinions was that the books showed a shortage, and cross examination of this witness by Attorney for the Defense was
rather probing on the question of internal control as affecting
the validity of the opinions expressed by this witness, and
was rather probing on the question of counting of the cash or
failure to count the cash as affecting the validity of this opinion expressed by this witness; and was rather probing on the
question of audit and detailed analysis of accounts payable as
affecting the validity of the opinions expressed by this witness, and was ratherYr. Garnett: May I suggest this to Your Honor, you have
overruled his objection. If he wants to dictate that
page 825 ~ in the record, let him do that after we have gone
home this afternoon.
Court : Go ahead.
Mr. Baker: I an1 atte1npting to explain to the CourtCourt : Go ahead.
1\{r. Baker: The cross examination was probing into the
detailed affairs, or lack of it, into the disbursement accounts of
this company, the probing· was rather detailed as regards to
the question of whether an error existing in the books as of the
beginning date of his audit, would not be carried all the way
through and be reflected in the terminating errors or shortage
that existed in 1959, and the probing was on the issue of if
there be an error in the books twenty years before, if that occurred, that error would reflect in the total error reflected in
1959. All of that probing, if the Court please, was with one
view in mind, the view of convincing the Court that this man,
by his own admissions that every single item would reflect in
the shortage,-was convincing this Court that his opinion was
not based on a proper examination by himself, not with regard
to whether these things happened or not. Irrespecpage 82.6 ~ tive of whether an independent verification was
done by someone else, it could not have entered
into his conclusions. That has been the whole point of cross
examination of this witness. Then if that has been lost upon
the Court, then a sad day has been lost indeed.
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Court: Go ahead, Mr. Garnett:
Mr. Garnett: I don't eve.n know whether the witness an~
swered the question or not.
Court: Read the question.
Reporter : ''Assuming that an independent tp.ird party
verification of the accounts receivable and accounts payable
was done, and the only discrepancies reported were in the
Millie Cobb account in the sum of $12.90 in the accounts receivable and Globe accounts payable, would the shortage,
would the cash shortage as reflected by your audit be correct?"
A. Yes, it would.
Court: Is that allY
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, Your Honor.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now on yesterday when Mr. Baker discussed with you a
subject of improper or padded disbursements, I believe you
stated a padded disbursement could create a shortage, is that
correct?
page 827 ~ A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Now, if there had been some improper or
padded disbursements made by people in the firm-.
Court: By a member af the firm of Bowen Company?
Q. Yes, sir. Bowen and Company-would that have affected
the cash shortage reflected by your audit?
A. No, sir, if anything, if there was any padding, it would
only be more.
·Q. Would or would not Y
A. Would not affect it. If there were any padded disbursements, it would only be more.
Q. Now Mr. Baker also spoke yesterday and again today
of the landlord and tenant accounts. You recall his questioning you about this?
A. ·Right extensively, sir.
. Q. If there were any discrepancies in those accounts, would
that affect the cash shortage which is reflected by your audit?
A. No, sir. Discrepancies in there-again it would be more,
it would not take away from it.
Q. Speak a little louder.
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A. If there was anything improper in that, it would only
create a greater shortage.
Q. Would not aid to lessen the present shortage 7
A. That is right.
page 828

~

Court : 1.Vould not, did you say 7

A. That is correct.
Q. N O\V this morning, 1vir. Baker spoke of three checks, 2573,
dated December 21, 1946, $1,000.00; No. 431 dated December
21, 1957, in the sum of $2,000.00; and No. 1175, dated December 19, 1958, in the sum of $2,500.00, all three payable toW. C.
Bowen. Do you recall that?
A. Yes, I do, sir.
Q. Do you recall pointing them out in the book1
A. Yes, I do, sir.
Q. Do you recall where they were in the book?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Where are they?
A. In the cash disbursement journal.
Q. Let's take a look at them again, Mr. Freeman,-to save
time, do you recall what they were. labeled Y
A. They were charged to Commission Expense, as I recall.
Q. Mr. Freeman, you started at one time this morning· to
say something about where that money went, and Mr. Baker
interposed an objection at that point. Now would you tell the
Court where that money went Y
page 829

r

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, Mr. Freeman
suggested this morning he had to go beyond the
books for his testimony, and I objected to it on the grounds I
did not intend, by oversight or any other means, to open the
door to hearsay.
Court: You said you didn't want it.
Mr. Baker: I said I had no objection to it coming in, but
didn't want him to give hearsay testimony in answering my
questions because I didn't want to open the door of hearsay,
as I objected to hearsay.
Court: I haven't let that in.
Mr. Baker: I would like to ask the Court then that the Attorney for the Commonwealth be asked to lay the foundation
of the source this information, where it is, what book or document. It became apparent this morningYr. Garnett: Only thing that because apparent this morn-
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ing was that :1\tir. Baker didn't want anybody to know where it
went.

Q. Did you investigate where this money went, and if so,
tell what you found out Y
A. During the course of the audit, 've raised a question of
why a check payable to W. C. Bowen, marked for
page 830 ~ en1ployee 's bonuses, and I{eith McMurran gave me
a bank accountMr. Baker: If the Court please, unless the bank account
was a bank account of Bowen Company, Incorporated, I object to it.
Court: Let me find out first what it is. I haven't any idea.
A. Gave me bank statements and cancelled checks, and
bank book reflecting with the stubs, etc., and I tracedMr. Baker: Can we request the name of the account Y
Court: The title of the account?
A. William C. Bowen, or W. C. Bowen. Doesn't say company.
:1\tfr. Bake.r: I object, if the Court please.
A. He wanted to know, he was raising the question where
the money went.
Court : This is a personal account Y
Mr. Baker: That is what he said.
Mr. Garnett: He said it was in the name of W. C. Bowen.
It was done to keep other employees of the firm knowing what
the other ones got as bonuses.
page 831 ~ Mr. Baker : I would like the ·Court to rule on
the objection. The Attorney for the Commonwealth is attempting to read in the record what he purports to
prove, when he knows full well, if the Court sustains the objection, that he cannot get it in any other way except his own
statements. This morning, I asked with regard to these three
checks, and this witness tried to volunteer certain information,
and it became apparent that the source of his informationCourt: You said it became apparent Y
Mr. Baker: Was hearsay, and I interrupted the witness
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and made the point clear that I had no objection to the
information coming in but I didn't want to open the door
to hearsay.
Court: I have heard that twice.
Mr. Baker: I didn't want to spring the trap to hearsay
evidence. I avoided it and I am asking the Court to sustain
·the objection because the door has not been opened by
anything I did.
Mr.Garnett: }fir. Baker is making some very unfair accusations. 1\tir. Baker, through his examination of this witness this morning, attempted to show to this
page 832 ~ Court and read into t:his record certain discre. pancies, innuendoes, that somebody had pilferred
this money by virtue of these three checks into the employees'
bonus account. He asked the question. Mr. Freeman attempted to answer where it went and 1\ir. Baker yells hearsay.
Now I am going to undertake to show to this Court where
that money went, and, and I can show to this Court, and my
statements to the record aren't evidence, but if allowed to
examine this witness, that it went into a separate bank account for the reason-Court: I understood that.
~Ir. Garnett: You understand, and I have the cancelled
checks and bank account right here to sl1ow that the checks
were made payable to the employees of the firm of Bowen
Company, including· the defendant, l\frs. Webb, and I don't
blame Mr. Baker for not wanting that information to come
out becam~~e it blows up his innuendoes.
~Ir. Baker: Attorney for the Commonwealth not only has
the facts, but has the witness by whmn those facts can be
proved for a. distribution of this fund without involving
hearsay testimony. The Court cannot be justified in permitting that proof if it be proved by hearsay testipage 833 ~ mony, particularly when the man that gave it
to him is here.
Court: If this man knows of his own knowledge what
account it was put in, I am going to let him continue.
Mr. Baker: He already said they showed him some
figures.
Court: His testimony is made on an examination in an
audit.
Mr. Garnett: Now Mr. Baker asked him and now he is
apparently afraid of the answer. So far as I am concerned,
we will let off this 'vitness with this.
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Court : If this 1uan knows of 'his own knowledge, I will
let hhn testify, that is up to you.
}fr. Garnett: I will withdraw the question.
Court: Anything else now Y
~ir. Garnett: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, l\Ir. Freeman, in the course of ~Ir. Baker's examination, it was suggested, I believe, that where there was
an error made, say in 1952, or 1953, it would be carried on
through until the last entry was made on Decempage 834 ~ ber 31, 1958, and you said that was correct, that
error would be reflected all the way through.
Is that substantially correct 1
A. Yes, sir.
· Q. No\v, ~Ir. Freeman, let's assun1e tl1at there was nothing
wrong, no wrong intent on anybody 's part in the handling of
these funds, keeping of these books, as the funds went through
Bowen C01npany. Let's say that all that this amounted to
\vas delayed posting, that they were behind in the work. Based
on your audit, how much 1noney should have been in the cash
drawer on February 7, 1959, when lVIr. Whiteside counted
ihe cash 1
A. If everything had been reported, seventeen-odd thousand dollars would have been in the cash d1·awer.
Q. So if it had accumulated from year to year, built up
just throug·h delayed postings, etc., you say there should
have been over Seventeen Thousand Dollars in the cash
drawer on that n1orningY
A. Tbet is correct.
Q. Now, Mr. Baker asked yon a hypothetical question this
morning which went something like this: Asstnning he paid
you $1,000.00 and you paid $1,000.00, and one got deposited
and not recorded, and yours got recor·decl and not deposited,
whether or not there would be a shortage. Do yon recall tl1at
question~

page 835

~

A. Yes, sir.
Q. If when you counted tl1e cash that was in
the drawer tl1en, I take it tl1ere 'vould be no

shortage?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. If under that hypothesis, you counted tl1e cash and
there was like Mother Hubbard's cupboard, would there be
a shortage of $1,000.00 or not?
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A.. If there was no cash there, it would be s'hort to that
extent.
Q. Is that substantially what the situation is hel'e in your
audit'
A. Substantially, yes.
:Nir. Baker: This line of questioning starts off with "~{r.
Baker says," and incorrectly quotes what Mr. Baker said.
The question put to this "ritness this morning, along the line
referred to, was this. That taking the same hypothesis as Mr.
Garnett described, how much should the Cash Receipts Journal show as cash on hand, and the answer was ''zero.'' How
much cash wa.s in the cash drawer, and the answer was "$1,000.00". The point was the proper balance of the Cash Receipts Journal was proper to be shown ''zero'' even though
we know there is $1,000.00 in the cash drawer. To the extent that this line of questioning· said, "Mr. Baker said,"
and improperly quoting me, I objec.t.
page 836 ~ Court: My understanding of the hypothetical
question, I remember two or three different ·ways
you put it myself, Mr. Baker.
Mr. Baker: The exan1ple described between the payment
of $1,000.00 by 1\1: r. Freen1an and $1,000.00 by me, was to sho'v
that the books properly recorded would reflect zero balance
on hand, ·when in fact there should be $1,000.00 in the
dra,ver.
Mr. Garnett: I agree with that.
Nir. Baker: And no question of shortage was even nlentioned.
~{r. Garnett: l-Ie said it didn't show any shortage on the
books. Now I am only taking it one step further, that if you
count the cash and it wasn't there, there would be a shortage.
~£r. Baker: The whole point was that what is shown in the
books as cash on hand was not a true inference as cash
on hand.
Court: Only in the cash drawer. Go ahead. Do you want
the record verified or not, you asked it three or four different
ways?
Mr. Baker: If there is any question about whether I have
properly stated itCourt: I think you have stated all the ways
page 837 ~ you could this n1orning. As I recall you stated
three different ways.
·
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1\{r. Baker: I know how I stated it, if the Court please.
Court: You don't want it verified? Go ahead.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, Mr. Freeman, this morning there were pointed
out or referred to in the book some 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, maybe
more different dates on which, according to the books of
Bowen Company, they had less money in the bank than their
aceounts payable amounted to. Do you recall that¥
A. Yes, sir.
Court : Accounts payable to insurance companies, I believe was the question.
Q. Just as to that one account. Does that necessarily show
that the company was in bad financial condition f
A. No, sir, it does not.
Q. Is there anything unusual for a company the size of
Bowen C01npany to have more accounts payable than cash
in the bank at any given period?
A. No, sir. In t'his type of business, quite to the contrary. Your liabilities to the carriers are greater in excess
of the cash.

page 838

~

Court: Explain that to me.

A. You have your primary assets and accounts receivable
from customers.
Q. Did I understand you to say, and correct me if I am
wrong, it is more usual that you do not have enough cash
on hand to take care of your immediate accounts payable! 1uean cash in the bank-is it more usual or unusual that
that condition exist?
A. It is more usual that you do not 'have sufficient cash
in the bank to pay the accounts payable-insurance.
Q. If you don't have enough money in the bank to pay your
bills, why doesn't that reflect a poor financial condition?
A. Yon are taking hvo or three items out of context, and
you are forgetting accounts receivable from customers.
Court: W oulcl those exceed what the bills would be, or
what was owed the insurance company?
A. I would have to see at any given day or month, but
the assets of the corporation far exceed the liabilities.
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Court: You can't give a specific date!
page 839

~

A. Generally speaking the sum of the cash
on hand and cash on deposit plus the accounts receivable would be sufficient and be equal to or in excess of accounts due insuranc.e companies. That may not be true at a
given pel"iod.
Mr. Baker: Where are we now, redirect examination by
the Attorney for the Commonwealth, orCourt: You broug·ht that out and gave it in quarters,
six months' period, and went down the whole time.
l\1:r. Baker: No point is made of the fact that this last
interrogatory was by the Court, but I would like to inquire
whether that is part of the redirect examination on behalf
of the Commonwealth in regard to which I should be privileged further to examine the witness .
.Court: If you desire to examine him further about that, I
'vill let you do that, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. In testimony in response to His Honor's questions, Mr.
Freeman, I am not quite sure I understood you. Did you
say that the liabilities of the c01npany far exceed its assets,
or assets far exceed its liabilities 1
page 840

~

Court: Equal to or better.

Q. That was pertaining to accounts receivable T
A. The statement pertaining to the assets 'vas that assets
would far exceed liabilities, indicating net worth and working
capital, etc.
Court: Assets far exceed the liabilities.
Mr. Garnett: Now, Your Honor, I don't believe it would
be inappropriate for the Commonwealth to ask for a recess.
Court: vVe will have a five minutes recess. Too many
recesses.
(At 4:20, a five minute recess was called)
Court : 1\'Ir. Freeman is still on the stand. Any more
.
questions Y
Mr. Garnett: They may have him on recross.
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RECROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, you have testified with regard to the
changes that were made in the books with regard to the
$12,000.00 item as not affecting the net, or cash, or net worth
of Bowen Company, IncorporatedCourt : Not net worth.
Q. I am not trying to quote the witness's testimony-would
you tell me what you did say about how it had
page 841 ~ no effect?
A. I said it did not affect the cash shortage
revealed by our audit.

Court: .Audit of the books?
.A. That is correct.
Q. Would not the compilation of assets and liabilities enter
into the determination of whether or not there was a shortage?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And would not the change of that $12,000.00 item in the
manner in 'vhich it was done, change it from a liability discharged by payment to an asset of $12,000.00?
A. A liability discharged by payment to an asset Y
Q. Yes, sir¥ Treated as officer's salary paid, it was a
liability of the corporation credited by payment, isn't that
right, sir?
A. Yes, sir, that is correct.
Q. But treating it as loan to an officer, it was an asset
of $12,000.00. Isn't that right?
A. That is right.
Q. So it did change the liabilities and assets picturewould it be twelve or twenty-four?
A. The way it was reflected in the books and
page 842 ~ carried as an advance, changed it a net of $12,000.00.
.
Q. The net change was $12,000.00?
A. That is right, the difference between it having been
treated as an advance.
Q. The liability ratio, the asset-liability ratio was a necessary ingredient, along with others, in determining shortage?
A. No, sir, it was not.
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Q. I thought you said it wast-The record will speak for
itself on that.-Does the corporation hold any evidence of that
loan due the corporation in the form of a note or other
evidence of debt 1
A. Not to my knowledge.
Q.. If there is one, your examination of the records of
Bo,ven Company was not sufficient in detail to go in that to
confirm it or deny itT
A. It 'vas not carried as note-receivable, it was accounts
receivable.
Court: Open account Y
A. Open account.
Q. Does it or does it not indicate that it is au interest
earning loan?
A. No, sir.
Q. Sir¥
A. No, sir.
page 843

~

Court: Never has said that, not that I recollect.
Mr. Baker: I don't think, if the Court please, I don't
think he said it, I am trying to find out for the first time.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, during my first cross examination of you,
I put a question to you and phrased it to include the terminology when entries from the sub-records, such as the manifold
receipt book, are posted in the cash journal, and I had quite
a bite of difficulty there before you finally corrected me on the
term ''posted'' and said it should be recordedA. I don't recall this.
Q. You do recall telling me that posting was not correct?
A. But I don't recall to what question. I recall the remark.
Q. In the redirect examination by the Attorney for the
Comn1onwealth, he asked you with regard, something regarding when they post from the Ilkt:tnifold receipt book, etc.
-you didn't correct that~
A. I said when they recorded, because I corrected myself.
I said posted and corrected myself and said recorded. Besides what difference does it make¥
page 844

~

Mr. Baker: The record 'vill speak for itself.
Mr. Garnett: V\T'bat is the materiality of it?
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Mr. Baker: The materiality of it. If the Court please, is
a further evidence of the difficulty on the part of the attorney for the defense in making this witness understand the
questions, and the apparent ease with which this witness understood the q_uestion -when the Commonwealth's Attorney
asks the question, and I think I would like the record to
show that.
Mr. Garnett: That is a matter of argument.
Mr. Baker: I understand that, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Has no place on recross.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, !£r. Freeman, you 'vere interrogated by the Attorney for the Commonwealth with regard to this summary
or spot checking we did of the relationship of accounts payable-insurance only, in terms of cash on deposit in the two
bank accounts with which to pay liabilities Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You were asked whether or not an excess
page 845 ~ of accounts payable-insurance over funds with
which to make payments indicated a bad condition.
lvfr. Garnett: He wasn't asked that. The question was
whether or not the fact that there was insufficient funds
in the bank account with which to pay the accounts payable of
itself 'vould reflect an insecure financial condition of the
corporation. That may not have been the exact words, but
that was the question.
~{r. Baker: The question was whether this shows the company was in bad condition.
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, you said "funds with which to
pay," and I said ''funds in the banlr account" and that 'vas
the question which Mr. Baker asked of the witness previously.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Freeman, we didn't go into the accounts payableLandlord, did we?
A. No, sir.
Q. We didn't go into the many other categories of liabilities
of the eor.poration, such as taxes withheld?
A. No, sir.
Q. Such as unearned insurance premiums, or all the vari-
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ous prepaid expenses-we didn't go into any of those, did
wet
page 846 } A. No.
Q. The money on deposit in the two banks
would of necessity eventually be the -source from which all
of those would be paid, isn't that true, unless there were payments in cash and not by check T
.A.. Yes, that is correct.
Q. Even though a company's net financial picture, taking
into account his accounts receivable, may be solvent, you
cannot pay accounts payable with accounts receivable, that
is correct, isn ':t itT
A. That is correct.
Q. It is true with regard to the months we talked about
that the company was not in position, if it used all of its
assets, funds held for landlords' accounts, funds held for
withholding-it is true with regard to the months I asked you
about, 1956 through 1958, that the company on those dates
could not write a cheek to the liabilities of insurance companies alone, is that right Y
Mr. Garnett: This is what he asked him when he had him
on cross examination originally. We are repeating now.
Court: Clear it up if you want.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. It is true at no time during the entire
page 847 } period was the company in position to write a
check or checks in payment of the liabilities to
the insur!lnce companies even if it used all the funds it had T
A. These are the periods you pointed out T
Q·. Yes, sir T
A. Yes, sir, that it true.
Q. It is true?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You testified on redirect examination, Mr. Freeman,
I believe, that if there were overpayments to landlords in
excess of the funds received for the credit of landlords, that
that would only tend to make the shortage more, but would
not reflect itself in the shortage T
A. No, sir, I don't recall that question on redirect.
Q. And this redirect used the term ''padded.''
A. The question had no relationship to what you are asking.
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Q. What did the question involve? You were asked about
padding!
·
A. I was asked a question whether padding was used in
pertaining to cash disbursements.
Q. My recollection is the Commonwealth suggested I used
the term ''padding'' on cross examination.
A. I stand to be corrected, but it had nothing
page 848 ~ to do with tenants, to my knowledge.
Q. Let's not limit it to landlords, if there were
padding or overpayments in disbursements generally-

Court: Generally speaking, not confining it to landlords?

Q. Not. 1imited to landlords-would that have the effect of
increasing the shortage Y
A. If anything, it would increase it, if you had a padded
situation.
Q. If in fact there have been padding or overpayment in
disbursements not disclosed by the limited audit or examination that you made of disbursements, would that not be
reflected in the total shortage that you say there is 1
Mr. Garnett: I believe the Gentleman who is questioning
the witness was talking about hypothetical questions, and it
must be based on evidence. Now, my objection is that he is
now stating an assumption that there would be overpayments
or padded payments in the cash disbursements. I think he
must :first show that such payments were made before this
question becomes proper, and I submit that in all sincerety,
he cannot put this hypothetical question to the witness. He was
objecting all over the courtroom because I was
page 849 ~ doing it based on more evidence than he has,
because he is insinuating here that there has been
padded payments, and whether there has been or not, I certainly don't know. It has not been shown, it has not been
brought to the attention of the Court because there has not
been any evidence of any padded payment.
Court: He said, ''if" of course.
Mr. Garnett: I understand that.
Mr. Baker: This witness testified he made a limited examination of certain accounts of Bowen Company, and has
testified concerning conclusions he has reached regarding
shortage. Cross examination brought out that the limited
examination 'he made did not include detailed examination
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of. various accounts that might very well reflect in the shortage-that he has admitted is true.
Mr. Garnett: He did not say that, he said it would not
reflect in the shortage. You said ''reflect the shortage,'' and
he said it would reflect more shortage, but would not have
anything to do with lessening this shortage.
1\ir. Baker: At great length, if the Court
page 850 ~ please, we went from internal control, through a
counting of the cash, through detailed audit of disbursements, through detailed audit of accounts payable,
throug·h detailed examination required to individual verification of accounts, and my recollection of this witness's
answers is that all of those errors in any of those accounts
would reflect in the totals on which he was basing his conclusions.
Court : The shortage~
Mr. Baker: From which he drew his conclusions of shortage-and that is the testimony.
Court: Didn't he also say that would make n1ore shortag·e rather than less shortage.
Mr. Garnett: That is what I am trying to say.
~fr. Baker: If there be in fact shortage in the accounts,
that you did not audit, then of necessity such shortage as you
have reported assuming to have come from other accounts
would be less than it is thought, because you know what the
total shortage would be.
pag·e 851

~

A. No, sir, if there were shortage in other
accounts, the shortage would be greater.

Court : That is ,vhat I understood before.
l\1:r. Baker: This witness has come up with the conclusion that there is a shortage of seventeen-odd thousand
dollars.
Court: He said $17,000.00.
Mr. Baker: If I understand anything by the answers made
by the witness on cross examination over a period of two
days, I thinlr I understand he did not do an audit of these
various accounts~ and he did sayCourt: That he did an examination of these accounts.
Mr. Baker: And he has said the limited examination he
did do was not such as to disclose errors in those accounts.
Court: He said in detail he didn't do it.
Mr. Baker : He said if there were errors in those ac-
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counts, which is lhnited to such examination as he did, those
errors would reflect themselves in the total shortageCourt: That is the part we don't agTee upon.
page 852 ~ Mr. Baker: If the Court pleaseCourt: If the Court is wrong, I want you to
verify it fr01n the record.
Mr. Baker: I suggest that this reporter couldn't do it.
It was taken by 1\fr. Schneider on yesterday, and unless the
record is transcribed, I don't think any reporter can go
back.
Court: Only thing I can do is rely on my memory.
Mr. Garnett: I believe he said he took totals.
lVIr. Baker: Everybody seems to be expert.
Court: Mr. Garnett said he took totals of other accounts.
Mr. Garnett: And used those totals in reaching his
conclusion about the shortages. Now he says, even though
he used those totals, if those totals are wrong, what it would
tend to do 'vould be to increase the present shortage. Am I
right or wrong Y
Court: I said that a nri.nute ago. I can't quote him verbatim.
1\tir. Baker: If the Court please, I feel morally c-ertain
that just because this witness has given an opinpage 853 ~ ion concerning son1efhing, that doesn't make it
a fact to this Court. I feel morally certainCourt: I am talking· about what he has testified.
Mr. Baker: This witness has given an opinion that there
is a shortage in the sum of $17,000.00 and further given opinions to the Court as to how that shortage was created. The
whole point of this cross examination of this witness bas been
to question the degree of cl1ecking that this witness did, and
to detern1ine the validity of the basis of his opinion, which,
after it is all over, is nothing· but l1is opinion.
Court: I think it is n1ore than that, as shown by his
audit of the books.
Mr. Baker: If all that has been elicited from tl1is witness
on cross exanrlnation, going to the validity of his opinion, has
fallen upon deaf ears, we truly have wasted an awful lot
of time here.
1Court: I understand his audit of the books has shown
that much shortage.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I can't argue with the
Court, and argue with the Attorney for the
page 854 r Commonwealth and argue with this witness, wl1o
argues with me.
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Mr. Garnett: That is a very unfair statement. I think
this witness has been very fair .
.Court: All I am trying to do is tell what 1ny recollection
is. If I am wrong, you will have to verify it frou1 the record.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Let me ask this question, 1\fr. Freeman. If in fact the
accounts payable records of Bowen Company, Incorporated,
are understated by the totals that you accepted in reconciling
those accounts into the general accounts and 1naking your
conclusions, would that or would that not create a shortage'
A. The understatement of liabilities, as I stated earlier,
·was the eovering up account of non-recording receipts.
~Ir. Baker: I ask that the court reporter read the last
question and advise the witness whether it is a question that
could be directly answered.
Court: You may answer it directly and then you 1uay
explain it.

A. I answered that the understatement of the liabilities
to Globepage 855 ~ Q. That isn't responsive.
A. You said accounts payable-insurance.
Q. Did the accounts payable of Bowen Company include
the accounts payable to 1nore than Globe~ I am talking about
the whole of accounts payable. If in fact the accounts payable,
as shown by the records and totals that you accepted without
verification, were in fact an understatement of the actual
liabilities of Bowen Con1pany, would that not create a shortage?
A. Create a shortage? It covers the shortage.
Court: Is it yes, or no?
A. I will ans·wer it, yes, it is the covering entries to cover
up for the lapping of figures.
Q. If you went back in and inserted the correct figureA. To the an1ount of the accounts payable-what would
you do with the offset entry, sir 1
Q. I am asking you if you found that the accounts payable
were understated, and you found out by what an1ount they
were understated, and you put a correct total on the an1ount
of the acc{)unts payable-then a shortage would be shown
and developed, is that right?
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A. Would be shown and developed, recorded in
the record 1
Q. Yes, sir1
.
A. Yes, to the extent of that understatement, it would be a
shortage.
Q. And it is true that you do not know that the accounts
payable are true or not?
A. That is not true.
Q. I am talking about the accounts payable that you used
to determine it Y
A. It is the totals that reflected by the individual sub accounts, totalled into the controlling accounts, and they balance, and we had a letter from Globe indicating a balance
due them.
Q. I didn't ask that question, Mr. Freeman.
A. It was relating to the liability.

page 856

~

Court: I will let him explain it.
1\{r. Baker: I don't want him to explain it by hearsay.
I don't care to have it put in by a volunteered statement by
this witness.
Mr. Garnett: Isn't any hearsay about the fact that he
received a letter.
Court: This last one 'vouldn 't be hearsayl\1:r. Baker: Any letter he received from Globe would be
hearsay.
page 857 ~ Court: He said he t·eceived a letter. That is
all he said.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now: Mr. Freeman, if in fact there were any padded
disbursements as referred to by the Attorney for the Commonwealth, and there had been a detailed examination of the
disbursement account and those padded disbursements had
been disclosed, would the recipient of the padding be any
indication who might be responsible for that part of the
shortage?
A. Would the recipient?
Q. Whoever got the excess payment?
A. I didn't understand.
Q. Whoever got the proceeds from a padding, whoever
that party was that got it?
A. Yes, sir, that would be.
Q. Responsible for that much of the shortage?
A. Not of this shortage, but additional shortage.
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Q. When you talk about this shortage and the C.R. T. account, we have established that each and every one of these
went into the bank 7
Mr. Garnett: This is recross 7

Q. This shortage that you keep referring to, does that
shortage start with an assumed c.orrect statepag-e 858 ~ ment of the status of all accounts of the books
as of the close of business December, 1955 Y
A. No, sir.
Q. You start off with what purports to be on hand J anuary 1, 1956?
A. That is correct.
Q. You don't know whether that was on hand or not?
~fr.

Garnett: He has been all through this.
.
Court: \Vent through all this yesterday. Went through
it twice and said it didn't make any difference as to this
one, any others would be added to it, it would be increased,
isn't that what you said?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Mr. Freeman, to start anywhere other than at the beginning of a set of books, and to go from there, isn't it necessary
to use some figures as a starting pointY
A. Absolutely, yes, sir.
Q. What one of those sets of figures of the books show
cash on hand?
Mr. Garnett: vVe have been through it.
Court : \Ve have been through it.
page 859 ~ Mr. Baker: Apparently this witness has impressed the Attorney for the Commonwealth and
perhaps the Court, that cash on l1and has notl1ing to do with
the figures he winds up with in the end.
Court: He doesn't impress 1ne, I don't think.
A. I took the cash on hand as called for by the books,
and took it into account as available, and took the receipts,
less the deposits, and came up with it. I brought down
ending cash, right down the line, and did take it into account,
the cash as called for by the books.
· Q. Doesn't the final figure that you wind up with at the
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end,
cash
A.
Q.
A.

doesn't that assume that what the books call for as
on hand at the starting point, was cash on handY
Does that not assume that what I started with-Y
As cash on hand, was actually on handY
As the starting pointY Yes, sir.
Q. It does assume that Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. If the cash was not actually on hand as your starting point, your conclusions would be wrong by the
page 860 ~ extent to which it varied, isn't that rig·ht, sir Y
A. No, sir not all the way through. The cash
on hand at the beginning of my particular summary, January
1, 1956, plus the receipts and non-reeorded receipts, giving
the total available for deposit, less the deposit, gave the cash
on hand at the ending, so that was absorbed in the whole
and didn't carry over.
Q. If the starting point of this audit showed that there
should be $50,000.00-I will take an absurd figureA. Do I need a pencil to follow you¥
Q. No, sir. If the books showed cash on hand $50,000.00
at your starting point, and you assumed that that cash is
on hand for the pur.pose of your audit, however at the starting point there is in fact only $33,000.00 on hand as of your
starting point, then at the end of your audit, there is an apparent shortage of $17,000.00, would that not be the shortage accounted for by the difference between cash on hand
and what you assumed was cash on handY
A. That 'vould reflect at the end of that period, not two or
three years. It would not carry over beyond that period.
Court : You n1ean end of that year, 1956 1
page 861

~

Q. But you take the same figur~s, 1956, and
can·ied them into 1957 ~
A. I took what was reflected in 1956, as J anu-

ary 1, 1957.

Q.. The bookkeeper also talres the figures at the close
of 1956 and carried it into 1957, doesn't she Y-I am sorry,
as adjusted by whoever does the adjusting entries Y
.A. The adjusted and closing entries are brought down to
the following sheet.
Q. Mr. Freeman, in the example we gave that if the cash
actually on hand not be as sho'vn by the books to be on
hand at the starting point, I believe you indicated that that
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shortage would not go all the way through, but would show up
at the end of the first year 7
A. It would, sir, in answer to the question you asked, it
would show up at that time.
Q. That is true unless the cash reported to be on hand
is also misstated by the same amount, in which event it
would go through 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That 'vould be true the next year as long as the cash
on hand is misstated by the amount shown initiallyt
A. In your example, that is true.
Q. Your examination did not confirm cash on hand a.t the
starting point of any of the years, did it Y
A. No, sir.
page 862

~

Mr. Baker : I think that is all.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Let's correct that point, pursue it a little bit farther.
Let's assume, as Mr. Baker has assumed, that as of December 31, 1955, or 1956, whichever way he used it, there was a
shortage of this particular figure of $1,000.00 in the cash
account, and as he said, that would be reflected all through
the years, that is correct, is it not, right up to the present
dayY
A. That is right.
Q. But if during that period of time from 1955 to 1959,
which is the period of time here, if the shortage had not
increased, would the unrecorded receipts have increased or
remained static?
A. The shortage would have increased by the continual
increase of unrecorded receipts.
Q. What I am saying is this : Let's assume that this
$50.00 is being covered by unrecorded receipts. Carry on
through to February 1, 1959, would the amount of unrecorded
receipts remain static or would that increase Y
A. That would remain static.
Q. So as the years.progress, 1956, 1957, 1958, up to February 6, 1959, if the books reflect, as you testified, that the
amount of unrecorded receipts was increasing, what does that
reflect?
page _863 ~ A. An increased shortage.
Q. During that period Y

Catherine vVebb v. Cmumonwealth of Virginia

503

Robert L. Freetnan.
A. Yes, sir.

Court: When you say, ''during that peliod"Mr. Garnett : 1956, 1957 and 1958.
:Court: I just wanted to lmow what you mean.
RECROSS EXAl\IINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. I want to ask one short series of questions, strictly
linrited to the last ones. In the first place we have established
that it would not be proper bookkeeping procedure for the
books to show as cash on hand incon1e received but not recorded, isn't that right, sir?
A. If they have not been recorded in the books, they should
not reflect on the books.
Q. And it would not be proper to show as cash on hand!
A. If that had not been recorded in the books, that is
right.
Mr. Gaxnett: That is the same old thing.
Court: He said series of questions.
1\tfr. Garnett: It has to be there 1n the cash
page 864 ~ drawer.
Court: l-Ie said series.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. You told the Attorney for the Commonwealth that an
increase in the receipts in which there was a delay in recording, increase in the amount-Well, I think the term was,
delay in recording or delay in posting·.
Mr. Garnett: No, for your benefit it was unrecorded receipts.
Q. Was it your testim·ony along this line that if the
amount of unrecorded receipts over the years increase, that
that would of necessity reflect an increase of shortage f
A. That would account for an increase in shortage.
Court : . A.ccount for an increase in shortage.
Q. If the increase in the amount of unrecorded receipts was
accompanied by an increase in the funds on hand, and not
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shown as cash on hand because it shouldn't be shown as cash
on hand, it would not reflect a shortage?
A. No, sir, if the cash was on hand, it wouldn't be short.
Q. If all the unrecorded receipts-or sum equivalent to
the sum of all unrecorded receipts, is still lying in a bag
in the safe, then the fact that the receipts were
page 865 ~ not recorded 'vould not establish a shortage Y
A. If the funds were still there? Correct.
Q. Your statement that an increase in the amount of unrecorded rec.eipts of necessity demonstrated an increase in
shortage-it could also demonstrate that the funds vrere in
the safe?
A. If the funds are there, yes, sir.
.Court: If the funds are there, but if the money 1s not
there to pick up, his staten1ent 'vould stand.
Q. "'\Vhen you make the statement that increase in unrecorded receipts of necessity demonstrates an increase in the
an1ount of shortage, you are testifying under oathA. I am aware of that.
Q. "'\Ve have demonstrated it couldA. I think you better relate my ans·wer to the question to
avoid confusion.
Q. It could dmuoustrate that there was an increase in the
cl1ec.ks in the safe at Bowen Company, isn't that true?
A. The unrecorded items Y
Q. Yes, sir.·
A. If any was there, that is correct.

1\tfr. Baker: That is all.
REDIR.ECT EXAl\iiNATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. In your perusal around Bowen Company,
you didn't find $17,000.00?
A. No, sir.

page 866

r

Oourt: Did you look in the safe is the next question.
Mr. Garnett: I may wish to recall this witness at a later
time. My next witness is going to take some time.
·Court: We are going to have to go ahead with that
regardless of that.
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~fr. Garnett: I would rath-er go tonight and take all
of his testimony together. I understood you were going to
recess in the neighborhood of 5 :30-Court: If it is necessary to stay over half an hour more,
I will do that.
Mr. Garnett: Call Mr. McMurran.
Court: ·You are actually recalling Mr. ~fcMurran.

GEORGE I{EITH McMURRAN,
recalled as a witness by the Oommonwealth, being first duly
sworn, testified as follows :
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. I believe you are Mr. Keith McJ\furran, or George K.
McMurran, I believe you stated the last time 1
page 867 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. "\Vho previously testified in this trial?
A. Yes, sir.·
Q. I believe you testified you are Vice President-General
~Ianager of W. C. Bowen Corporation, trading as W. C.
Bowen?
A. Bowen Company, Incorporated.
Q. Trading as W. C. Bowen 1
•
Court: Bowen Company, Incorporated?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Mr. 1\fcMurra.n, I don't know whether we went through
this or not, how long have you been connected with this firm 1
A. Since January, 1946.
Q. How long have you been Vice President and General
Manager? 1-Iow long have you been General Manager, put it
that wayf
A. Well actually the corporation came into being in J a.nuary 1954, and that is when I became Vice President. I was
actually acting as manager prior to that, possibly since 1948, I
don't remember exactly.
Court: General Manager since 1948 Y
page 868

~

A. Yes, sir.
Q. As such are you familiar with the operation of the firm generally?
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are you familiar with the 'Operation of the firm in de-

tain
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What type of firm is it 1 \Vhat is the nature of the
business?
A. Well expressly in the general insurance agency business and small rental agency, and at times a real estate department, which does not exist at the moment.
Q. Who handled insurance items, do you¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And are there any other employees of the firu1 besides
yourself?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And who might that be? I an1 directing your attention
up to, we will say, February, first two weeks in February,
1959. Who was employed in the firm at that time~
A. February, 1959-l\Ir. Bowen was the President. Frank
Cowling· was in the production or sale of insurance, Mrs.
Kinlock, \vho was our fire insu1·ance secretary, and Mrs.
Webb, who was casualty insurance secretary and bookkeeper,
and rental manager.
page 869 ~ Q. Mrs. Webb was also the bookkeeper, you
say'
A. Yes, sir.
•
Court: You say she was a bookkeeper or the bookkeeper?
A. The bookkeeper.
Q. During the years, 1956, 1957, 1958, was it the policy of
the corporation, or did the corporation pay any bonuses to
its employees at the end of the year 1
A. Eae.h year at the end of the year bonuses were paid.
· Q. Were these bonuses paid, were checks drawn on the
corporation checkbook?
A. No, sir.
Q. And "rhy was that not followed?
A. Well it was a matter of administrative privacy, I
suppose you would term it, drawing a check for a total and
write individual checks on that total amount.
Q. There has been testimony here relative to three checks,
one dated December 21, 1956, payable to W. C. Bowen, $1,000.00; one dated December 21, 1957, payable to W. C. Bowen,
$2,000.00; and one payable, or dated December 19, 1958, payable to W. C. Bowen, $2,500.00. It has been further testi-
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:tied, carried on the books as employees' bonuses. Are you
familiar with those three checks Y
page 870 ~ A. I am.
Q. Who determined the amount of those
checks?
A. Mr. Bowen and I, in conference.
Q. Once the amount was determined, what procedure then
was set up in the office to carry out the payment of these
bonuses?
A. The bookkeeper wa.s asked to issue a check in that total
amount, payable to Mr. Bowen, and for the check to be
charged to commissions paid for employee bonuses. The
check itself was deposited in the Bank of \Varwick in a thrift
account, one that you pay ten cents a check, one that there
is no carrying charges. The checks that were payable to the
various employees as bonuses were typed by me and signed
by Mr. Bowen.
·Court: Who do you say the checks were payable to?
A. To the various employees.
1Court: You said one eheck Y
A. The check originally was payable to W. C. Bowen and
deposited to this account, and then on that account were
drawn checks to be payable to the individual employees.
Q. Then I direct your attention specifically to the three
checks that I have just enumerated, and ask y'<>u whether
or not those checks had any connection with this transaction
you have just outlined of paying employees'
.page 871 ~ bonuses, the three checks, one for $1,000.00; and
one for $2,000.00; and one for $2,500.00. for the
years 1956, 1957 and 1958, and ask you whether or not, what
relation those checks had to these transactions? In other
words, were these the checks drawn for that purpose or not?
A. That was the sole purpose.
Q. Do you know whether or not these checks were actually
deposited in the Bank ·of Warwick?
A. I know they were.
Mr. Ferguson: That is a leading question.
Q. Mr. McMurran, I hand you here a bank statement pur-
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ported to be the Bank of Warwick in the name of William C.
Bowen, first date appearing on thereMr. Ferguson: Your Honor, I would like to suggest that
counsel show the paper to the witness. Let him identify it
rather than read it into the record.
Mr. Garnett: I'm reading it into the record to tell him
what I am showing the witness and then I'm going to ask
him if he can identify. what it is.
Mr. Ferguson: Hand it to him.
Mr. Garnett: The first date appearingCourt: Can't he look at it and tell what it is too?
Mr. Garnett: Yes sir, but I have a right I
page 872 ~ think, to show into the evidence what I am
handing the witness. ·
Court: You certainly may but if they don't object to it.
.Ask the witness what he knows. It's all right.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. McMurran, can you identify that document I have
just handed to you with the documents attached¥
A. Yes, sir, this is the bank statement of the thrift bank
account at the Bank of Warwick with the deposit slip which
is in my handwriting and the-the checks to sho'v the f.our
mnployees w11o received bonuses ·which were signed by Mr.
Bowen and all-stamped paid.
Q. Now how n1ucl1 does that bank-that statement show
was initially deposited in that bank and on what date?
A. $1,000.00 was deposited on December 26, 1956.
Q. Now what disbursements, if any, were made from that
bank account according to that statement-what is that attached to it?
A. The deposit slip for the $1,000.00 and the four checks.
Q. All right, sir.
A. vYhich disbursed the $1,000.00.
Court: Bowen and Company?
page 873

~

A. No sir, this is Willia1n C. Bowen.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. William C. Bowen 7
A. Yesi sir.
Q. What do tl1e-do the-the checks show as to the disbursements from that bank account?
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A. The names of the payees or the amounts Y
Q. Yes sir, who g'Ot the money. That's what I want to
know?
A. There's a check to Cornelia Kinlock, dated December
21, for $210.00 signed by W. C. Bowen. There's a cheek to
Catherine Webb for $260.00 signed by W. C. Bowen. There's
a check to G. l{eith McMurran for $505.00 signed by W. C.
Bowen. There's a check to B. E. Garrett for $25.00 signed
by W. C. Bowen.

Court: $25.00 7
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now are each of these endorsed Y
A. Yes sir, by the payees.
Q. A-re each one of them marked with the perforations of
the bank as showing they were paid?
A. Yes sir, as having been paid and the account balance
shows zero as of December 28.
Q. Why were these checks paid to these employees 1
A. They were year end bonuses.
page 874 ~ Q. Up until the time that the money was actually disbursed, whose n1oney was it 1
A. I suppose technically William C. Bowen.
Mr. Garnett: I offer it in evidence as number 19, all
intact.
(The bank statement was received and marked Commonwealth's Exhibit Number 19).
By Mr. Garnett::
Q. No'v Mr. 1\{cMurran, I hand you another document with
other papers attached thereto and ask you if you can identify
that?
Mr. Ferguson : What's the number of that Exhibit 1
Mr. Garnett: 19.
A. This isCourt: Commonwealth's Exhibit 19.
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A. This is another statement on the same account, the William C. Bowen thrift account at the Bank of Warwick. There
was a deposit of $2,000.00 to William C. Bowen to the same
account which deposit slips was made out by me.
Court: What date did you say it wasT
A. December 21, 1957. There were four checks written
on this account, excuse me. Five checks written on this account. One to Cornelia Kinlock for $275.00, dated
page 875 ~ December 23, which-which isCourt: How much was it 7
A. $275.00 which is marked paid, December the 28th it
looks like. Frank H. Cowling, for $100.00 on December the
23rd, which is paid on December the 26th. Catherine Webb,
$325.00 on December 23, paid December 26. G. Keith McMurran, $800.00 December 23, paid December the 24th and
one to Bowen .Company for $500.00 which 'vas paid January
rthe 3rd, 1958. All signed by W. C. Bowen.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. "What was the $500.00 for, Mr. McMurra.n, if you recall Y
A. As I recall, we-we initially put in more than we ultimately decided 've could disburse so we returned the $500.00
to ·OUr operating accountQ. "Why was this deposit made and these checks subsequently drawn?
A. For the purpose of paying year end bonuses.
I

Mr. Garnett: I offer it in evidence as Cormnonwealth 's
Exhibit Number 20, intact.
(The bank statement was received and marked Commonwealth's Exhibit No. 20).
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now 1\fr. McMurran, I hand you a-a docun1ent 'vith
certain papers attached and ask you whether or
page 876 ~ not you can identify that Y
A. This ~again is a statement of the thrift account of William C. Bowen, Bank of Warwick. It shows
a deposit on December 22, 1958 ·whi.ch was made out by me
to William C. Bowen.
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Court: Dece;mber the 5th?
A. December the 20th, excuse me.
Court: 20th?
A. It's credited ·on the bank statement December 22nd. It
was disbursed in the following manner. Check to Frank H.
Cowling, $450.00 which was paid on December the 29th.
Check to Cornelia Kinlock, for $400.00, which was paid onlooks like January the 6th, 1959. A check to Catherine WebbCourt : How much is Kinloc.k?
A. $400.00.

Court: $400.00 Y
A. Yes, sir. Check to Catherine 'Vebb of $450.00 which
was paid on December the 27.th, 1958 and a check to G. Keith
McMurran for $1,200.00 which was paid on December the 24,
1958, and the account balance is zero.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. All of those checks endorsed?
A. Yes sir. One is stamped paid to the order of the First
National Banlr, Newport News, Virginia.
Q. Look on the other end of it.
A. Excuse me, yes sir, it is.
page 877 ~ Q. Are all endorsed?
A. All endorsed, yes sir.
J\fr. Garnett: I offer it in evidence intact as Common\vealth 's Exhibit Number 21.
(Tl1e bank statement was received and marked Cmnmonwealth's Exhibit No. 21).
Bv Mr. Garnett:
"'Q. Now !fr. J\fcMurran, I don't know whether I asked you
this question or not, pertaining to the checks attached to Exhibit Number 20, but in the event I did not, are they each
endorsed?
A. The check to-payable to 1\frs. IGnlock is not endorsed.
Q. Is not endorsed?
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A. No sir. The one to the Bowen Company is of courseis endorsed, ''for deposit only.''
Q. Does it show whether the one to ~Irs. Kinlock was paid 1
A. It shows that it was paid on December the 28th, 1957.
Q. Now did y()u receive these statements back from the
bank in due course of business 7
A. In due course.
Q. And have they been in your possession ever since your
receipt of it from the bank up to the time you
page 878 ~ turned them over to us?
A. Yes sir.
Court: They have been 7
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. N o'v do these three statements then, or do you kno'v
'vhether these three statements then cover these three checks
that I have mentioned, in the sum of a thousand, two thousand
and hYenty-five hundred dollars drawn t() the order of Vv. C.
Bowen and recorded in the books as einployees' bonus f
-A. Entirely.
Mr. Garnett: Now your Honor, the next p·hase of this
witness' testimony will perhaps be rather protracted and I
would suggest that we go into-going to a.djour'Il in the
neighborhood of six o'clock that we adjourn now because I
'vould not like to start into it and be interrupted in a matter
of just a fe'v minutes.
Court: It's only 15 n1ore minutes. Is that agreeable
with you all t
Mr. Baker: If the Court is talking about releasing us, it's
more than ag-reeable.
Court: Adjourn until tomorrow morning at nine o'clock.
(The Court then adjourned at 5:45 p.m.)

•
page 882

~

•

•

Note: Court convenes at 10:00 o'clock (EST),
\vhereupon the hearing continues, viz:

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, at this time before commencing the day's session, the defendant would like again-
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no reflection on the Attorney for the Comn1onwealth because
all of us have been in court, as the Court well knows, from
early in the day until late in the day, practically every daywe would, so there won't be any question, like again to ask
that the statute under which the Commonwealth is proceeding
be specified.
~Ir. Garnett: I told hhn I was going to do that. I will give
it to them later on today.
The Court: Give it to them right now.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, the defendant, I think, is
entitled to it. Certain evidence is admissible under one statute
but not adn1issible under another. I think we are entitled to
get that squared away.
The Court: Wait a minute. It is the ruling of the Court
that he give it to you now.
Mr. Garnett : The Court has unnecessarily. ruled, Your
Honor. We had discussed that, and I told him
page 883 r I would give it to him. From my understanding of
trial procedure, I would have latched on to that
and requested at a convenient hour to meet and discuss the
statute prior to trial. I cannot understand why they did not
ask for it prior to the beginning of the evidence.
The Court: They asked for it last week, I think that is
right.
~{r. Garnett: That is right.
~ir. Baker: I would like for the record to show as far as
counsel for the defense' failure to wait and request the Attorney for the Commonwealth to do it as of now is no dereliction on his part, although it is not understandable by the Attorney for the Commonwealth why it hasn't happened. I would
like for that to be in the record.
The Court: All right.
Mr. Garnett: It will take a few minutes, Judge.
The Court: Gentlemen, take a few moments and show him.
'Ve will be at rest. The Court l1olds that he has to show it
to him now.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, following which
the hearing continues, viz:

r

Mr. Baker : If the Court please, before we
start taking testimony, I wonder, may we read
into the record : before the recent short recess, request was
made for the Attorney for the Commonwealth to specify the
statute under which the Commonwealth is proceeding in this
page 884
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prosecution. During the recess, the Attorney for the Commonwealth has furnished counsel for the defense a statement
in writing stating that the C01nmonwealth relies on Section
18-171 of the Code of 1950, now Section 18.1-109. We are in
receipt of that written statement from the Attorney for the
Commonwealth.
The Court: All right, sir.
GEORGE ICEITH McMURRAN,
upon being recalled for further Direct Examination by Mr.
Garnett, having been previously duly sworn, testifies further
as follows:
DIRECT EXA1viiNATION.

Bv Mr. Garnett:
·Q. Mr. Mc~furran, in your capacity as vice-president of this
corporation we are discussing here, did you have any dealings
"'ith the gentleman by the name of E. D. \Vbitepage 885 ~ side f I believe the initials are correct.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Directing your attention to a period on or about tl1e
6th day of February, 1959, as manager of this corporation did
you have any knowledge of any existing or alleged existing
cash shortage in the accounts of Bowen Company?
A. No, sir.
Q. \Vhen, l\1:r. Mcl\{urran, was this first brought to your
attention?
A. On Monday, February 9th, during the period Mr. Whiteside was in the office making his ex'amination.
Q. Who apprised you that such a shortage was suspected to
have existed?
A. Mr. Whiteside.
Q. Did you and Mr. Whiteside confer about it or not?
A. We did. We conferred about it on Monday evening, as I
recall.
Q. Who was the bookkeeper of this company during this
period of time Y
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. What if anything did you decide to do as a result of this
conference Y
l\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I think he can tell what
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he did. I do not think it is proper to ask this witness what he decided to do. What he did may possibly beThe Court : As a result of the conference what did he do?
Mr. Baker: What he did may be evidence. What he thought
is not evidence in this case. It cannot possibly be.

page 886

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. What did you decide to do, then Y I will ask it that way.
Mr. Baker: Objection to the question elicited: what did he
decided to do.
The Court: I have ruled that you cannot ask him that.
That is the same thingMr. Garnett: No, sir, it is not, Your Honor, because the
evidence sho\vs, from Mr. Whiteside, that nothing was said to
Mrs. Webb immediately about this shortage. Now I am attempting to show by this witness as to why that was not done
as a result of a decision reached between him and Mr. Whiteside. I think that it is very proper.
Mr. Baker: The extent Mr. Whiteside participated in
reaching a decision then, of course that is a speculative decision of the two. This witness, number one, could not testify in regard to Mr. Whiteside's decision. That
page 887 ~ would be hearsay.
The question is limited, and the answer is limited, to what did you do?
The state of mind of this person or any other person is not
evidence in this case.
The Court: I think he is right, Mr. Garnett.
Mr. Garnett: I concede that he is right, Your Honor. I will
'vithdraw the question.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. What if anything did you do on the day that Mr. Whiteside apprised you of this, besides conferring with him Y
A. I decided toMr. Baker: If the Court pleaseMr. Garnett: This is his decision he is talking about now,
Your Honor.
Mr. Baker: His decision, if the Court please, is still a state
of mind of this witness.
Mr. Garnett: It is a fact.
The Court: Go ahead.
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Mr. G~rnett: All right.
By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. What did you decide to dopage 888

~

Mr. Baker: vYill the court let the record show
that the defendantThe Court : By counsel excepts to the ruling of the Court.
Mr. Baker: -in permitting this witness to testify concerning decisions reached or any other answer this witnessThe Court: Counsel excepts to the ruling of the Court.
].tfr. Baker: -any other answer this witness may give reflecting the state of mind of this witness as of that period of
time; objection being this witness' testimony should be limited
to what did he do, not 'vhat he decided and thought.
Mr. Garnett : He did. He made ·a decision.
The Court: Go ahead. He has already said that.
A. I decided to wait until Wednesday morning toBy the Court : That is the lOth?
A. The loth, yes, sir.- to question Mrs. Webb about the
shortage of which I had been apprised on Monday evening.
My reason was that by pre-arrange.ment we would go over
the accounts receivable on Tuesday.
page 889

~

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, just so the
record can be straight, I believe the witness said
he decided to wait until Wednesday, having already testified
Monday was the 9th. The Court suggested the lOth. This witness said it was Wednesday. Was it Wednesday the 11th or
Tuesday the lOth? I don't know which it was. The Court suggested it was the lOth. This witness said it was \V ednesday. I
think the record should be straight as to which day it was.
By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Was it Tuesday or Wednesday, Mr. McMurranY
A. It was definitely Wednesday. Therefore it would have
been the 11th.
Q. On Tuesday did you go over any accounts with Mrs.
Webb or not!
A. We went over all of the accounts receivable to balance-
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By the Court:
Q. Who went over the accounts Y
A. Mrs. Webb and I. The purpose of this was to determine
what action, if any, should be taken on delinquent accounts.
And at that time 1\irs. V\Tebb made notes of our decisions toQ. Accounts receivable, is that all, sir?
page 890 r A. Accounts receivable and rental accounts.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Do you recall any particular accounts that you went
over?
A. Well, a particular account was one that the Newport
News Shipbuilding Dry Dock Company 'vhich sho,ved a balance due. I asked 1\Irs. vVebb ·whether this had been paid.
She told me that it had been but that it had been credited on a
miscellaneous receipt book for posting· and would later be
posted to the individual accounts receivable.
Q. Did you find that on any receipt bookY
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you look Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you question her about any other accounts particularly!
A. No, sir.
Q. Are you familiar with two deposit slips, one to the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank and one to the First N a tiona!
alleged to have been made on January 6, 1959?
A. Yes, sir. They were the two deposit slips-the two deposit slips that were called to my attention by Mr. Whiteside
on Monday evening, the 9th.
Q. Do :vou know 1Vhether or not 1\frs. vVebb furnished your
office or anyone with a list of the checks that were
page 891 ~ involved on those two deposit slips Y
A. Not at that time.
Q. Or later?
A. Later. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you check any other specific account with reference
to the receipt book, other than the Newport News Shipbuilding
Dry Dock Company?
A. I don't recall at the time. With Mrs. Webb, no, sir.
Q. Did you go back to Mrs. Webb and ask her why she had
told you this matter was in the receipt book and it was not 7
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Mr. Baker: If Your Honor please, I think that the examination by the Attorney for the Commonwealth is leading. I
think it is obvious that a witness from California, who never
heard about his case, having nothing more than the desire to
please the Commonwealth by his answers could successfully
answer the questions thus far. The question is, did yon do so
and so, and so and so, oo all this witness needs to do is to say
yes.
Now, if the Court please, the function of a witness taking
the stand and testifying under oath is to elicit from that witness in his own words what he knows; not to have
page 892 ~ the 'vitness merely confirm statements made by
the examiner with a question mark at the end,
which in effect is nothing but statements and testimony.
This examination is leading. I think it is a bad practice to
get intoMr. Garnett: I withdraw the question just to save time.
Air. Baker : All right, sir.
The Court: Don't lead any more than yon have to, Mr.
Garnett. I kno'v it is related to some of the factsMr. Garnett: I am trying to not lead him, Your Honor.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMnrran, yon testmed that you looked at thereceipt book and this item was not there, is that correct, in the
receipt bookf
A. That is correct.
The Court: The item was not in the receipt bookY
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
A. Yes, sir. We made a search of the miscellaneous receipt
book and did not find the item credited, nor was it on the individual account.
Q. Is there any question in your mind whether or
page 893 ~ not Mrs. "\Vebb told yon that it was recorded
in the receipt bookY
A. No, sir.
Q. After having looked in the receipt book, did yon discuss
that account any further with Mrs. Webb that dayY
A. No, sir.
Q. I bring yon now to Wednesday, February 11, 1959, did
you discuss this or have any discussion with Mrs. Webb concerning this matterY
A. On Wednesday-

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

519

Geo,rge Keith 1J1clJ1urram.
1\tfr. Baker: If the Court pleases, isn't all the testimony he
just gave with regard to Wednesday, February the 11th Y
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, with regard to Tuesday, February
the lOth.
Mr. Baker: I thought the witness said definitely Wednesday the 11th.
Mr. Garnett: The witness said he decided not to discuss
the matter with Mrs. "\Vebb until Wednesday; Tuesday he
would go over certain accounts with her, which he did.
The Court: Let him say the dates from now on.
Mr. Baker: The last series of questions, the witness testified, to my understanding, that it was Wednespage 894 ~ day. The Court said the lOth. I interrupted to get
it straight, so the· record would be clear, and I
pointed out Wednesday would be the 11th.
If the Court were right in saying the lOth, the witness was
wrong on Wednesday. If the witness were right on W ednesday, the Court was wrong on the lOth. 1viy understanding was
the witness said on Wednesday the 11th, as I understand ull
this testimony since that point.
The Court: It may be back of that date. From now on let
the witness indicate the date.

By Mr. Garnett: (Con tinning)
Q. When you discussed these accounts-now I am not talking about any shortage, I am talking about the accounts receivable-was that Tuesday or was that on Wednesday 1
A. That was on Tuesday, February the lOth.
By the Court :
Q. "\\Tlw did you discuss it with 7
A. With Mrs. Webb.
The Court: That is right. Now you got the record straight.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing}
Q. I direct your attention, Mr. Mcl\Iurran, to tl1e following
day. On that day, which would be Wednesday, did you have
any conversation with ~Irs. Webb relative to the
page 895 ~ alleged shortage, or was there any conversation
in your presence between Mrs. vVebb and anyone
else about the alleged shortage?
A. On Wednesday, February the 11th, I called Mrs. Webb
into a back office. And at that meeting was ~irs. Webb, Mr.
Whiteside, and myself.
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Q. Let n1e ask you this : vVhy did you not bring 1\IIr. Bowen
in on that meeting?
A. }.{r. Bowen was out of the city.
Q. Where was he T
A. He was on vacation in Florida.
Q. All right. So present then were you three, and anyone
else.?
A. No, sir.
Q. All right, sir. Tell us what conversations, if any, were
had between the three of you there in Mrs. Webb's presence
on that afternoon, or on that day T
A. The conversation opened specifically concerning the two
deposit slips-one to the Citizens Marine Jeffe.rson Bank and
the other one to the First National Bank.
As I recall, Mr. Whiteside asked Mrs. vVebb why there was
so 1nuch currency being deposited to these banks? Wby would
we have so n1uch currency on handY Her answer was that he
knew that it was not currency. He said, I know that, but I want
an explanation of it. She said that she had gotpage 896 ~ was in a hurry at the time she was making up her
deposits, and that she had merely marked it as
currency, and then had called the two banks to get a list of the
checks that she had deposited.
The question then went on as to whether she. was aware of a
shortage existing, and that this particular amount was the
same amount as showed on hand, I believe, January the 31st.
She said that she knew nothing about a shortage.
He went on further to ask her if she knew there were. a
shortage would she have not reported it, and her answer was
that she was responsible for the books and that I was too busy
and that sheQ. ''Titen you say I to who1n are you referring?
A. ~ie. That because I was too busy that she would not
bother me with such a matter. And 1\ir. vVbiteside said you
mean regardless of the amount T She said regardless of the
amount. So, we could see that we were getting no where and
the conversation, in fact, terminated, as no explanations were
offered as to bow this could have happene.d or that she had
any knowledge that any shortage existed.
Q. Did anything else happen there that day? That day in
question, did she leave you in the office?
A. That concluded the conversation that morning. About,
I would say, 2:30 or so in the early afternoon
page 897 ~ when I re.turned to the office I noticed that Mrs.
'Yebb was not at her desk. And I asked Mrs.-
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Q. You -cannot tell about that, 1Ir. Mcl\tlurran. All right,
now, did you have anyBy the Court:
Q. You say Mrs. Webb was not at her desk!
A. Yes, sir.
The Court : Go ahead.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Did you have any further conversation with Mrs. Webb
regarding this alleged shortage in the books Y
A. At approximately 3:00 o'clock that same day.
Q. All right, sir. Tell us what happened then¥
A. Well, I-I actually went to her. At that meeting-again
she was back in this back office, which actually was Mr.
Bowen's office, and I found her in a-practically in a state of
hysteria. And I 'vaited, sat there and waited until she got
control of herself. And she opened that conversation by telling me that she had not taken the money, and that I knew that
she had not taken the money, and that she didn't know what
had happened but that she 'vanted to stay on and show me
what a good job she could do.
I told her that it was obvious that regardless of how this
turned out, whether there was a shortage or just just poor
bookkeeping practices, that it was obvious that her
page 898 ~ employment would have to terminate. And at that
tin1e she looked at me and said that she thought
that I of all people \vould understand.
I might add that she had also· told me something about some
personal problems and so on that she was having and it was
for that act-I ultimately told her that there had been a lot
of inefficiency in the last couple of ye.ars but that that was-I
had surmised this personal difficulty and that that was one of
the reasons I had put up with it. I also urged her at that time
to cooperate with Mr. Whiteside in unravelling the problem,
as I referred to it.
Q. Did she say she would or would not?
A. I was left with the impression that she would.
By the Court:
Q. That she would what?
A. That she would cooperate with ~{r. Whiteside.
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By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. How long did she remain in the employ of the firm after
that'
A. Until-she was actually in the office for Thursday of
that week, Friday of that week, Monday and a half day Tuesday. She was actually told that her employn1ent would terminate on the following Friday, but she terminated it on
Tuesday.
By the Court:
Q. She came in on Monday and Tuesday, you
say?
A. Yes, sir. She was not in on Saturday. That was her
scheduled day off. We alternate-the secretaries alternate.

page 899

r

By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. .Alter this did you have any further conversation or
discussion ,vith J\frs. vVebb concerning this shortage'
A. I had a second conference with her on Friday.
By the Court:
Q. A second conference?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. February 13th?
A. In the late afternoon. And at that time I had called her
in and told her that-that this was not going to just go away
by ignoring it, because during Thursday and the early part
of Friday it appeared as if nothing had happened-I mean by
her actions-and that this would have to-she. would have to
work with Mr. Whiteside to try to unravel this thing.
And then we had a discussion as to how long her employment would be before it terminated. I advised her then that I
would give her an opportunity to resign. We discussed the
length of time. At that time I actually told her that she could
stay for thirty days but that she was forth,vith relieved of
all bookkeeping duties or any access to the cash or
page 900 r the books.
Oh, there ''Tas still in tha.t conversation no admission or indication that she was responsible for this shortage. But I still was assured of cooperation as far as unravelling the "problem". The conversation then terminated after
that.
She was to be off on Saturday, as I previously mentioned.
I had a meeting in Richmond on ~ionday, so I knew after that
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Friday meeting it would be Tuesday before I would see her
again. So I wrote her a memorandum on Friday night and
left it in a sealed envelop in her desk advising her that her
employment would have to terminate by the following Friday.
I had then since thought better of this· idea of her being there
for any such length of time as I had agreed to on the Friday
conference.
Q. You mean the thirty days Y
A. Yes, sir. .And in that memorandum again I urged her to
work with Mr. Whiteside in this matter.
.And I saw her again on Tuesday, as I have previously mentioned. .And on Tuesday afternoonMr. Baker: This would be Tuesday theThe Court: The 17th, I assume .
.A. (Continuing)

I was informed that she had left-

Mr. Baker: If you were informed-just a minute-it is hearsay evidence. Unless he was informed by Mrs. Webb herself then the answer is
obviously hearsay.

page 901

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Let me ask you this: Did she leave the office that day?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did she come back~
A. No, sir.
By The Court:
Q. What day did she leave, again Y
A. On the 17th.
By Mr. Garnett: (continuing)
.
Q. Did you have any indication she was gone for good that
day?
A. I did.

J\tir. Baker: If the Oourt please, I think the proper question is for him to testify what indications he had. If it is
hearsay then it is inadmissible. You cannot cure it just by
asking di.d you get an indication. I think the witness should
be asked as to what occurred and 'vhat happened, in the
limits of what is proper examination and proper evidence.
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vVe will find him saying yes, I got an indication.
The indication may well turn out to be that someone in the offi-ce told him.
The Court : I don't know whether it is hearsay, Mr. Baker. I don't know what the indication was.
l\{r. Baker: If 1\tirs. Webb told him she wasn't going to be
back, or if she left a note saying she 'vasn 't g·oing to be back,
then that is evidence. If it is an indication from any other
source, I cannot conceive of the circumstances where it would
be evidence, if the Court please.
The Court : I will let him ask him how he got the indication.
Mr. Baker: I do not contend that this is any critical
point; I think if we start off following the ru1es we will have
a much easier time following the rules when we do get to
something important.
The 1Court: Go ahead.
page 902

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Did you have any indication, Mr. Mel\{urran t'ha.tThe Court: Find another word for it, Mr. Garnett.

Q. Did you find anytl1ing in the office to show that she was
not going to be back?
A. At the end of the day I took the cash receipts for
the day and put them in the safe. I found among
page 903 ~ the cash receipts a check which had been drawn
payable to Mrs. Webb for a week's salary,
through the Friday of that week. .And it had been cashed
in the drawer. The c.heck was unsigned. I felt that it was
reasonable for me to surmise that that was-she was terminating her employment by this action.
Q. Did she return to her employment at any other time
after that?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you have any further discussion with ~Irs. vVebb
relative to the shortage, Mr. McMurran?
A. Not in my office.
Q. At any place?
A. The next meeting that we had was in about the middle of
March. I would say the 13th, 14th, of March, at Mr. "Thiteside 's office.
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At that meeting Mrs. Webb, Mr. Heath-the father-Mr.
Bowen, Mr. Whiteside and I were present.
By The Court:
Q. At J\IIr. Whiteside's office?
A. Yes, sir. At Mr. Whiteside's office. The purpose of that
meeting was__:_
Mr. Baker: If the ·court please, I do not think the purposeBy Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Just tell what happened.
page 904

~

1\Ir. Baker: The purpose of the meeting· can
have no affect on this evidence.
1\{r. Garnett: Sit down, Mr. Baker.
Mr. Baker: I do not need the Attorney for the CommonwealthMr. Garnett: I withdraw the remark, Judge.
1\IIr. Baker: When I address the Court I do not need the
Attorney for the Commonwealth to tell me to sit down.
Mr. Garnett: Let the witness proceed, Judge, on that
point.
The Court: He has a right to make an objection, Mr. Garnett. He is addressing the Court. You don't run it. He has a
right to make the objection.
Mr. Garnett : I realize I don't run it, Judge. I am not pretending to.
By 1\{r. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Without stating the purpose of the meeting, 1\{r. McMurran, would you state whether or not there was any conversation with Mrs. Webb, either by you or someone else in
your presence and in her presence, concerning this alleged
shortage?
A. At that meeting there were-the shortage was discussed.
The item that sticks out specifically in my memory
page 905 } was when I pointed to a particular entry which
was a payment that had been received we 'II say in
early September and had not been credited until late December, I said why would this be so late being put on the books Y
Q. Do you recall the account that was in 1
A. Citizens Rapid Company.
Q. All right, sir.
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A. The explanation offered was, well, I must have just
suddenly realized that it hadn't been posted and put it on.
Q. Did you ask her any other questions concerning the
books and why they were kept in the manner in which they
were~

A. No, sir. As I recall it, that was my only specific ques~~

-

Q. All right, sir. Did you have any further conversation
with her concerning the shortage~
A. My next meeting was on July the 29th, I believe, at
the residence ofBy The Court:
Q. 1958 or 1959 Y
A. Excuse me. Yes, sir. Of 1959. -at the residence of
her parents, Mr. and Mrs. 1-Ieath.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q'. Who was present at that meeting?
page 906 ~ A. At that meeting was Mrs. Webb, Mr. Heath,
Mr. Krakoviak-who is a claims adjuster for the
Globe Indemnity Company, our bonding company-and Mr.
Bowen and I.
·
Q. What was discussed at that particular meeting Y
By The Court:
Q. Let me get who was there Y
A. Mr. HeathQ·. Mr. and Mrs. HeathA. No, Mr. Heath, Mrs. Webb, Mr. KrakoviakQ. How do you spell his name'
A. (Spelling) l{-R-A-K-0-V-I-A-K. Mr. Bowen and I.
By Mr. Garnett: (~Continuing)
Q. All right, sir. What, if anything, was discussed there Y
A. Well, as I recall, Mr. l{rakoviak did most of the talking at this meeting. It was just a general discussion of the
shortage. And the·Q. Let me ask you, did this-did she offer any explanation
for the shortage at all t
A. Not in my presence.
Mr. Baker: Let the witness finish the answer to the question, if the Court please.
The Court : Let him finish answering the· question.
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A. I don't remember anything concrete at that
meeting. There was no admission of this thing.
There was some discussion of a lie detector test.
Mrs. Webb made the statementQ. You cannot go into that.

page 907

~

Mr. Baker: We will permit him to testify what statement
she made. I think that is evidence.
Mr. Garnett: If he has no objection to this, Your Honor,
I certainly have no objection to putting in evidence relative to
the conversation.
The Court: He said he had no objection.
Mr. Baker: To the statement made by Mrs. Webb.
Q. All right, sir, if they want it in it is all right with me.
What was said about the lie detector testY
A. Well, Mrs. Webb said that she would be willing to take
a lie detector testMr. Baker : Would be willing Y
A. Would be willing, provided everyone who had ever
worked for Bowen Company also took a lie detector test. And
I said surely you don't mean people who worked fourteen-fifteen years ago, part-time employees, everyone. She said, I
mean everybody who has ever been connected
page 908 ~with Bowen Company. And I informed her that
certainly all of those who were presently employed would be perfectly wi1ling to take a lie detector test.
Q. Did you offer to take one?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What did she say to that 1
A. Her answer was that it was no deal unless everyone took
it who had ever been connected with the :firm. And that would
be a rather substantial number.
Q. You were discussing there and I asked you a question
and there was some comment about letting you finish the answer, I will re-ask you this question: Did she ever offer any
reason or excuse as to this shortage?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did she ever attempt to blame it on anybody else T
A. No, sir. Not at this meeting. Not in my presence.
Q. Did she ever make any accusation in your presence or
to anyone in your presence that she-to the effect that she had
made the entries as you told her to make them Y
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A.. No, sir.
Q. Or as anyone else told her to make them?
A. That was never mentioned, that it was done
page 909 r at anyone's direction other than her own.
Mr. Baker : If the Court please, I know this is going to get
a little boring after awhile, but the Attorney for the Commonwealth is back on his series of questions which clearly suggest the desired answer and could be answered with a simple
yes, and again a witness ·with no knowledge of this case, having
nothing but a desire to satisfy the Commonwealth and willingness to deal loosely with the truth-which I do not suggest
with this witnessThe Court: Please don't suggest the answer. Go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: I did not hear what you said about dealing
loosely with the truth.
The Court : Which I say don't answer at ull. I am the one
that is going to conduct the court throug·h objections. I-Iavc
your seat.
lVIr. Garnett: I didn't know \vhether it was directed to me
or not.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Did you have any further conversations with Mrs. Webb
concerning this matter~
A. A.t this same meeting the only other thing that sticks out
in my memory was an inference of blackmail which Mrs. Webb
brought up. And I recall saying what do you
page 910 ~ mean' And \Ve just pursued it for a short tin1e and
got no where. I me.an it was just a veiled reference
to blackmail. We could never pin it down as to what she was
talking about.
Q. Did she ever explain this blackmail?
A.. Never at a later date, at that time, or at a later date.
Q. Did she ever say that anyone was blackmailing herY
A. No, sir.
Q. Any group of people were blackmailing her Y
A.. No, sir. Not in my presence. No, sir.
Q. J\tir. McMurran, as bookkeeper for the :firm, did Mrs.
Webb submit to you any monthly reports or trial balances or
anything of that nature concerning the condition of the books Y
A. Every month a trial balance, a profit and loss statement,
·and a balance sheet were submitted to Mr. Bowen and me.
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By the Court :
Q. Mr. Bowen and me?
A. Yes, sir.
By J\llr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Do you recall whether or not she submitted one to you
at the end of December, 19587
A. It was submitted every month, including the
page 911 ~ month of December, 1958. That was the last statement that she submitted to us.
Q. Did she submit then1 directly to you or to someone else?
A. 1\Tell, I suppose you would say directly to me. Yes, sir.
Q. Mr. McMurran, I have here in my hand a notebook, have
you ever seen this notebook before 7
A. Yes, sir. That is the notebook that-with our balance
sheets, profit and loss statements, and trial balances.
Q. Are these the monthly statmnents that you just referred
toY

A. They are the. 1nonthly statements; yes, sir.
Q. Who made these statements 1
A. Mrs. Webb.
By the Court :
Q. Monthly statements for each month 7
A. Yes, sir. Yes, sir. Trial balances, balance sheets, and
profit and loss statements for each month.
Mr. Garnett : Do you boys want to look it over 1
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.
The Court: Pass it to ~ir. Baker and let him see
it.
page 912 ~ :Mr. Baker: Perhaps it would be better if we
could look at it at the table, Judge.
The Court: Go ·ahead and do it, please, sir.
Mr. Baker: I am trying to take the notes of the last statement, then I will be able to do it, if Your Honor please.
The Court: Court will be at case for three or four minutes.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, following which
the hearing resumes as follows :

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Now, Mr. McMurran, I hand you here the green loose
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leaf notebook that we have just referred to; will you look at it
and see whether or not you can identify it!
A. This is a booklet containing our trial balances, statements of profit. and loss, and our balance sheets for the period
of January, 1953 through December, 1958.
By the Court :
Q. What is the date, December what?
A. December, 1958.
Q. This book starts with January, 1953?
A. Yes, sir.
page 913 ~ Q. To December, 1958?
A. Yes, sir.
By ~{r. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Would you tell us again, please, who made those trial
balances and profit and loss statements?
A. These were all 1nadc by ~irs. ebb.
Q. I direct your attention particularly to the one for Decenlber, 1958; does that state any liability to insurance accounts payable with any particularity to Globe Y
A. This on the balance sheet shows our accounts payable insurance, which would be our general insurance accounts with
the exception of this special account with Globe for the Citizens Rapid Transit Company. The special account for Citizens Rapid Transit Company, which is listed as a separate
item, shows a liability of $679.20.
Q. That would be as of what date·?
A. $679.20 as of December 31, 1958.
Q. Does that mean that-

'V

By the Court:
Q. Decen1ber 31, 1958?
A. Yes, sir. (Continuing) That means that is what this
statement sho"rs that we owed to Globe on this special account as of that day.
~fr.

Garnett: I offer this book in evidence as Commonwealth's Exl1ibit No. 22.
page 914 ~ The Court: So marked and received.
Note: The above referred to loose leaf notebook containing· the monthly staten1ents is 1narked and filed as Commonwealt'h's Exhibit No. 22.
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Mr. Garnett: Now, Mr. McMurran, if you will answer one
of these gentlemen, please Y
CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. Mr. McMurran, I will show you Commonwealth's Exhibit No. 19 which you identified yesterday, and I will ask you
the date of the deposit shown on the bank statement Y
A. December 21, 1956.
By the Court :
Q. December what 7
A. 1956.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. What are you reading from 7
A. The deposit slil!. dated December 21, 1956.
Q. I asked you about the bank statement, not the deposit
slip.
A. The bank statement : December 26, 1956.
Q. What are the dates of those checks that you issued at
that time?
A. December 21, 1956.
page 915 ~ Q. So as a matter of fact the checks were dated
five days before the account was established, is
that not true, sir?
A. The account bad already been established.
Q. There was nothing in it, was there Y
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. So that the checks were not good for five days, is that
true, sir, from your documents 7
A. That would be true, sir.
The Court: Let me see the slip, the deposit slip of December the 21st f
Note: The document is handed to the Court.
The Court: It is actually credited on December the 26th.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. The perforation on the deposit slip which is dated December the 21st shows what, please, sir, by way of date?
A. That also shows December the 26th.
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Q. Would you be willing to state from your experience in
banking matters that that account went into the bank's records
as of December the 26th Y
Mr. Garnett: I object to that, ·because this gentleman has
not been qualified as a banker.
page 916 ~ Mr. Ferguson: I said in his banking experience, if he knows.
The Court : He said from his banking experience, if he
knows. I will let him say it, if he knows.
A. At this time of the year I would say this was very possible. This was handled by mail, and it is possible that in this
particular year that there was a delay, because of thatQ. We don't want speculation, unless you know-

Mr. Garnett: You asked for a sp~culative answer.
The Court: I will accept that answer that it was handled
by mail.
Q. Do you know that to be a fact, or is that just a possibility,
Mr. McMurran?
A. That it was handled by mail Y
Q. Yes, sir.
A. I know that to be a fact.
Q. Did you not make the deposit Y
A. Yes, sir.

The Court:
Q. Bymail?
A. Yes, sir.
page 917

~

Kinlock-~

By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When were these checks delivered to the
payees: 1\ir. Garrett, yourself, Mrs. Webb, Mrs.

A. It could have been on the 21st. It might have been a day
or two later.
·Q. Are you again not sure in your memory, ~Ir. McMurrant
A. Not as to the exact day it was delivered, but it would
have been approximately on the day or day or so afterwards.
Q. Normally would the checks be delivered on the day they
were written or dated, if you knowY If you don't know you can
say so, sir.
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A. They were-I would say normally they would be, if Mr.
Bowen were available for signature, on that particular day.
Q. You stated you prepared these checks Y
A. I prepared the checks. Mr. Bowen signed them.
Q. No one else in the office knew what the other one was receiving, is that true, sir?
A. That is true. Yes, sir.
'Q. They didn't know until these checks were introduced in
court today, is that true, sir?
A. As far as I know that is true, sir.
Q. Or yesterday, when they were produced.
A. Yes, sir.
page 918 r Q. The whole purpose of running this account
this way was to maintain secrecy so far as the
distribution of the bonus was concerned Y
A. Secrecy or privacy, whichever word you want to use.
Q. Do your records show whether or not these checks were
actually cashed in Bowen Company's funds in the office?
A. They do not-"Tould not show that. N-o, sir.
Q. Does any record in your office show whether these checks
were cashed out of the funds in the office?
A. No, sir.
Q. Is it not a matter of common practice in the office for
employees to cash their pay checks out of the cash in the
office T
A. I would say it is not common practice. I think it was
done on many occasions, as far as the secretaries were concerned.
Q. Well, as a matter of convenience, if the money is available for the purpose of cashing checks in the office, is there
any partic.u.lar reason why the employees should go outside
the office to cash the checks Y
A. No. N·o particular reason. No, sir.
Q. It would be more convenient to do it in the office, would
it not?
page 919 ~ A. That is correct.
Q. Is there any objection in the office to that
being done?
A. No, sir, not if the cash were available.
Q. You say that was done on many occasions Y
A. Pay checks. Weekly pay checks. I don't imagine these
checks, because they should be too large. We 'vould not
usually have that much cash 9n hand.
Q. Mr. Garrett's check for $25.00, would that be too much?
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A. That could have been, unless he indicates that he deposited it to his bank account.
Q. Did the employees from time to time cash personal
checks other than pay checks in the office 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was that done as an accommodation to the employees?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did not also customers from time to time cash checks in
the office as an accommodation to them 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So the result would be that the status of currency, as
distinguished from the checks in the cash drawer, would be
Tather difficult to trace, would it not?
A. Unless there were some indication given
page 920 ~ that that check had been cashed.
Q. Was any record kept to show when cash
was converted to checks in the cash drawer?
A. No specific record. It would presumably show on the
deposit slip if the check itself for which cash had been substituted had been put in deposit.
Q. Without a record or without knowing how much currency was in the cash drawer because of its conversion by
cashing of checks, it would make it ·rather difficult for an accountant or anybody else to say what currency belong·ed in
the drawer and what belonged in the drawer by way of checks,
would it not, sir?
A. No, because the currency received would be indicated as
currency, and cash would be-I mean and checks would be
indicated as checks.
Q. But suppose I cashed a check in there, it would still be
called currency, would it not? It would be an accommodation
Bowen was doing for me, would it not?
A. Well, say if we had $300.00 in currency to deposit; you
had cashed a check for $50.00; then the deposit should show
$250.00 in currency, and your check added as a part of the deposit.
Q. So that if you tried to trace the currency by the deposit
you 'vould show a shortage, would you not, right
page 921 ~ away, although, in fact, the money was there in
the for1n of a check which was cashed as an accom.rilodation Y
.
A. There would be a shortage in currency and an overage in
checks, ma~rbe.
Q. A shortage in currency and an ·overage in checks 7
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A. Yes. I mean this: The check had been substituted for
the currency because of the cashing of the check; it 'vouldn 't
affect the total deposit.
Q. T·he total deposit should be the same 7
A. Should be the same.
Q. The check that y<>u cashed for a customer naturally
wouldn't be entered into your books anywhere in the account
if it was n1erely an accommodation to cash the check, would
it?
A. Tl1at is right. It would appear only on the deposit
slip.
Q. So that all of the checks that are in the cash drawer do
not necessarily, <>r should not necessarily go into the books
because some of them might not be for accounts, is that true?
A. That is true, if they were cashed for customers or employees.
Q. I show you Commonwealth Exhibit No. 20 and ask you
to exanJine the date of that deposit slip, please, sir? vVbat is
the date¥ Did you make out the deposit ,slip, sir?
A. I made out the deposit slip.
page 922 ~ Q. What date did you put on it, sir?
A. December 21st.
Q. Thatwas-

By the Conrt:
Q. "\Vbat, 1957?
A. Yes, sir. It was marked as received at tl1e bank on
Decembel" 21st.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. So that deposit slip got to the bank on the same day
that you made it out, Mr. McMurran?
A. That is correct.
Q. And the account shows a credit on the bank statement of
the deposit as of December 21st; would you check that please,
sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So that that deposit slip we had fast mail that day, did
we not?
Mr. Garnett: I concede we did if the deposit was made by
mail.

A. If it were mailed, yes. I doubt if it was mailed that
day.
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Q. Do yon recall taking that in person to the bank?
A. I don't recall that, no, sir. Possibly I did.
Q. It is a possibility?
A. It's a possibility.
page 923 ~ Q. You are dealing in the speculative field, that
is correctA. Yes, sir. That is correct.
Q. -are you not?
The Court:
amounts to.

l-Ie couldn't really know.

That is what it

Q. Going back to Comn1onwealth Exhibit No. 19, do you
really know how this deposit slip got to the bank or are you
speculating as to that? I want to be fair with you.
A. I would say-I would have to say I was speculating as
to whether I mailed it or whether I personally took it by the
bank. By the date I would say it was mailed.
Q. It doesn't take more than a day for mail to go from
Newport News to Hilton, is that true 1
A. During Christmas it might.
Q. In other words you are assuming it was n1ailed, is that
not true?
A. I am assuming that.
Q. Your memory is vague on it?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
By the Court:
Q. vVhich one 'vere you just looking ai last?
A. The 1957 receipt.
Q. When you testified about it pTeviously you said it took
five days?
page 924 ~ A. That was the 1956 receipt. Yes, sir.
By

~fr.

Ferguson: (Continuing)

Q. I will show you Cornn1onwealth Exhibit No. 21, which is

the bonus deposit for the year 1958, and ask you when tlle deposit slip w·as made out? What does that show?
A. This was also made by mail. The deposit slip was made
out on December 20th; received at the bank on December 22nd
-$2,500.00.
Q. When were the checks paid in that particular year?
A. The checks were dated December 22nd.
Q. When was tha.t che.ck paid, the first one? "'\'TJlicb check
is that?
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A. The first check is payable to G. Keith McMurran, and
it's December the 24th. The next one is to Catherine Webb
and it's payable December 27th. The next one is to Cornelia
Kinlock, made payable December 26th, it looks like-no, excuse me, January 6, 1959. And to Frank H. Cowling on December 29th.
Q. ,Can you look at those checks and tell whether any of
them were cashed in the Bowen cash drawer?
A. I can tell the first one was not, the one payable to G.
Keith MeMurran, because it's marked for deposit only. The
second one, to Catherine Webb, it looks to me-it's endorsed
by her and her address under it. It's marked
page 925 ~ checking. So I would assume it went to the Bank
of Virginia in her checking account at the Bank of
Virginia. The third one to Cornelia Kinlock on January the
2nd was deposited in the Home Federal Savings and Loan.
And the one to Frank Cowling, it's endorsed by him. Again
I a.m not enough of a banker to know, but it's-it has the
First National Bank stam.p ·on it which I would assume that
he deposited it in his bank account at First National.
Q. Is Mrs. Kinlock's check attached to Exhibit No. 21, the
one that she did not endorse, did you notice?
A. She did endorse this one, but on the opposite end.
Bv the Court:
~ Q. She endorsed it on the other end T
A. Yes, sir. And deposited it in the Home Federal Savings and Loan on January 6th. It was paid on January 6th
and was apparently deposited on January the 2nd.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. I'm sorry, Mr. McMurran, I meant to ask you that question as to Mrs. Kinlock's check attached to Exhibit No. 20.

The Court: The question is 'vhether it was endorsed or
not¥
Q. Whether it is endorsed f
A. The check is not endorsed.

It is stamped
on the back: Pay through Newport News Clearing House-First National.
Q. That is the usual clearing bank, is that true?
A. Yes, sir. I assume she deposited this to her account
there. I don't think she would have cashed it in the office.
Q. In your experience is that unusual to have a bank pay

page 926

~
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a check which is made out to a named payee without the
named payee endorsing it, is it unusualA. It's unusual, but it's done.
Q. It is done Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you think it is good banking practice to do it?
~{r. Garnett: Judge, what has all this to do with this
caseY
The Court: What does that have to do with this case, Mr.
Ferguson~

Mr. Garnett: We know it is possible for checks to be
cashed without them even being signed. Fron1 common experience we know that.
1\!Ir. Ferguson: It shows that banks make errors like anybody else.
1\{r. Garnett: It is no error to cash a check, I submit, tl1at
is not endorsed, Your Honor. The bank can do it
page 927 ~ or not, for its own protection. It doesn't require
an endorsement. There is no law that says a
check must be endorsed.
The Court: It is co1nm.on practice to have the checks endorsed; sometin1es they get by without being endorsed.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, there have been an awful
lot of checks introduced with particular pains in behalf of the
identification ·of the endorsements on the back. This particular check does not have an endorsement on the back. The
endorsement does not necessarily prove anything in tl1e
whole of the banking practice. It is a matter the ·Court might
well consider.
The Court: What is the materiality of it?
~Ir. Baker: It is material to the extent that it may or
should affect the ·Court's judgment with regard to t11e
probative value of the endorsement on any other check. That
is the materiality of it.
Mr. Garnett: You can sho'v it wasn't endorsed. You have
shown that. That is all right.
Mr. Ferguson: We have shown irregularities in other respects with regard to the bank.
page 928 } The Court: I took notice yesterday that one
check came back not endorsed.
.
By Mr. Ferguson : (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, you referred to your own bonus check
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and you seemed certain that your check was deposited in the
bank because you had written on it for deposit only.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I mig·ht tell you that in this case we have had some evidence of checks being marked for deposit only 'vhich, in fact,
were cashed. by the bank rather than deposited.
Mr. Garnett: Now you might not tell him that. You might
tell him there was one check, Mr. Ferguson.
The Court : There is evidence of a check; that is actually
the evidence.
Mr. Baker: He said of some checks.
~fr. Ferguson: I reduce that to a check, Mr. ~fcMurran.
Mr. Garnett: All right. Reduce it to a check.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you believe, in other 'vords, that every time you see
for deposit only on a check that it's an assurance that it was
deposited?
Mr. Garnett.: Just a moment, Mr. McMurran.
I object to rthat, Your Honor. Now I g'Uess maybe it is my time. That calls for purely a conclusion on the part of this witness.
The Court: That is all it would be, a conclusion.
Mr. Garnett: I object to it.
The Court: That is all it would be.
page 929

~

By Mr. Ferguson : (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, in referring to these bonus checks I believe you stated what account they were charged to, do you
recall?
A. Yes, sir. They were-the total check was charged to
Commissions Paid.
Q. Ant I correct in assuming that these bonus checks cannot be traced further in the Bowen Company books?
A. In the Bowen ~Company books, that is correct. Yes,
sir.
Q. ~ow which book is ·Commissions Paid-Employee's
Bonuses to be found in, please, sir, if you can tell me?
.A. That would be found in the General Ledger.
The Court: Do you need him to find it for you, sir?
Mr. Ferguson: I was going to hand it to him, Judge. I
think I can hand it to him.
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pag·e 930

~

Q. I will show you Commonwealth Exhibit No.

7, which seems to be the General Ledger. Since
the tab has come off, could you re-identify that

bookf
The Court: Has the tab come off again or is it on the side
there hanging down?
The Clerk: You will find the identification inside, sir.
The Court: Open the cover and see if the identifieation is
inside?
Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. 1\fcMurran, I will hand you Commonwealth Exhibit
No. 7 and ask you if you can point out to the Court where the
bonus checks are charged in the General Ledger?
A. The marked account No. 104Q. I am talking about for the year 1958, if you want to do
it by years. I believe the entry is dated December 19, 1958,
if that will be of any help.
Are those pages not in proper order, Mr. McMurran?
A. As far as I know they are in order. The numbers of the
account numbers didn't appear as I 'vas first looking at them
in proper sequence. You ·want 1958?
Q. Yes, sir. December 19, 1958.
A. It would be this item: December 19th, ,V. C. Bowen
for Employee BonusesMr. Garnett: Louder.
~

A. December 19th, W. C. Bowen for Employee
Bonuses, $2,500.00.
Q. That has a reference to it as to the source of that entry?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is the reference, please, sir 7
A. That's J42.
Q. What does that mean, sir?
A. That should indicate where the check, on what page
the check is in the Cash Disbursements Journal.

page 931

By the Court:
.
Q. In the .cash Disbursements Journal, Page 42, you say f
A. Yes, sir.
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By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
-Q. 1\fr. 1\f.cMurran, I am going to ask you to look at Commonwealth Exhibit No. 13. Would it be more convenient for
you to look at the book over on the table over here?
A. I can do it here, either way you want me to.
Q. Either way. Commonwealth Exhibit No. 13, I believe,
is the Cash Disbursements Journal, is that true, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Will you please trace that entry into the Cash Disbursements Journal?
page 932 ~ A. It's here. It's a credit it says to the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank, and a debit to Expense Account. In this book it says-it says see stub. It
should indicate, too, the account number.
Q. See stub, meaning stub of the check book, is that true,
sir?
A. That's true; yes, sir.
Q. That is the check book of Bowen Company books or Mr.
Bowen's personal checks?
A.. Bowen Company books. The check book of the Citizens
Marine Jefferson Bank.
By the Court:
Q. Bowen Company, Incorporated?
A. Yes, sir.
By 1\tfr. Ferguson : (.Continuing)
Q. The stub wouldn't indicate to whom these bonuses were
being paid, would it?
A. No, sir. That 'vould defeat the whole purpose, if it
did.
Q. It 'vouldn't indicate any breakdown of the check at all~
A. No, sir. No, sir.
By the ·Court:
Q. Except the Bowen Company wouldn't have the stub of
the other check book.
page 933 ~ A. The stub of the other check book is in detail.
Q. Was fhis handled in this ease, as I believe you have already testified, to maintain privacy?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So that everybody wouldn't know what everybody else
was getting for a bonus, is that true, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Except you, you knew.
A. ·Yes, sir.

By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. You would know, of course, in your official capacity as
general manager-A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. --and vice-president of the company.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And Mr. Bowen, of course, 'vould know.
A. Mr. Bowen? That's right.
Q. Did you indicate how this bonus item was to be put in
the books to Mrs. Webb? How did she know where to put the
accounts?
A. Well, I told her the amount of the check to be issued,
and I suppose in 1950 or 51 I told her to which account it was
to be charged. Thereafter she 'vould know, because she knew
what purpose the check was to be issued.
page 934 ~ Q. It was a repetitive performance every year,
is that true, sir Y
A.. Tha:t is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. So that the page information, I mean the iten1 of Commissions Paid--Employee Bonus would be a repeated occurrence from year to year?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. There was an entry on it once a year'
A. Once a year, in the latter part of November or December.
Q. Was it handled each year in the same manner'
A. In the same manner.
Q. Having told Mrs. Webb in 1951, you did not find it
necessary to tell her any further where to put that particular
item?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. That is, where to post that item 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. We are referring about the posting of the item in the
Cash Disbursements?
A. That's right. It would be no discussion as to where to
post it, because she knew.
Q. How about the charges as appears in the--Wbat was the
ledger that we looked at--
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A. In the General Ledger. As bookkeeper, she
page 935 } would actually physically issue the check, enter it
in the Cash Disbursements Journal, and then post
it to the General Ledger.
Q. Then carry it to the General Ledger?
A. That is corre~t. Yes, sir.
Q. As p8.rt of Mrs. Webb's job, did she make up the W-2
Forms for the en1ployees' wages f
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know whether or not the bonus item was included
in the employees' wages on the W-2 Forms?
A. I doubt it. I couldn't swear to it one way or the other.
Q. Aren't you pretty sure that they were not included 7
A. Yes. I would say they could not have been.
Q. Because Mrs. Webb did not even know what the others
were getting, isn't that true, sir Y
A. That is true, sir.
Q. There is no doubt in your mind that they were not includedf
A. There is no doubt in my mind.
Q. What· did you tell Mrs. Webb with respect to this item
of Employee Bonuses paid out to the employees¥
A. I don't know 'vhether I understandQ. With respect to filling out the W-2 Forms,
page 936 } if that was discussed?
A. There 'vas no discussion, because it did not
appear.
By the Court:
Q. It did not show anything¥
A. No, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Was this iten1 on the Bowen books an expense, operation
expense which would be deducted in order to obtain the net
profit figure 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was the item charged to Mr. Bowen personally because
the check was paid to him 1
A. It was charged to Commissions Paid. That's true. It
appeared in his name. It actually was nothing that he received personally.
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Q. So that it actually was not Commissions Paid, is that
true?
A. That's a. question of terminology.
Q. Was it commissions Y
A. It was a bonus. That 'vas the intention. But this account was sort of a catch-all account, so to speak, for our
brokerage between agencies and counter-signature commissions and various things that you have in an inpage 937 ~ surance agency.
Q. In other words, the rest of the items in that
particular account came under the general field of insurance
commissions which are usual in the insurance business, is that
true?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir. In other words, commissions
that the firn1 pays out 7
Q. Yes.
A. That's right.
Q. Commissions which w·ere earned and which the Bowen
Company is responsibile for paying¥
A. That's right.
Q. Would ~fr. Garrett be a person who was working on
commissions-who worked on commissions in your office, insurance commissions 1
A. ·No one worked on insuranc.e commissions.
Q. So that this particular bonus item had no real relation
with insurance commissions, as such?
A. "Tith insurance conunissions, as such; that is true.
Q. Did it have .any relation with respect to real estate commissions, as such Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Am I correct in assun1ing then that you put it in this
account because it was convenient to put it there,
page 938 } sir?
·
A. I suppose that would be the best way to say
it. Yes, sir. 'Ve could have set up a separate sheet specifically calling it Employees Bonus, but I suppose it was more
convenient to put it in this particular account.
Q. Wouldn't it be more appropriate, maybe, to put it in the
salary account if it were, in fact, a salary, a part of a person's
salary?
A. If we had we wouldn't have achieved what we were attempting to achieve.
Q. Mr. ~fc~Iurran, you got $1,200.00 in 1958 out of this
fund?
A. ·Yes, sir.
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Q. That is a nice piece of change to add to your salary, is it
notY
A. That's true.
1\tir. Garnett: I will concede that it is.

Q. And yet the books on the-If you looked under the
salaries in the books you would find no mention of this receipt
at all, is that true ?
A. That is true.
Q. Why couldn't it have been a miscellaneous charge in the
salary account without identification, if you wanted to keep it
private?
A. Then we wouldn't have achieved what we were attempting to achieve.
page 939 ~ Q. Let me ask you: 'Vhat were you attempting
to achieve, Mr. McMurran?
A. As I testified earlier, achninistrative privacy, is the best
"ray I know how to put it.
Q. Did I understand you to say earlier that you conceived
of this bookkeeping entry yourself, or that Mr. Whiteside, or
who did? Did unybody advise you on it or was it your
idea?
A. Initially Y
Q. Yes, sir.
A. I would say that 1\fr. Bowen and I decided in conference.
We did not receive any outside advice on it.
Q. You did not consult your business consultant?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did he kno·w about it 1
A. Not that I recall. Yes, he knew about it. I don't recall
any particularQ. He was aware of it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. He did not criticize it, or did he?
A. No, sir.
.
Q. Did he give an open app1·oval or a silent acquiescence?
Mr. Garne:tt: Your Honor, I don't know what-! have been
very patient here. Now I don't know 'vhat all this
page 940 ~ has got to do with this case.
The evidence is that they asked him about three
cheeks. Mr. McMurran explained the checks, where they went.
The accountant showed how they were charged in the books.
They were clearly labeled Employees Bonus.
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Now whether they were put in that account or not, whether
it was put in the salary account, whether the taxes were paid
on it or not has nothing to do with the issue here in this case.
The ~Court: It may not, except it may be some attack on
Mr. Whiteside's ability as an adviser or ·something like that.
I will have to let it go in for that reason, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I wish they would announce their reason as
to why they say this is material. They certainly have to connect it up with somethingMr. Ferguson: It will be connected up. I will assure you of
that.
Mr. Garnett: It will take more than that, Mr. Ferguson.
The ·Court: Go ahead.
By Jvir. Ferguson: (Continuing·)
·
Q. So this decision was arrived at by you and
page 941 ~ 1\ir. Bowen?
A. Th.at is correct.
Q. As to how-

1\fr. Garnett: I am not sure but I think that is a state of
mind, 'vhich they have been objecting to all morning.
Q. As to how this account, bonus account should be set up?
A. That is true.
Q. And that Mrs. Webb so set it up under your direction?
A. Well, she didn't set up the account.
Q. I mean so posted it in the books according to your directionsf
A. That is correc.t. That's right.

Mr. Garnett: He has testified to that three times.
The Court: Yes, he has testified to that.
Mr. Garnett: Really, I think they ought to show us whether
anything is wrong with this and whether this affects the
shortage. I am perfectly willing to sit here and listen to
it-

1\'[r. Baker: If the Court please, if the Court feels the objection of the Conunonwealth is well taken 've will
page 942 ~ be glad to take it up in the presence of the Court
and the Attorney for the Commonwealth.
I do not think we are required to outline in advance what
we expect to elicit from this witness by cross examination.
Mr. Garnett: If you have elicited anything so far, I am
'vondering what is it 1
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The Court: It may be an attack on the credibility of Mr.
Whiteside, or something like that, Mr. Garnett. I cannot say.
It may be material and it may not. I don't know, sir.
Mr. Garnett: All right, sir.
By 1\tir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, in outlining the duties yesterday of the
various employees in the office, I don't believe you referred to
who did the filing; is anybody assigned to do the filing Y
A. Yes, sir. Mrs. Kinlock.
Q. How about correspondence Y That is, office correspondence as well as personal correspondence Y
A. Mrs. Kinlock would file all correspondence.
Q. Would file it Y
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. How about the typing or taking of dictation?
A. Well, at the time I would say both took
page 943 ~ dictation.
By the Court:
Q. Who is both, now'
A. Both Mrs. Kinlock and Mrs. Webb.
Q. Both took dictation Y
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. They are the two secretaries in the office Y
A. That's right. Except some-At this time?
Q. At this time, yes, sir. We are referring to the year 1959
and for a fe'v years prior to that.
A. ·YesJ sir.
Q. How long did these employees, the five people that you
named, how long were they as a unit in the office Y
A. Well, let me see. I believe Mr. ~Cowling came into the
office in, I believe it was December-November or December,
1956. At that time Mrs. Kinlock and Mrs. Webb were both
employed.
We for several summers had a secretary in as a third for
the summertime work.
Q. As a substitute for vacation purposes, orA. Substitute-For additional work and substitute for
vacations.
Q. Who was the substituteA. Marcia Hoffman.
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page 944

~

By the ,court:
Q. Hoffman?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Substitute for whati I didn't quite follow what you
said.
A. She did-she helped us get caught up on various matters, and substituted for vacations.
Q. I didn't get her first name.
A. Marcia. M-A-R-C-I-A (spelling).

By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Who would she be substituting for?
A. Principally for Mrs. IGnlock, who invariably took from
ten days to two weeks vacation.
Q. Was it Miss or Mrs. Ifoffman?
A. Miss.
Q. Wbat was Miss Hoffman's duties, to take over 1\frs.
Kinlock's job or part of her job?
A. She did a number of things. We have an address-ograph system. Each year she would bring that up to date.
Go through all of our files to remove any dead files. Too,
she did dictation. She prepared mailing lists for things that
we send out at .Christmas time. She prepared greeting· cards,
as far as greeting cards and things that we get done in the
summer ·so that they are ready to go out at the proper time.
Q. What would be her average length of empage 945} ployment in the summer, sir?
A. Well, as I recall, the first summer that she
was there she was there maybe for six weeks. And thereafter
she was there from the time that she got out of college until she
went back to college. She was a student at the College of
William and Mary.
Q. I believe you also stated that she would in general help
the office get caught up on anything that you 'vere behind in Y
A. That's right. Yes.
By the Court:
Q. You say she worked full time from the time she got out
of college until she went back to college?
A. She worked about six weeks the first summer, and then
I believe she was there either two or three summers the full
summ.er.
Q. That would be three months T
A. ·Yes, sir. From the time she got out of college until she
went back to college.
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By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. In other words, the usual summer vacation period for
college students.
A. Yes, sir. The usual summer vacation period. That'~
right.
Q. Whose job was it, if anybody 's, who was
page 946 ~ assigned ·to the taking of deposits to the various
banks?
A. It was either J.\!Irs. Kinlock or Mr. Co,vling. I don't
believe that Mrs. vVebb physically took deposits to the bank.
Q. Was anybody assigned to the job of getting the mail Y
A. Yes, sir. Mrs. Vi ebb.
Q. Mrs. Webb was? You are sure Mrs. J{inlock wasn't
theA. Well, it-it varied back and forth. Mrs. Webb had
transportation. As I recall, they used to drive to work together and would stop at the post office and pick up the
mail.
Q. In other words, they would get it together, or would one
go in the post office while the other sat in the carY
A. I would assume Mrs. Kinlock would have gone in the
post office to have gotten it.
Q. So would you want the Court to believe that Mrs. Kinlock got the mail or Mrs. Yvebb got the mail Y
J\IIr. Garnett: I believe he testified he didn't know, Judge.
It is purely speculative.
The Court: That is right. He said he did not know.
page 947

~

A. I wasn't there.
Q. Who was responsible for getting the mail!

T'he Court: Do you know that!
A. It's either Mrs. Kinlock or Mrs. vVebb who got the mail.
Q. You are in charge of the office. You say, you get the
mail; who did you assign that duty to f
A. Well-It varied back and forth. I would say they both
were assigned to g·etting the mail. For instance, on Saturdays
one would come in one Saturday, one would come in another
Saturday. They both 'had keys to the post office. So I think
I would say both of them got the mail.
Q. Isn't that a little wasteful of manpower to assign getting the mail-
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Mr. Garnett: What difference does that make whether it is
wasteful or not? That is not the issue here. We are not
here studying the economy; we are here studying the shortage.
The Court: I do not -see where that would make any difference. They both went by the post office on their way to work.
They both rode in the same car to work. They did it on their
own time; not on Bowen 'Company's time.

Q. Mr. McMurran, on Saturdays I think you had them
alternating coming to the office, isn't that true¥
A. That's true. Yes, sir.
page 948 ~ Q. The one ,vho came to work on Saturday
would be the one to get the mail on Saturday Y
A. That is correct.
Q. Is it a fair statement that on week days that Mrs. Kinlock generally drove with Mrs. Webb to work, and that Mrs.
Webb would drive up in front of the post office and Mrs. Kinlock would go in and get the mail?
Mr. Garnett: I object to the question on the ground, of
course, he cannot know that. That is a ridiculous question.
The ·Court: I don't see bow he could }{now that, unless he
was there to see it.
Q. There has been some reference in other testimony as to
a cash drawer, Mr. McMurran; are you familiar with the cash
drawer?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The cash drawer in the office of Bowen Company, Incorporated¥
.A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is the proper name of that business, Mr. ~Ic
Murrant
.A. I think it is Bowen Company, lncopo1·a.ted doing business as Bowen Company, is the correct name of the firm.
Q. Will you tell us the location of the cash drawer in the
office of Bowen Company, Incorporated doing
page 949 ~ business as Bowen Company?
A. The cash drawer was a drawer in a desk.
Q. Where was the desk located Y
A. In the front office nearest to our divider between the
lobby and the work section.
Q. Is the divider a sort of counter arrangen1ent 7
.A. Like a fence. Like the jury box there.
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Q. Just a partition coming up about waist high?
A. Yes. That's right. Like a bank partition.
Q. Who was assigned to that desk at the counter in February, February 6, 1959?
A. (Pause).
Q. Who worked at that desk, if you know?
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. Are you sure?
A. I'm reasonably certain. T·he reason I hesitated is that
there were-there was a period-their desks were next to each
other, and there was a period tha.t one sat at the other and
then they reversed. I believe at the time, February, 1959, she
was at the front desk.
Q. Vlhen was this period that these desks changed, that is,
the occupants of these desks changed, if you ren1ember1
A. I couldn't say, ~·fr. Ferguson.
Q. Was it ever changed- ere they tl1ere from
page 950 r 1949 to 1958?
A. Mrs. Kinlock c.am.e to work in August, 1951.
Q. Where was ~irs. l{inlock 's desk 1 "\Vhcre did you assign
her a place to work?
A. In 19511
Q. Yes, sir.
A. I just don't recall at this point.
Q. The other day in your testimony, direct testimony to
Mr. Garnett, yesterday, you stated with absolute certainty
that on February the-either the 6th, 9th or lOth that you
went by Mrs. Webb's desk and noticed that she was not there;
where was her desk?
A. IIer desk at that time, in 1959 her desk was the first desk
in the work space. The one nearest to the front of the office.
Q. And you do not know ho"r long· she was assigned to that
desk, a week, monthA. Oh, no, it had been some tin1e.
Q. A year?
A. .As I recall, the change came about something about the
dictaphone, 'vho was to use the dictaphone.
Q. Well, ·was it before or after the introduction of the
McBee System?
A. That the change was n1ade?
Q. Yes.
A. It's possible that's when it was made at the
page 951 ~ time they introduced the l\IcBee System.
Q. When was the 1YicBee System introduced 1

''T
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A. Well, we started applying for it in early 1958. The
actual transition actually started in operation July 1, 1958.
Q. So that is it fair to assu1ne that prior to then J\lfrs. !{inlock occupied the front desk1 If you remember I don't want
you toA. I can't honestly say. As I say, there was smne changing
back and forth.
Q. Can you state that at son1e thne between 1956 and 1959
Mrs. Kinlock did occupy the front desk1
.A. Yes, sir.
Q. Although you do not retneinber what time.
A. I don't remember what thne. But I'm reasonably certain it was prior to July, 1958.
Q. Yon would not want to be held down to any specific
time.
A. No, sir.
Q. T'hat is the best of your recollection.
A. That is correct.
Q. The front desk is the desk with tl1e cash drawer in it?
A. That is correct.
Q. I believe you have stated that other mnploypa.ge 952 ~ ees, I imagine you have yourself, cashed checks
out of the cash drawer, have you not, sir¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. lias Mr. Bo·wen ever done it f
A. I'm certain 'he has.
Q. And other employees connected with the work lu1ve done
it"?
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I think that is about five tin1es we have been
over that.
The Court: Yes, sir. If tlwre is anybody else he has
missed I will let him ask it.
1v[r. Garnett: If there is anybody else, please ask it now.

Q. Do you know whether or not people who were not employees J1ave gone to the cash drawer and cashed their own
checks¥
A. Physically gone to the cash drawer Y
Q. Yes, sir.
A. No, sir.
Q. Ho,v about John Baugh Y Or Richard McMurra.n f
A. Certvinly not Richard 1\'Icl\'Iurran. He is in no way connected with the firm. John Baugh occupied desk space in

\
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there at one time. To my knowledge he never went in the cash
drawer. I would say it is extremely unlikely, unpage 953 ~ less he were allowed to by Mrs. Webb.
Q. Why do you say unless he was allowed to by
Mrs. Wehb?
A. I say, or Mrs. Kinlock, whoever had control of the cash
drawer at the time.
Q. You let go a rather faint answer then, Mr. McMurran, on
a rather important angle of this case.
Mr. Garnett: That is a matter of opinion, 1\{r. Ferguson.
I move that it be stricken from the record.
The Court: I will let him answer the question.

Q. Do you recall when 1\{rs. Webb was hired by Bowen
Company1
A. Recall what?
Q, Do you recall when she 'vas hired~
A. Yes, sir. In 1959. Excuse me, 1949.
Q. Did she ans,ver a classified ad which Bowen Company
placed in the newspaper for an insurance secretary f
A. Yes, sir. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. When did she start posting the books?
A. In.
Q. If you rein ember f
A. In--I do remember. She started posting them in June
of '49. June, 1949.
page 954 ~ Q. Who gave her instructions as to how to post
the books¥
A. I would assume Mr. "Whiteside. I don't recall that.
Q. For your information he assumed you did; who did?
Mr. Garnett: He didn't say any such thing. That is a very
unfair statement. The statement of Mr. "\Vhiteside was that
lte instructed her part time and he assumed Mr. McMurran
did. Now that was 1\{r. \Vhiteside's statement.
The Court: You don't have to tell him what the answer is,
nir. Garnett.
Mr. Garnett: IIe told him what the answ·er was. He told
him wrong.
1\tir. Ferguson: I disagree with 1\Ir. Garnett. I believe that
1\{r. \Vhiteside statedT·he .court: You have the witness on cross examination.
Go ahead.
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Mr. Garnett: If you are going to tell him what the witness
said, tell him right.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, sir, may I intervene at this
point?
The Court: No, sir. Let Mr. Ferguson make the objections now. He is questioning the witness.
page 955 ~ Mr. Baker: I am not objecting to anything
with regard to the interrogation; I am trying to
see if we cannot have some ground rules. If all counsel can be
limited to addressing the Court of a witness, I think "re can
avoid a lot of diffi-culty in this case.
The Court: I have asked Mr. Garnett to do that before.
I will ask you all to do it again. Now let's go ahead.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Somebody had instructed Mrs. Webb how to post books,
did they not, Mr. McMurran 1
A. Yes, sir. That is correct.
. Q. You yourself were familiar with the books, were you not,
sir?
A. I was reasonably familiar with the books, but I was no
accon1plished bookkeeper by any means.
Q. Mr. Whiteside thought that you were able to instruct
her, is that true 1
Mr. Garnett: I beg your pardon, let me hear the question
again?
Note : The foregoing· question is read by the reporter.
Mr. Garnett: We all know that calls for a conclusion. I
object to that. Don't answer it.
page 956 ~ The Court: It calls for a conclusion.
Mr. Ferguson : I don't suggest it calls for a
conclusion.
Mr. Garnett: What Mr. Whiteside thought certainly calls
for a conclusion, Your Honor. I would say that. I don't believe anybody could deny that.
Mr. Ferguson: Mr. vVhiteside further said Mr. McMurran
knew how to keep the books.
Mr. Garnett: l-Ie did say that. No doubt about that. But
what he thought, as far as this g·entleman is concerned, certainly isn't admissible.
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By M.r. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, did you feel qualified to instruc.t Mrs.
Webb as to how to post these books, or not!
A. The records show that during June and July of 1959
that both of us posted into the cash receipts and disbursements journal.
Q. You mean 1949 f
A. Excuse me. I keep saying-! n1ean 1949.
By the Court:
Q. You mean 1949 Y
A. Yes, sir. I mean 1949.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Both you and Mrs. WebbY
A. Mrs. Webb. That is correct.
page 957 ~ Q. Was that during the period of instructions
to Mrs. Webb as to how to post the books¥
A. I think that is a fair statement.
Q. Was not Mr. "Whiteside called in for advice from time to
timeT
A. I'm certain he was. I don't specifically recall it.
Q. Do you remember that or not YI don't want to put words
in your mouth.
A. I can't actually say. I just feel he must have been.
By the Court:
Q. You do not know of your own knowledge¥
A. No, sir. I don't recall.
By }Ir. Ferguson: (~Continuing)
Q. For quite a period of time you kept all the books while
Mrs. Webb was in the hospital in 1952, is that not true Y
A. That is not true; no, sir.
The ·Court: The Court will take a three or four minute
rec.ess.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, following which
the cross examination of Mr. McMurran, continues as follows:
~
Q. Mr. McMurran, I show you C·ommonwealth
· Exhibit No. 15, entitled Bowen Company Journal
from November 1, 1951 to December 31, 1952, and ask you to

page 958
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look in that volume and see if some of the entries have been
made by you, sir? See if you can identify any entries having
been made by you?
A. Now, the entries made by me begin on June the 12th,
R. R. Cunningham, is in my handwriting.
Q. R-efer to the page number, please 1
A. Page 80.
Q. June 12th, what year is that, please, sir?
A. This is June 12, 1952.
Q. What do you find on Page 811
A. All of the entries are in my handwriting.
Q. Page 82?
A. All entries are in my handwriting.
Q. Page 83?
A. The same.
Q. Will you continue on and indicate whether or not the
succeeding pages are in your handwriting?
A. Page 84 there are about (counting) ten entries in Mrs.
Webb's handwriting.
Q. What dates do they cover, please, sir?
A. June the 2nd to the-through the-some are dated the
12th. Then it drops back to the 6th. The reason
page 959 ~ for that would be because some would be postings
from one bank account, and son1e would be postings from another bank account.
By· Mr. Garnett:
Q. May I inquire as to the yearf
A. 1952.
By Mr. ·Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do these indicate the dates that the entries were made
or the dates of the transactions, please, sirt
A. These would indicate the dates of the transactions. The
date that the check was issued.
By the Court:
·Q. You say on Page 84 there are ten entries made by Mrs.
'Vebb. You didn't say what it did then. You said it skipped
back to the 6th. 'Vha t do you mean by that?
A.
ell, it says June 2nd and has an entry, and then it has
a second entry undated, which presumably would still be the
2nd. And then there are one, two, three entries on June the
7th. And then there areQ. Wh~ are they by?

"r
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A. These are by Mrs. Webb. (Counting) One, two, three,
four, :five-June 12th in her handwriting. They were entering checks that had been drawn on the First National Bank.
My handwriting· starts June the 6th entering checks that
had been drawn on the Citizens Marine J efferpage 960 ~ son Bank. The rest of that page is in my handwriting.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. How about Page 85?
A. I would say all of the entries are in my handwriting.
Q. Go on. Would you continue on Y
A. Page 86, entries down through the 26th are in my handwriting.
By the Court:
Q. What do you mean, June 26th?
A. ·Yes, sir. June 26th. And the-I suppose you would say
the close-out entries, there is one further check that is posted
by Mrs. Webb, the bank deposits are posted by Mrs. 'Vebb,
there were. three checks at the end of the n1onth that are
posted by J\{rs. Webb, and all of the totals were made by Mrs.
Webb totaling of the various columns.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing·)
Q. Will you look at Page 87 Y
A. I would say the entire month is balanced by Mrs. Webb.
By the Court:
Q. The entire month of June is balanced by Mrs. WebbY
.A.. Yes: sir. Page 87, all of the handwriting is that of Mrs.
Webb.
page 961

~

By 1\Ir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Will you glance through the book and
there are any further entries that you can identify as
in your handwritingY Incidentally, if you see anyone
handwriting that you can identify, I would like to kno'v
that. I would like for you to do that.
A. Do you want me to go through the whole book?
Q. What page are you on Y
A. I am on Page 111.
Q. You find no further handwritingA. No, sir.
Q. -of your own Y
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A. No, sir. Nor anyone else's handwriting.
Q. Do you recall making any other entries in that book, or
would you like to examine it?
A. I would rather examine it. (Doing so) Other than the
adjusting and closing entries on Page 142, dated December 31,
1952, which is in Mr. Whiteside's handwriting, and these red
pencil marks concerning an item of $1,667 .99, by quickly going
through I see nothing except in Mrs. Webb's handwriting.
By the ·Court:
Q. Other than the closing by Mr. Whiteside on 141¥
A. 142. The other item I refer to is on Page 132.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. May I inquire \vhether or not that is the
item of November 30, 1952 Y
A. Yes, sir.

page 962 }

By Mr. Ferguson: (C{)ntinuing)
Q. vVill you look on Page 130 and tell me whether you feel
competent to say whose figures appear at the bottom of the
column h~aded Accounts Received-Insurance and Accounts
Payable-Insurance, which are on the bottom line of Page
130~ Do you feel competent to identify those figures Y
A. I feel that that is in the handwriting of Mrs. Webb.
Q. If I told you that at one time Mr. Whiteside said that
those were his figures, would that change your opinion f
~Ir. Garnett: Don't answer that. Mr. Whiteside never
said that they were his figures, and there is no evidence to that
effect in this case. And you are on the wrong page, Willie.
The one you are talking· about is on Page 132, and they are
the figures in red pencil and not in black pencil.
Mr. Baker asked aboutMr. Baker: If we are going to argue this, we should argue
about it in the absence of this witness. If there is going to be
any argument about it, the argument should be made in the
absence of the witness.
page 963 ~ Mr. Garnett: I merely stated, Your Honor, Mr.
Whiteside never said he at any time said they
were his figures. There has been no evidence to that effect
by anyone else, as far as I know.
Mr. Ferguson: Mr. Fremnan identified those figures and
said-
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The Court: I will hear it out of the presence of the witness.
Mr. Baker: I think that is proper.
Note : A.t this point the Court and counsel and the defendant retire to Chambers, viz:
In Chambers.
Mr. Baker : The matter goes into the evidence, if the Court
please, under my examination of Mr. Freeman and interrogating him specifically with regard to whether or not the
column of figures on Page 132 do not add up properly if you
take the figures at the top as a carry forward balance.
The Court: That's right. I understand.
Mr. Baker: I did not point out to him that actually the
over-footing t'hat occurred was on Page 130 and
page 964 ~ that there are-This isn't the set of books. Here
we are. And if he did not on March the 9th in the
library of this courthouse, when we were going over the books,
if Mr. Freeman did not look up and say, Wbitey, this appears
to be in your handwriting. You wrote this, didn't you 1 And
Mr. Freem,an's testimony was Mr. Whiteside agreed, yes, I
did. Then I looked over his shoulder and I said, that's one of
the very entries you are trying to hang my client with. 1\fr.
Freeman agreed. Mr. Whiteside says, I don't believe I did
make that entry. That is the only evidence about this entry.
Mr. Freeman did go onThe Court: I was under the impression he was referring·
to the figures in red pencil.
Mr. Garnett: He pointed that right out to you.
Mr. Baker: Mr. Freeman on Page 131, or Page 132, Mr.
Freeman, w·hen I was asking him toMr. Garnett: That would be hearsay, ·SO far as I know.
The ·Court: Let Mr. Baker finish what1\1r. Garnett: He is absolutely mistaken as to what. the evidence was and as to what occurred. When he finishes I will
answer. It 'vas my objection.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, it is my recolpage 965 ~ lection in the cross examination of the witness
Freeman he came to Page 132 and indicated that
at the bottom of that page there 'vere total figures at the bottom of each column and that two of the columnsThe ·Court: Had over-footings.
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Mr. Baker: -were in a sum in excess of the total entries
for the whole month.
The Court: Which he called over-footings.
Mr. Bak&r: Which he called over-footings. Upon further
cross examination I asked the witness to take the time in the
courtroom to add the columns, the two columns of figures on
Page 132 and add to the entries on that page the balance carried forward as shown by the top entry, top notation of each
column in pencil-if the Court will recall there was quite a
discussion as to whether they were carried forward figures or
not-and see if it didn't total properly. My recollection is
that it did total properly, which demonstrated the over-footing, if any occurred, occurred on Page 130.
I then asked him if that was not the very entry that he was
pointing out on March 9, 1961, in conference in the library of
this courthouse with regard to which he made the
page 966 ~ observation this is in your handwriting, isn't it
"7Jritey? Didn't you make this entry '1
The Court: You asked him that.
Mr. Baker: 1\1r. Freeman's testimony was that ~Ir. Whiteside agreed, yes, that's n1y handwriting. I made that entry.
Then I intervened in the same conference and pointed out,
why that is one of the very entries you are seeking to hang
our client with; whereupon, 1\fr. Whiteside, in the same conference said., I don't believe I did make that entry.
Now that is the evidence as I recall it. I realize there has
been a lot of evidence in this case.
The Court: That is right. I cannot remember that well.
1\1r. Baker: I recall it exactly like that.
The Court : I cannot.
Mr. Garnett: I can remember it. I vouch the record on it.
1\{r. Ferguson: Unfortunately·,ve three lawyers were sitting there in the conference when this happened.
1\{r. Garnett: Yes. That's right. I vouch the
page 967 r record.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I feel my
recollectionThe Court: How can you vouch the record, Mr. Garnett,
when you haven't one to vouch withY
Mr. Garnett: I understand that.
Mr. Baker: That item was recognized by counsel as being
a very significant item a.t the time it occurred, and the
examination of the witness Freeman with regard to the item
was attempted to be done in a careful manner, because it "ras
recognized to be an important element.
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l\ir. Garnett: Are you through now, 1\tlr. Baker f
1\.fr. Baker: Yes, sir, I an1 through.
Mr. Garnett: Now, Your Honor, Mr. Baker in the first
place is mistaken as to the evidence. 1\fr. Baker stated that
that is what occurred, and Mr. Freeman said, no, Mr. Baker,
that is not my recollection as to what occurred. That what
they pointed to were the red pencil figures which represent
the actual difference in the column as put in here in red pencil
by Mr. W11iteside.
1\fr. Freeman said that it was these red figures that Mr.
Whiteside pointed out in the library and said "rere
page 968 ~ his. And they are the figures.
No'v my objection is this.
The Court: I do not remember him ever saying the red
pencil figures were Mr. Freeman's.
Mr. Garnett: I don't mean 1\tir. Freeman-1\fr. Whiteside.
1\fr. Ferguson: Mr. Freeman said they were not his, too.
Mr. Garnett: And when Mr. Whiteside pointed out these
:figures as being his, IIis Honor was standing right beside him
·when he pointed them out in this book.
My objection is that here are figures of $1,667.00 and $1,667.99 written down below the column in pencil on Page 130, to
which 1\tir. Freeman has never testified in this ease.
Mr. Ferguson: l-Ie did on direct examination.
Mr. Baker: He did on direct examination. You asked him
about that on direct examination.
Mr. Garnett: I did nothing of the Rort. I asl{ed him about
this item on Page 132. And that is the record. And that's
'vhat happened. And l1e has never said that these were 1\fr.
Whiteside's figures.
page 969 ~ The Court: Get the record. I a1n not too certain of it, eitJ1er. I would like to know.
Mr. Ferguson: Your B~onor, don't you ren1ember? You
were standing there beside the witness1\fr. Garnett: The Judge says to get the record. I see no
reason for arguing it any further.
The Court: Let's see, where is the record of 1\fr. Schneider?
I think Mr. Schneider took t11at. \Ye have had so manv re·
porters.
Note: An off-the record discussion is had, following which
colloquy between Court and counsel continues as follows:
Mr. Baker: I would like to attempt to refresh the Court's
recollection to this extent: 1\fy interrogation of Mr. Freeman
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was-at least in part, the major part-with regard to Pag·e
130; not Page 132.
The Oourt: You went back to Page 130. I remmnber that.
Mr. Garnett: Mr. Whiteside pointed the figures in red
pencil out, and the J udg·e was standing right there and commented on it. Judge, you c01nmented on it, you mean the red
figures?
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I attempted
page 970 ~ not to interrupt the Attorney for the Commonwealth; 1naybe I did. I don't recall it.. I don't
see why I canot be permitted to outline my reasons1\fr. Garnett: The Judge has already said he wants to
vouch the record. I don't sec any sense in arguing any
further until we get the record.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, if it should occur that the
record cannot be obtained, I cannot see any harm in attempting
to refresh the recollection of the CourtThe Court: 1\fr. Freen1an is here, ask him his recollection.
1\fr. Garnett: Mr. Free1nan 's reeollection is be was talking about these red figures.
The Court: Let the record disclose it.
Mr. Garnett: You asked me; I was telling· you.
Mr. Ferguson: Henry, we weren't talking about the red
figures. We all know that the red figures throughout the
book are 1\fr. Whiteside's. He has beenThe Court: Get the record. I think 1\{r. Schpage 971 ~ neider took it .
. Note:

Counsel leave the Judge's Chmnbers and return,

VIZ:

The ,Court : Couldn't you get hiln f
lVIr. Baker: \Ve had a lot of difficulty but we finally located
him. Jvir. Schneider is in the Circuit Court of IIampton taking a case right no"r· '\Ve left a message for hin1 to call his
office. "When he gets here we will see if we can't find the
rcord. It is important.
Judge, I want to 1nake it clear I kne'v wl1at I was talking
about. I think 1\fr. Freen1au 's answers, they came the hard
way, but I think his answers were with regard to the same
page I was talking about.
The Oourt: We will vouch the record. I will withhold
n1y ruling until we get the transcript.
1\fr. Ferguson: 1\fr. Schneider says his girl is transcribing
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it in his office right now, and he will be here this afternoon
to testify to it.
page 972

~

Note : Court and counsel at this point return to the courtroom, whereupon the cross examination of 1\fr. G. Keith McMurran is continued,

VIZ:

By Mr. Ferguson : (Continuing) )
Q. 1\ir. McMurran, did the office of Bowen Company have a
supply of ink erasers, that is, liquid ink eradicator, for the
desk of employees 1 If you remember.
A. There was a bottle of ink eradicator. That's all that I
lmow of.
Q. You only know of one bottle?
A. That's all that I recall.
Q. Have you noticed whether or not it has been used in
the books from time to time 1
A. I was not aware of it having been used in the books,
until going back through these records more recently. Not
at the time; no, sir.
Q. Did you know that it had been used even on the pages
that Mr. Whiteside had filled out for his balancing entries,
or what do you call those entries 7
·
A. Closing entries.
Q. Closing entries?
A. No, sir, I did not.
Q. Do you know 'vhether any criticism was ever made
of using ink eradicator in the books 7
page 973

~

1\lr. Garnett: I object to that. That would
be hearsay.

Q. Did you ever make any? Did you ever make any objections ¥
A. No, sir. I was not a ware of its being used.
Q. Was t.he objection ever made by anyone else of authority
in your presence1
A. No, sir.
Q. Did Mr. vVhiteside ever object f
A. No, sir.
Q. J\ilr. Bowen?
A. No, sir.
Q. Is this dictaphone tha.t you mentioned a movable machine?
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is it on casters or rollers or 'vheels?
A. Well, the receiving instrument is.
By The Court:
Q. It is portable?
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Did that have any definite position in the office, or was
that moved around from time to time Y
A. It would have been moved between Mrs. l{inlock and
Mrs. Webb, depending on which one was transcribing from
it.
page 974 ~ Q. In other words, it was not stationary?
A. That is correct.
Q. Was it used very much?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you use it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you dictate into it?
A. I did most of the dictating into it.
Q. Who else used the dictating machine?
A. 1\fr. Bowen, infrequently.
Q. Did Mr. Cowling- ever use it?
A. Not to my knowledge.
Q. Did Mr. Garnett ever use it?
A. Not to my knowledge.
Q. Did 1\fr. Baugh ever use it1
A. No, sir. I don't believe w·e owned it at the tilne he was
there.
Q. Did ~{rs. Hoffman ever use it Y
A. I don't know.
Q. When you mentioned the discussion about tl1e lie detector test at tl1at conference on July 29, 1959, at which Mrs.
Webb, Mr. Heath, Mr. Krakoviak, Mr. Bowen and yourself
were present, did anyone else offer to take the lie detector
test besides yourself Y
A. Mr. Bowen.
page 975 ~ Q. I believe you testified in answer to 1\{r.
Garnett that you informed the defendant that all
those presently employed would agree to take the test; had
you discussed it prior to that with Mrs. Kinloek?
A. I had ; yes, sir.
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Q. So that you went to this meeting with a plan in mind
to try to get her to take a lie detec.tor test f
A. No, sir.
Q. Did Mrs. IGnlock take one 1
A. Did she or would she?
Q. Did sheY
A. No. sir
Q. Did you?
A. No, sir.
Q·. Did Mr. Bowen Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Did anybody else connected with your office f
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you realize that-Did Mrs. Hoffman agTee to take
oneY
A. She was not requested. I mean the question never came
up as to her. I don't think she had any knowledge of this
problem existing.
Q. She 'vas employed at son1e time during the period under
discussion, was she not?
page 976 ~ A. That is correct. During the summer of
1958 she was employed.
Q. And during the sunm1er of 1957 f
A. Thn t is correct.
Q. The summer of 1956?
A. Possibly.
Q. Were yon aware of the fact that Mrs. Webb had consulted counsel prior to the conference on March 13th and
14th, 1959~
A. No, sir.
Q. Do you recall the date of your meeting in my library
and diseussing this matter with Mr. Bowen, Mrs. Webb, Mr.
'Vhiteside, when 1\:frs. Webb became sick f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was that date, sir?
A. ~t was about the 1st of September, 1959.

By The Court:
Q. 1959?
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. During the period in question, and I have reference to
1956, 1957 and 1958, and the month of January in 1959 and
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the first six days in February, during the period in question
were the rents primarily paid in cash, or not Y
A. I don't know. I mean I know possibly
page 977 ~ more now than I did as to what-what the ratio
was. But at the time I would have said that-at
~the time that more were in checks than in cash.
Q. Have you since found out by referring to the manifold
Receipt Books that more of the rents were in cash than by
eheckY
A. I don't think more. I would say that still the major
portion would be in checks.
Q. What ratio would that be, percentage-wise, about 7
A. I'm guessingQ. 60/40-75/25The ·Court : If you know-

Q. If you know.
The ·Court: -don't guess.

A. I don't know.
Q. Have you reviewed these books since this investigation
started by Mr. Whiteside¥
A. Off and on; yes, sir.
Q. Have you found it necessary to-has the office found it
necessary to request the tenants to pay by check now instead
of ca.sh?
A. We have done that; yes, sir.
Q. T·hat was done after Mrs. vYebb leftY
A. Yes, sir.
page 978 ~ Q. How long afterwards Y
A. Possibly a year after.
By The Court:
Q. Sometime in 1960 Y
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson : (Continuing)
Q. I show you a letter-In a minute I will show it to you,
as soon as the Commonwealth has seen it.
Mr. Garnett: What is the purpose of this Y He has already testified that in 1960 they did that.

.Catherine "\Vebb v. C01nmonwcalth of Virginia

567

George J(eith MaMurran.

The Court: It may help to refresh his recollection as to
the date.
Mr. Garnett: I have no objection to it.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. Mcl\{urran, I show you a letter and ask you if you
can identify it, please, sir¥
A. This letter was sent to all tenants that our records
show were in the habit of paying by cash. We went through
the records to determine that.
Q. How many such tenants were there, do you recall¥
A. I don't recall.
Q. What is the date of that letter, please, sir?
A. June 15, 1960.
Q. Would that be about the elate of the notipagc 979 ~ fication to the tenants, generally~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. V\7ho prepared that letter?
A. You n1ean physically typed it or the thought behind it 1
Q. Who dictated it, first?
A. I dicta ted it.
Q. .And over whose signature is the letter 1
A. Over Mr. Bowen's sig11ature.
Mr. Ferguson: "\Ve would like to offer the letter as Defendant's ExhibitThe Court: Defendant's Exhibit A.
Note: The above referred to letter is now marked and
filed as Defendant's Exhibit' A.
The Court : All right.
Mr. Garnett: Let the record show I do not object to the
letter being· introduced; I question its materiality.
The Court : It is already of. record, so go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: I have no objection.
Q. Are you familiar with the book which has been referred
to by other witnesses as the General Journal, which seems
to have year end -adjusting items and so forth in
page 980 ~ it?
A. Yes, sir.
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By the Court:
Q. General, you say?
A. General Journal.

By 1\fr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Where is the General Journal 7 Is it kept in the Cash
Disbursements book, or is there a separate book 1
A. It's in the same book-There are pages in the back of
the ~Cash Receipts and Disbursements book.
Q. I show you .Commonwealth Exhibit No. 13 and ask you
if you can locate the portion thereof which may be described
as the General Journal Y
The Court: What exhibit was it Y
Mr. Ferguson: Conunonwealth Exhibit 13.
A. Here is the General Journal for the period from 1954
to 1958. Numbered pages 1 through 14.
Q. Can you identify whose handwriting that is in? If you
can, please do so.
A. Do you want me to look at all of the pages?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. All of these entries are in the handwriting of 1\fr.
vVhiteside, in my opinion.
Q. ''7hat was 1\tlr. 'Vhiteside 's connectionJ\fr. Garnett: Did you get him to identify these pages,
what they are, and the dates!
pag·e 981 ~ l\tlr. Ferguson: I mn going to ask hhn that.
l\1:r. Garnett: All right. I wish you would do
that.
By lVIr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. May I ask what was Mr. vVhiteside 's connection with
Bowen Company, please Y
A. Mr. Whiteside was our bu.siness consultant. He examined
the books at the end of the year for the purpose of making
the closing- entries, balancing then1, and rendering a statement .and preparing our tax returns.
Q. Did he also do personal work for Mr. Bowen 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The san1e sort of w·ork as he did for the company, or
more, if you know Y
A. I know-I know he prepared his tax returns. Yes.
Q. Did he keep l\tfr. Bowen's personal books?
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A. Not to my knowledge.
Q. Who did keep them, if you know f
A. Mr. Bowen. I assume he kept them himself.
Q. Do you know how familiar Mr. Bowen is with the books
of Bowen Company?
Mr. Garnett: I object to that. Mr. Bowen is here and can
testify as to himself. It is a matter of conclusion.
page 982 ~ Q. H.ave you ever conferred with Mr. Bowen
about the books belonging to the Bowen Company?
A. I don't know that I completely understand the question.
In what aspect?
Q. Have you and Mr. Bowen ever sat down together and
gone over the books in any particula.rf
A. In the General Ledger, yes. At the time of our monthly
meetings of the Corporation we would have the statement
which had been given to us. We usually would t.ake the
General Ledger in the meeting with us to see details of totals.
Q. So that you went over t:he General Ledger about once a
month for the purpose of your monthly meetings, is that
true?
A. That is correct. The expense items in principal.
~Ir.

Mr.

Garnett: I did not get the last partMc~furran: I said the expense items, principally.

Q. I believe you testified that you and Mr. Whiteside g.ave
Mrs. Webb her original instructions as to the posting of
the books?
page 983

~

Mr. Garnett: He never testified to that at all.

Q. Did you or did you not t
.A. I assume that that must have been the case.
Q. In other words, she got her instructions frmn you two
and not from Mr. Bowen, is that true?
A. Thnt would be correct, I think. I'm certain of that.
Q. Who gave her instructions as to the making of the trial
balance sheets and the monthly statements?
A. Again we are talking about something twelve years ago.
I would say that it was Mr. Whiteside, because I would not
be qualified to give her such an instruction.
Q. Well, somebody had to give them to her, did they not?
A. I think that is correct. Yes, sir.
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Q. Do you know where the material that goes into these
monthly trial balances comes from, generally?
A, Yes, sir.
Q. Where does it come from, sir?
A. From the General Ledger.
Q. Would you be competent to show her bow to make up a
monthly statement today f
A. I think I would be.
Q. You could show me, couldn't you?
A. Yes, sir.
page 984 ~ Q. When you were keeping the Journal in
1952, at that time would you have been competent
to instruct as to how to make out the monthly trial balance
sheets?
A. I believe not.
Q. You have since become competent, you feel~
A. More competent.
Q. What bookkeeping supervision did Mr. Whiteside provide Bowen Company? He has testified that· he g·ave some
supervision to the books.
.
A. Well, whenever any question ca1ne up about bookkeeping Mr. ·Whiteside was consulted.
Q. Ho,v often \vould that be, sir, on tl1e average 1
A.
ell, I would say possibly as often as monthly son1e
question would come up.
Q. Would he come by the office to look at the problmn, or
could it be handled over the telephone?
·
A .. It would depend on the severity of it. I would say that
he did both.
Q. How often would he, on an average, come into the office
of Bo,ven ·Company either on Bowen Company business or-

'V

Mr. Garnett: Are you asking him to speculate or are
you asking him to pin pointMr. Ferguson : I am asking if he can tellpage 985 ~ The .Court: He can tell if he knows.
Mr. Garnett: If he knows.
Mr. Ferguson: If he doesn't know, I have always told the
witness he can say he doesn't know.
A. I don't know.
The Court: Go ahead.
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Q. Yotu· answer is what, sir 1
A. I don't know.
Q. On an average can you give us an estimate Y
Mr. Garnett: I object to the question, Judge, because it is
speculative. He said he didn't know.
Mr. Ferguson: It is an estimate. He can certainly give
a.n estimate.
The Court: I will let him answer the question.

A. My recollection is that be was there possibly monthly.
I would say. Once a month.
Q. Is it fair to say then he kept in fairly close touch
with the bookkeeping problems in the offi.ce 1
A. The bookkeeping problems, yes. Any particular problem as to where something was to be posted or things of that
sort.
Q. Was he ever consulted about the posting of
page 986 ~ the Employee Bonus items?
A. No, sir. Not that I recall.
Q. You have since changed your method of handling employees bonuses, have you not 7
A. Yes, sir. Yes, sir.
Q. On his recommendation?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is it fair to say now, Mr. Mcl\Iurran, that the posting
of the Employees Bonus account has been recognized as
having been mistakenly designated heretofore?
Mr. Garnett: I object to that. I object to that, Your Honor. That calls for a conclusion to say is it fair to say. The
books speak for themselves. He has testified that they have
changed the system. I notice they haven't asked him why.
The Court: I don't think they have asked him why. I
will let him answer the question.
Mr. Garnett: He wants to know is it fair to assume that
it has been incorrectly designated. The expert accountant
'vho testified here said that it had not been incorrectly designated; that it was spelled out in the book as to what it
was.
The Court: That's right. I have heard that, too.
Mr. Garnett: This question here, then, is not
page 987 ~ to be compared with an expert CPA as to whet~er
it was correctly or incorrectly labeled in the
books. For that reason I object to the question.
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Mr. Ferguson: He 'has testified that they have changed
the designation on the advice of their business consultant.
The Court: Did this man 1
Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Ask him why they changed it.
Mr. Baker: If the Court pleaseThe Court: I will ask him.
By The Court:
Q. Why did they change itY
A. We changed it because we were advised that it should
reflect as a salary and tax should be withheld on that and
social security should be paid on that portion.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Did Mr. Whiteside point that out to you, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So that was part of his service as a business consultant,
is t'hat true, sir1
A. That'·s right. That is true.
Q. And tax adviser?
A. Yes, sir.
page 988 ~ Q. When this problem was called to Mr. V\7hite.
side's attention, he, in effect, said that it was
improperly posted, is that true, sir 1
A. No, sir. He didn't say it was improperly posted.
Q. Or improperly designated?
A. It w:asn't a question of designation. It was a question of
withholdingQ. Of location 1
A. It was a question of the withholding and social security
-employer's portion of the social security is tile reason for
its change.
Q. In commissions you don't withhold.
A. That is correc.t.
Q. There is no withholding tax on commissions paid, is
there?
A. That is correct.
Q. So that that would be the only item in that 'vhole classification that would have a withholding requirement, is that
true, sir'
The eourt: What do you mean now, salaries and everything else'
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Q. Well, the commissions paid-I think it is called. Commissions paid was a true designation of bonuses paid, is that
true, sirY
A. The account was labeled Commissions Paid.
page 989 ~ Q. When, in fact, these were not commissions Y
A. These, in fact, were bonuses which were designated on the sheet that they were for bonuses.
Q. And they should have been on the salary sheet, is that
not true, sir Y
A. On our later advice that would be true.
Q. That advice would have been-Had Mr. Whiteside
known about it earlier do you think he would have advised
you earlierThe Court: Don't ask him for an opinion. That definitely calls for an opinion, my goodness.
Q. Is it fair to say that 1\!Ir. Whiteside in making his rec.ommendations to change this item said, in effect, that the
item 'vas not an item of commissions but ·was an item of
salaries?
·

Mr. Garnett: I did not hear the question. Repeat the
question, please, Mr. Ferguson~
Note:

The foregoing question is read by the reporter.

Mr. Garnett: I object to that as being hearsay.
The Court: It is hearsay, but I am going to let him
answer it. We have gone right do,vn to that point. Go ahead
sir.
A. The question of whether it was properly or
improperly charged was not discussed. It was
merely a question that it should reflect as salary
because the withholding tax should be paid on this portion-!
mean tax should be withheld on that portion.
page 990

~

The Court: YQU said that before.
Q. It should have been in Salaries Paid rather than Commis-sions Paid, is that not true, sir?
A. That is true, sir. It would have to be if tax were withheld on it.
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Q. Does the Citizens Rapid Transit Company have several
policies with Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Through their office Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How many would you say, if you know Y
A. Well, we handle their complete account. I ·would say
that it would be possibly half a dozen.
Q. What is the re-negotiation date for most policies so
far as prewiun1 is concerned Y
A. Well, the portion ·of it that ·,ve refer to as the special
risk is April 1st.
Q. Is that annually?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How about the others?
A. Well, the others are of various dates, but
page 991 ~ most of them are around that period. Some are
three-year policies. Some are five-year policies.
Q. Do they have provisions for adjustment of premium in
these policies 1
A. Well, a number of them· would; yes.
Q. Certainly your workmen's compensation would.
A. That's right.
Q. Are there any others in that classification?
A. Well, the workmen's compensation, and the public liability, and the automobile liability are handled as a package
on what is known as a retrospective rating plan.
Q. That premium would fluctuate?
A. All would fluctuate. That's right.
Q. How is the adjustment made? In a lump payment as
a package adjustment, or is it adjusted individuallyf
A. Well, it's-the premium is paid initially on a fixed
amount each month, which at one time was paid 1/12 as a
penalty premium and later years it's 1/12 of the standard
premium. The first retrospective adjustment is made six
months after the expiration of the policy and then it's adjusted three times. I mean after the policy expires then at the
end the first adjustment is 1nade, after it so n1any months-

By The Court:
Q. The next six months period Y
A. Yes, sir. And then if there is a return
premium, then that check is issued on that, and
then on the next adjustment it would be either additional
or return depending on what develops at that time.

page 992

~
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Q. It is adjusted, actually, individually?
A. You group several policies together, several policies
together and all of the losses would be involved in the adjustment, the value of the losses as of a certain date. The value
of losses paid and what is still outstanding and held in reserves.
Q. Can you give us a figure which would represent the gross
premiums received by Bowen Company in a yearA. Everything paid for a year?
Q. -from C.R.T.?
A. Of all types, or of this particular one we are discussing?
Q. No, of all types on an annual basis, if you can give us
that information. If you want to refer to the books I would
be glad to hand them to you.
A. No. No, again, this varies considerably from year to
year because of the experience-the accident experience of
the company.
Q. Can you give us 'vithin what ranges the premiums would
varyf
A. Well it-I would say it would be as high as possibly
$90,000.00.
~

Q. That is the C.R. T.?
A. That is correct.
Q. Of all policies?
A. All policies.
Q. Of the half dozen policies you say they 1nay have.
A.. That is correct.
Q. In a~ldition to that you have, of course, other insurance
policies with other customers Y
A. Oh, certainly.
Q. Wl1at would they total, roughly, if you can give it to
us!
A. Possibly $150,000.00.
page 993

By The Court:
Q. For the rest is what?
A. $150,000.00.

By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. That does not include the C.R.T.; that is in addition to
the C.R.T.?
.A. Yes, sir.
Q. There has been some reference throughout the earlier
testimony, 1\fr. McMurran, a.s to the McMurran properties or
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McMurran Estate; would you explain to the Court, for the
Court's benefit, how those properties are held T
A. Referring to rental properties, you mean 1
Q. Yes, sir.
page 994

~

Mr. Garnett: Judge, I doubt whether this is
proper subject for cross examination. I do not
remember going into anything like this on direc.t examination.
The Court: No, nothing has been mentioned about that
by this witness.
Mr. Garnett: I understand that they have the witness on
cross examination. In examining this witness they have for
some time, I think probably the last hour, made this man their
own witness. I want to point that out to the Court.
The Court: I still think they are making him their own
witness on this subject right now.
Mr. Ferguson: I think we should get it in the record to
keep it straight.
Mr. Garnett: So I ask that he be handled now as tl1eir
witness.
The Court: I think they have done that for some time.
1\{r. Garnett: Yes, sir. I mean, Judge, tl1at he be handled
as their witness. He is their witness now.
1\{r. Ferguson: I understand, Judge, l1e can be handled
as an adverse witness¥
1\{r. Garnett: Can he be adverse~
page 995 ~ The Court : Not in this kind of a case, Mr.
Ferguson. I don't know why he would be adverse.
Mr. Ferguson: l-Ie has an interest in the case. He is still
an employee of the company 'vhose funds were absconded.
l-Ie appeared before the Grand Jury. I think he1\fr. Garnett: He is just a witness.
The Court: That is all he is, a witness.
Mr. Garnett: That is all he is.
The Court: You may ask hin1 the question, but you make
him your own witness. He did not testify to anything about
that on direct examination. You make him your own 'vitness.
You may ask 1\{r. Mcl\tfurran about his account or properties
or whatever you want to call it.
By Mr. Ferg-uson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. :Mcl\furran, I would like to have you explain for
the record the reference that has been made l1eretofore about
the McMurran property. I understand generally that the St.
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James Court is owned by-I don't know whether the :1\icJ\iiurra.n family or by one of the sons or ho'v it is, but that
would help the record if you would explain that Y
A. Well, you would-The apartment houses are
page 996 ~ lettered, and those lettered A through D belongBy The Court:
Q. Apartment houses Y
A. Apartment 'houses, yes, sir, separate buildings that are
numbered or lettered. St. J a.mes you are asking about 1 The
breakdown of St. James Terrace Apartments 1
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. You can limit your ans:wer to properties that are handled by the Bowen office. I am not trying to inquire beyond
the Bowen office.
Mr. Garnett: I think you asked about the ownership,
didn't you?
The Court: He said how are they owned.
Q. How are they owned? I "rant to know how those prop·
erties are held.
A. Those buildings in St. James Terrace that are lettered
A through D are owned by Louis A. 1\fcMurran, Jr. Those
buildings that are lettered K through T are owned by Louis
A. McMurran, Jr. Those buildings that are lettered E through
J are owned by the Estate of Agnes E. McMurran.
Q. All of those properties are handled as rental property
by Bowen Company?
A. That is correct.
Q. And for the record, l\1:r. L. A. McMurran is a brother
of yours?
page 997 ~ A. That is correct.
Q. Do you recall who the personal representative of the Agnes E. Mc.Murran Estate is Y
A. There are three trustees.
Q. Her three sons?
A. Three of her sons.

The Court: We will adjourn for lunch right now. We
will adjourn one hour for lunch. Be back at five after 2 :00.
Note: Recess for lunch is now had until 2:05 P. M., at
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which time court is reconvened with the witness, Mr. G.
Keith McMurran, resuming the stand as follows:
G. KEITH McMURRAN,
resuming his testimony, testifies further as follows:
CROSS EXAMINATION.

By J.\iir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, are you one of the three trustees handling the Agnes McMurran Estate 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you state the approximate amount of the annual
gross rentals on that property 7
page 998 ~ A. Of the Agnes McMurran Estate?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Approximately $18,000.00.
Q. Is that for all of the apartments Y
A. That are owned by the Agnes McMurran Estate.
Q. llow about the rentals on the additionalA. The entire thing¥
Q. Yes.
A. Probably $45,000.00.
By The Court:
Q. Wait a n1inute. The entire thing of whatf The grossA. Of the entire apartment development buildings, A
through T. I would say possibly $45,000.00.
Q. Is that Louis E. Mcl\{urran, A through T, E. and J
both? What do you mean?
A. A through D, 1{ through T of Louis McMurran, and E
through J of the Ag-nes-of Agnes E. Mc~{urran.
Q. The entire development.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Jlow n1uch f
A. Approxhnately $45,000.00.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Were the usual com1nissions taken on that rental?
A. Yes, sir.
page 999 ~ Q. vVhat were the usual comn1issions?
A. Five per cent.
Bv The Court:
·Q~ Five per cent-
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.A. On the gross rental.
Q. The whole business, including the $18,000.00?
.A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Did Bowen Company also have the property insured T
.A. Yes, sir.
Q. What would the insurance premiums be on the total
property?
A. I don't know.
Q. Could you give us an approximation T
The ·Court: May I inquire as to what you are trying to
show now by these figures Y
The Ferguson: Ifis familiarity with the operation of the
business, not only from the rental vie'v point but from the
ownership view point.

.A. I couldn't answer that without doing some figuring.
By l\1r. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Would the books help you on that, sir? Could you refer
to the books?
A. Not too well, no, sir, because there would
page 1000 ~ be premiums due, con1ing due at various times
and be paid by various methods.
Q. It. 'vould take quite a little time to calculate 1
A. Yes, sir, it will.
By The Court:
Q. But you handle all of the insurance, is that right 7
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. \\TJ1at various methods would be used to make those
payments?
A. The insurance payments?
Q. Yes, sir.

The Court: From the l\fcMurran Estate or Louis McMurran to them, or what¥
Mr. Ferguson: I am referring from the entire development, from .A through T.
The Court: To Bowen and Company, you mean?
Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir.
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A. In some cases the premium would be financ.ed through
premium finance institutions such as the-well, there is a
bank in Philadelphia that specialize in this and there are
a number of different places that specializes in premium
financing.
page 1001 } In other words, the initial payments is made
to them. They advance the entire premium and
then the insured pays it back by the year. It's just like a
bank loan.
By The Court:
Q. How is it paid to you, is what the question is. liow is
it paid to Bowen and Company?
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. ;Could you get it from the records 7
A. Bowen and .Company would pay the initial premium and
charge it to the rent account. In other words, charge it
against the gross .rentals.
Q. In other words, Bowen and Company advanced it in the
first instance 7
A. That is correct.
Q. Is that insurance for fire as well as liability 7
A. It would be fire, liability, boiler, rent insurance, you
know in case the building is destroyed by fire they pay
the rents 'vhile it is being repaired, and workmen's compensation.
Q. I believe you testified earlier this m.orning that you
learned of the shortage on February 9, 1959 when you were
told by Mr. Whiteside?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that the first knowledge you had of it, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1002 } Q. Have you had any prior knowledge of a
shortage at any time?
A. There 'vas a $100.00 that we could not account for in a
rent account, which I believe was in-I think it was the
spring of 1958. But "Te did not consider it as a shortage. It
was an item that we could not find.
Q. You mean an item paid in that you couldn't find on the
books?
A. That is correct, yes, sir.
Q. Was it a cash item or by check?
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A. It was a check. I believe it was a bank money order,
or son1ething like that.
Q. Do you kno"r whether or notA. It was drawn on the Fir~t National Bank.
Q. Do you know whether or not the Bowen Company account would show that deposit, or was it deposited Y
A. We could not find a record of-Mrs. Webb advised
me that she was searching for this $100.00 but could not find
a record of it, and that she ·had checked with the Citizens
Marine Jefferson Bank in looking for the deposit slip and also
with the First National Bank. We could not locate it. And
've gave the man credit. This involved an account with a
man who was considerably behind. We gave hhn credit for
· it, nevertheless. I mean, of course, he had proeluced his receipt, so to speak.
page 1003

r

The Court: Did the witness state the name
of this account?
Mr. Ferg·uson: No, not yet.

Q. Did he produce a receipt or a cancelled ch~ck, Mr. McMurran?
A. He produced his cancelled check.
Q. Do you recall whether the check had showed it had been
deposited to the account of Bowen Company?
A. I don't recall, Mr. Ferguson.
By The Court:
Q. Did you see the cancelled check Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was it endorsed?
A. I must have been satisfied at the time that it was. I
don't recall now.
Mr. Garnett: May I inquire, Your Honor, as to who this
is, what account this. is they are talking aboutf
The Court : He said so far that it was a hundred dollars
missing in 1958.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you recall what account it was?
A. This involves a rental account. It was the rent account
of a man named John E. Miller.
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page 1004

~

By The .court:
Q. This was in 1958 Y
A. Yes, sir. I think it was in the spring of

1958.
Mr. Garnett: Judge, notwithstanding I had to go find Millie ,Cobb for a receipt, I don't mind him showing this.
By Mr. Ferguson : (.Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, I show you a. piece of paper and ask you
can you identify that?
A. This is the $100.00 that I am talking about. And it was
a money order.
Q. Is it not the receipt that you referred to a few minutes
agoT

By The Court:
Q. It is a money order and not a check, is that what you
said Y I don't follow you.
A. This is the customer's record of a money order. "\Vhat I
'vas shown by the attorney for Mr. Miller was a photostatic
copy of it. -I cannot swear whether it's this one. This looks to
me like it's a. second copy or just a receipt for having paid
over the n1oney.
Mr. Ferguson: We \Yonld like to mark this for identification, please.
Mr. Garnett: He hasn't identified it yet. I don't object
to it.
page 1005 ~ ].fr. Ferguson: He has identified it.
Mr. Garnett: Go ahead. Put it in, Willie.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. I ask you, can you identify this?
Mr. Garnett: He sa.id it looked like a receipt of some
sort. That is what he said.
The Court : He said this is the one I am talking about,
first.
].fr. Garnett: I had 1\tir. J\Hller 's receipt s11own him. He
said he couldn't say whether it was the same receipt or
not. He couldn't tell what it was.

By The Court:
Q. Can you tell what this is 7
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A. l\fy recollection is that I ·was shown, actually, a photostatic copy of it. The fact we were given a photostatic copy,
whether it was a photostatic copy of this, I don't know.

J\fr. Garnett: Judge, I do not want to have to go out and
get Mr. Miller like I had to go out and get Mrs. Cobb. I
will let them put it in.
A. J\fr. Miller was given credit for this. This would be the
actual-

page 1006

~

Mr. Garnett : Do you mind if I see what yon
are showing the witness, Mr. Ferguson?

By The Court:
Q. That is a photostatic copy of what?
A. Apparently of the u1oney order itself. This apparently
is the customers receipt.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. I think this is a copy of the one originally handed to
you?
A. It is obvious that this is the one that I would have
received-received a copy of it.
Mr. Ferg-uson: Could we have that n1arked for identification, sirf
The Court: You want to n1ark this one 1
A. The money order with our deposit stamp on tl1e reverse.
Mr. Ferguson: Defense Exhibit for identification.
Note: The above referred to receipt is now marked and
filed as Exhibit D for Identification.
Mr. Garnett: You can offer it in evidence, if you want,
Mr. Ferguson. I have no objection.
Mr. Ferguson: We will offer that in evidence, if Your
Honor please. The Con1n1onwealth has no objection.
page 1007

~

hibit No. B.

Note: The above referred to receipt is at
this time remarked and :filed as Defendant's Ex-
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By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Did you have at any tin1e any other prior knowledge of
a shortage besides the $100.00 iten1 that we have just been talking about'
' A. No, sir.
Q. In other words, you had no prior knowledge of a shortage at any time during your employment, is that what you
mean for the Court to understand, sir?
A. No, sir. I didn't n1ean to imply that.
Q. How far back do you say that you bad no knowledge
ofA. I thought we were talking about the period 1952 to
1959.
Q. That is what I wanted to know.
A. There was no knowledge other than that itmu ¢luring
that period.
By The Court:
Q. No knowledge as to any other iten1 during that period
except this one item~
.A. That's right. Which I did not consider as a shortage.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you remmnber ever asking ~Irs. Webb
for a statetnent of the insurance accounts sllowing payables to insurance e.ompanies 1
A. Item by itemT
Q. Yes, a separateA. I 1nean a separate onef
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Possibly I would have. I don't recall any specific time.
Q. You do not recall?
A. That would have been a logical request fro1n tiine to
time.
Q. You would not deny that you bad asked for that?
A. No, sir. I would not deny it.
Q. Did you consider that 1\irs. Webb cooperated with 1\fr.
Whiteside as you requested her between the dates of February
the 6th until she left'
A. No, sir.
Q. You did not. You do not consider she co opera ted?
A. As far as I know she did not cooperate.
Q. Did she supply any information he requested in the
way of items on deposit slips?
page 1008

~
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A. She did. Approximately two days after it was requested. I mean after-after, I would say, appage 1009 ~ proximately the 12th or 13th of February it was
. supplied.
Q. She has never admitted to taking the money?
A. No, sir.
Q. Has she denied it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You have confronted her as you have testified on direct
exa1ninat! on?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How many people had the combination to the safe Y
A. Four.
Q. Please name 'them Y
A. Mrs Webb, Mrs. Kinlock, Mr. Bowen and I.
Q. Who instructed Mrs. Webb as to the posting of the
books under the 1\fcBee System which was installed on July
1, 1958, I believe you testified toY
A. Well, a representative of the McBee firm.
Q. Did you also receive that instruction Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did anyone else in the office receive that instruction with
you and Mrs. Webb?
A. Not that I recall. 1\fr. 'Whiteside, of course, was familiar
with it.
Q. Pardon me?
A. Mr. Whiteside was familiar with it. Of
page 1010 ~ the employees, Mrs. Webb and I ·were principally
instructed on it.
Q. Did Mr. Whiteside also assist in instructing you, or is
he capable of answering questions arising out of that operation?
A. Of the McBee System?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: That was a. double question. Is the answer
yes he instructed you, or yes he is capable Y

Q. You mean yes to both Y
A. I meant to say yes, he is capable, because he was
familiar with the system.
Q. Does he so instruct now and then ·when you have problems arising· out of it Y
A. Not in the 1\fcBee System. Not in this-
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Q. Can you go to him and get any answer to any problen1s
that might arise!
A. I don't know. If I had any problem I more than likely
would go to the originators of the system, or representative
of it.
·
Q. During her employment, did Mrs. Webb attend any
special schools for insurance secretaries?
A. Not for insurance secretaries, as such. She attended
an insurance institute on at least one occasion,
page 1011 ~ conducted by the Virginia Association of Insurance Agents. Well, sometimes it is held at
the University of Richmond and sometimes at the lTniversity of Virginia.
Q. 1Vas that a.t her expense or did the office assume the expense of this Y
A. The office assu1ned the expense.
Q. Did the office ever see fit to send her to a bookkeeping
school?
A. No, sir. I think she was taking some courses by correspondence, but the office never sent her.
Q. Do you know that to be a fact1
A. Only from conversations with her and knowing that she
had some books there. I never exan1ined them.
Q. Did I ask you with respect to the trial balances in Commonwealth Exhibit No. 22, whether that information is lifted
dirootly from the General Ledger~
A. Yes, sir. This would come from the General Ledger.
Q. And is brought up to a monthly balance, is that what
you point out 1
A. The trial balance is a balance of the-of all the debts
and credits appearing- in the General Ledger. And then we
ha.ve the operating statement, or the profit and loss statement, and the balance sheet, all of which comes from the
General Ledger.
page 1012 ~ Q. Did she, I believe you stated she was given
original instructions as to how to prepare this
trial balance by you Y
A. No, sir. I did not state that.
Q. Who did give her the original instructions, if you know?
A. I don't know, positively. I would assume 1\{r. Whiteside.
Q. Mr. McMurran, in the trial balance found in the exhibit n1arked Commonwealth Exhibit No. 22, I believe Mr.
Garnett referred to the 1958 trial balance and a:sked you a
question with respect to insurance premiums payable Y
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. December 1958 t
A. Yes, sir.
Q. As we understand the books, the trial balance sheet is
taken from the General Ledger, is that true, sir?
A. That is true, sir, yes, sir.
Q. The items in the General Ledger eame from the various
journals, such as the Cash Receipts Journal Y
A. That is correct.
Q. Is that true~ sir!
A. That's right.
Q. Until an item is recorded in the Cash Receipts Journal
it is-it would never g·et to the General Ledger
page 1013 ~ or from there to the trial balance sheet, is that
true?
A. That is true. Yes, sir.
Q. So that what you are looking· at would not cover any
unrecorded items, isn't that true, sir f
A. If it had not been recorded .as a receipt it could not
possibly sho\v on here. That is correct.
Q. In other \VOrds, there was no liability credited to tl1e
insurance companies on the books until the receipt of a premium had been posted in the Cash Reeeipts Journal, is that
a fair statement?
A. There would be; our records would not show that.
Q. That is what I mean. The books would not show it.
A. There would be a credit, yes. .Whether the liability
had been incurred or not, the record wouldn't sho\v it.
Q. As soon as you posted the receipt of an insurance premium, then the liability was credited on the books for that
insurance company, is that true, sir?
A. That is true.
Q. Until it was recorded there \vould be no liability to
the insurance company on the books?
A. On the books. That's right.
Q. Mr. McMurran, what was the office practice with respect
to giving receipts for money that came in over
page 1014 ~ the counter? Money or checks that came in in
payment of accounts?
A. Well, if it was a cash receipt, a receipt \Vould be given
to the person who paid the money. If it were a check, it
would be given or not given, as tl1e particular individual
preferred. I mean many people feel that the check is their
receipt.
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Q. Would it be entered into the Cash Receipts book?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. Whether the receipt was delivered or not Y
A. Well, under the system prior to the McBee System
we had a duplicate receipt book so that the-as the receipt
was written the original went to the insured, or the tenant
as the case may be, and the duplicate was recorded by carbon on our records.
Q. How about before the McBee System?
A. That's what I am speaking of. Then after the installation of the Mc.Bee System, there is actually a triplicate
recording. If it's a cash receipt to be given that would be
on top, the individual's record, either the insured's accounts
receivable card or in the case of a small rental agency the
tenant's card would be attached under that, so that as you
wrote the receipt it recorded on the first copy on the individual
card, and the second copy on the cash receipts sheet.
Q. Who in the office was authorized to give
·
page 1015 ~ receipts?
A. Anyone could give receipts when the occasion
arose. Mrs. Webb, principally, gave receipts.
Q. In other words, any of the five persons that you have
named coUld give a valid receipt to a customer?
A. That is correct.
Q. Mr. McMurran, I show you a piece of paper and ask
yon if yon can identify that, please?
A. This would be the original receipt of the book that I
mentioned earlier that the carbonBy The Court:
Q. The duplicate receipt book, you mean Y
A. The duplicate receipt book. Yes, sir. And it's payable
to John E. Miller for $200.00, marked for rent. It shows
that it was a check. And it's initialed by CK: 'vhich is Mrs.
IGnlock.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Is that a typical example of the receipts that you have
been talking about?
A. It is a typical example of a receipt prior to July 1,
1958.
By The Court:
Q. Prior to the McBee System?
A. Yes, sir.
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By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing )
Q. That receipt has-it is a printed form with
the company name at the top and the address,
. phone number, and so forthA. Yes, sir.
page 1016 }

Mr. Ferguson: 1~7e would like to offer that in evidence,
Your Honor.
The Court: Have you seen it, Mr. Garnett?
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
Note: The above identified receipt is now marked and
filed as Defendant's Exhibit No. C.
Mr. Garnett: May I ask you where you got those, Mr.
Ferguson f Is Mr. Miller available?
Mr. Ferguson: Sir?
Mr. Garnett: Is Mr. Miller available?
Mr. Baker: Don't answer his questions. Answer the
Court's questions.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. McMurran, I show you another piece of paper and
ask you if you can identify that, please, sir f
A. I can identify the type of receipt. I can only-This
is not what is customarily used by the office. It's possible
that· our printed supply of receipt ran out, and this is one
from the ten cent store receipt book. It is possible it 'vas
used for a short period while they w~re waitpage 1017 ~ ing for the new printed forms to come in. Ordinarily we had these books for payment of rents
on some church property that I personally handled.
Q. Can you recognize that as having come from your office f
1\Ir. Garnett: He already said he could not.
A. No, this would be a receipt-this is again initialed by
Mrs. Kinlock, payable to John A. Miller, $50.00.
By The Court:
Q. You cannot recognize the receipt, or can you, as a Bowen
Company receipt?
A. This is not our normal receipt, but it could possibly have
been one given for a short period.
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Q. Do you know whether that one is, or is not, that is
wha.t I am trying to find out.
A. It looks to me like a valid receipt.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. If Mr. Miller presented this to your office, would you
honor it¥
A. I would honor it.
Mr. Garnett: If Mr. Miller presented it in here I wouldn't
object to it.
Q. Actually, wasn't that receipt shown to you in the :Miller
account some while ago, 1958, I think you testified?
A. Yes, sir. I don't recall the particular one ;
page 1018 ~ no.
Mr. Ferg·uson: We would like to offer this in evidence as
a defendant's exhibit.
Mr. Garnett: I objec.t to its introduction.
The Court: 'Vhat is your objection?
Mr. Garnett: The objection is, on the witness stand the
witness says he cannot positively identify that as a receipt, although it is possible that it is a receipt put out by the office.
The Court : He properly identified it, I think.
Mr. Garnett: Mr. 1\filler n1ust be available, Your I-Ionor,
to identify that receipt or I don't know where they could
have gotten it.
The Court: You didn't object to the other receipt being
put into evidence.
Mr. Garnett: I didn't object to the other, Judge, because
Mr. McMurran said it 'vas a receipt out of their receipt book.
This one, if they can show it is a receipt, I have no objection

to.
I\{r. Ferguson: He said it was a receipt.
The Court: He said it 'vas.
Mr. Garnett: I recall that one about J\Hllie
page 1019 ~ Cobb and our scouring the streets trying to
find Mr. Langley; the Court didn't let that one
in. Now this one is even worse than that one.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, the Millie Cobb incident
was an attempt by the Commonwealth to introduce in evidence
what purported to be a photograph, which the identifying
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witnesses admitted did not, to their positive knowledge, actually photograph all on the original. That was the objeetion.
Mr. Garnett: I object to it, Your Honor. Of Course it is
up to the ·Court whether to let it in or not.
By The Court:
Q. Do you know whose writing it is on here, or can you tell?
A. I feel that that is Mrs. Kinlock's writing.
Q. :Oo you feel that it is an authentic receipt, then Y
A. I feel that it is, yes, sir.
Q. Of Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. ·You do?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. There is no doubt about it at all?
A. Well, I-I feel certain that it's a valid
page 1020 ~ receipt.
The Court: I will let it in if he is certain that it is a
valid receipt of the company.
Mr. Ferguson: He said he would honor it if I took it to
him.
Note: The above identified receipt is now marked and
filed as Defendant's Exhibit No. D.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. What is the practice with reference to endorsing checks
in the office, that is, checks payable to Bowen Company!
A. They should all be stamped for deposit only to the
account of Bowen and Company.
Q. Do you have a special stamp for that purpose?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I show you a check marked for identification No. 28,
which is later received in evidence as Commonwealth Exhibit No. 16, in a group of ninety-eight checks, and ask you
to refer to the endorsement and say whether tl1at is the customary practice in the office?
A. You don't want me to go through all of them?
Q. Just look through a few of them.
A. This stamp is the stamp for deposit only, Bowen and
Company.
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Q. Were there any specific instructions as to how a check
was to be endorsed in your office'
page 1021 ~ A. They were all to be endorsed for deposit
only, Bowen Company.
Q. By stampf
A. By stamp.
Q. Would it be unusual to find a check payable to the
company that was not endorsed by stampT
The Court: That is not endorsed by stamp 1

Q. Yes, Eir. In other words, I in1ag·ine the bank would
accept a handwritten endorsement, would it not t
A. I would feel so.
Q. Do you ever recall making such an endorsement yourself, sir¥
A. The only endorsements that I can recall is on occasions
the First Pennsylvania Bank and Trust Company that I
have mentioned, as I recall some of their checks would come
in we'll say-well, we'll use Globe Indemnity C·ompany, Bowen
Company Agents, or words to that effect. In those cases I
would endorse it that way, then it would be starnped for deposit only, Bowen Company. I don't recall any other exceptions.
Q. I show you this check, Mr. McMurran, and ask you if
you can identify that, sir¥
A. It says W. C. Bowen and Company, dated March 14,
1953, $250.00.
page 1022 ~ Q. You need not read it;· can you identify it 1
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir. Let him read it.
. A. Signed by John E. Miller.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. I didn't get the date.
A. This w.as March 14, 1953. And it's endorsed on the
back W. C. Bowen and Company by G. K. McMurran. That
is my handWl·iting, Judge.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Was that check deposited or cashed 1 Can you tell from
the face of it?
A. 3/20/53.
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Q..Can you look at the face of it and from the marking indicate whether it was cashed or deposited Y
A. No, sir. I can't tell that. I would assume it's deposited,
but I couldn't tell that.
Q. Do you see a Teller's stamp on the front of it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. vV{)Uld that indicate it was cashed or deposited 7
A. I don't know. I 'n1 not experiencedQ. Do you see the initials penciled up there 'VSP in the
corner, does that indicate it was cashed or deposited?
A. I don't know, 1\fr. Ferguson.
page 1023 ~ Q. You do not know?
A. No, sir.
Q. But it would be unusual if it were cashed Y
A. It would be unusual. I can't think of 'vhy it would be
cashed, unless we were-unless we wanted to-Let me see
what date it was paid 1 The 2oth-No, that won't explain it.
This man, as I recall, hail a very-rather poor credit
standing.
Q. Do you know who vVSP would he at the First National
Bank?
A. WSPY
Mr. Garnett: "'1l1o said that was put on at the First
National Bank, Mr. Ferguson?
A. I don't know.
Q. Williarn S. Parker was there at the tin1e, was l1e not?
Mr. Ga.rnett: "Who said that wa!3 put on there at the
First National Bank, to start with 7
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, this is not my witness,
but the objections should be addressed to the Court and
not directed to counsel.
Mr. Garnett: I'm asldng- the question-l-Ie asked the
witness who WSP was at the First National Bank. All I an1page 1024

~

By The Court:
Q. Where was the check paid? Does it appear

on the back?
A. Savs on the llack that it was paid through the First
N a tionai Bank.
By Mr. Ferguson : (Continuing)
Q. On what bank is the check drawn Y

594

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia
George J(eith McMurran.

Mr. Garnett: Willie, why don't you stop this hearsay
business?
Mr. Ferguson: vV e would like to offer that as an exhibit.
.
Q.
A.
Q.
A.

"\Vha.t bank is it drawn on, 1\:[r. ~Ic~Iurran 1
It is drawn on the First National Bank.
In the sum of how much 1
$250.00. It's marked pa.ytnent on back rent.

The Court: The check will be received as Defendant's Exhibit No. E.
Note: The above identified clleck is now marked and filed
as Defendant's Exhibit No. E.
Mr. McMurran, I show you another piece of paper which
purports to be another receipt, can you identify that, please,
sir1
A.. Yes, sir. It's marked received from John E. ~Iiller on
back rent, $250.00. Initialed by OW, which would be Mrs.
Webb, on March 14, 1953, on one of our receiptspage 1025 ~ on one of Bowen Company receipts, or W. C.
Bowen and C01npany, whic'h it was at the time.
Q. What was the date~
A. March 14,1953.
Q. It was W. C. Bowen and CmnpanyA. At that time, yes, sir.
Q. -which was not a corporation at that thne 1
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. Does it indicate the receipt of a check in that an1ount on
·
March 14, 1953 1
A. It is so indicated.
Q. Would that be the check that you have just examined Y
A. (Shrugging shoulders) It indicates so. It's the same
atnount, the same date. I would assume so.
Q. Will you look at your books and see if Mr. l\1iller made
two payments on that day in the sun1 of $250.00 or whether
he only made one paytnent 1
A. Will I~
Q. Can you do it? Can you look at the rentThe Court: Do we have the books for 1953?
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A. Well, it would show in the detailed rent account of Mr.
Miller wl1at credit he received on that day.
Q. Mr. McMurran, I show you a group of three
page 1026 ~ sheets with an adding machine tape attached to
one of the papers, and ask you if you can identify those sheets?
A. I believe this to be a copy of an account which was furnished to 1\f.r. Avis, who was representing Mr. Miller's son,
which this copy was prepared by 1\{rs. Webb and was taken
from the subsidiary rent account of Mr. Miller.
Q. Was itA. In other words, this was, in effect, as I recall, a bill of
particulars of what our records show that he owed.
Q. Was this prepared-

Mr. Garnett: Let me examine this a little more in detail.
Mr. Ferguson: Let me ask this question:
Q. "'\Vas it prepared at your direction-prepared by your
direction Y

The ·Court: Let him finish, Mr. Garnett.
A. At n1y direction?
Q. Yes.
A. Yes.
Q. Was it delivered by her to you and you in turn delivered it to Mr. Avis?
A. That is my recollection.

Note: At this point lV[r. Garnett examines the above document.

Q. Was the account settled on the basis of that,
what is shown on that paperf
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, I "rould like to
examine the witness about this before we g·o any further on
it.
The ~Court: Let's see what it is. I don't know whether it
has anything to do with it. l-Ie asked a question, but he hasn't
answered it, yet.
Mr. Ba..'lter: If the Court please, before any interruption is
had here, I would like to discuss this matter in the absence of
this witness. May we adjourn to Chambers to find out whatpage 1027

~
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The Court: Let him finish his question. I have not given
him the right yet to examine the witness.
Mr. Ferguson : I am trying to lay the background on how
this paper was prepared.
Mr. Garnett: Before we do that, what I want to question
this witness about is the authenticity of this record. I don't
know what the records shows. I don't know what he is attempting to show by it. The fact remains is that Mr.Mr. Baker: If the Court please, !.renew my objectionMr. Garnett: Be quiet a minute, Ralph.
Mr. Baker: I am addressing the Bench. I am
page 1028 ~ objecting to the Bench. Can the Court admonishMr. Garnett: What is he doing, objecting to my objection Y
The Court: That is exactly what he is doing at the moment,
Mr. Garnett.
Mr. Baker: I object to any discussion of this being had in
the presence of this witness.
The Court: Yes, sir. You are objecting· toYr. Garnett: They interrogated mine before I was allowed to ask for certain documents to go in.
The Court: Let's go in Chambers and see what you have
to say on the matter.
Note: Court, counsel and the defendant retire to Chambers, viz:
In Chambers :
Mr. Garnett: J udg·e, this thing has been pulled in here;
for what purpose I don't know.
I\fr. Baker: I can explain my motion to come in here.
· Mr. Garnett: Sit down, please. 1\Ir. Fergupag·e 1029 ~ son is handling this witness.
Mr. Ferguson: I am putting that on because
the witness has an independent recollection of the money
coming in.
Mr. Garnett: He didn't say that.
Mr. Ferguson: He will say it. He just told me in the
courtroorn that he would do all he could to help identify this
account.
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, I don't know why this was introduced.
The Court: He hasn't introduced it yet.
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Mr. Garnett: I don't know why he is getting ready to-I
don't know why he is asking the witness whether the account
was settled on the basis of the figures shown on here.
Now Mr. McMurran said that he made or caused Mrs. Webb
to make a copyThe Court: For a Bill of Particulars. I remember that.
Mr. Garnett: Right. Now I don't know whether this is the
copy Mrs. Webb produced or not. I want to ask the witness
whether he knows, as a matter of fact, whether or not this is
an actual copy.
Now, Your Honor, it's easy enough to make
page 1030 ~ a copy of anything you want to on it and hand it
to somebody and say it's a copy.
Mr. Ferguson: He said it was in Mrs. Webb's handwriting.
Mr. Garnett: I understand it's in Mrs. Webb's handwriting.
The Court: We are talking about something else now.
Mr. Garnett: I understand that. Now, Judge, they have
been holding my feet pretty close to the fire-sending up and
getting l\1:r. Langly on this. I haven't done that with them on
these things. I want to ask the question whether he can
absolutely identify this as what he gave to Mr. Avis. Now I
don't know whether he can identify it or not.
The Court: I have no objection to that.
Mr. Ferguson : Everything is right in there. He will
recognize it.
Mr. Garnett: This adding machine tape doesn't amount
to a hill of beans, Billy.
Mr. Ferguson: He will recognize the paper clip.
Mr. Garnett: I have dozens of them in my
page 1031 ~ offi-ce right now. I'll take you down there and
show them to you.
Mr. Ferguson: I never saw one before just like that.
Mr. Baker: If the .Court please, while we are at a lullMr. Garnett: Furthermore, Judge, he interrogated my witnesses about various documents before I was allowed to
examine them.
The Court: I don't blame them fo.r that. You don't either.
Mr. Garnett: No, sir. Mr. Baker apparently doesn't think
so because he doesn't want me to interrogate this 'vitness concerning this document that they offered. He figures that he
has more-the defense has more privilege than the Commonwealth.
He is their witness, as far as this is concerned. Your
Honor has so ruled.
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Mr. Baker: May I interrupt here? The CommonwealthMr. Garnett: Is Mr. Baker saying 'vhat he feels about this
now? Either one or the other should be allowed to argue the
matter.
Mr. Baker: I a.m just talking now.
The Court: No, sir. ~ir. Fe.rguson is. You
page 1032 ~ are not. As far as I am concerned that can be
settled right now. Only one lawyer at a time will
argue.
Mr. Baker : All right, sir.
Mr. Ferguson: If you will let me finish identifying this
paper and how it came into being, I have no objection to Mr.
Garnett asking hhn any questions along the identification line
before I proceed with it.
I am just going· to ask him whether he paid the premium on
one day, March 14, 1953. Here is the payment. I-Iere it is.
That is the only thing I am going to ask him.
Mr. Garnett: You are going to .ask him whether only one
payment was made on this date in the sum of $250.00? Is
that what you are going to ask him?
Mr. Ferguson: Yes.
Mr. Garnett: Is that all you want to ask?
Mr. Ferguson : Yes. That is all.
The ·Court: The question is did he make one payment on
that day or two on that day1
Mr. Ferguson: Or did he make tv.ro. The cancelled check
and receipt show one. That is all I am going to
page 1033 ~ show. All I am going to show is that the receipt
was for that particular check.
Mr. Baker: This all arises because of the question of
identifying the receipt as being issued against the same check.
Isn't that how this all arises?
Mr. Ferguson: That is all I was trying to get him to
identify-the check andThe Court: And the receipt.
Mr. Ferguson: -and the receipt, together, to tie the two
together.
Mr. Baker: I understand further, Henry, and this is what
this is all about, is that the receipt is initialed by Mrs. Webb,
establishing apparent accountability of her for this $250.00.
Yet the evidence already shows by evidence offered before
that the check was cashed by Mr. McMurran.
Mr. Garnett: It does not show any such thing.
Mr. Baker: Mr. Parker okayed the check as an officer of
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the bank, it being a corporate business check being cashed by
an individual in the amount of $250.00. It was endorsed on
the back in Mr. McMurran 's handwriting.
Mr. Garnett: I really think if Mr. ~£cMurran
page 1034 ~ carried a check up there to the First National
Bank they would make him get it okayed before
cashing it.
Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir. It was a business check and he
had no business cashing it. He will be able to explain it. He
will be given a chance to explain it.
Nir. Garnett: I have no objection to that if you can prove
that Mr. McMurran took the money. I have no objection to
that.
·
Mr. Ferguson: I am not-vVe are going to show, I think,
that he cashed the check. I suspectThe 1Court : In 1953.
Mr. Ferguson: We assume he put the money back in the
cash drawer. I don't know what he will say about that. We
are not accusing him of taking the money.
The Court: I think what they have in mind, I think they
are right. I will have to go along with them, if that is the
case.
~tfr. Baker: That is what it is all about.
~tfr. Garnett: I have no objection to that.
page 1035 ~ Mr. Ferguson: That is all it is for.
~fr. Garnett: I certainly have no objection to
that. If they can show that Mr. ~fcMurra.n cashed the check,
he cashed it. I don't kno'v or care whether he cashed it or
didn't cash it.
The Court: Let's go on back.
Note: Court, counsel and the defendant return to the
courtroom, whereupon the hearing continues, viz:
In open court :
J\tfr. Garnett: Your Honor, did you rule that I could ask
this witness whether he could positively identify this sheet
of paper?
The Court: I will as soon as he gets through with his questions. I will let you go ahead before he introduces it.
Mr. Ferguson: I don't care to introduce it. I just care to
ask the 'vitness if he can identify the payment from this Bill
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of Particulars that was furnished h) another n1atter. I don't
care to introduce it, Henry.
pag·e 1036 ~ Mr. Garnett: Go ahead.
The Court: Ife doesn't care to introduce it.
· ~Ir. Garnett : Go ahead.
G. KEITH McMURRAN,
resuming- his testhnony, testifies further as follows:
CROSS EXA.MINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
.
Q. Mr. McMurran, I will sho'v you what you have previously
identified as a Bill of Particulars given in another matter involving the account of John Miller; will you refer to that in
the month of :hiarch, 1953, and see whether or not a payment
·of $250.00 is credited to the account of John Miller?
.l\. On March 23, 1953, there is a credit shown of $250.00.
Q. I didn't. get the end <>f that answer.
A. On ~'larch 23, 1953 a credit shows $250.00.
Q. Are there any credits on March 14th or between 1\f.arch
14t'h and March 23rd?
Mr. Garnett: They said they were only going to ask about
one item on this piece of paper, Judge, back in Chambers.
That was my understanding.
The Court: Yes, I understood that, but now
page 1037 ~ let's see what the next question is.
M.r. Ferguson: I a1n asking about that item.
That's all, Your Honor.

Q. Can you state whether or not the check which John Miller
left with Bowen and Company, or W. C. Bowen and Company,
I believe it was at that time, whether that represents that
credit shown on thatA. I cannot state that. No, sir.
Q. Will you find out whether there is a credit for $250.00
paid by John Miller anywhere else on that aceount?
A. I don't see it, sir.

Mr. Garnett: May I see that, Your Honor? (R.eferring to
check)
Q. What is your conclusion as to what that check stands
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for f Do you think no credit was given for it, or do you think
credit was given to Mr. Miller for it Y
A. For that check Y I think credit was given for it.
Q. And posting was delayed, or how do you explain that
nine days delay Y
A. Possibly it may have been the case.
By the Court:
Q. Was it the case or not, or do you know'
A. I don't know, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. As far as the record shows, did Mr. Miller
make any other payment in that like amount over
the years that he was one of your tenants Y
A. I see nothing in this to indicate that.
Q. Either the $250.00 there is a credit for this check or it
never was credited, is that the fact?
A. It's my belief that the check was credited.
Q. On what date?
A. According to this it's the 23rd.
Q. And the check.
A. According to this receipt it was received on the 14th, but
this is not the original record.
page 1038

~

Mr. Garnett: Is that the receipt you are talking about? I
I don't know what you are talking about.
By the Court :
Q. Where are your original records Y

The Court: It is the rec.eipt that he has in his hand.
Q. Where are those original .records?
A. Possibly in the hands of the Commonwealth. I'm not
certain, sir.
The Court: Are there any more questions now Y
Mr. Ferguson: Your Honor, we would like to
page 1039 ~ introduce the receipt dated March 14, 1953 to
John E. Miller for back rent in the sum of
$250.00, which check receipt is initialed CW, which we will
concede is Catherine Webb ,vho gave this receipt-
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Q. Is that true, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Note: The above tendered receipt is now marked and filed
as Defendant's Exhibit F.

Q. l\1:r. Mc:Niurran, I show you another cheek and ask you
can you identify that, please, sir¥
A. This is a check dated :tviay 9, 1953 to ,V. C. Bowen and
Company for $50.00, signed by John E. Miller, and it is
marked payment for rent of :Niay, 1953. It is stamped for deposit only--:vV. C. Bowen and ·Company.
Q. Is that the endorsen1ent that you just read: ,V. C.
Bowen and Company Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you state whether that check was cashed or deposited?
A. It's my opinion that this was deposited.
Q. Does that have any Teller's stamp on the front of it,
sir?
A. It has a stamp, looks to me like it says collection. Tl1at 's
all I can read on it.
Q. There is no pencil notation on there, is
page 1040 ~ there Y
A. No, sir. There is also something that was
on it that was torn off. I can gue~s ·what that is.
The ·Court: You cannot g·uess if you don't know.
Mr. Ferguson : We offer that.
The ,Court: All right. What about it Y
Mr. Garnett: May I see it, Your Honor Y
The Court: I thought he had shown it to you?
Mr. Garnett: Just tem.porarily. Where is the tab tl1at was
on it which shows it was returned from the bank for son1e
reason or another Y
l\1:r. Ferguson: That is the way we got it, sir.
J\1:r. Garnett: I understand that, sir, does not reflect the
true picture. Obviously there was something on it at the end.
It looks like it might have gone bac.k for another one.
The Court: I think you are probably right.
Mr. McMurran, does that check have any approval signified
by an officer of the bank on the front of it in pencil¥
A. Not that I saw, no, sir. No, sir.
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Mr. Ferguson: We offer the check dated May
May 9, 1953Mr. Garnett: Objection. I object to it because the check obviously has been altered, because there is
mucilage on the end.
The Court: The attachment is not on it. That's right.
Mr. Garnett: The attachment is not on it, therefore I object because it does not disclose the true picture.
Mr. Ferguson: I think the check was paid, Your Honor,
from the perforations.
].fr. Garnett: Eventually, perhaps, it was.
The Court: When was it paid f
].fr. Ferguson: If you hold it up to the lig·ht I think you
can see the perforation holes in it.
The Court: July 7, 1953.
Mr. Garnett: Wait a minute. My expert wants to look at
this.
I have to object to that, Judge. I honestly have to object
because it does not disclose the true picture.
The Court: In what way does it not disclose the true picture?
page 1042 ~ Mr. Garnett: Obviously the bank has attached something to the end of it which has been
removed by a person or persons unknown to me.
page 1041

~

By the ·Court:
Q. Do you recall, was anything attached to this check at
the time?
.A.. A number of that gentleman's checks were returned for
insufficient funds and re-deposited on several occasions.
The Court: I believe that is all. It was returned for insufficient funds. For what it is worthMr. Garnett: That's right. Perhaps it was.
The Court: That is what was attached to it: insufficient
funds.
Mr. Garnett: Well, I mean if I could inquire as to the purpose of its introduction, then I would know whether I would
withdra'v my objection. Until that time, Judge, I think I
have a real good and valid objection.
~Ir. Ferguson: I will be glad to state the purpose of the
introduction. It is to show a checkYr. Garnett: Tell me. I don't care about the
page 1043 ~ hearing it. Tell me. You can tell me off the
record and then if I don't agree, well then-
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Mr. Baker: I don't think you should confer with him on
the reeord or off the record.
Note: An off-the-record discussion is had between counsel.
Whereupon the hearing· continues, viz:
Mr. Garnett: Judge, if ·all they want to show it was at one
time or another deposited, and if Mr. Ferguson can give me
his assurance that that is true, I have no objection to it. But,
I say again, the check does not disclose the true picture, because obviously someoneMr. Ferguson: I think it has some history that we don't
know about.
Mr. Garnett: At least I don't know about it.
Mr. Ferguson: We don't, either.
Mr. Garnett: It does not then, as I say, reflect the true
status of that check.
The Court: Is that all you want to showY
Mr. Ferguson: That is all, sir.
The Court: All right. I will let it in. I think
page 1044 ~ the only thing it shows is that it was n1.arked insufficient funds and returned for that reason. It
was later paid in July of that same year.
Note: The above referred to check is now marked and :filed
as Defendant's Exhibit No. G.
Q. ~Ir...M:cl\iurran, the check which has been marked Exhibit
No. E in the sum of $250.00 appears to have been endorsed by
you ·with pen and ink, is that true, sir?
·
A. That's true, ·sir.
Q. Do you recall the reason you signed it in pen and ink
rather than to use the office stamp 1
A. I would-I don't recall the specific incident, but in view
of the experience that we bad had with this particular individual I would in1agine that I endorsed it for the purpose of
its being cashed immediately upon receipt, without waiting
for it to go through the bank and possibly be returned for insufficient funds. T·his is eight years ago.
Q. Because of past history you had had at that particular
time?
A. Of this particular gentleman; yes, sir.
Q. vVhat did you do with the $250.00 if you cashed it?

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

605

George Keith M cMurran.

A. Did I say I cashed it? I didn't understand 1 I think
you said did I cash it 1
page 1045 ~ Q. The record shows you saidA. In fact, I think I did not personally cash it.
Q. But you did personally endorse it Y
A. Yes, sir. I think that's the reason the officer's signature
must be on there because I did not personally take it in. I
don't think I would have needed to have gotten an offi-cer's
signature to have gotten it cashed.
Q. Can you take a company check to the bank and cash it
without making some explanation as to the unusual procedure
involved?
A. ·Certainly .not a corporation check.
Q. Or any other company check thatA. No, sir, not that would be an unusual procedure. That
is cor:rect.
Q. That has been done, though, a number of times at the
Bowen office, has it not 7
A. Not to my knowledge, other than petty cash checks taken
out of petty cash checks.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Let me ask you : Did you say you cashed this personally?
A. No, sir. I did not say that I personally cashed it.
Q. Are you telling this Court that you did not
page 1046 ~ cash this check?
A. I feel certain I did not, sir.
1\{r. Garnett: All right. There you are, sir.
Mr. Baker: Your IIonor, he is putting words in this witness' mouth.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you kno'v what happened to the $250.00?
A. I assume it \vas credited to Mr. Miller's account.
Q. Yes, but after the check was cashed \vhat happened to
it?
.A. The money should have beenQ. Not where it should have been; do you know what happened to it?
A. I don't know for a fact, no, sir. Not, of course, at this
late date.
Q. And you say that isn't loose practice?
A. I'm sure-
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Mr. Garnett: The witness savs he did not remember cashing the check; in fact, he felt sure he didn't cash it.
Q. Is it unusual for you to endorse company checks by pen
and ink, Mr. McMurran 1
A. Yes, sir. It would be unusual.
page 1047 ~ Q. You remember this case in a vague way, althoug·h it was a number of years ago. I don't
want you to strain your mmnory, but this was eight years ago
that this occurred.
A. I don't remember this specific instance, no, sir.
Q. The reason you don't remember this, is it because your
memory doesn't go back tha.t far or is it because this happened quite frequently?
A. It did not happen quite frequently.
Q. How frequently would it happen, Mr. McMurran 7
A. You are speaking of this particular gentleman, or anyQ. Where you would not use the usual office stamp, deposit
stamp but would make a general unqualified endorsement in
pen and ink of a company cheekY
A. I don't recall an instance of it.
Q. Incidentally, who had authority to sign checks and banking papers at your office 1
A. Mr. Bowen and I.

By the Court :
Q. You and ~~r. Bowen in 1953 Y
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. And that is still true?
A. That is still true.
page 1048 ~ Q. As of FebruaryA. Right now.
Q.. February, 1959'
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Vlac:; the bank given written authorization as to the authority of you and Mr. Bo,ven to sign checks~
A. I feel sure that they have signature cards showing 'vho
was authorized.
Q. Has the corporation issued any formal authorization
under the seal of the corporation~
A. The records were changed at the time they were incorporated, yes, sir, in 1954.
9· In 19541
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A. That's right.
Q. So you feel certain you have got an authorization on file
.with the bank·
A. That is correct.
Q. -in the form of a resolution, resolution of the board of
directors is what it would beY
A. I feel that would be the case.
Mr. Ferguson: 1\{ay we have a few minutes recess, Your
IIonor?
The Court: We will take a short one. Don't take too many
of them. Will five minutes be enough¥
page 1049 ~ Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir.
The Court: All right.
Note: .At tlus point a short recess is had, following which
the hearing continues, as follows:
By ~fr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. 1\fcMurran, did the Bo,ven Company have any audit
other than that prepared by Mr. Whiteside on an annual
basis?
A. No, sir.
Q. Until February of 1960?
A. No, sir.
Q. No regular CPA audit¥
A. No, sir.
Q. Is that also true for the office before it was incorporated 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was there any shortage ever brought to your attention
prior to 1952?
A. There was a shortage brought to my attention in June,
1949, by Mrs. Webb.
Q. How was that brought to your attention 1
A. \Veil, she-The girl w'ho was keeping· books
Jlage 1050 ~ left to get married. And after she had been gone
for three or four days she came and told me that
site was unable to balance the cash drawer, that there were a
nu1nber of tickets and checks and so on in there and she just
was unable to balance it.
So it was at that time that I got into it and we called in
l\.fr. \Vhi teside and we discovered that 've were-that there
was a shortage.
Q. Who is still working for the office now that was working
for it then f
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A. When you say nowQ. I am speaking of up until February 6, 1959.
A. Mrs. Webb, Mr. Bowen and I.
Q. Can you state whether or not the shortage that you just
referred to occurred before or after Mrs. Webb went to work
there?
A. It's my recollection that it occurred-she came to work
in March of '49, as I recall, and my recollection isBy the Court:
Q. Who are you talking about' This girl Y
A. No, sir. Mrs. Webb. And that this shortage occurred
during the spring of 1949. I mean most of it occurred during
that period. But Mrs. Webb did not keep the books at that
time, or handle the cash for a long t.ime.
page 1051 ~ Q. V\7ho was handling the books at that thneY
A. There was another person named :Miss
Curtis, was handling the books at that time.
Q. Is she the one that went off and got Inarried, you say?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. This ~irl did not work for you any more after that?
A. No, sir.
By 1\Ir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. I don't believe you stated what your duties were in your
office, 1\ir. Mc:Niurran.
A. vVell, n1y duties involve the technical aspects of insurance, anrl the general supervision of the office.
Q. You would have charge of everyone else in the office outside of Mr. Bowen, I take it'
A. That is correct.
Q. Do you have the authority to hire and fire, for example?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And pay raises and so forth~
A. Yes sir. I 'vould do that in consultation with ~Ir. Bowen,
particularly as far. as pay raise is concerned.
Q. On occasions did you ever have to work at nights or on
week ends?
page 1052 ~ A. Frequently.
Q. How frequently would you say, sir?
A. Well, I would just say whenever the workload demanded
it. I couldn't sav bow often.
Q. Do you recall whether or not you ever asked to have tl1e
safe left open at night~
A. (Pause).
7
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Q. Do you recall whether you ever ·asked to have the safe
left open at night T
A. I could have made that request, although I had the combination of the safe and it was not necessary for me to make
the request.
Q. If the safe was already openA. If the safe was open and I was working at the time,
possibly I would make that request.
Q. Were the books placed in the safe every night, or were
they left out on the table?
A. The books were placed in the safe every nig·ht unless I
requested that a particular record be left out.
Q. Did you ever have an occasion to work on the books at
night yourself?
A. Not to work on the books, no, sir. To make entries in
the books, no, sir.
Q. Not to make entries. I don't .1nean that, sir. But I
mean to work in tl1e books or work with the
page 1053 ~ books?
A. I would have occasion to work in the books;
yes, sir.
Q. And you are familiar with the books, you feel?
A. Reasonably familiar; yes, sir.
Q. vYou!d you ever have anybody with you on these occasions that you frequently had to stay in the office at night
and workY
A. Well, it would depend on what information-what purpose I 'vas working· on them. If it involved the rent aceount
usually I would have n1y brother, who is interested in the
property with n1e.
Q. Do yc,u recall any occasion that Mrs. Webb worked at
night with you Y
A. I don't recall any.
Q. vVhat were the normal office hours, Mr. ~IcMurran?
A. From 9 :00 until 5 :00.
Q. On Saturday wha.t were they?
A. From 9 :00 until 12 :00.
Q. Do you know whether Mrs. Kinlock and Mrs. Webb
would ridl3 together both going· home as well as coming to the
office?
A. That was my understanding.

By The Court:
page 1054

~

Q. You do not know it, do youf
A. I don't know it; no, sir.
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By 1\ir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. It was your understanding they were riding· togetherA. Yes, sir.
Q. -coming to the office Y
A. That's right.
Q. You made reference to a book-! think you used the
term Miscellaneous Receipt Book-is that different from any
other receipt book?
A. Well, with the installation of the McBee System there
the systmn is principally designed for the receipt of insurance
premiums.
As I previously testified we have a small rental agency.
We were able to work the receipts for this rental agency
into the l\1:cBee System, but then it was a problen1 of miscellaneous receipts, such as brokerage commissions, someone paying for a telephone call, and that type thing, which
'vere going on the miscellaneous receipt book.
I visited several offices who had this system prior to its
installation in our office, and that was the 1nethod they were
using. So, we adopted the same method.
Q. Is that 1\Hscellaneous Receipt Book in the courtroom,
do you know, sir Y
A. Not that I see from here; no, sir.
page 1055 ~ Q. Do you want to look at these books and
seeA. l'n1 certain that none of these records involve the Miscellaneous Receipt Book, from what I can see there. That
would be the J\IIcBee System receipts.
Q. The book which I have in n1y hand is 1narked Commonwealth Exhibit No. 11. Do you know whether the 1\Iiscellaneous Receipt Book was turned over to the auditors along with
the other books?
A. All receipt books were turned over, with exception of one
receipt book which was missing.
Q. You have specific reference to the Miscellaneous Receipt Book under the McBee System?
A. Well, it's a miscellaneous receipt book, we '11 say, in
addition to the McBee System.
Q. Is the duplicate receipt book the same as 've sometimes
have referred to as the manifold receipt book?
A. I'm not familiar with the tern1 manifold receipt book.
Q. Is the 1\Hscellaneous Receipt Book different from the
usual receipt book that you had before theA. No, sir.
Q. I don't tl1ink I quite finished my question.
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Mr. Garnett: I didn't hear any of it.
Note : The following question is read by the reporter :
Question: Is the Miscellaneous Receipt Book
page 1056 ~ different from the usual receipt book that you
had before theQ. -before the McBee System was introduced 1
A. What we refer to .as the Miscellaneous Receipt Book
was a duplicate receipt book. Before the McBee System we
had a printed duplicate receipt book; that is, with our name,
our :firm name printed on it. I believe after that was installed we just simply used a wire bound duplicate receipt
book. I don't recall that that had our name printed on it.
Q. What receipts are issued out of the Miscellaneous Receipt Book?
A. What was supposed to be issued out of it were receipts-! n1ean receipts for money received, we'll say, if someone had made a telephone call, a long distance call and wanted
to pay for it, it would go in through tha.t, or brokerage commissions, anything of that sort 'vould be entered on this record now, and they would then be posted to the Cash Receipts Journal.
Q. Are you talking about brokerage commissions, real
estate brokerage commissions, or are you talking about stocks
and bonds?
A. No, sir. No, we refer to brokerage among agencies,
where we place business in other agencies if we are unable
to place directly, and that sort of thing. Counter-signature
commisions that were received, counter signing
page 1057 ~ policies for out of state brokers.
By The Court:
Q. You are supposed to use the receipt book; did you use
that receipt book?
A. Yes, sir.
By lvir. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When you learned about the $100.00 that seems to
have been missing in Mr. Miller's account in 1958, was that
in the nature a warning in your opinion of something being
wrong with the cash in the office?
A. At the time it was not.
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Mr. Garnett: Just a minute, Mr. McMurran. Judge, I
really think he ought to stop asking leading questions. This
is his own witness now. He has been his own witness
for four hours.
The Court: I think the only objection to this question is
that it 'vas leading· and it is asking for an opinion.
Mr. Ferguson: The witness modified his original answer
to Mr. Garnett, and that is to the effect that. he had no knowledge of a shortage until February the 9th. When I asked
him whether he had any knowledge prior to February the
9th, he changed it to the first knowledge was in 1958 when a
hundred dollar item was found to be missing
page 1058 ~ out of M.r. ~!iller's account.
.
I do not think I am making him my witness for
that.
The Court: You asked him was it a warning. I do not
remember hearing anything about the warning before.
Mr. Ferguson: I want to know whether he considered a
shortage existed in 1958 or 1959.
Mr. Garnett: Ask him.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing) )
Q. When did you consider a shortage existed, 1\Ir. McMurranY
A. I considered a shortage existed in February, 1959.
Mr. Ferguson: That is all "re have of this witness, Your
Honor.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. McMurran, Mr. Ferguson asked you about a shortage 'vhich was reported to you by Mrs. Webb in 1949. Now,
you say another lady was keeping the books at that time, is
that correct 7
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
The Court : Miss Curtis.
page 1059

~

Q. She went away to get married?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. And it was while she was away that this shortage was

discovered 7
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did this lady who was away make restitution of the
shortage?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How much was short?
A. It was approximately $1500.00.
Q. So that shortag·e then was all accounted for a.t that time
and wiped out on the books, is that correct?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right, sir. In other words, that shortage was not
carried forward from 1949 into the books.
A. No, sir. No, sir.
Q. They asked you, too, I believe, about some other employees, ~Ir. Garrett and Mr. Cowling, and previously had
asked another witness-! don't believe you-about a Mr.
Kale; would that be Ben Garrett?
A. That would be Ben Garrett.
Q. And that would be Frank Cowling· whom we call Sonny
Cowling?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And Jhmny Kale f
page 1060 ~ · A. Yes, sir.
Q. What exactly were their duties with the
firm, or the company, or the corporation, whichever one
thev worked for?
A. Mr. Kale was head of our real estate department, and
Mr. Garrett was his assistant.
Q. What did they do?
A. They were involved in the sale of real estate and,
well, I think that was about it at the time Mr. Kale was there.
Q. Did they have anything to do with the keeping of the
books?
A. None whatever.
Q. Did they have anything to do with the general office
routine, running of the ·offi.ce?
A. No, sir.
Q. Would you classify them as salesmen, solicitors?
A. I would classify them as real estate salesmen. Yes,
sir.
Q. Real estate salesmen.
The Court: Both of them were real estate salesmen?
Mr. Garnett: All three.
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A. No. No, not }.{r. Cowling. I say Mr. Kale and Mr.
Garrett.
page 1061 ~ Q. What was Mr. Cowling?
A. Mr. Cowling is an insurance agent.
Q. Insurance agent 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. He is an agent. Is that a salesman Y What does he do 7
A. Well, yes, he would be involved in the solicitation, the
production of insurance. That is correct.
Q. Would he have anything to do with the keeping of the
books or the running of the office¥
A. No, sir. No, sir.
Q. A gentleman whose name was referred to I believe
by Mr. Ferguson as John Baugh, I thought he said his name
was, is that correct?
A. That is correct.
Q. Did he occupy a desk in your office f
A. He occupied desk space but was not an en1ployee.
Q. Did he rent this space from you or something?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was his business?
A. He was in life insurance. Actually the rent was paid
by his life insurance company.
Q. Did he keep your books?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did he have tl1e combination to your safe?
page 1062 ~ A. Not to my knowledge. No, sir.
Q. Mr. Ferguson talked at great length to
you about people w'ho may have cashed checks with cash that
was in the cash dra\ver at any particular given time; was
this a frequent or infrequent occurrence Y
A. I would say that it was a fairly frequent occurrence.
Q. Every day or every week, every month, when would it
be?
A. Possibly every few days.
Q. Every few days. I take it then there would be days when
checks would not be cashed, is that correct?
A. That is correct.
Q. If the cash were in the drawer and if, w·e 'll say, the
check of John Baug·h, for instance, or Ben Garrett, whomever
it might be had been cashed, when the deposit was made up
in place of the cash should have shown the check, isn't that
correct?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
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Q. The cash having run through the R-eceipt Book prior
to having g·one into the cash drawer, the account would have
been credited with a cash payment, isn't that correct Y
A. That is correct.
Q. Suffice to say, either the cash or the check should have
been on hand.
page 1063 ~ A. That is correct.
Q. '~Tas Marci Hoffman a bookkeeper in your
office?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did she ever keep the books 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I refer you to the Cash Receipts .Journal, which would
be Commonwealth Exhibit No. 15, and I ask you to refer to
Page 132-

l\fr. Baker: Is this redirect based on cross or not 1
1\Jir. Ferguson: We object to it, Your Honor.
The Court: Is this redirect' If not can it be proper
redirect examination?
1\Ir. Garnett: I am not on redicet. I an1 on cross. He
was their witness. They handed him the journal, I didn't
hand it to him.
The ~Court : Go ahead.
Mr. Ferguson: Your Honor, this item has been reserved.
There is a pending objection before the Court, and we have
refrained frotn asking him anything further about that hook.
Mr. Garnett: I will not go beyond the point you went.
Surely they don't consider, Your Honor, they can ask this
n1an about a book and then preclude tne frompage 1064 ~ The Court: I will let you go up to that point
and let lVIr. Mcl\furran verify the record.
Mr. Garnett: That is all I want.
The Court: Go ahead, up to that point.
Mr. Gnrnett: There is no use to go beyond that point.
By 1\fr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Have you got 132?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right. Now, I wonder if you would go back in this
Journal to the beginning of November.
Mr. Ferguson: Your Honor, this is not redirect and it
is not proper cross.
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Mr. Garnett: What is the matter? Don't you want him
to testify about this Journal f
·
Mr. Baker: No, we don't want you to testify.
~Ir. Ferguson: Unless he will concede he n1ade the entriesMr. Garnett: I am going to ask hhn right no,v.
The Court: Go ahead.
Q. Now, Mr. Mc~Iurran, arc you back at the beginning of
November?
page 1065 ~ A. I'm on Pag·e 125, which is the beginning of
Novmuber.
Q. From there through 132, I take it, are the entries
for the month of Noven1ber, 1952?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now certain, I believe they- are called entries, in this
Journal are in pen and ink, is that correct"?
A. Yes} sir.
Q. Who was the bookkeeper during that period of thne f
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. In whose handwriting are those entries in'
A. Mrs. Webb's.
Q. Are any of tltmn in yours?
~Ir. Ferguson: Your Honor, we object to this line of
examination as being entirely outside the scope of anything
've asked hin1.
~{r. Garnett: They asked about tha.t Journal, Your Honor, when he was their witness. Now surely I have a right to
question him about it.
The Court: They did ask about the Journal; I do not
know whether they asked in detail who was the bookkeeper
and so on.
page 1066 ~ ~Ir. Ferg·uson: "\Y e asked hiiu if he had made
anv entries in it und he showed us the entries in
his hand"Ti tingMr. Garnett: If the Court docs not t11ink tbev asked him
about this·
~fr. Ferguson : -back in June, 1952.
lVIr. Garnett: -we can l1ave it read back.
The Court: I don't 'vant it read; I know what he said.
Go ahead. Let's see what your next question is.
1\tfr. Ferguson: vVe did not examine him on tl1is.
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By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q~ You stated that this month was all in her handwriting, as I understand it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. My question was : Are any of those entries in your
handwriting, ~fr. McMurran Y
A. No, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I think that is all.
The Court: You have no further questions?
Mr. Garnett: No, sir.
Mr. Ferguson: Your Honor, may I ask two or three more
questions on cross examination on Mr. Garnett's
page 1067 ~ last examination¥
Mr. Garnett: I don't think he can do that.
I was cross examining on his direct.
·
The Court: What is your question Y I will see.
Mr. Ferguson: On redirect if he wants to classify his
as cross.
The Court: What is it, sir?
RECROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson:
.
Q. I would like to ask him a question with reference to
either 1\Ir. Kale or Mr. Garrett engaging in the so~called Lucky
Buck contest. Are you familiar with that, Mr. McMurran,
do you remen1ber?
A. (Sb!-lking head) I don't know what you mean, sir.
~1r. Garnett: I don't know what the Lucky Buck contest
has to do with this case. May I confer with Mr. Ferguson
a minute?

Q. Let me ask him a further question : Do you recall that
one of the local radio stations used to announce a serial number on a dollar bill and if you had the Lucky Buck you got
a prize?

Air. Garnett: This is hearsay, Judge.
A. I remember it.
page 1068

~

Mr. Ferguson: It is common knowledge.
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A. I remember such a contest. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you remember any gentleman in the office taking the
cash out of the cash drawer a.nd examining it for the Lucky
Buck number?
A. No, sir.
Q. That never came to your attention Y
A. Never came to my attention; no, sir.
Q. You would not deny it happened, would you 1
A. I just have no knowledge of it.
Q. Your office i.s separated from the front office, is that
true, sir? ·
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
Q. There is a doorway leading into your office 7
A. Yes, sir.
The Court: This is a brand new 1natter. This is a brand
new subject matter.
·lVIr. Gar-nett: It is a real after-thought.
~Ir. Ferguson: I had forgotten about it until he Juentioned
the people's name.

Q. Did those gentlemen have access to t11e cash like other
By name, John Baugh, did he ever cash a check
in the cash drawer?
empl<>ye~s f

1tfr. Garnett: You have asked that before.
The Court: You asked him that. Go ahead;
page 1069 ~ if he can think of the answer.
A. He would have possibly received cash, such as say you
coming in to cash a check, but not-not making his own
change.
Q. Didn't John Baugh's check, his check that was found in
the drawer, that threw the cash out of balance, did it not!
A. That is one of the items; yes, sir.
Q. So he did cash-he did have checks cashed there now and
then, did he not?
A. That is correct. Yes, sir.
The Court: 'Vha.t are you talking about, access to the
money drawer?

Q. Did he or did he not have access to the cash drawer?
A. He did not. Never did, to my knowledge. If he did
I didn't see him.
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Q. With this check cashing operation going on every few
days it tended to throw the deposit slip out at the bank so
far .as cash was concerned, did it not Y
A. No, sir. Not in total. No, .sir.
Q. If you checked your cash receipts against your cash in
the cash drawer, you wouldn't have as much currency, would
you, if you cashed a lot of checks Y
A. That is correct.
page 1070 r Q. It would be difficult to look at the Receipt
Book, which shows whether cash or checks, and
come out with anywhere near the right amount, is that not
true, sir, if you were cashing checks all the time every few
days, like you say?
Mr. Garnett: We went through that this morning.
The Court: I do not know why you would say now it is
any different from this morning, Mr. Ferguson.

Q. In other words, what came into the office as cash would
often go to the hank as checks?
The Court: He already testified it had gone to the bank in
checks.
Mr. Garnett: He said, I recall, the total wouldn't be
affected.
The Court : Checks cashed would not throw the total out
of the balance. The total would not be out of balance. That
is what he said this morning.

Q. Did the cash drawer-was that a drawer in a desk?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was it locked?
Mr. Garnett:
pa.ge 1071

~

Judge, I don't believe that is proper.
The Court: We have been through all that
before.

Q. Was it ever locked; that is all I want to know?
A. It was not locked.
Mr. Ferguson: Thank you.
Witness stood aside.
The Court: The Court will take a two minute recess.
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Note: A. short recess is had at this point, following
which the hearing continues, viz :
VADEN C. SHIELDS,
introduced in behalf of the Commonwealth, first being duly
sworn, testified as follo·ws:
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. What is your name?
A. Vaden C. Shields.
page 1072 ~ Q. vVhere do you live, Mr. Shields Y
A. Richmond.
Q. How long have you lived in Richmond Y
A. Since 1946.
Q. What is the nature of. your occupation or employment Y
A. Assistant-! was the assistant reg-ional accountant for
Royal Globe Insurance Group, and promoted to their regional accountant upon 1\fr. Raines retirement last August 1st.
Q. Would. that be Mr. W. E. Raines?
A. N. E. Raines.
Q. N. E. Raines?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. He was the regional accountant, you say, up until when?
A. August 1st of last year.
Q. How long was he regional accountant for Royal Globe
Group?
A. In the neighborhood of thirty-five years.
Q. Was his offi-ce in Richmond or not Y
A. 4001 Fitzhugh .Avenue, Richmond. Yes, sir.
Q. Was that continuous service, thirty-five years with the
company, or not t
A. Yes, sir. But not in the Richmond office.
page 1073 ~
Q. How long ·was he in the Richmond office?
Mr. Bake1: If the Court please, this thirty-five years regarding l\fr. Raines is in question. This gentleman says he
has been in Richmond since 1946.
The Court: He said Mr. Raines had been the regional
accountant for the company in the neighborhood of thirty-five
years, not all in Richmond, as I under.stand it that is what
he said.
Mr. Baker: I want to n1ake sure this witness' testimony
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is limited to matters of his own knowledge and not hearsay.
That is all, sir.
The Court: Let's wait until it develops, then we will
find out.
·
Q. Do you kntlw approximately how long Mr. Raines was in
the Richmond office as regional accountant t
A. Not the exact date. He came there, I believe, in 1944
from our home office in New York.
Q. When did you go with Royal Globe in the Richmond
office?
A. October 7, 1946.
Q. Was Mr. Raines there then?
A. Yes.
Q. Was he there continuously up until his retirement last
fallt--·
page 1074 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Mr. Shields, did your company have any
business dealings with Bowen Company here in Newport
NewsY
A. Yes, sir. They were an agent of our-of Globe Indemnity Company.
Q. Did your company carry the insurance on Citizens
Rapid Transit Company?
A. Yes, sir, we did.
Q. Do you know how long this account was carried with
Bowen Company by your firm T
A. No, I don't know how long, but it 'vas carried fron1
April, 1953, because the accounts were carried in the New
York office prior to that date for the Globe Indemnity Company. April 1, 1953 they were transferred from the New
York office to Richmond Regional office. At that time it came
under Mr. Raines' supervision.
Q. Was it necessary because of your duties as an assistant
regional aec.ountant to be familiar ·with the account of the
CRT with Globe or not¥
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I think that this question is improperly put as to what was necessary. It calls for
a conclusion on this witness' part. I think he may be· asked
whether or not he was familiar, but I thinkMr. Garnett: What difference does it make?
page 1075

~

Q. Were you familiar with the account?

A. Yes, sir.

622

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

Vaden C. Shields.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, the difference is it makes
·sloppy questioning on this, and loose questions are what
causes troubleThe Court: He has changed the question. The Court
holds if he wants to ask sloppy questions he may. I don't
think it makes any difference. Now it is changed. The question is was he familiar with the account. Go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: Judge, I wish you wouldn't hold that it
was a sloppy question.

Q. You were familiar with the account, were you, J.\IIr.
Shields?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Throughout the years say 1956, 1957 and 1958, was this
account of ·CRT account owed you by Bowen Cmupany ever
in arrears?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you ever make inquiries of anyone in the office by
telephone or otherwise as to why it was in arrears and when
it was going to be paid Y
A. Both. By letter and by telephone.
Q. When you called the Bowen C01npany with
page 1076 } whom did you talk?
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. Did you ever talk with 1\fr. Bowen or Mr. McM:urran
about this account?
A. No, sir.·
Q. \Vhy would you call Mrs. Webb about this account?
For what purpose would you calf her?
A. Well, as an illustration, if we had a month '·s premium
due on the CRT, if it didn't come in, naturally the girl's job
that was handling the Globe Indemnity Company was to call
it to either my attention or :rvrr. Raines' attention, which she
did. We, in turn, would contact }.frs. ebb.
Q. Did you always contact ~Irs. \Vebb about this account¥
A. Yes, sir. That is the normal procedure, to contact
the bookkeeper in the agent's offi-ce.
Q. Did you ever send any letters down to the firm, to
Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you ever receive any answer concerning the CRT
delinquency by mail Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Who 'vould they be signed by?

"T
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page 1077

~

A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. Do you recall in March of 1959 preparing

a statement about a difference ·between your
company and the Bowen Company relative to the CRT account?
A. Yes, sir, I did.
Q. May I ask you, do you have a copy of that ·with you?
A. I do.
Q. May I have it 7

Note: The witness hands counsel a pa.perwriting, who,
in turn, hands it to the defendant's counsel.
Mr. Garnett: Can we proceed?
Mr. Baker: I don't think, if the Court please, we can
proceed with this document unless we have a few minutes to
go over it.
Mr. Garnett: Can we proceed 'vith this one? Do you
want to .see this one?
The Court: I have no idea what it's about. Do you have
a copy of the other· one, or what?
We will be at ease for three or four minutes.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, whereupon the
hearing continues, as follows:
page 1078

~

Mr. Baker: I would like to advise the Court
that the Attorney for the Commonwealth asked
the Court to come back. Counsel for the defense has not
concluded its examination of the document. The Attorney
for the Comn1onwealth a.sked the Court to come back.
Mr. Garnett: I haven't offered anything yet.
Mr. Baker : I want the Court to under.stand that counsel
for the defense did not join in asking the Court to come
back. The defense is not ready to proceed. We have not
finished examining· the document.
The Court: All right.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Now I hand you back, Mr. Shields, a document which
you handed me, and I want to ask you if you can identify
that? ·Can you identify that?
A. Yes, sir. .
Q. What is that?
A. Thif.1 is a statement of the items-
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Q. First of all, is that part of your office records?
A. Yes.
Q. All right. Is it kept in your office under
page 1079 ~ your supervision'
A. Yes, ·sir.
Q. May I ask you if you know the circumstances under
which the statement whieh is attached to that was prepared?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. By whom ,vas it prepared~
A. Myself.
Q. Was it typed by you~
A. Yes, sir.
By The Court:
Q. It was typed, too, by you T
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Will you tell us what it is T
A. It's a statement of items due either the Globe Indemnity Company or the Bowen Company as of the date it was
prepared; as enumerated in Mr. Raine's letter, it was prepared at his direction by me. The IBM cards were olltainecl
out of the file by the girl that handled the Globe Indemnity
Company.
Q. Do you know of your own knowledge whether or not that
letter, the original of that letter and the original of that
statement which you prepared 'vas mailed in due course of
business to Bowen Company?
page 1080 r A. Do I know tha.t it was mailed?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. It wa~ put in the 1uail-the outgoing mail box.
Q. It was put in the outgoing mail box labeled for Bowen
Company, Newport News?
A. Yes, sir.
By The Court:
Q. Addressed to them 7
A. Yes, sir.
1\-Ir. Ferguson: The letter shows it was addressed to l\{r.
Whiteside.
The Court: You may examine the witness with regard
to the document before it is offered in evidence.
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l\Ir. Garnett: That is just what I w·anted to do awhile
ago, Judge, with ~1:r. Mc~Iurran.
1vir. Baker : If the Court please, may I make this statement}.fr. Garnett: I have in my hand here a document which I
want this witness merely to identify. On this document,
however, aside from the typewriting are certain pencil notations wh.ich have been put on this document by Mr. Freeman, the gentleman who has te.stified. I have told counsel
what I would like to do, and I do not believe
pa.ge 1081 ~ it is an unreasonable request, to ask this witness whether or not, aside fron1 these pencil
notations, this is the original of the copy which he has there,
and he said it was put in the mail addressed to Bo"ren
Company, Newport News, Virginia.
If he can identify it, I will do one of two things : I will
either remove tl1e pencil notations which were put there
for Mr. Freen1an 's benefit and for mine, or substitute as
exactly as possible a typewritten copy into the record without
these notations. I think that is fair enough.
The Court : Go ahead.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, if counsel n1ay be heard :
Both of these sets of papers, clipped together in ·two stacks,
were handed to counsel for the defendant.
The Court: Both sets? I thoug·ht he told me one carbon
copy, as I understood awhile ago.
Mr. Baker: lV'e were handed two sets of paper. I assume
they are carbon copies. If the Court please, t:he first copy
did contain what appeared to be numerous computations and
figures by someone that the Attorney for the Con1monwealth
indicated had been made since the receipt of the letter.
The Court: He just said there were pencil
page 1082 ~ nmrks on there.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, the Attorney
for the Commonwealth handed us what he says is a copyI have every reason to believe it is a copy-wl1ich also on
back of the pages contained some cmnputations in pen and
ink.
Inquiry was made of the Comn1onwealth with regard to
that matter. He indicated his understanding was that the
computations were not n1ade locally but somewhere in the
Richmond office, presumably by this witness or son1ehody
under his direction. When we started to inquire, if the
Court please, about the fact that the forwarding letter is not
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as suggested, to me at least, by the answer the witness just
gave: to Bowen and Con1pany. He was asked was this mailed
to Bowen Company f He .said, yes. The forwarding letter
is addressed to Mr. E. D. \Vhiteside, Business consultant,
Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank Building, Postoffice Box 192,
Newport News, Virginia, over signature of N. E. Raines,
Regional Accountant. The stenotation to indicate who dictated the letter, to my knowledge of the procedures, NER
indicates that it was dictated by N. E. Ra.ines.
I feel, if the Court please, the thne has propage 1083 r bably come to find out just what this is before
it goes into evidence identified by this witness.
Especially in view of the fact that those sets of paper were
taken from the hands of counsel while they 'vere still attempting· to analyze then1 and see whether or not they had
objections.
That is a true account of what happened to the papers, if
the Court please.
Mr. Garnett: Counsel also 1nade some obnoxious re-·
1narks.
\Ve had better proceed and get tl1is thing identified and
then they can look all they want to.
J\fr. Baker: The obnoxious remark by counsel, if the
Court please, consisted of asking· the Attorney for the Cmumonwealth to discuss the matter in a low voice or out of the
presence of the witness.
The Court: All right. I will let you cxatnine him if you
want to. Do it right now· and get it over wit11.
l\Ir. Garnett : The Cmnmonwealth was not allowed to
examine Mr. J\fcJ\furran awhile ago.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. l\1r. Shields, actually the letter is not addressed to
Bowen Con1pany, is itf
page 1084 ~ A. I had reference-if you will look on the
second sheet here, on the statement that I prepared, it is addressed to Bowen Company.
Q. Was it mailed to Bowen Cmnpany or was it 1nailed to
Mr. E. D. Whiteside?
A. It was mailed to Mr. Whiteside by l\Ir. Raines.
Q. Did you or did you not say it 'vas put in the mail, in
the outgoing mail addressed to Bowen Cmnpany, in your
direct examination just a n1ome11t ago T
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Mr. Garnett: I asked him whether it was labeled Bowen
Company, Judge, and he said yes.
The Court: Yes, and I asked the witness if it was addressed to Bowen Commpany. I understood him to say it
was addressed to Bowen and Commpany when I asked him.
Q. Did you or did you not, Mr. Shields?
A. I don't recall whether I did or not. "\Vhat I had reference to was the statement that I prepared. Naturally the
letter is addressed to }_\lfr. Whiteside. It would have gone
out in the envelope to him from our office.
Q. You say this statement was prepared by you from
IBM cards pulled by someone else in your office¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did they pull all of the IBM cards, to your knowledge,
your personal knowledge'
page 1085 ~ A. vVe have to pull them all in order to
balance, agency by agency.
Q. I arn asking you whether of your own personal knowledgeA. Yes.
Q. -or i~ that an assumption on your part?
A. It's my personal knowledge.
Q. Did you go back to the IBM cards to ascertain if there
'vere anv still there?
A. I cheeked the tape that was run on the IBl\:f card against
the tape-the statement after I typed it.
Q. Did you check the source frmn which the IB1.1: cards
were taken by someone else to ascertain whether or not any
others still ren1ained 1
A. I don't think you know how we keep our IBM cards.
They are in sections. All of them 'vere taken out. They
were all removed from the file.

By The Court:
Q. Do you know that of your own knowledg·e?
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker: (oQontinuing)
Q. Y 011 didn't take them out, did you 1
A. No, sir.
Q. You didn't examine the file to find out if they were
all taken out, did you?
page 1086 ~ A. I had a balance tape on them.
Q. If, in fact, your account is out of balance,
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then some file might be in the drawer or box, is that not right T
A. My account wasn't out of balance. It was in balance.
Q. Your account was in balance with what cards you were
furnished is what you say, is it nott
A. What do you mean furnished'
Q. Didn't you say the girls pulled IBM cards on this account; you worked from those in preparing this statement 1
A. That is correct.
Mr. Garnett: For the J udg·e, this is a ridiculous examination. This witness has testified that these records were kept
under his supervision; they were pulled; this reflects it. Under any law of evidence that is admissible.
The Court: Go ahead, Mr. Baker.
Q. Is it a factMr. Garnett: I object to it, Judge. It is time consumingThe Court: I overrule your objection.
Mr. Garnett : I note an exception.
Q. Is it a fact, :Mr. Shields, that the detern1ination of w'hether or not all the cards on this
account had been pulled was n1ade by someone
other than vourself'
A. No, sir.
Q. Except for your conclusion that all had been pulled
because it balanced; isn't that right, sir j
A. That is the only control we have.
Q. Is that the basis of your statement?
A. That is the basis for all of our control.
Q. Is that the basis of your statement that all the cards
w·ere pulled 1 It is your conclusion that all the cards were
pulled because it balanced, is that correct¥
A. That is correct.
Q. If, in fact, they were not all pulled then you would be
out of balance, is that not .right, sir¥
A. That is correct.
page 1087

~

Mr. Baker: I move to reject this, 1f the Court please.
This is work done by this witness based uponMr. Garnett: Under his supervision and control, as he
stated.
Mr. Baker: He admitted, if the Court please, he didn't
make any ascertainment that all the cards were pulled; that
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the only basis for saying· that is a conclusion. That is a very
frank statement, not too willingly given, by this witness, but
it was given nonetheless. He admitted that the
page 1088 ~ only way he can say all the cards were pulled is
a conclusion they were pulled because it balances.
The Court: That's right. He said that is the control they
have over it.
Mr. Baker: What we have here is nothing except conclusion or hearsay to verifyThe Court: I don't think it is all hearsay when it comes
under his supervision.
1\fr. Baker: I say it is either conclusion or hearsay to
verify that this is a correct statement. "\Vbat would be
shown that all the cards were pulled 1
The Court: I will allow it at this tin1e. Go ahead, Mr.
Garnett.
Mr. Baker: vVill the Court note the exception by counsel
for the defense for the reasons as stated.
The Court: Go ahead and proceed with the papers you
want to identify.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
. Q. Just to clear up one little point, 1\fr. ShieldsA. Yes, sir.
Q. -was the Globe paid by Bowen Cmnpany on the basis
of this statement?
page 1089 ~ A. Yes, sir.
1\tir. Garnett: Later on, as I said before, I will remove the
pcncilina!·ks before I introduce it in evidence, or a copy of it.
The Court : I don't know 'vhether we all agree the pencil
marks don't have anything to do with it or not.
Mr. Baker: I do not agree that the pencil marks do not
have anything to do with it and I do not contend that they
do.
The 'Court: Rub then1 off then.
Mr. Baker: As I stated before, counsel has had an inadequate opportunity to ascertain whether they do or do not
have anything to do with it.
The Court: Give them an opportunity to look at it again,
Mr. Garnett. Give them another opportunity.
Mr. Garnett: Here it is if you want it.
Mr. Baker: May I address the Attorney for the Commonwealth off the record T
The Court: No. Put it in the record.
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Mr. Baker: May I address a question to the Common'vealth on the record Y
The Court : Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: Mr. Garnettpage 1090 r Mr. Garnett: Do you want it under oath, 1\tir.
B~~~

Mr. Baker: No, sir, I don't care to have it under oath.
Mr. Garnett, in your opinion as an attorney, would this
properly be received in evidence with the pencil notations on
it as evidence of anything that this man can verifyt
Mr. Garnett: Mr. Baker, I never offered it for that purpose. I made it perfectly clear to this Court, and I thought
perfectly clear to you, that what I wanted to do was to have
this gentleman identify this as the original of 'his sheet, since
the pencil notations appear on there, for the purpose of
identification; that if these gentlemen after examining this
record objected to the pencil notations I would do one of two
things: I would remove the pencil notations fron1 it the best
I can-some of them are in red pencil-or, I would have a
copy of it made without the pencil notations to offer into the
record, whichever one 1vould be n1ore convenient to counsel
for the defense.
"Now I couldn't say it any plainer, Judge, if I broke
it down into two syllable words.
The Court: If you want all the notations taken off I will
see that that is done.
page 1091 ~ Mr. Baker : The purpose of my inquiry was
-quite frankly, I was willing to accept the
judgment of the Attorney for the Commonwealth as to whether this -should go into evidence.
Mr. Garnett: I am not offering it into evidence, Ralph.
Can't you get it through your head t I'm only asking him to
identify it, then I will remove the pencil notations or I will
make the copy, whichever you desire, before I offer it into
evidence.
Mr. Baker: Then if it can be understood, if the Court
please, that this will be offered for the purpose of identification only, and identification by som.e sy1nbol other than an
official identification in the file in this case so that it may be
resubmitted by the Attorney ·for the Commonwealth, it can
go in by stipulation. I don't care to have it in the record
of this case, either as an exhibit or as an exxhibit for identification ·with these marks on it.
Mr. Garnett: You can stamp it with a Bonnie Blue flag
or you can mark it any way you want to mark it.

-
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~fr. Baker: To properly identify and offered into the
record neither as an exhibit or as an exhibit for identification,
either, I am perfectly agreeable that this be acpage 1092 ~ complished by this witness.
1\tir. Garnett: I'n1 not, except that it should
be kept in the possession of the Clerk, just like anything
else that is identified. Your I:Ionor, then if and when it is
offered into evidence it would be n1arked as an exhibit of the
Commonwealth, I assume No. 23.
The Court: I understand you only 'vant to identify it.
Mr. Baker: In the first place, if the Court please, I am
not sure what is on here.
The Court: ·I don't know eifher. I have not seen it.
Mr. Garnett: I told hir.11 once it is identified he can look
at it.
1\fr. Baker: It is agreeable, for the purpose of facilitating
the identification of this docu1nent, by any reasonable means.
The Court: They wiii accept it out of the record of this
case until the pencil notations are rmnoved or a substitute
copy with no pencil notations is substituted.
Mr. Baker: We will agree to do that as long as it is kept
out of the record in this case until the pencil notations are
removed or until a copy with no pencil notations
page 1093 ~ is substituted for it, then it may go in the
record by stipulation.
1\tir. Garnett: No, sir. I don't want it in by stipulation.
I want it identified. That is what I want. I want this witness
to identify it. I am not going to stipulateThe Court: You go ahead and identify it right now, please
sir.
~Ir. Garnett: That is what I w·aut to do and have been
trying to do for thirty minutes.

By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Now, Mr. Shields, I hand you a. docu1nent. It is dated
J.\IIarch 16, 1959, apparently addressed to Bowen Company,
136-28th Street, Newport News, Virginia. It is headed:
Statement of Outstanding Balances and Differences at February 28, 1959. It also has a. Code No. on it: 6190000.
Now, 1\fr. Shields, not taking into consideration any pencil
n1arks on this paper, or any other handwriting which may
appear on the document, and not taking into any consideration any marks 'vhich may be subsequently made in your
office on the document which you hold in your hand, I ask
you whether or not this is a true copy of the statement
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which you have just testified that you typed out yourself
from your records on IBM machines in your office in Richmond?
pag·e 1094 ~ A. It is.
Q. Is that tl1e original copy--is that the
original document which you said was put in the n1ail basket
for E. D. Whiteside, Newport News, Virginia?
A. Yes, sir.
_
Q. Do you know the signature of Mr. N. E. Raines?
A. I do.
Q. 'Vill you look at this letter on Royal Globe Insurance
Group stationery, apparently dated }r!Iarch 17, 1959, addressed
to Mr. E. D. Whiteside, Business consultant, and so forth,
Newport N ew=s, Virginia, Re : Bowen Company, Newport
News, Virginia, Itemized State1nent of Accounts as of February 28, 1959, and tell n1e whether or not that is his sig11ature?
A. It is.
JV[r. Baker: If the Court pleases, at this time I want to
n1ake further objection to this as far as the covering letter is
concerned. It purports to be a. letter from Mr. Raines. We
would object to that being identified by this witness and going into evidence by this witness.
The Court: The n1an identified the signature. That is the
only thing be did.
~ir. Baker: I understand that. I want to reserve this
point ·as well as we would object to it going in
page 1095 r unless we had the opportunity of cross examining Mr. Raines as to the contents thereof.
1vfr. Garnett: You can cross examine him. He is in South
Carolina, retired. If he hadn't been retired I 'vould have
had him here.
Ivir. Baker: I object to the contents of the letter going
in.

By ~r r. Garnett : (Con tinning)
Q. ''rill you identify, with your initials, please, sir, this
original statement dated Mareh 16th that I have just handed
to you?
The Court: He hasn't offered it as evidence, Mr. Baker.
Mr. Baker: I understand, sir.
1\IIr. Garnett : I will in due course. Let the record show
that it is marked in the upper right-hand corner on the
first page VCS.
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Q. Will you identify, please, what purports to be an aCcompanying letter on which appears the signature you have
heretofore identified as being that of l\{r. N. E. Raines by
placing your initials thereon T
A. (Doing so)
Mr. Garnett: I offer, Your Honor, the -statement which
Mr. Shields has testified to that he made for identification
No. 102~
page 1096 ~ I offer what purports to be the covering
letter, also marked by Mr. Shields' initials, for
identification No. 103.
Note : T'he above tendered documents are 1narked for
identification Nos. 102 and 103, respectively.
Mr. Baker: If the Court pleaseMr. Garnett: You may cross examine the witness.
Mr. Baker : If the Court please, the defendant by counsel
objects to the reception into the record of this case, even as
an identifieation exhibit only, either one of these documents.
The ~objection with regard to the first of these documents,
namely, the purported statement of balances and differences
which this witness has testified to and identified, for the
reason that it contains upon it matter not identifiable by this
witness, not put on it by this witness, the import of 'vhich
is not presently known to counsel for the defense; the import
of which cannot obviously be known to the Court.
The Court: I do not know anything about it.
Mr. Baker: But to receive into the record of this case,
even as an identification exhibit, evidence which
page 1097 ~ might possibly be highly prejudicial to this
defendantYr. Garnett: It sure is.
Mr. Baker: -in the form of computations on an exhibit
which has been identified by this witness will be highly improper.
We therefore object to the reception of the stat.ement of
outstanding balances and differences as of February 28,
1959, for the reasons stated in theThe Court: What else is on it? I have no way of telling.
Mr. Baker: There are computations and notations on
practically every page in it, if the Court please, made by
someone-according to the representations made by the
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Attorney for the Commonwealth-someone here after its
receipt.
The Court: I thought he said he 'vould take that off Y
11:r. Garnett: I am going to take it off, Judge, when I
offer it in evidence. :Mr. Baker can't seem to get it through
his head I have not offered it into evidence, and am not going
to offer it in evidence by this witness; merely have him identify it. I will offer it in evidence by another witness.
Mr. Baker: '\Vhat I can't get into tny head,
page 1098 r if the Court please, is this : If the exhibits introduced into this 1·ecord in this case, ·whether
for identification or as an exhibit, have been freely examined
by counsel on both sides, liave been freely exa1nined by the
Court, and have been freely discussed and argued, what I am
saying to the CourtThe Court: Do you want n1e to give you tin1e to examine
it f Is that what you want, sir 1
M~r. Baker: No. No, sir.
The Court: It hasn't been offered as an exhibit. It has
only been labeled for identification.
1fr. Baker: Once an exhibit has been introduced into tlle
record in this case, even for identification only, it has been
used and treated as though it were introduced in evidence,
except officially it has not been numbered by the Court.
Everyone of thesel\fr. Garnett: TI1at is incorrect.
The Court: I will let you examine it, and don't let
me look at it, if that is all you are worried about, until the
pencil notations have been ren1oved.
Mr. Baker: I made the staten1ent earlier, if
page 1099 ~ the Court please, that I have no objections, for
matters of expediency, of this witness identifying that part of this which he can identify, and agreeing
that when a copy-excluding all of the extraneous mattersis presented it may go into the record by stipulation as thoug·h
it were the same one he identified. What I am objecting· to is
all the extraneous matters on these sheets going into the
record, even on an identification exhibit. I feelThe ·Court: You 'vant it taken off before it goes in?
Mr. Baker: I want it taken off before it goes in as an
identification exhibit or an exhibit in evidence, either one, if
the eourt please.
Mr. Garnett: What possible difference can it make?
Mr. Baker: If the Court gets access to any inadmissible
evidence on the identification exhibit, or if it gets access to-
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Mr. Garnett: He doesn't have access to it. It doesn't
become a part of this record, Your Honor, until you admit
it in evidence and until tha.t time, Your Honor, you are not
to peruse it. You have nothing to do with it until I offer it in
evidence; then it becomes a part of this record.
page 1100 ~ I have notations on there, Your Honor, which
I want to preserve. But I have told them when
I offer it I will do one of two things: take the notations off,
or make them a copy.
The Court : I will not look at it at this time.
Mr. Baker: I have agreed, if the Court please, it can go
in. I will stipulate as of here and now when the notations
are removedThe Court: I will see that it is taken off.
Mr. Garnett : I will read it in evidence.
Mr. Baker: I am not trying to be difficult, if the Court
please. I 'vant to facilitate matters if I can.
The Court: I will not look at it no,v. Put it over there.
If it is introduced today I will have a copy made first and let
you examine it if you want to.
lVIr. Baker: V\Tith regard to the second paper, if the Court
please, attached by staple to the first, but identified as a
letter addressed to Mr. E. D. Whiteside from N. E. Raines,
we object to the reception of that into the record even as an
identification exhibit for the reason that it is
page 1101 ~ a letter addressed to ~1:r. vVhiteside from 1\fr.
Raines. Even if Mr. Whiteside were here to
testify this is the letter, I received the contents of this
letter, it would be hearsay. We would have a right to examine
Mr. Raines with regard to any mattersThe Court: I cannot cross that bridge until I get to it.
I do not know what is in it at all.
Mr. Baker: It has been identified by the witness as a
letter addressed to Mr. E. D. Whiteside over the signature of
Mr. Raines. He identified it, if the Court please, as a letter
from Raines to Whiteside.
The Court: All right.
Mr. Baker: I object to it on the ground that it violates
the hearsay rule, even if Mr. Whiteside were here to testify
he received it.
Mr. Garnett: I haven't put it in yet.
The Court: No, sir.
Mr. Baker: I object to it going in as an identification exhibit on this ground.
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The Court: I will overrule your objection at this point.
Mr. Baker: Will t'he Court note an exception of the defendant by counsel to both rulings of the Court
page 1102 } with regard to these two documents which have
been received in evidence as Commonwealth
Identification Exhibits Nos. 102 and 103.
The Court: Now what's next! Are there any more questions of the witness?
Mr. Baker: I think he has been turned over to the defense
for cross examination.
CROSS

EXA~1INATION.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Shields, you say that the Bowen Company in Newport News is an agent of your company, Globe Indemnity
Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What type of agent, limited agent, general agent-?
A. General agent.
Q. General agent?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that statement based upon your personal knowledge
of the agency contract or agreement existing betweenA. I have never seen the contract, but we pay them general
agent's commision.
Q. Are you familiar with the general agency comn1ission
contract of your company?
page 1103 ~ A. No, sir, I'm not. That is not in myQ. I believe you testified that your position as
of now and since August of 1960 was that of Regional Accountant for your company~
A. That is correct.
Q. Accounting Officer, or Accountant-what is your title?
A. Regional Accountant.
Q. Regional Accountant Y
A. Right.
Q. In the Richmond office. From October 7, 1946 until
Aug-ust of 1960 you were the Assistant Regional Accountant
in the same office?
A. No, we were originally-in 1946 we were at 1015 East
Main Street.
Q. I do not mean in the same building, ~ir. Raines.
A. No. It's a little background that I thought I might fill
in. Virgini!l Fire Marine, who was owned by the Royal Globe
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Insurance Group, in 1952, July 1st, we consolidated with the
Royal Group. Combined all operations at that time and
established the regional office.
Q. In 19527
A. In 1952. N oven1ber, 1953 we moved in the present
building: 4001 Fitzhug·h Avenue.
Q. What was your status-You were not with
page 1104 Globe; you were with the-what was it, Fire
MarineA. Virginia Fire and Marine owned by Globe Indemnity
Company.
Q. Your duties prior to 1952 were limited to that subsidiaryA. I was Assistant Chief Accountant to Mr. Raines, who
was Chief Accountant for Virginia Fire Marine. Both employed by the Royal Insurance Company.
Q. Mr. Shields, if you will wait until I finish the questio'n,
perhaps you will do better.
A. I'm sorry.
Q. Your duties prior to 1952 were limited to the subsidiary
-the Globe owned the subsidiary Virginia Fire and MarineA.
e had no contact with Globe.
Q. It was not a subsidiary of the parent c-ompany¥
A. No.
Q. Mr. Shields, you have indicated the lack of general
familiarity with agency agreements; are you familiar with
those provisions in the agency agreements dealing· with their
relationship with you a Regional Accountant¥
A. Will you repeat that question l I don't understand your
question.

t

"T

~fr.

Garnett: I don't think I follow that.
~

Q. You have indica ted that you were not
familiar generally with the terms and provisions of the general agency contract or agreement, did
you not?
A. Yes.
Q. Are you familiar with those portions of such agreements dealing with the relationship of general agents and
you as an accounting officer on a regional basis 7
A. I would say so, yes.
Q. There are provisions in those agreements dealing with
the relationship between you as accounting officer in the regional office and the general agencies, are there not?
page 1105
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A. Not to n1y knowledge.
Q. Well, to your knowledge do you or any pers·ons working
wider you as general accountant for this regional office have
the right by agreement and contract to examine the books of
your company's general agents~
A. Do we have the right to examine the books?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. I wouldn't know that question, but we do exa1nine some
agencies, yes.
Q. Has anyone ever challenged your right to examine
their books?
A. In most instances it was requested we review them by
the agencies themselves. I would assume we
page 1106 r could employ outside accountants to examine
the agent's office.
Q. Whether the agent wanted you to or not?
A. If he were indebted to us I think the agent's agreenlent would cover that.
Q. The agent's agreement or contract between the agent
and your company would cover that?
A. I said I think it would. I don't know that it would.
Mr. Garnett: That is just an opinion, then, I take it?
Mr. S.hields: It is just an opinion on my part.
Mr. Garnett: All right. I move to strike it.

Q. l\{r. Shields, did you have the authority to examine the
books of Bowen Company if they were indebted to your
company?
A. Did I have the authority?
Q. Yes, .sir.
A. I don't know the answer to that.
Q. Did you ever express any desire to exa1nine their
books?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you ever make any attempt to ascertain whether or
not Bowen Company was eollecting premiums
page 1107 ~ and not turning over to your company your
company's share of those collections 7
A. Repeat that, please?
Q. Did you ever make any attempt to ascertain whether
or not Bowen Company was collecting· premiums on policies
and not r(~mitting· your company's ·share of those premium
payments f
~..
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